
 

 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

Monday 24 November 2025 
7.30 pm 

Council House, Plymouth 
 

Members: 

Councillor  Evans OBE, Chair 

Councillor Laing, Vice Chair 

Councillors Aspinall, Briars-Delve, Dann, Haydon, Lowry, Penberthy, Cresswell and Stephens. 
 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 

This meeting will be webcast and available online after the meeting.  By entering the meeting 

room, Councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 

recording for the webcast. 
 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 

webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 

 

You can watch any of our webcast meetings on YouTube. For further information on attending 

Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic process please follow this link - Get 

Involved 
 

 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for  Jamie Sheldon 

T 01752  668000 

E democraticservices@plymouth.gov.uk   

www.plymouth.gov.uk 

Published 14 November 2025 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLW0qNdfVlat35d9TRrIZF8fstPQ3ucVRl
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


 

 

 

Cabinet 
 

 

Agenda 

 

Part I (Public Meeting) 

  

1. Apologies    
  

 To receive apologies for absence submitted by Cabinet Members. 

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Cabinet Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items 

on this agenda.   

  

3. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 8) 

  

 To sign and confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 10 

November 2025.  

  

4. Questions from the Public    

  

 To receive questions from the public in accordance with the Constitution. 

 

Questions, of no longer than 50 words, can be submitted to Democratic Services, 

Plymouth City Council, Ballard House, Plymouth, PL1 3BJ, or email to 

democraticservices@plymouth.gov.uk. Any questions must be received at least five clear 

working days before the date of the meeting. 

  

5. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

Items for decision 

  

6. Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation 

Proposal for Devon:   

(Pages 9 - 312) 

 

 

mailto:DEMOCRATICSUPPORT@PLYMOUTH.GOV.UK


Cabinet Monday 10 November 2025 

Cabinet 
 

Monday 10 November 2025 

 
PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Laing (Vice Chair, in the Chair) 

Councillors: Aspinall, Briars-Delve, Cresswell, Dann, Haydon, Lowry, Penberthy and Stephens. 

 

Also in attendance: Chris Avent (Green Estate Manager), Si Bellamy (Chief Operating Officer 

(virtual)), Liz Bryant (Head of Legal Services), Glenn Caplin-Grey (Strategic Director for 

Growth), Amanda Davis (Service Director, Education, Participation and Skills), Kat Deeney 

(Head of Environmental Planning), Matt Garrett (Service Director for Community Connections), 

Tracey Lee (Chief Executive), Professor Steve Maddern (Director of Public Health), Jamie 

Sheldon (Senior Democratic Advisor) and Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance). 

 

The meeting started at 3.30 pm and finished at 3.59 pm. 

 

Note: The full discussion can be viewed on the webcast of the City Council meeting at 

www.plymouth.gov.uk.  At a future meeting, the Council will consider the accuracy of these draft 

minutes, so they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 

whether these minutes have been amended. 

 

49. Declarations of Interest   

 

There were no declarations of interest made.  

 

50. Minutes   

 

The minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2025 were agreed as a correct record.  

 

51. Questions from the Public   

 

There were no questions from members of the public.  
 

52. Chair's Urgent Business   

 

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business. 

 

53. Finance Monitoring Report Month 6   

 

Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) introduced the Finance Monitoring 

Report Month 6 and discussed: 

 

a) The report set out the revenue monitoring position of the Council at the end of 

September 2025, forecasting an adverse variance of £8.754 million; 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


b) This variance reflected ongoing financial pressures across several key service areas, 

despite significant efforts by members and officers to deliver cost savings against 

delivery plans; 

 

c) Adult Social Care continued to experience increased demand, particularly in home 

placements, resulting in a reported budget pressure of £2.2 million; 

 

d) Children’s Services faced rising placement costs, with residential and unregistered 

placements exceeding budget, creating a pressure of £3.7 million; 

 

e) Community Connections remained under strain due to rising costs of temporary 

accommodation and increasing demand, maintaining a pressure of £0.91 million; 

 

f) Customer and Corporate Services reported a budget pressure of £1.2 million, largely 

due to unbudgeted facility surveys, resulting repairs, and associated maintenance 
costs; 

 

g) Costs associated with the directly elected Mayor referendum exceeded expectations 

by £169,000; 

 

h) The Growth Directorate was unable to realise a £1.3 million income target from the 

Energy to Waste Plant profit share arrangement due to scheduled maintenance 

downtime; 

 

i) £6.5 million of savings had been achieved in-year against target, with a further £3.7 

million in progress; 

 

j) Opportunities to reprofile available reserves existed but would not fully address the 

shortfall;  

 

k) Work would continue with the Section 151 Officer and Chief Executive’s team to 

maintain focus on in-year delivery and address high placement costs across children’s, 

adults, homelessness and SEND; 

 

l) The five-year capital programme stood at £372 million, with a revised forecast of 

£161 million for the current financial year, reflecting prudent reprofiling of £17 

million and offset by £12 million of new expected spend; 

 

m) 76.8% of the capital programme was funded through grant contributions and in-

service supported borrowing; 

 

n) All prudential indicators remained within approved limits, confirming that borrowing 

was managed within prudent boundaries; 

 

o) For the first time, the impact of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit on the 
revenue budget was reported; 

 

p) The capital monitoring and indicators demonstrated that the investment plan was 

affordable and sustainable, operating within a robust financial framework; 

 

Page 2



q) Officers across all directorates were acknowledged for their continued work in 

maintaining mitigation actions in a challenging financial environment. 

 

Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) added: 

 

r) The Month 6 report represented a full half-year review and clearly set out the 

challenges facing the Council into the second half of the year; 

 

s) Officers remained focused on delivering in-year savings and addressing the financial 

tasks ahead. 

 

In response to questions, the Cabinet discussed: 

 

t) The pressures in Children’s Services were not unique to Plymouth, with other 

councils reporting similar overspends, including one projecting an £8.2 million 
overspend and another facing a £5 million pressure; 

 

u) Robust workstreams were in place to address the challenges in residential 

placements, which were a national issue. 

 

The Cabinet agreed: 

 

1. To note the forecast revenue monitoring position at Month 6 as an adverse variance 

of £8.754 million, with further risks highlighted; 

 

2. To note that the overall Capital Budget 2025–2030 was revised to £372.311 million, 

as shown in Table 18, with reconciliation and detail of the movements in the quarter 

set out in Tables 18 and 21, and to recommend these amendments to City Council 

for approval; 

 

3. To note the performance against prudential indicators for Quarter 2 2025–2026, 

detailed in Section 13 of the report. 

 

54. Plan for Nature and People   

 

Councillor Tom Briars-Delve (Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change) 

introduced the Plymouth Plan for Nature and People and discussed: 

 

a) Historically, there had been a perceived disconnect between the Council’s respect 

for nature and the excellent work already being delivered by the Environmental 

Planning Department; 

 

b) There was a need to rebuild trust, rethink engagement, raise the prominence of 

nature in decision-making, and develop an ambitious long-term vision for nature 

recovery across the city; 
 

c) A new strategy was commissioned with the vision of co-creating the plan with 

communities and environmental groups; 

 

Page 3



d) Hundreds of residents were engaged through public events, focus groups, and a 

steering group with external partners, with further changes made following final 

consultation to demonstrate responsiveness; 

 

e) The plan focused not only on enhancing nature but also on the relationship between 

nature and communities, including health and wellbeing benefits, sustainable skills and 

jobs, social cohesion, volunteering, and children’s personal development; 

 

f) The title of the plan was amended to reflect the equal importance of people and 

nature; 

 

g) The plan included a five-year action plan detailing delivery commitments and 

measurement frameworks, including: 

 

i. Planting 1,000 street trees in low canopy urban areas; 
ii. Co-producing neighbourhood-level landscape masterplans; 

iii. Achieving Green Flag status for 12 sites; 

iv. Establishing new community orchards and free culinary herbs in major parks; 

v. Expanding ecotherapy and green social prescribing; 

vi. Creating Plymouth’s first natural capital investment prospectus and aiming to 

raise £50 million of external green investment by 2030; 

 

h) The plan reflected and connected existing work in Plymouth, including: 

 

i. The UK’s first National Marine Park; 

ii. The Ocean City Nature habitat bank; 

iii. The Green Communities Team partnership with the National Trust; 

iv. The BRIC project for flood resilience; 

v. Plymouth Natural Grid, which improved 50 hectares of habitat and supported 

apprenticeships and Kickstarters; 

vi. The planting of 50,000 trees by the Plymouth and South Devon Community 

Forest; 

vii. Initiatives at Derriford Community Park including beaver reintroduction, youth 

work, and ecotherapy at Poole Farm; 

 

i) Most of the initiatives were grant-funded, and special thanks were given to Kat 

Deeney and Chris Avent for their decade of work, as well as to officers for 

coordinating feedback and incorporating extensive revisions; 

 

j) The Cabinet and wider Council departments were thanked for their constructive 

input over the past year, and the public’s engagement was acknowledged as central to 

the plan’s development; 

 

k) The plan was described as Plymouth’s plan for nature and people, co-created and 

owned by the city, with a public launch scheduled for the following day at Saltram. 
 

Kat Deeney (Head of Environmental Planning and Chris Avent (Green Estate Manager) 

added: 

 

Page 4



l) Communities, stakeholders, and partners had engaged constructively throughout the 

process, offering challenge and solutions; 

 

m) The plan had strong join-up across Council departments, including Children’s 

Services and Public Health, and would deliver across multiple agendas. 

 

In response to questions, the Cabinet discussed: 

 

n) The plan was a strategic framework that narrated Plymouth’s relationship with 

nature, particularly for younger generations; 

 

o) The plan aligned with recent curriculum developments, including the review led by 

Becky Francis, which emphasised climate and nature in education; 

 

p) Nature experiences were important for young people’s mental health and wellbeing, 
and the plan supported social prescribing and curriculum enrichment; 

 

q) The plan marked a significant shift in the city’s approach, complementing existing 

blue, grey, and green strategies and supporting Plymouth’s branding as a “life of 

adventure” destination; 

 

r) The integration of branding elements into the plan was noted and welcomed. 

 

The Cabinet agreed: 

 

1. To endorse the final version of the Plymouth Plan for Nature and People to act as a 

strategic delivery framework integrating nature and natural spaces into the city’s 

growth; 

 

2. To approve the creation of a Year One Action Plan for delivery in 2026. 

 

55. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2025/26-2029/30   

 

Councillor Mark Lowry (Cabinet Member for Finance) introduced the Medium-Term 

Financial Strategy 2025/26 to 2029/30 and discussed: 

 

a) The strategy set out the Council’s expected expenditure and income over a five-year 

period and was produced annually; 

 

b) The Council had previously received only one-year funding settlements from 

Government, but now had a three-year settlement, which provided greater 

transparency. Challenges remained due to the ongoing Fairer Funding Review, 

Business Rate Reset, and the treatment of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

deficit; 

 
c) The Council faced ongoing financial pressures in Adult and Children’s Social Care, 

homelessness, and SEND provision. These figures represented real people with 

complex needs and required unwavering support; 

 

Page 5



d) These pressures could not be resolved through short-term fixes, and the strategy 

proposed a bold shift to a prevention-first approach, involving investment in early 

help, smarter service design, and integrated community-based models; 

 

e) The approach aimed to reduce reliance on high-cost crisis-driven interventions and 

move towards a more sustainable public service delivery model; 

 

f) Progress was already being made, including: 

 

i. Expansion of enablement in Adult Social Care; 

ii. Strengthening placement sufficiency in Children’s Services; 

iii. Investment in new temporary accommodation to meet homelessness demand; 

 

g) Transformation alone would not close the financial gap, and the strategy identified a 

savings requirement of £13.7 million for 2026/27, with all directorates engaged in 
developing proposals to meet this challenge; 

 

h) Plymouth was well placed to benefit from national investment programmes, including 

its designation as a National Defence Growth Area and inclusion in the New Towns 

Task Force programme, which supported housing delivery, infrastructure investment, 

and economic growth; 

 

i) The strategy was not just a financial document but provided the fiscal backdrop for 

setting a balanced budget for 2026 and outlined the roadmap for navigating the next 

five years; 

 

j) The Council remained committed to delivering for Plymouth residents and would 

continue to work with members, partners, and communities throughout the budget-

setting process; 

 

k) A public engagement exercise had been launched alongside the strategy to gather 

feedback from residents and businesses on priorities, financial challenges, and ideas 

for savings or income generation; 

 

l) The survey was accessible via the Council’s website, social media, and email bulletins, 

and residents were encouraged to participate; 

 

m) The provisional settlement in December 2025 would provide further clarity, and the 

strategy would be updated and brought back to Cabinet and Scrutiny before going to 

Full Council and Budget Scrutiny in January; 

 

n) Councillor Lowry thanked all officers involved in producing the strategy, with 

particular thanks to Ian Trisk-Grove for his work during a period of significant 

change. 

 
Ian Trisk-Grove (Service Director for Finance) added: 

 

o) The upcoming policy statement, expected the following week, would provide greater 

visibility on funding formula changes and the outcome of the Fair Funding Review; 

 

Page 6



p) The multi-year settlement would support improved financial planning, and work 

would continue with members and directors over the coming months to finalise the 

full budget; 

 

q) Gratitude was expressed to all involved for their engagement and efforts to date. 

 

In response to questions, the Cabinet discussed: 

 

r) The importance of public engagement in the budget-setting process, with feedback 

informing Budget Scrutiny and subsequent Council decisions; 

 

s) Clarification was provided on the apparent increase in the net revenue figure from 

approximately £250 million to £325 million, which reflected the inclusion of 

previously uncertain grant funding into the net revenue position, offering greater 

maturity and stability. 
 

The Cabinet agreed: 

 

1. To approve and recommend the Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2025/26-2029/30 

to City Council at its meeting on 24 November 2025. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Cabinet
 

 

 

Date of meeting: 24 November 2025 

Title of Report: Plymouth City Council’s Local Government 

Reorganisation Proposal for Devon  

Lead Member:   Councillor Tudor Evans OBE (Leader) 

Lead Strategic Director: Tracey Lee (Chief Executive) 

Author: Paul Barnard, MBE, MRTPI, CIHM, FAcSS 

Contact Email:  Paul.barnard@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: PWB/LGR/DEVO/251124 

Key Decision:  Yes 

Confidentiality: Part I - Official 

   

Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to the submission of Plymouth City Council’s 

Local Government Reorganisation Proposal for Devon in response to the Statutory Invitation issued by 

the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government under Section 2 of the of the 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Public Health Act 2007. The proposal sets out a 

statutorily compliant “base case” based on whole district building blocks alongside a preferred option 

of four unitary councils to replace the existing two-tier structure in Devon comprising an “expanded 

Plymouth,” an “expanded Exeter,” an “expanded Torbay,” alongside a new “Devon Coast and 

Countryside” unitary council. 

 

 

Recommendations and Reasons 

 

 
That Cabinet: 

 

1. Agrees the “Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Proposal for Devon” 

document as set out in Appendix A and approves its submission to the Secretary of State for 

Housing, Communities and Local Government.  

 

Reason: To respond to the statutory invitation issued by the Secretary of State for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government to Plymouth City Council on 05 December 2024 and to comply 

with the requirement to submit final proposals by 28 November 2025. 

  

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

2. Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to make any final 

changes to the “Plymouth City Council’s Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation in 

Devon” before the deadline for submission. 

 

Reason: To enable the Chief Executive to make any necessary final changes to the City Council’s 

proposal as necessary in order to meet the Government’s submission deadline of 28 November 2025. 

 

 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

 

Option 1: To not respond to the Government’s statutory invitation to Plymouth City 

Council to submit a proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon. 

 

This option was rejected as this would not be in the best long-term interests of local residents and 

businesses in terms of the sustainability of services provided. It would also not be in the best long-term 

interests of the city in relation to its unique and ambitious growth agenda. The absence of any 

submission to the Government by the City Council also risks a proposal being agreed for the rest of 

Devon that would undermine its long-term future. 

 

Option 2: To submit a different proposal for local government reorganisation in response 

to the statutory invitation. 

 

At its meeting on 17 March 2025 the City Council considered 3 options and approved the “Greater 

Plymouth” option now being put forward as part of the final proposal taking account of the feedback 

from the “Big Community Conversation”. The City Council has also had to respond to the 

Government’s requirement set out in the letter of 15 May 2025 for its proposal to relate to the whole 

area of Devon. The City Council considers that its proposal for four unitary councils for Devon 

represents the best structure for local government in the area and the one that best addresses the 

opportunities for wider devolution as and when its preferred Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority is 

created. The option to submit a different proposal has therefore been rejected. 

 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan    

 

Establishing an “expanded Plymouth,” an “expanded Exeter”, an “expanded Torbay,” alongside a new 

“Devon Coast and Countryside” unitary council, will maximise the ability to unlock new funding 

streams, new powers and achieve operational service efficiencies across the whole of Devon. Further 

innovations in service delivery would enable the priorities set out in the Corporate Plan to be achieved 

over the long-term. The proposal for an “expanded Plymouth” will help achieve all six of the 

Corporate Plan priorities and specifically will secure long-term growth opportunities which will meet 

the Corporate Plan commitments to build more homes for social rent and affordable ownership and 

deliver green investment, jobs, and skills. The proposal for local government in Devon has been 

developed in accordance with the Corporate Plan values of “democracy,” “responsibility,” “fairness,” 

and “co-operation.” The proposal for an “expanded Plymouth” and for four unitary councils to replace 

the existing two-tier councils in Devon will also help in achieving the Plymouth Plan objectives of 

creating a “healthy city,” a “growing city,” an “international city” and a “regional city.”  

  

Page 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Implications for the Medium-Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

Plymouth City Council will develop and agree a Medium-Term Financial Plan and budget for the 

current council (on current City Council boundaries) until such time as a decision is made by the 

Government on future arrangements for local government in Plymouth and Devon. As set out in the 

attached proposal, the four unitary councils would deliver operational efficiencies and improve financial 

sustainability for local government across the whole of Devon, including Plymouth. The initial cost of 

implementing the proposal (if agreed) would be funded from one-off resources, paid back through 

efficiency savings over the first three to four years of the expanded Plymouth City Council. 
 

Financial Risks  

 

The principal financial risks relate to uncertainty in the financial estimates prepared to support the 

proposal. The financial analysis is based on data collated from councils across Devon, as well as 

published financial information; however, all information used is historic and the level of demand, cost 

or income could vary from the assumptions used in financial modelling. The main mitigation for any 

financial risks relates to the modelling being undertaken to a detailed level of granularity and in 

collaboration with a working group of finance officers across Devon. In addition, specialist external 

consultants have also been used to verify budgets and costs. The full proposal attached as Appendix A 

sets out the financial risks in more detail. 

 

Legal Implications 

 

In February 2025, the Secretary of State issued an invitation to all councils in Devon, including 

Plymouth City Council, to submit proposals for structural change to include the creation of new 

unitary authorities. The statutory basis for this invitation is section 2 of the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (the Act), brought about as a result of the Government’s English 

Devolution White Paper (2024). The White Paper sets out the Government’s commitment to simplify 

the structure of local government with a view to delivering significant savings, more sustainable and 

higher quality services, and improved accountability.  

 

The Act permits four types of proposal for a single tier of local government based on whole district 

building blocks. The Council must therefore submit a base case proposal based on existing district 

boundaries to satisfy this statutory requirement. However, the Secretary of State has a power of 

modification under section 7 of the Act to make modifications to proposals where he has received a 

request to do so. Cabinet is therefore being asked to approve a ministerial request for a modification 

to the Council’s base case proposal to enable the proposed four unitary council model for Devon to 

be brought forward, with three of those councils extending their existing boundaries.  

 

The Secretary of State may implement proposals, with or without modification, but must undertake a 

statutory consultation exercise before any Structural Changes Order (SCO) can be made. The 

consultation must include all affected authorities and others considered appropriate and will be led by 

Government. This statutory consultation process is separate to the Council’s own consultation and 

engagement activity which has already been undertaken.  

 

The implementation of proposals submitted to the Secretary of State will ultimately require a SCO to 

bring into being any newly created unitary authorities and to deal with matters such as the transfer of 

property, contracts, and staff to the newly created entity. Alternatively, the Secretary of State may 

permit existing unitary authorities to be “continuing authorities” with their requested boundary change 

without the need to abolish the existing authority. This option is being proposed for Plymouth and 

Torbay in order to reduce the significant financial, resource, and service delivery implications that the 

creation of a new authority would necessitate.  

Page 11



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

In relation to the duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 for the City Council to 

exercise its various functions with due regard to their likely effect on, and the need to do all that it 

reasonably can to prevent, (a) crime and disorder in its area (including anti-social and other behaviour 

adversely affecting the local environment); and (b)the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in 

its area; and (c) re-offending in its area; and (d) serious violence in its area, the local government 

proposal for Devon to have four unitary authorities replacing the existing two-tier structure has been 

discussed with the Chief Constable of Devon and Cornwall Police. The City Council has also 

considered the Section 17 duty under the 1998 Act and concluded that its proposal for four unitary 
councils will be consistent with it. 

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

 

Through devolution, the Government has committed to making Britain a clean energy superpower. It 

therefore sees a major role for the new Mayoral Strategic Authorities in achieving this aim and 

addressing climate change. The Power and Partnership: Foundations for Growth White Paper refers to 

several initiatives which the City Council has been active in delivering such as Warm Homes, the Social 

Housing Decarbonisation Fund, the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme, and the heat network 

Advanced Zoning Pilot which will form part of the Integrated Settlement for 2025/2026. Whilst the 

White Paper sees a major role for Mayoral Strategic Authorities, Plymouth City Council has been very 

active in this area and the creation of an expanded boundary will open up further opportunities for 

decarbonisation initiatives across the wider area of an “expanded Plymouth” and also through the work 

of the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. A single-tier structure provides further 

opportunities for more coordinated planning across functional areas to deliver more joined-up 

decarbonisation initiatives. The integration of strategic planning, transport planning, infrastructure 

coordination, housing delivery and climate change initiatives will be easier if provided by one authority. 

This applies not only to an expanded Plymouth authority but all four unitary authorities that are part of 

Plymouth’s local government reorganisation proposal for Devon. A Climate Impact Assessment (CIA) 

has been undertaken and concludes that the overall impact of the local government proposal prepared 

by the City Council on climate and environmental outcomes is, at this strategic stage, neutral. This 

reflects the high degree of uncertainty surrounding future governance arrangements, service delivery 

models, and spatial planning frameworks, which precludes robust forecasting. The assessment does not 

identify direct positive or negative climate impacts but highlights several areas where future 

implementation could influence outcomes. The proposal demonstrates a strategic commitment to 

environmental responsibility, but its climate impact will depend entirely on future implementation 

decisions. The assessment recommends tailored mitigation planning during the implementation stage to 

ensure climate resilience and environmental integrity are upheld across the expanded geography. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the Council’s duty to promote 

equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination, and promote good relations between people who share protected 

characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

 

There are a number of key strategic risks that apply to this local government reorganisation process. 

The main risk is that the Secretary of State accepts the base case proposal to not alter Plymouth City 

Council’s boundary and/or accepts alternative proposals being developed by Devon County Council for 

a huge single unitary council across the whole of Devon, or the “1-4-5” proposal by the district 

councils which assumes Plymouth would stay on its existing boundary. All of these would severely 

constrain Plymouth’s ability to maximise the opportunities for growth and limit the ability to secure 

more joined up services for those settlements that are already functionally connected to the city. A 

further risk is that the Secretary of State accepts other proposals being put forward that will create a 

situation whereby the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority is dominated by authorities 

that put urban issues as secondary and where ambitions for growth are muted. The main mitigation for 

Page 12



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

these risks has been to establish a strong consensus with Exeter City Council and to ensure that the 

final proposal is of the highest quality that sets out a compelling case for the four unitary council 

proposal advanced by the City Council, with a strong overarching vision and supporting evidence base. 

Another risk, which was also highlighted in the report on devolution agreed by the City Council on 09 

January 2025, is the possibility of the process of devolution and reorganisation diverting capacity and 

resources away from the continuing delivery of high-quality services to residents and businesses. The 

key mitigation for this risk is to adopt a proportionate approach to the process, and the establishment 

of the Local Government Reform Team with dedicated resources with the ability to commission 

external specialist capacity to undertake and complete key future workstreams, whilst maintaining 
existing service delivery across the council. 

 

By extending Plymouth’s strategic expertise in planning, transport, regeneration, and climate change 

across a wider geographical area, the proposal has the potential to improve service coordination and 

foster greater consistency in public service performance standards. An Equality Impact Assessment 

(EIA) has been undertaken in relation to Plymouth City Council’s local government reorganisation on 

residents across Plymouth and the “expanded Plymouth” area, using the nine protected characteristics 

set out in the Equality Act 2010. The Equality Impact Assessment identifies strategic risks for people 

with protected characteristics, particularly relating to service continuity, accessibility, and 

representation. In terms of potential negative impacts, the EIA identifies potential risks in relation to 

minority voices being inadvertently diluted in a larger authority, rural access challenges, the loss of 

specialist services if rationalised or amalgamated and the uncertainty associated with the transitional 

period leading up to Vesting Day. These risks are inherent with local government reorganisation in 

England and will be similar for the other areas of Plymouth’s proposals for Devon. While the Equality 

Impact Assessment identifies potential risks for people with protected characteristics, these risks are 

not inherent to the reorganisation but depend on how it is implemented. The reorganisation may also 

create opportunities to improve outcomes for minority groups, including care-experienced individuals, 

disabled residents, and young people, through more integrated service delivery, strategic coordination, 

and inclusive governance. Realising these benefits will require careful planning, sustained engagement, 

and targeted mitigation. Key measures should include maintaining existing parish and town council 

structures, ensuring day-one continuity of service delivery, and establishing early arrangements for 

collecting and monitoring equality data across the expanded councils. With these safeguards in place, 

implementation can proceed cautiously while maximising the potential for positive impact. 

 

 

Appendices  
*Add rows as required to box below 
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Local Government Reorganisation Cabinet 

Briefing Paper 

 

       

B Plymouth City Council’s Local Government 

Reorganisation Proposal for Devon  

(November 2025) 

       

C Plymouth City Council’s Local Government 

Reorganisation Proposal for Devon (November 

2025) Appendices 

       

Page 13



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 – Finance 

Appendix 2 – List of Parishes 

Appendix 3 – Implementation Plan 

Appendix 4 – Letters of Support 

Appendix 5 – List of figures and tables 

Appendix 6 – List of acronyms 

Appendix 7 – Key terms explained 

Appendix 8 – Sources 

Appendix 9 – Climate Impact Assessment 

Appendix 10 – Equalities Impact Assessment 

(One further appendix to follow w/c 17 

November 2025) 

D Plymouth LGR Engagement Report        

 

Background papers:  

 

Title of any background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

        

   

Sign off: 
 

Fin ITG.2

5.26.0

78 

Leg LS/00

0031

97/34

/LB/0

4/11/

25 

Mon 

Off 

N/A HR N/A Assets  N/A Strat 

Proc 

N/A 

Originating Extended Leadership Team member:  Tracey Lee, Chief Executive 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?    Choose  Yes  

Date agreed: 14 November 2025 (Tracey Lee, Chief Executive) 

 

Cabinet Member approval:  Councillor John Stephens, Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and 

Transport (as per delegated authority) 

Date approved: 14 November 2025 
 

Page 14



 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025)   

OFFICIAL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION IN DEVON 
 

1.0  INTRODUCTION  
 

1.1 On 16 December 2024, the Government published a White Paper (Power and Partnership: 

Foundations for Growth) setting out their plans for devolution and local government reorganisation, 

with the aim of shifting power away from Whitehall and simplifying local government structures. 

Devolution and local government reorganisation are separate but very much related processes to 

fundamentally transform local government for the future. The Government have stated very clearly 

that local government reorganisation will be based on the principle of unitarisation, with the current 

two-tier system abolished. The Government sees such an approach as central to its future growth 

ambitions to achieve national economic renewal. 

 

1.2 On 09 January 2025, in response to a report on the English Devolution White Paper, the City 

Council resolved (Minute 51 refers) the following:  

 

The Government has clearly stated that large Strategic Authorities led by directly elected 

mayors represent their preferred path for devolution, viewing this model as the most effective 

way to transfer power and resources from Westminster to local regions. In response to this 

clear policy direction, Plymouth City Council strongly advocates for the establishment of a 

South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. This proposed authority would encompass 
the combined geography of Cornwall, Devon, Plymouth, and Torbay. 

 

The necessity to expand the Council’s administrative boundaries to achieve the scale required 

for future sustainability. This must be carefully balanced with preserving both Plymouth's 

distinctive identity and the identities of neighbouring communities. Work to develop 

appropriate options and a business case for this will now commence. 

 

1.3 On 05 February 2025 the then Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution, 

Jim McMahon OBE MP, wrote to all the leaders of two-tier and unitary councils stating that the 

Government had a clear vision for simpler, more sustainable local government structures, alongside 

plans for the transfer of power out of Westminster through devolution. This letter also set out a formal 

legal invitation under powers set out in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

2007 to submit proposals for a single tier of local government and in an attached schedule identified the 

Secretary of State’s guidance and criteria for unitary government. The letter proposed a timetable for 

the submission of an interim plan by 21 March 2025 and final proposals by 28 November 2025. The 

Government made clear that all two-tier areas will have to comply with the requirements of the White 

Paper. It stated that it would prefer agreement from authorities in developing a single proposal, but if 

agreement cannot be reached, the Government will accept competing proposals and will decide on the 

best way forward to ensure its overall aims for better and more efficient service delivery are achieved. 

 

1.4 On 17 March 2025 the City Council unanimously endorsed (with one abstention) the Plymouth 

Local Government Reorganisation Interim Plan setting out a proposal to extend the boundary of 

Plymouth City Council to encompass the surrounding 13 parishes currently within South Hams District 

Council (Minute 77 refers). 

 

1.5 On 19 March 2025, Cabinet approved and agreed to the Plymouth Local Government 

Reorganisation Interim Plan being submitted to Government setting out the proposed boundary change 

Page 15



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 2 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

to encompass the surrounding 13 parishes currently within South Hams District Council (Minute 122 

refers). The Interim Plan was subsequently submitted to Government by the deadline of 21 March 2025.  

 

1.6 On 15 May 2025 the Government wrote to all councils in Devon to provide feedback on their 

 Interim Plans. In welcoming the initial thinking on the various options set out in these Interim 
 Plans the Government made clear that: 

 

1. Effective cooperation between all councils across the invitation area was crucial. 

 

2. Any boundary change needed to be justified. 

 

3. Each council could only submit a single proposal by the deadline of 28 November 2025, 

this single proposal needing to relate to the whole area; the entirety of Devon. 

 

4. There should be further details and evidence submitted on costs, efficiencies, and 

outcomes. 

 

5. In relation to the population size of 500,000 set out in the Statutory Invitation guidance 

and in the English Devolution White Paper this was described as a guiding principle, not 

a hard target and the rationale for the proposed approach should be set out clearly. 

 

6. Where disaggregation is proposed (particularly in relation to social care, children’s 

services, SEND, homelessness and public safety) further details should be submitted on 

impacts and risks. 

 

7. Implications for the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority should be set out. 

 

 

1.7 On 21 August 2025 the Government also confirmed that: 

 

 The building blocks for any proposal that is submitted are whole district areas but in 

parallel as part of the submission, a request for a Ministerial modification can be made to 

amend boundaries in a particular way, to achieve an even better outcome, provided there 

is a strong justification for this. 

 

 Representations on the status of Plymouth City Council as a “continuing authority” can 

be included in the submission alongside any proposal, or in response to any subsequent 

consultation. 

 

 They are not actively seeking amendments to the English Devolution and Community 

Empowerment Bill currently before Parliament.  

 

1.8 On 12 November 2025, the Scrutiny Management Board considered a draft of the City Council’s 

proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon. The comments of the Scrutiny Management 

Board and the proposed response have been incorporated into this report.  

  

 

2.0 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 

 

2.1 The White Paper published in December 2024 announced that the Government will facilitate a 

programme of reorganisation for two-tier local government areas which will be abolished and replaced 

with an England-wide network of unitary councils sitting under new Strategic Authorities. The 

Page 16



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 3 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

Government anticipates that delivery will be phased, taking account of where local government can 

unlock devolution and where areas want to proceed at pace.  

 

2.2 At the strategic authority level, the Government have highlighted 7 principles related to scale, 

there being “no devolution islands”, effective delivery of key functions, the need for sensible economic 
geographies, contiguous boundaries with new constituent unitary authorities, promotion of alignment 

with other public body boundaries, and local identity. In relation to local government reorganisation 

the Government’s expectations are: 

 

 All two-tier areas and smaller or failing unitary councils are to develop proposals for 

reorganisation. 

 

 All councils in an area should collaborate on developing unitary proposals in the best 

interests of a whole area, rather than producing competing proposals.  

 

 New councils should be the right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity, and 

withstand financial shocks. For most areas, the Government believes this will mean 

creating councils with a population of 500,000 or more. There may be exceptions to 

ensure new structures make sense for an area, agreed on a case-by-case basis.  

 

 They will prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services to citizens 

and communities above all other issues.  

 

 These reforms will be sequenced alongside devolution ambitions for each area.  
 

 New councils will be expected to take a proactive and innovative approach to 

neighbourhood involvement and community governance so that citizens are empowered. 

 

 Councils should work with Government to bring about changes as swiftly as possible.  

 

 They will consider which governance models available for local authorities’ best support 

future decision-making. 

 
2.3 New unitary councils are to be delivered in April 2027 and 2028, with shadow elections taking 

place earlier. The White Paper sets out that local government re-organisation should not delay 

devolution, and devolution plans should be complementary. 

  

Page 17



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 4 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

 

2.4 The White Paper therefore creates an opportunity to look at the geographical footprint of 

existing council areas, to ensure that local councils fit effectively within the new strategic tier of local 

government. It, as well as the subsequent letter from Government on 05 February 2025, sets out 6 

criteria by which final proposals will be assessed and considered by the Secretary of State: 
 

1. A proposal should seek to achieve for the whole of the area concerned the establishment 

of a single tier of local government. 

2. Unitary local government must be the right size to achieve efficiencies, improve capacity, 

and withstand financial shocks. 

3. Unitary structures must prioritise the delivery of high quality and sustainable public services 

to citizens. 

4. Proposals should show how councils in the area have sought to work together in coming to 

a view that meets local needs and is informed by local views. 

5. New unitary structures must support devolution arrangements. 

6. New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement and deliver genuine 

opportunity for neighbourhood empowerment. 

 

2.5 In developing its own approach to local government reorganisation, the City Council and 

Cabinet in March 2025 supported, endorsed, and agreed to the following principles: 

 

1. Any boundary change will be appropriate for a new Plymouth unitary authority to be 

financially viable and of a population size that can deliver sustainable high-quality services to 

residents. 

2. Any boundary change will retain the character and identity of the existing neighbourhoods 

in Plymouth and the parishes of any extended area. 

3. Any boundary change will respect existing unitary county boundaries. 

4. Any boundary change will minimise organisational impacts on the Dartmoor National Park 

Authority. 

5. Any boundary change will be based on existing parish boundaries. 

6. Any boundary change will have regard to the requirements for future sustainable growth and 

reflect the opportunities that arise from Plymouth’s unique strategic role in the south west. 

 

These principles were subsequently updated following the recommendation of the Scrutiny Management 

Board on 12 November 2025. 

 

2.6 Whilst in practice there are a myriad of potential options for the structure of local government 

in Devon, on 17 March 2025 and 19 March 2025, the City Council and Cabinet considered 4 main 

options: 

 

Page 18



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 5 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

 Option 1: An extended city boundary based on a Plymouth Growth Area. 

 Option 2: An extended city boundary based on the Local Care Partnership Western NHS 

Locality. 

 Option 3: An extended city boundary based on the Plymouth Housing Market Area. 

 Option 4: Do nothing. 

 

2.7 Both the City Council and Cabinet, in March 2025, supported and agreed to Option 1 – a 

boundary extension based on what was then termed the “Plymouth Growth Area” (now called 

“expanded Plymouth”). This part of the proposal for local government reorganisation for Devon, 

following the “Big Community Conversation,” has not been changed. 

 

2.8 Plymouth City Council’s proposal for the whole of the Devon area is summarised in Section 4 

and set out in full in Appendix A. 

 

3.0 THE “BIG COMMUNITY CONVERSATION” 

 

3.1  Between 29 May 2025 and 04 August 2025, the Council undertook the “Big Community 

Consultation” on its proposals for local government reorganisation. Further events and meetings 

were held with local businesses and public sector partners between 28 August 2025 and 08 October 

2025. This consultation was designed to meet the 4 “Gunning Principles” and respond to the 

requirements of Government set out in the letter to the Devon authorities dated 15 May 2025, 

particularly in relation to Criterion 6a and 6b. The Council adopted a multi-channel strategy to reach 

a wide and diverse audience. This included a dedicated project website, tailored surveys, facilitated 

conversation events, stakeholder briefings, and a targeted media campaign. The engagement was 

structured to allow meaningful input before the final business case is submitted to Government.  

3.2 To ensure that as many people were reached as possible, the “Big Community 

Consultation”:   

 

 Held 19 facilitated conversation events across Plymouth and South Hams, attended by 

489 people.  

 Circulated two tailored surveys which received 824 responses.  

 The project website attracted over 11,000 unique visitors and 816 subscribers.  

 Launched a social media campaign which generated over 2.1 million impressions and 

reached more than 100,000 individuals.  

 Distributed posters, flyers and newsletters to community venues, schools, GP 

surgeries and libraries across both Plymouth and South Hams.  

 Held 17 stakeholder meetings and 1:1 briefings with MPs, universities, emergency 

services, housing, and business groups.  

 

3.3 The engagement process was designed to ensure that Plymouth City Council’s proposals for 

LGR were shaped by the views of residents, stakeholders, and community groups across Plymouth 

Page 19



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 6 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

and the 13 South Hams parishes. The approach was inclusive, transparent, and responsive, with  a 

strong emphasis on listening and co-design.  

 

3.4 The full Plymouth Local Government Reorganisation “Big Community Conversation” Report 

is attached as an appendix to the proposal document. 

 

 3.5 The main issues raised during the engagement, and how the City Council has responded to 

them, are shown below: 

 

Governance and representation: The proposal must outline how rural communities 

will be represented within the expanded authority. This includes exploring models such 

as preserving parish councils, dedicated rural wards, or advisory panels.  

Cabinet response: We will progressively move from informing and consulting towards 

collaborating and empowering, building community confidence and capacity along the way. 

Our approach recognises that empowerment looks different in different places within 

unitary model of government across England, and it will be consistent with Clause 58 of 

the English Devolution and Empowerment Bill currently before Parliament. In adopting a 

phased approach, and whilst awaiting the detailed regulation (see Clause 58 (3)) of the bill 

the City Council will work flexibly to support locally appropriate neighbourhood 

governance solutions whilst maintaining consistent standards and values across the 

enlarged area.  

  

Service equity: The proposal should demonstrate how services will be maintained or 

improved across all areas, with particular attention to rural needs, transport connectivity, 

healthcare access, and waste management.  

Cabinet response: Plymouth City Council’s local government reorganisation proposal 

extends proven excellence across Devon while ensuring no community experiences 

reduced service quality. The four-authority model specifically addresses rural needs 

through dedicated structures that eliminate current fragmentation. 

The dedicated Devon Coast and Countryside authority is purpose-designed for dispersed 

populations through Neighbourhood Area Teams integrating housing, social care, NHS, 

and voluntary services. Plymouth's integrated health and social care model with Livewell 

Southwest will serve all 300,000 residents of the expanded area, while Torbay's nationally 

recognised Integrated Care Organisation excellence benefits South Devon's wider 

geography. Plymouth's Homelessness Recovery Programme, delivering 78 new temporary 

accommodation units with 95 more in pipeline, extends across the enlarged area. An 

“expanded Exeter” authority addresses substantial unmet adult social care needs through 

integrated housing and planning powers. There is an unequivocal commitment to ensure 

safeguarding duties and service continuity for vulnerable children and adults throughout 
the transition period, with robust oversight mechanisms strengthened across all new 

unitary structures. 

 

Financial transparency: Concerns regarding council tax harmonisation, funding 

allocations, and debt inheritance must be addressed clearly and credibly. Residents want 

to understand how resources will be managed and whether the reorganisation will deliver 

value for money.  

Page 20



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 7 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

Cabinet response: Decisions to set financial plans, budgets and council tax for the 

“expanded Plymouth” area will be taken in formal committee meetings, open to scrutiny 

by the public and elected councillors. All financial matters will be subject to external audit 

and assurance, with value for money assessed annually as is the case currently. It is 

anticipated that decisions on inherited assets, liabilities, and debt will follow national 
guidance and, again, will be reported transparently and subject to public scrutiny and 

external audit where appropriate. 

 

Planning and development: The proposal must include safeguards against 

overdevelopment and urban sprawl. It should promote strategic planning that respects 

local character, protects green spaces, and ensures infrastructure keeps pace with growth 

to meet the needs of the expanded authority.  

Cabinet response: We will commit to the early commencement of a new local Plan for 

the expanded Plymouth area that will address the planning and development concerns 

raised. We also commit to an extensive programme of community and stakeholder 

engagement as part of preparing the new plan. 

 

Community engagement: Ongoing engagement must be built into the governance 

model. Residents want to be part of the decision-making process, not just consulted at 

key milestones. Mechanisms for feedback, participation, and accountability should be 

embedded in the proposal.  

Cabinet response: The City Council’s proposal embeds ongoing engagement as a 

structural guarantee through innovative “Neighbourhood Networks” operating from 

vesting day. These collaborative forums will bring together ward councillors, parish 

representatives, community organisations, and service partners, providing continuous 

dialogue rather than episodic consultation. Enhanced Parish Partnership Agreements 

strengthen the first tier of local government through devolved responsibility and 

comprehensive support. The 'Test, Learn, Grow' co-design process ensures communities 

shape their own governance model through extensive listening sessions, pilot 

experiments, and rigorous evaluation. This iterative approach creates mechanisms for 

continuous feedback, participation, and accountability embedded throughout the 

authority's operations, ensuring democratic legitimacy and genuine community 

ownership. 

 

Youth inclusion: The views of young people must be reflected in the final proposal: 

their priorities for housing, transport, education, and wellbeing are essential to shaping a 

future-ready city.  

Cabinet response: In addition to committing to continued direct engagement with the 

Youth Council on Local Government Reorganisation and service design issues, our new 

Community Engagement Framework will ensure the voice of young people is heard. The 

City Council is also committed to holding bespoke sessions with young people on the 

new Local Plan for the “expanded Plymouth” area. 

 

Digital inclusion: The Council must commit to maintaining non-digital service options 

and investing in digital literacy and infrastructure. Accessibility must be a core principle of 

service design. 

Page 21



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 8 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

Cabinet response: The Council has an approach to the service design that includes the 

principle of designing for digital first as well as providing alternative accessible services for 

those that are digitally excluded. Accessible services include both phone support and in 

person, primarily through our network of libraries. For example, we have registered the 

phone numbers of residents who are digitally excluded and their calls are prioritised over 
other customers when they need to call Plymouth City Council. This is coupled with a 

focus on improving digital inclusion in the city through supporting network providers to 

deliver infrastructure (1Gbps broadband and 4 and 5G mobile services) and helping 

residents with the skills and providing access to equipment that will allow them to get 

online. Recent survey results show that only 3% of Plymouth residents never use the 

internet and a further 2% are insufficiently confident in their use of the internet. We are 

using these results including both age and geography splits of this data to help us target 

interventions to help overcome this level of digital exclusion.  

  

Page 22



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 9 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

 

4.0 PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

 REORGANISATION FOR DEVON 

 

Base Proposal 
 

4.1 It is a requirement under the 2007 Act to base a proposal on whole district building blocks. The 

base case proposal sets out the City Council’s response to the Secretary of State’s invitation issued on 

05 February 2025 (and taking account of the feedback on the Plymouth’s Interim Plan set out in the 

letter of 15 May 2025). 

 

4.2 Plymouth City Council’s base case for local government reorganisation for Devon is to submit 

a combined proposal (under the provisions of Section 2(1)(d) of the 2007 Act) as follows: 

 

 Plymouth City Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of around 

270,000 based on its existing unitary council boundary. 

 Exeter City Council as a unitary authority with a population of around 135,000 based on 

its existing administrative boundary. 

 Torbay Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of around 139,000 

based on its existing unitary council boundary. 

 Devon County Council as a unitary authority with a population of around 690,000 based 

on its existing county boundary excluding the district of Exeter. 

 

4.3 The base case has been assessed against the six criteria set out in the White Paper and also in 

the Ministerial letter dated 05 February 2025. It is the City Council’s assessment that this base case 

meets some but not all the six criteria. Were this to be approved by the Secretary of State, then 

Plymouth City Council would remain on its existing administrative boundary and the wider benefits of 

local government reorganisation, subsequent devolution, and the delivery of significant growth potential 

arising from the Defence Deal, the designation of Plymouth as the National Centre for Marine 

Autonomy and its shortlisting as one of the Government’s planned new towns would be severely 

compromised. 

 

4.4 This base proposal is prepared in accordance with Part 1 of the 2007 Act, but it is not the final 

proposal that the City Council wishes to see implemented: that is the proposal which would require a 

Ministerial modification to create four unitary councils across Devon.  

  

Page 23



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 10 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

 

 Options Appraisal 

 

4.5 Since the submission of the Interim Plan in March 2025, further analysis has been undertaken on 

the options for local government reorganisation in Devon. All of these options have been assessed 
against the six criteria in the White Paper. 

 

4.6 The further options considered have been: 

 A four unitary option – comprising unitary councils for Plymouth, Torbay and Exeter on 

extended boundaries and a unitary Devon council on a revised geographical footprint. 

 A “1-4-5” unitary option – comprising three unitary councils with Plymouth on its 

existing boundary, the combination of the existing districts of West Devon, South Hams, 

Teignbridge, and Torbay (“District 4”), and the combination of the existing districts of East 

Devon, Exeter, Mid Devon, North Devon, and Torridge (“District 5”). 

 

Ministerial Modification 

 

4.7 Under the provisions of Sections 7 and 11 of the 2007 Act the City Council can request a 

Ministerial modification to its base case proposal because this will deliver longer-term benefits in 

proactively working with the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority to drive growth. The 

proposal, which reflects the City Council’s vision for local government, which would require a 

Ministerial modification is for there to be 4 unitary councils covering the Devon area as follows: 

 “expanded Plymouth” Unitary Council – comprising the unitary council of Plymouth City 

Council as a continuing authority with a population of 270,000 with a Ministerial modification to 

include 13 parishes all within the current district of South Hams District Council of Bickleigh, 

Shaugh Prior, Sparkwell, Brixton, Wembury, Cornwood, Harford, Ugborough, Ivybridge, 

Ermington, Yealmpton, Holberton and Newton and Noss resulting in a population of 

approximately 300,000.  

 “expanded Exeter” Unitary Council – comprising a new unitary council based on the 

current Exeter City Council boundary with population of 135,000 with a Ministerial modification 

to extend this with 15 parishes from within Teignbridge District Council, 28 parishes from within 

East Devon District Council and six parishes from with within Mid-Devon District Council 

resulting in a population of approximately 260,000. 

 “expanded Torbay” Unitary Council – comprising the unitary council of Torbay as a 

continuing authority on its existing boundaries with a population of 139,000 with a modification 

comprising of 23 parishes from within Teignbridge District Council and South Hams District 

Council resulting in a population of approximately 220,000. 

 A Devon “Coast and Countryside” Unitary Council – comprising a new unitary council 

covering the rest of the former Devon County Council area resulting in a population of 

approximately 450,000. 

 

4.8 The preferred proposal for four unitary councils to replace the existing county council and 8 

 district councils is shown on the map below: 

 

Page 24



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 11 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

5.0 SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD (12 NOVEMBER 2025) 

 

5.1 On 12 November 2025, the Scrutiny Management Board considered a draft of the City Council’s 

proposal for local government reorganisation in Devon. The Scrutiny Management Board noted the 
draft submission and resolved that the Plymouth principles for local government reorganisation set out 

in the options appraisal be broadened to apply to the whole of Devon. In addition, there were two 

further actions requested arising from the scrutiny process. The decisions of the Scrutiny Management 

Board are set out below with the agreed Cabinet Member response:  

 

Scrutiny Management Board Comments 

 

Cabinet Member Response 

That the Plymouth principles for local 

government reorganisation set out in the 

options appraisal be broadened to apply to the 
whole of Devon. 

 

Accepted. 

The principles have been updated to reflect the 

proposal for the whole of Devon and these have 
been applied within an updated Options 

Appraisal. 

That Plymouth’s Local Government 

Reorganisation Communications Plan is 

reported back to the Scrutiny Management 
Board prior to the Government’s statutory 

consultation period, expected to be in 2026. 

  

Accepted. 

The Government, having considered the 

submitted local government reorganisation 
proposals for Devon, are expected to make an 

announcement on the timing of its statutory 

consultation in Spring 2026. A report on the 

draft Plymouth City Council Communications 

Plan that will raise awareness of the proposed 

four unitary model for Devon, will be brought to 

the 11 March 2026 Scrutiny Management Board 

meeting, subject to the Chair’s agreement. 

 

Page 25



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 12 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board Comments 

 

Cabinet Member Response 

That the financial modelling included in the 

proposal be updated to include enhanced detail 

of assumptions made in relation to the savings, 

costs, and transition expenses in order to 

provide further transparency on the 

methodology used for the local government 

reorganisation proposal. 

Accepted. 

The financial section of the appendix to the 

proposal will be expanded to further clarify the 

assumptions that have been used to develop the 

financial modelling for the local government 

proposal. 

 

 

6.0 NEXT STEPS 

 

6.1 Following the submission of Plymouth City Council’s base proposal and request for a Ministerial 

modification in support for its preferred proposal, the Secretary of State needs to decide which of the 

proposals likely to be submitted by councils across Devon actually meet their six criteria. Once this 

assessment has been undertaken, the Government will undertake a statutory consultation on the option 

or options for local government reorganisation, he wishes to seek views from local people, business, 

and other stakeholders on. It is understood this will be in early 2026. Following a period of consultation, 

expected to be in the order of 7 weeks (as it was in relation to the recent consultation for local 
government reorganisation in Surrey), the Secretary of State will consider all the representations made 

and make a final decision on the unitary structure of local government for Devon. 

 

6.2 If the Secretary of State decides to proceed, then a Structural Change Order will be prepared 

and laid before Parliament. This will remove the existing two-tier arrangement in Devon and dis-

establish the existing county council and district councils. This same Structural Change Order will also 

establish the new unitary councils. 

 

6.3  There will be a transition period where all the necessary financial, legal, and organisational 

arrangements will need to be put in place, overseen by an Implementation Executive leading up to 

Vesting Day on 01 April 2028. 

 

 

7.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

7.1 Plymouth is an ambitious city and welcomes the opportunities which arise from both the 

Government’s devolution and local government reorganisation approach. Plymouth can and should play 

a unique role as an expanded city driving growth and delivering better public services. As a city and as 

a council, Plymouth has a track record of innovation, collaboration and focus on delivery through a wide 

variety of programme and projects it has delivered over the years. In order to fulfil its long-term 

potential and to enable the Government to meet its growth objectives, it now needs to operate on a 

more sub-regional footprint.  

 

7.2 Plymouth City Council’s plan for local government reorganisation for the Devon area is 

transformative, innovative, growth-orientated, and evidence-led. By moving from an outdated and 

inefficient two-tier system of local government to a modernised system based on for unitary councils 

this can deliver a sustainable and more resilient future for the people of Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay, and 

Devon. 

 

7.3 Plymouth City Council’s proposals for local government for Devon comply with the 
Government’s criteria to be based on whole district boundaries but we are clear that this is not the 

Page 26



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CABINET 24 NOVEMBER 2025: PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSAL FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

REORGANISATION IN DEVON BRIEFING PAPER (NOVEMBER 2025) Page 13 of 13 

OFFICIAL 

optimal future arrangement to achieve the Government’s wider objectives set out in its White Paper 

in the Devon area. To achieve these wider objectives the City Council formally requests that the 

Secretary of State uses the powers conferred on him by virtue of Section 7 and 11 of the 2007 Act to 

modify the base proposal and it is that modified proposal that should be the basis for the Secretary of 

State’s statutory consultation in 2026.  
 

7.4 It is therefore recommended that Cabinet:  

 

1. Agrees the “Plymouth City Council’s Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation in 

Devon” document as set out in Appendix A and approves its submission to the Secretary 

of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government.  

 

2. Delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to make any 

final changes to the Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation in 

Devon” before the deadline for submission. 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



P a g e  | 1 
 

OFFICIAL 

  

Page 29



A stronger Devon:
Four Councils, One 
Connected Devon 
“The two-tier system has failed Devonians.  This is a once-in-a-generation opportunity 
to reshape how local government works - not just for Plymouth, but for every corner of 
Devon. Our proposal puts people first, with a model that reflects how communities live, 
connect, and thrive across the region.

“This isn’t just about redrawing boundaries, it’s about building a smarter, fairer future.  
It brings together the ambition of our cities, the strength of our towns, and the character 
of our rural and coastal communities.

“With four focused councils working together, we can deliver better public services, 
unlock investment, and give every part of Devon a stronger voice. We’re asking the 
government to back a vision that works for everyone - from Barnstaple to Brixham, 
Exeter to Ivybridge.

“For Plymouth, this proposal secures our future as a thriving, resilient city - not in 
isolation, but as a driving force within a vibrant, connected region. It gives us the scale to 
lead, the flexibility to respond, and the partnerships to grow, while staying rooted in the 
communities that make Plymouth unique. For us it’s about; realising national significant 
growth opportunities such as the defence dividend, that decisions are made closer to the 
communities they directly affect - not miles away - and it’s also about value for money in 
how services are delivered through innovation and cultural change.”

Councillor Tudor Evans
Leader of Plymouth City Council

“

See our full draft proposal here: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgrPage 30



Introduction and vision

What you have told us? 
From our engagement with over 1,300 people in Plymouth and the 13 parishes in South Hams, we can see that 
people want:
n Culture and identity to be protected  n Decisions that are made locally and services that reflect local needs
n Services that are joined-up, fair and fit for the future  n Fairness, transparency and value for money 
n Planning that protects what matters  n To be part of the process

Our proposal
What we’re proposing
Similarly to Exeter and Torbay councils, Plymouth City Council is asking the Government to in asking the 
Government to create four unitary councils for Devon, aiming to simplify local government and deliver better 
services for residents. Plymouth City Council’s proposal includes:
n	 An expanded Plymouth: Plymouth plus 13 parishes from South Hams, expanding to serve communities 

across the city and surrounding areas that already rely on Plymouth for employment, education and 
healthcare. A council with the scale to compete nationally and drive growth.

n	 An expanded Exeter: Exeter plus surrounding parishes from Teignbridge, East Devon, and Mid Devon, 
unlocking the potential of one of Britain’s fastest-growing cities, giving it the coherence and capacity to plan 
strategically for housing, transport and economic development across its natural economic area

n	 An expanded Torbay: Torbay plus nearby parishes, as a continuing council, with  proven success in 
delivering integrated services, from acclaimed children’s services to innovative health partnerships.

n	 Devon coast and countryside: A new council - specifically designed for rural and coastal communities, 
with services tailored to the challenges of dispersed populations, market towns and isolated areas.

This structure recognises that Devon is not one homogenous place. Urban centres drive economic growth and 
innovation. Rural and coastal areas require specialist understanding and tailored services. This model delivers 
for both.

Why change is needed
In early 2025, the Government invited councils 
across Devon to bring forward proposals for Local 
Government Reorganisation (LGR). This invitation 
was part of a national effort to simplify local 
government structures in areas that currently operate 
under a two-tier system - where responsibilities are 
split between district and county councils.

The Government’s expectation is clear: proposals 
must cover the whole of the two-tier area, not just 
individual council boundaries. 

Devon’s current structure - with 11 councils 
including a county council, eight districts, and 
two unitary councils - is complex and outdated. 
It creates confusion for residents, duplication in 
services, and barriers to growth. People often don’t 
know which council to contact, and services like 
transport, housing, and social care are split across 
administrative boundaries that don’t reflect real life.

In response to the Government’s invitation, 
Plymouth City Council has developed a proposal 
for a new model of local government across Devon. 
Our vision is to replace the current system with 
four new unitary councils that are simpler, stronger, 
and better aligned with Devon’s geography, economy 
and communities.

Our vision
n	 We want to create a future where:
n	 Every resident has access to high-quality services 

from a single council
n	 Communities are empowered to shape their own 

neighbourhoods
n	 Growth is sustainable, inclusive, and strategically 

planned
n	 Local government is financially resilient and 

future-ready
n	 This is not just about changing boundaries -  

it’s about building a better Devon for everyone.

See our full draft proposal here: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Page 31



Why are we proposing an expanded footprint for Torbay?
The only difference between our LGR proposal and Torbay Council’s is the boundary.  Torbay is proposing to 
retain its existing boundary, while we are advocating for an expanded footprint.
We believe that a broader boundary would create a strategically coherent unitary authority that better 
reflects natural economic patterns and travel-to-work areas. By integrating Torbay’s tourism and hi-tech 
sectors with the retail, industrial, and heritage strengths of the surrounding areas, the expanded footprint 
would support a more diversified and resilient year-round economy.

Will this affect local identity?
No. Our proposal celebrates Devon’s diversity – from the moors to the coast, from market towns to cities. 
Each new council will:
n	 Reflect local strengths and priorities  		  n Preserve existing boundaries and identities
n	 Work closely with communities to shape services

What are the benefits of our proposal?
There are many benefits in our proposal, including: 
n Local services, locally delivered  			   n Smarter use of resources
n Financial resilience					     n Protected local democracy
n Responsive and agile governance			   n Safeguarded vital services
n Stronger, more stable workforce			   n Better partnerships with NHS, police, and others
n Respect for local identity				    n Empowered communities
n Managed transition with minimal disruption

See our full draft proposal here: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Expanded 
Plymouth

National Parks

Expanded 
Torbay

National Marine Park

Expanded 
Exeter

National Landscapes

Devon Coast 
and Country

Existing District  
Boundaries

Page 32



Why is our proposal stronger than the  
alternative models?

There are two alternative models being proposed by other councils in Devon. 

n	 Devon County Council’s three unitary council model – keeping Plymouth and Torbay as they are and 
merging the rest of the county into one new, large Devon-wide council. 

n	 The district council’s 4-5-1 model – consisting of three unitary councils: where Plymouth remains 
unchanged; however, Torbay merges with South Hams, Teignbridge, and West Devon; and Exeter joins East, 
Mid, North Devon, and Torridge.

While both aim to simplify governance, these proposals risk creating councils that are too large, too remote, 
and too disconnected from the communities they serve.

Our proposal offers a smarter, more balanced solution: four focused unitary councils that reflect Devon’s 
real-life geography, economic links, and community identities. It builds on the proven success of Plymouth and 
Torbay as unitary authorities and proposes expanding and strengthening these models - including Exeter - to 
create councils that are fit for the future.

Unlike the single unitary model, our approach avoids over-centralisation and ensures local decision-making 
remains close to the people it affects. And unlike the 4-5-1 models, it also includes the creation of an expanded 
unitary Exeter - creating four councils that are fit for the future. 

Our model:
n	 Keeps decision-making local and responsive, with councils that understand their communities
n	 Protects rural voices and urban capacity, giving each area the focus it deserves
n	 Delivers better services and stronger partnerships, with joined-up teams and clearer accountability
n	 Offers real value for money, reducing duplication and freeing up resources for frontline services
n	 Strengthens parish governance, with dedicated support for local priorities.
It’s a smarter, fairer way to run local government - one that works for every part of Devon, not just the  
biggest centres.

What it means for local people?
All services - from waste collection to adult social care - will be delivered by one council in your area, with 
joined-up teams, clear accountability, and local leadership.

This means:
n	 No more confusion between county and district roles  
n	 No more duplication of services and inefficiency
n	 Faster decisions, smarter delivery, and better outcomes  
n	 More funding directed to frontline services, not bureaucracy

For residents in wider Devon
It means:

n	 One council contact in each area - no more confusion between district and county
n	 One council that can focus on the delivery of services to rural and coastal communities
n	 Three councils that can focus on the delivery of services to urban communities and their hinterland
n	 Continuation of social care through integrated services like Livewell Southwest

See our full draft proposal here: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Page 33



n	 Better education planning and SEND support, tailored to local needs
n	 Infrastructure that reflects real life - commuting patterns, housing needs, and service access
n	 Parish councils protected and empowered, with stronger local representation

n	 Fairer investment across urban, rural, and coastal communities

n	 Joined-up services that are easier to access, quicker to respond, and better value for money.

For Plymouth residents
It means: 

n	 More resources to invest in services, infrastructure, and innovation

n	 A stronger voice in regional decisions through a strategic mayoral authority

n	 Better coordination of transport, housing, and employment across the Greater Plymouth area

n	 Support for key sectors like defence, marine, and green innovation

n	 Access to wider services through joined-up delivery with neighbouring communities

n	 A city that leads - not in isolation, but as part of a connected, thriving region.

To see more detail of what the proposal would mean, go to: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Will local communities still have a voice?
Absolutely. Our proposal strengthens local democracy by:

n	 Protecting town and parish councils

n	 Creating new Neighbourhood governance arrangement which reflect local priorities

n	 Ensuring rural and coastal areas are not left behind.

The financial case
Independent financial modelling shows this plan is both sensible and bold. It will cost around £70 million to 
deliver across Devon, with about half going to workforce changes and redundancies. But the return is quick 
and significant.

By year three, the initial costs are repaid, and over the following decade, the new unitary councils could save 
more than £400 million. These savings come from streamlining services, cutting duplication, reducing senior 
management costs, and ending the inefficiencies of running eleven separate councils. 

Critically, the proposal creates four financially sustainable councils with balanced tax bases. Each council will 
have the resources it needs to deliver quality services while building resilience for the future. No area is 
disadvantaged. No community is left behind.

For extended Plymouth specifically, the investment of £4.9 million delivers an annual return of over £6 million 
in improved viability, demonstrating the strong financial case for expansion. Similar analysis shows positive 
returns for each of the proposed councils.

See our full draft proposal here: www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Page 34



See our full draft proposal here:  
www.plymouth.gov.uk/lgr

Milestone Date

Proposal submitted November 2025

Government consultation Early 2026

Elections      Spring 2026

Decision announced Summer 2026

Elections May 2027

New councils go live April 2028

Timeline and next steps

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) has paused its electoral review of 
Plymouth pending the outcome of the Local Government Reorganisation process. Consequently, until further 
notice from the Government, the current election cycle remains - with elections being held in 2026 and 2027.

Page 35



P a g e  | 2 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Introduction ..............................................................................................................................................................................6 
The Current Situation in Plymouth..............................................................................................................................9 
Why Plymouth Needs to Expand ............................................................................................................................... 13 
Why Devon Needs Fundamental Public Service Reform ............................................................................... 20 
The Base Proposal for Local Government in Devon ........................................................................................ 26 
The Modified Proposal for Local Government in Devon ................................................................................ 30 
How the Four-Unitary Model Delivers ..................................................................................................................... 33 
Why Boundary Modifications in Devon Are Essential ...................................................................................... 34 
Creating the Right Solution for All Devon ............................................................................................................. 36 
Comparing the Options ................................................................................................................................................... 39 
Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case) ............................................................. 41 

Option One: Plymouth ..................................................................................................................................... 42 

Option One: Torbay......................................................................................................................................... 45 

Option One: Exeter ......................................................................................................................................... 48 

Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside ................................................................................................... 51 

Option One: Assessment Against Criteria ...................................................................................................... 54 

Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case) ....................................................................................................... 56 
Option Two: Expanded Plymouth .................................................................................................................... 57 

Option Two: Expanded Torbay ....................................................................................................................... 60 

Option Two: Expanded Exeter ........................................................................................................................ 63 

Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside .................................................................................................. 66 

Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria ...................................................................................................... 68 

Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon) ...................................................................................................... 70 
Option Three: Plymouth .................................................................................................................................. 72 

Option Three: Torbay ...................................................................................................................................... 73 

Option Three: Devon County Council Area ................................................................................................... 74 

Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria .................................................................................................... 76 

Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping) ............................................................................................ 78 
Option Four: Plymouth .................................................................................................................................... 79 

Option Four: Four District Unitary .................................................................................................................. 80 

Option Four: Five District Unitary ................................................................................................................... 82 

Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria ...................................................................................................... 84 

Rejected Options ................................................................................................................................................................. 86 
Recommended Preferred Option ............................................................................................................................... 86 
Democracy and Community Empowerment ....................................................................................................... 87 
Better Services Across Devon ...................................................................................................................................... 97 
Devon’s Financial Resilience ........................................................................................................................................ 112 

Page 36



P a g e  | 3 
 

OFFICIAL 

Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula Devolution ..................................................... 129 
Stakeholder Engagement and Support .................................................................................................................. 133 
Implementation Plan ...................................................................................................................................................... 138 
Managing Transition Risks ............................................................................................................................................ 143 
Our Asks of Government .............................................................................................................................................. 145 
Conclusion ............................................................................................................................................................................ 146 
 

 
  

Page 37



P a g e  | 4 
 

OFFICIAL 

Foreword 
 
Plymouth City Council strongly supports the Government’s approach to devolving powers from 
Westminster and streamlining local government to a model based on unitary councils. Whilst 
devolution will bring greater powers and funding to our region, local government reorganisation will 
bring clarity and simplicity for local people and local businesses.  
 
For far too long we have been held back because our existing city boundary cuts through 
communities and creates inefficiencies and delays in how we can work with local people to solve 
their problems and issues. This challenge is not unique to Plymouth. Exeter faces similar boundary 
constraints that prevent effective strategic planning, whilst Devon's rural and coastal communities are 
poorly served by the current two-tier fragmentation. It is why we are proposing to replace the 
duplication and waste of the existing two-tier system of local government in Devon with four unitary 
councils. By creating authorities that reflect how people live, work and access services, we can 
develop resilient local councils that deliver improved outcomes while maintaining the distinct 
identities that make this part of the world so special. 
 
We have worked closely with Exeter and Torbay to develop a bold and imaginative proposal for four 
unitary councils to replace the county council and districts in Devon. Our proposal will provide four 
unitary councils that will have clearer lines of accountability, a stronger focus on the urban and rural 
communities they serve, stronger voices for local people and financial sustainability.  
 
Plymouth is the powerhouse and growth hub of the South West and is relentlessly ambitious for its 
people and for its businesses. We are in a truly unique position to drive growth because of our 
nationally significant defence assets, our status as the national centre for marine autonomy, and our 
track record of delivering large scale award-winning regeneration and housing projects. Similarly, 
both Exeter and Torbay have ambitious plans for their areas and strong track records in delivering 
housing and regeneration initiatives. Together, Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay can be greater than the 
sum of their parts when it comes to using the new powers and funding arising from devolution. But 
this requires the modifications to all three areas set out in this proposal if the growth aspirations of 
the Government are to be realised. 
 
Following the invitation from Government, Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have taken a proactive 
approach and spent a lot of time talking to local residents, businesses, and other important 
stakeholders. We have given significant weight in developing our proposal for an expanded Plymouth 
to the character and identity of the communities which surround the city, so that they may share in 
the prosperity that is coming to city. Many residents in these communities already work in the city, 
some will have friends and family here, many if not most, will be frequent visitors to our theatres, our 
events, the hospital, and city centre shops. Again, this will be the same for the communities that are 
close to Exeter and Torbay. 
 
Our proposal offers the best of both worlds – we want to create vibrant urban areas set within 
beautiful rural environments with thriving towns and communities with the highest quality of services 
across the whole area. Our proposal for Devon is therefore based strongly on the principle of 
subsidiarity, with decisions being made close to the communities affected and which protects the 
culture and identity of all the communities. 
 
Plymouth is uniquely positioned to drive growth and deliver better public services across an 
expanded area. To realise its substantial development pipeline and help the Government meet its 

Page 38



P a g e  | 5 
 

OFFICIAL 

national missions, Plymouth needs to operate at a larger scale. Expanding the boundary of Plymouth 
will require a one-off transition investment of approximately £4.9 million. However, this will 
strengthen Plymouth's financial resilience considerably, generating over £6 million in annual benefits. 
This represents excellent value for money and will underpin the council's financial sustainability for 
years to come, recognising that there are many future decisions that councillors need to make to 
achieve all the longer-term benefits we have identified in our proposal. 
 
Plymouth's proposal is for four unitary councils because we believe this is the right answer for 
Devon. 
 
A single, remote "mega-council" would fail to recognise the distinct needs of urban Plymouth, urban 
Exeter, coastal Torbay, and rural Devon. 
 

• Two unitaries would leave some areas with fragmented governance. 
 

• Three unitaries would force incompatible areas together. 
 

• Four unitaries, including an expanded Plymouth, enable each area to have governance that 
matches its unique character and needs. 

 
This is one of the most crucial periods in Plymouth’s history. Together, we can build a brighter future 
for our great city, and for Exeter and Torbay.  
 
We invite the Government to undertake a statutory consultation on our proposal. 
 
 
Councillor Tudor Evans OBE 
Leader, Plymouth City Council 
  

Page 39



P a g e  | 6 
 

OFFICIAL 

Introduction 
 

1.1. This submission presents Plymouth City Council's proposal for local government 
reorganisation across Devon, creating four unitary councils that will deliver transformational 
public service reform through the removal of administrative duplication, improved service 
integration, and more efficient use of resources.  

 
1.2. The four unitary model comprises an expanded Plymouth City Council, an expanded Torbay 

Council and two new unitary councils; an expanded Exeter City and the ‘Devon Coast and 
Countryside’ authority. Together, these authorities will establish a single tier of local 
government that reflects the natural economic geography and functional relationships of this 
important region. 

 
1.3. Our base proposal partially meets the requirements of the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007 and meets some of the Government's six criteria set out in 
its legal invitation. However, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) has confirmed that councils may wish to consider a proposal with modified 
boundaries including if existing boundaries would not meet the criteria or changes to 
boundaries would better meet the criteria. 

 
1.4. Our modified proposal fully meets the Government’s criteria because it aligns even better 

with how people actually live their lives, reflects travel to work and housing market areas, 
and enables services to be provided in ways that more proactively support growth, 
regeneration, access to health and social care. Critically, the modified proposal delivers 
genuine public service reform by creating coherent geographies for service delivery that 
avoid fragmentation, reduce administrative duplication, and enable place-based models of care 
that integrate health and social care services around the needs of communities rather than 
administrative convenience. It is on this basis that we invite the Secretary of State to use the 
powers in Section 11 of the 2007 Act to modify our base proposal to achieve even better 
outcomes for the whole of Devon. 

 
1.5. Public service reform sits at the heart of our four unitary proposal. The current two-tier 

system creates inefficiencies through divided responsibilities between county and district 
councils, leading to confusion for residents, duplication of back-office functions, and barriers 
to integrated service delivery. By establishing four unitary authorities, we will remove these 
barriers and create the conditions for transformational change in how services are delivered, 
particularly in crucial areas such as children's social care, Special Education Need and 
Disabilities (SEND) provision, adult social care, and preventative services. As a continuing 
authority, Plymouth will be uniquely positioned to seamlessly integrate services across the 
extended area from day one, bringing proven excellence in children's services, adult social 
care, and integrated health partnerships to a wider community. 
 

1.6. Plymouth's innovative strategic planning approach through the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan already demonstrates the successful collaboration which is possible 
across Plymouth and the communities of the South Hams. The expanded council will deliver 
integrated and effective local governance to the people of Plymouth and the surrounding 
areas that already naturally function as part of the Plymouth housing and economic area.  

 

Page 40



P a g e  | 7 
 

OFFICIAL 

1.7. The four unitary model reflects the distinct needs of different parts of Devon. Plymouth and 
Torbay face the highest levels of deprivation, with significant concentrations of areas in the 
most deprived national deciles, coupled with higher levels of child poverty and lower life 
expectancy. This requires tailored, intensive support models. Meanwhile, the new Devon 
authority will focus on the distinct challenges of dispersed rural communities, including rural 
poverty, low wages, and pressures around housing affordability and connectivity. This 
differentiated approach ensures that public services can be designed and delivered in ways 
that genuinely respond to local circumstances rather than applying uniform models that work 
nowhere well. 

 
1.8. The four unitary model creates a robust local government structure that serves both current 

and future generations, with the agility to embrace innovation whilst adapting to changing 
priorities. By eliminating artificial administrative boundaries that currently divide naturally 
connected communities, this proposal creates clear accountability, improves service delivery, 
and unlocks significant opportunities for housing growth and economic development. 

 
1.9. Plymouth City Council has an excellent track record of sustained improvements to critical 

statutory services including adult and children's social care services. This is down to a 
relentless focus on putting outcomes for residents first, using transformative and innovative 
approaches to make the city's services better. We work at pace, with high energy and a 
mindset of continual improvement. 

 
1.10. The expanded Plymouth will be equipped to provide enhanced service delivery achieved 

through the integration of services currently divided between county and district councils, 
leading to more cohesive and efficient operations. 

 
1.11. This is a historic moment for Plymouth. Our vision is a future where the expanded Plymouth 

unitary authority delivers quality, cost effective public services to residents whilst maintaining 
strong community connections through innovative neighbourhood governance arrangements. 

 
Current Challenges 

 
1.12. The existing two-tier structure of local government creates artificial barriers in areas that 

naturally function as part of Devon's principal urban settlements. The division of 
responsibilities between county and district councils fragments service delivery, particularly 
for vulnerable residents who require coordinated support across multiple services. Families 
with children who have special educational needs, older people requiring both health and 
social care, and young people transitioning from children to adult services all face 
unnecessary complexity navigating between different tiers of local government. These 
administrative boundaries frustrate residents and delay solutions to cross-boundary issues 
such as housing delivery, transport planning, and economic development. 

 
1.13. Businesses struggle to identify the right council to engage with on economic development 

matters across the economic area, whilst residents face confusion about service 
responsibilities between different tiers of government. The artificial division of naturally 
connected communities like Sherford, Cranbrook and Exminster and other urban fringe areas 
undermines effective strategic planning and service delivery. Meanwhile, the duplication of 
corporate services across 11 separate councils represents a significant waste of public 
resources that could be redirected to front-line provision. 

 

Page 41



P a g e  | 8 
 

OFFICIAL 

Strategic Opportunity 
 

1.14. Plymouth has established itself as a successful unitary authority with a strong track record of 
innovation, and continued improvements in critical services such as social care. The city's 
strategic location, world-class assets including the waterfront and naval heritage, and growing 
knowledge economy position it as a natural focal point for the wider economic region. 

 
1.15. Expanding Plymouth represents a coherent economic geography with shared transport 

networks, housing markets, and employment patterns. Extending the unitary governance to 
encompass this natural area will unlock significant benefits for residents, businesses, and 
communities across both urban and rural settings. 

 
1.16. Expanding Exeter and Torbay will similarly allow better sub-regional coordination of 

transport infrastructure and the delivery of accelerated levels of housing and employment. 
Together with Plymouth, these three growth-orientated authorities will provide a strong 
urban voice within the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority whilst the new 
Devon authority can focus resources on the distinct challenges of delivering quality services 
across dispersed rural communities. This differentiated approach, unified by collaborative 
working at the strategic level, represents genuine public service reform that places the needs 
of residents and communities at its centre providing a strong basis for the early preparation 
of the Spatial Development Strategy to achieve the Government’s national growth ambitions. 

 
Our Local Government Reorganisation Principles 

 
1.17. Whilst we recognise that Government has set out its own criteria for local government 

reorganisation, and we support those; we developed our own set of principles for local 
government reorganisation in our Interim Plan submitted in March 2025 which reflected the 
unique position of Plymouth and its planned modest boundary extension. In the time we have 
had to discuss these proposals with key stakeholders since March 2025, and to reflect 
observations by Plymouth City Council’s Scrutiny Management Board, we have considered 
local government options against updated principles which reflect the Government's 
requirement to bring forward a proposal that relates to the whole area of Devon: 

  
1. Any boundary changes for Devon will be appropriate for continuing and new 

unitary authorities to be financially viable and be of a population size that can 
deliver sustainable high-quality services to residents.   
  

2. Any boundary change will retain the character and identity of the existing 
neighbourhoods across the whole Devon area.    
  

3. Any boundary change will respect existing unitary county boundaries.  
  

4. Any boundary change will minimise organisational impacts on National Park 
Authorities and National Landscapes. 
  

5. Any boundary change will be based on existing parish boundaries. 
  

6. Any boundary change will have regard to the requirements for future 
sustainable growth reflecting the unique growth opportunities in each of the 
proposed unitary authorities. 

Page 42



P a g e  | 9 
 

OFFICIAL 

The Current Situation in Plymouth 
 

2.1. Plymouth has been an incorporated council since 1439 and became a municipal borough in 
1836. In 1914, it absorbed the towns of Devonport and Stonehouse and was granted city 
status in 1928. In 1951, there was a northward extension to the city boundary to 
accommodate the rehousing the population devastated by massive enemy bombing during the 
Second World War. 

 
2.2. On 1 April 1967, the suburbs of Plymstock and Plympton were included within a revised 

boundary as part of planned growth to meet housing needs. It is 58 years since the boundary 
of the city has been changed to reflect the reality of growth on the ground. 

 
2.3. Continuation of the city's outdated boundaries would mean continued reliance on co-

operation and shared priorities with surrounding authorities. This would deliver inefficient 
government and sub-optimal strategic place-shaping leadership for Plymouth and the sub-
region. This is particularly concerning as district authorities will be absorbed into a model of 
larger unitary local government to be confirmed for the rest of Devon. In these 
circumstances, the understanding that existing neighbours have of the relationship between 
the city and sub-region, and the close working relationship this has fostered is likely to be 
undermined. 

 
2.4. Plymouth is an ambitious city with a lot to offer. We have a resident population of around 

270,000, making it the most significant urban area southwest of Bristol, with plans to grow to 
over 300,000 by 2034. The city has a radical and ambitious vision to be one of Europe's 
finest, most vibrant waterfront cities.  

 
2.5. Plymouth is one of the 22 authorities that make up the Key Cities Group and has been 

identified as one of the country’s key locations for meeting national housing needs through 
the provision of sustainable communities.  

 
2.6. Plymouth has been identified as one of Homes England’s priority places “because of its 

visionary local leadership and unique geographic position. This offers an exceptional opportunity to 
make the most of existing Government defence investments, which will help transform the city's built 
environment and improve life opportunities for both the city and the wider region, all while directly 
supporting national defence in support of the Government’s agenda” (Letter dated 14 February 
2025, Homes England Interim Chief Executive). The City and Homes England signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding in June 2025 to commit building 10,000 homes in the city 
centre. 

 
2.7. The Council has developed a variety of long-term strategic investment frameworks with 

funders over the past decade and pioneered some nationally significant work with the Local 
Enterprise Partnerships, Arts Council England, the National Lottery, the National Defence Gs 
Team and MHCLG, the National Trust and many others. We have taken a lead role in 
developing strong partnerships such as with Peninsula Transport, the sub-national transport 
body who we host, and in relation to bus provision the Plymouth Enhanced Bus Partnership 
with local operators. 

 
2.8. Plymouth’s economy is worth £7.3 billion and supports approx. 117,000 jobs and 120,000 

dwellings. Through proactive approaches to planning and regeneration the City has approved 
£2.7 billion of development in the last few years. Plymouth also has a nationally and regionally 

Page 43



P a g e  | 10 
 

OFFICIAL 

significant pipeline of growth, which has strong cross-party support, estimated at £9 billion. 
Additional investment of £700 million is being made into strategic and sustainable transport 
infrastructure to support planned growth, and the Bus Services Improvement Plan seeks to 
bring forward a further £311 million to meet the needs of a growing population.  

 
2.9. Plymouth has continued to attract Foreign Direct Investment (FDI). Over the last five years, 

£332 million worth of FDI came to Plymouth, securing 1,460 new jobs. The city is home to 
one of only 12 Freeports in the country and the only one in the South West. The Plymouth 
and South Devon Freeport has received £25m of government funding, which will be matched 
with £31m of private investment and is forecasted to deliver over 3,500 jobs. the city 
launched the UK's first National Marine Park with a £11.6 million funding from the National 
Heritage Lottery Fund, aiming to actively engage 264,000 people, contribute £20.2m in Gross 
Value Added (GVA) and collaborate with 200 businesses  

 
2.10. Plymouth’s marine and defence economy is at the heart of its economic identity: 20,110 jobs 

which is 18% of Plymouth’s total employment and providing 21% of Plymouth’s GVA. 
Plymouth is a global centre of excellence for marine science and technology and has recently 
been recognised in the Industrial Strategy as the National Centre for Marine Autonomy. This 
is underpinned by the fact that Plymouth is home to three universities and one-in-four 
knowledge jobs are in its universities. 

 
2.11. Plymouth is also home to the largest naval base in Western Europe, HMNB Devonport. The 

dockyard contributes 14% of Plymouth’s economic output and sustains about £511m local 
supply chain spend per annum across 400 businesses. HMNB Devonport is a crucial support 
base for the Continuous-At-Sea-Deterrent (CASD) and Plymouth has been named as one of 
the first five Defence Growth Deals in the recent Defence Industrial Strategy. Plymouth City 
Council, the Ministry of Defence and Babcock International have launched Team Plymouth – 
an ambitious partnership with a Ministerial Oversight Group, jointly chaired by MOD and 
MHCLG – to maximise the opportunity for defence investment to support CASD whilst 
driving sustainable and inclusive growth, innovation and opportunities for Plymouth and the 
region. This will support: 

  
• £4.4 billion of investment in defence with a confirmed programme of work that 

extends to 2070. 
• 5,500 new recruits needed over the next ten years to sustain Babcock’s current 

workforce and more than 2,000 construction jobs in addition. Current projections 
show that by 2035, Plymouth will have 25,000 more jobs than people in the 
workforce to fill them. 

• Unprecedented long term demands for skills and housing. 
 
2.12. The city’s plans are in line with the aims set out in the Government’s “Plan for Change: 

Milestones for a Mission-Led Government” to:    
  

• Establish stronger foundations for national renewal.  
• Kickstart economic growth. 
• Building an NHS for the future. 
• Create safer streets. 
• Break down the barriers to opportunity. 
• Make Britain a clean energy superpower.  

  

Page 44



P a g e  | 11 
 

OFFICIAL 

2.13. Achieving these ambitions will require strong local leadership with vision and a relentless 
commitment to delivery. Plymouth offers exactly that; however, success demands a city 
region approach which: 

  
• Unlocks Plymouth’s potential for transformational growth. 
• Raises prosperity across the sub region. 
• Addresses housing need, with a focus on affordable housing. 
• Develops comprehensive infrastructure to support our communities. 
• Responds and develops functional relationships between the city and surrounding 

settlements. 
• Maintains the cherished world class environment in which the city is set.  

 
Why Plymouth City Council would be a “Continuing Authority” 

 
2.14. Plymouth is 28th most populous authority out of 255 unitary authorities based on mid-year 

2024 population data. Continuing on its existing geographical unitary footprint, Plymouth City 
Council would meet the Government’s 6 criteria set out in its legal invitation, being unitary in 
nature, able to continue to deliver efficiencies in operation, able to continue to innovate and 
deliver high quality public services, continue partnership working, support devolution and 
enable future neighbourhood working.  

 
2.15. As the proposal from the City Council is to remain on its existing unitary boundary this 

meets the “starting point” requirement of Government set out in a letter dated 21 August 
2025 from the Co-Deputy Director for Local Government Reorganisation to the Chief 
Executive of Plymouth City Council that it would be, by definition, a “continuing authority”. 

 
2.16. Plymouth City Council's preferred approach is for the Secretary of State to modify its local 

government reorganisation proposal. Under this modification, Plymouth would remain on its 
existing unitary boundary and include 13 parishes currently within South Hams District 
Council's area. This expanded Plymouth area would be a "continuing authority" for the 
following reasons - 

 
• The extended authority area would represent a modest increase of around 10% in the 

population served by the authority and therefore be a moderate change. 
• As a Continuing Authority, the implementation costs would be around £5 million. As a 

new authority, this could rise to c. £7.5m because of the impact of potential redundancy 
costs, ‘parallel running’ costs for a shadow authority, and additional programme 
management costs. 

• As a minimal numbers of staff would need to be transferred from Devon County Council 
and South Hams District Council who currently provide services to local people in the 
extended area, there would be no need for wide-ranging TUPE arrangements to be put in 
place covering all staff currently within Plymouth City Council, again maximising continuity 
of service delivery and minimising disruption arising from the local government 
reorganisation process for local people and businesses.  

• Continuity of service provision in the areas of SEND, children’s social care, adult social 
care, planning, waste, homelessness would be achieved by adding the relatively small 
number of additional service users in the extended area to the City Council’s existing 
operational delivery arrangements. 

Page 45



P a g e  | 12 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Existing contractual arrangements within the extended area would be novated to the City 
Council, thus minimising disruption, and cost. 

• There would be no need for complex land transfer arrangements to be put in place which 
would be required if any new authority was created. 

• This would allow a faster mobilisation in relation to the preparation of new-style Local 
Plans and a Sustainable Development Strategy for the wider devolution area of Devon 
envisaged under the Planning and Infrastructure Bill currently before Parliament, thereby 
allowing the Government's wider growth and accelerated housing missions to be achieved.  

 
This would provide a firmer foundation to drive forward the Government’s Defence Industrial 
Strategy objectives arising from the identification of Plymouth as the UK's national centre for marine 
autonomy, ensuring no disruption to the emerging Defence Growth Deal. 
  

Page 46



P a g e  | 13 
 

OFFICIAL 

Why Plymouth Needs to Expand 
 
3.1. We are clear that we should only suggest boundary changes where we believe this will assist 

in delivering the vision for the city and sub-region more effectively. We believe that there is 
an exceptional case for a modest boundary extension based on just 13 existing parishes 
surrounding Plymouth. This would unlock further growth opportunities, respect local identity, 
and create a more coherent and efficient administrative structure. By basing the boundary 
change on Plymouth City Council being a continuing authority this will facilitate the delivery 
not only of the proposal for four unitary councils across Devon but also the foundations for 
the creation of a South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority.  

  
3.2. Any changes to the structure of local government in Devon will inevitably impact upon 

Plymouth. When radical change takes place in the rest of the county, new structures in Devon 
are unlikely to make sense without reconsidering of Plymouth’s boundaries. Not to do so 
would be a significantly regressive step and damaging to competitiveness of the city and its 
city-region, risk the delivery of the regional economic growth agenda for the South West and 
would not deliver the most effective strategic leadership, value for money or neighbourhood 
empowerment.  

 
3.3. The need for considering a boundary change for Plymouth as part of the wider local 

government reorganisation is borne out by the critical relationships between the city and the 
surrounding city-region. For example - 

  
• Plymouth’s economic performance can only sensibly be measured and 

planned for at a sub-regional level. Key sites for Plymouth’s prosperity, such as 
Langage Business and Energy Parks and part of the Freeport extend beyond the city’s 
current administrative area. A balanced strategy for economic growth is required 
throughout the sub-region to ensure that prosperity is shared, growth is sustainable and 
sensible spatial and infrastructure planning will help drive economic growth. To put 
Plymouth’s economy in perspective, it is 50% of the size of Cornwall’s economy and 32% 
the size of Devon’s economy. 

 
• Plymouth’s housing needs cannot be met entirely from within the city’s 

current boundaries. This has been acknowledged for many years through the 
development of previous Structure Plans for Devon and Cornwall, and most recently in 
the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan which establishes a “Plymouth 
Policy Area” for the wider sub-region around the city. The Sherford new town and 
planned Woolwell and Plympton urban extensions (located in South Hams District 
Council) have been required primarily to meet housing needs in the city, but even with 
this development there remains significant unmet need in the sub-region. Sherford, 
Woolwell and the urban extension east of Plympton are physically attached to the city 
and there is more potential still to be delivered. Under the Government’s Standard 
Method, Plymouth has a housing target of 1,280 dwellings per annum (compared to 660 
dwellings per annum in the current adopted plan) and South Hams has a target of 922 
dwellings per annum.    

 
• Plymouth’s cultural offer is of significant importance to the entire sub-region. 

365 creative and cultural enterprises are located in Plymouth and the city hosts an array 
of regionally and nationally significant venues. For example, the Theatre Royal Plymouth is 

Page 47



P a g e  | 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

the largest and best attended regional producing theatre in the UK and the leading 
promoter of theatre in the South West, achieving annual audiences of over 300,000 
annually. The Box is now also a nationally significant museum and cultural centre and has 
attracted over 1 million visitors. The immersive 360-degree dome at Market Hall is the 
only one of its kind in Europe. 

 
• Plymouth is home to three universities, which cater for about 23,000 

students, many from the region. For example, 73% of Plymouth Marjon University’s 
undergraduate students originate from the South West region. With 2 Gold and 1 silver 
Teaching Excellence Framework ratings across all three universities, Plymouth’s academic 
sector provides a high quality and nationally recognised higher education teaching. Arts 
University Plymouth is not only the UK’s newest specialist arts university, but has also 
won the title of University of the Year for South West England. Plymouth Marjon 
University is ranked third in the UK for teaching quality and joins Arts University 
Plymouth with both institutions ranked exceptionally high within Student Satisfaction 
surveys. Finally, University of Plymouth consistently makes significant strides within 
marine studies research and has been ranked among the world’s top 100 universities for 
sustainability. University of Plymouth is linked with Derriford Hospital, the largest 
specialist teaching hospital in the South West Peninsula and also offers exceptional clinical 
learning with world class research through its Peninsula Dental School. 

 
• Areas outside the city’s boundaries also look to Plymouth for a range of 

services such as education and health. Plymouth’s GP surgeries have just over 
300,000 registered patients, in comparison to Plymouth’s current population of about 
270,000. Approximately 1,000 children commute for secondary education both to and 
from Plymouth with a significant number of young people also travelling to further 
education opportunities. Aligning administrative boundaries with these actual service 
delivery patterns would enable more coherent commissioning and planning of public 
services, improve coordination between health, education and social care, and create 
clearer accountability for outcomes across the functional area that residents already rely 
upon for essential services. 

 
• The sustainability of growth in Plymouth is dependent to a large degree on 

infrastructure outside of the current administrative area. This is in part a 
consequence of the tightness of the city’s current boundaries, but also the strong pattern 
of commuting to the city from surrounding settlements.  

 
3.4. Since 2016 the Council has secured over £450 million in external grants to support the 

delivery of net zero infrastructure and other decarbonisation projects. This has resulted in 
total investment of over £662 million. Plymouth City Council was identified as one of the six 
pilots for the district heating Advanced Zoning Pilot which has huge potential to be 
expanded to areas outside the city. 

 
3.5. Plymouth plays a fundamental role in our country’s defence, made even more significant 

considering the announcements by the Prime Minister on 25 February 2025 in relation to 
the strategic need to increase overall defence spending in the face of global threats and 
uncertainties. HMNB Devonport provides a crucial support base for both the surface fleet 
and submarines. It is the only place with the capacity and capability for the comprehensive 
maintenance for Continuous at Sea Nuclear Deterrent. The Ministry of Defence’s 
investment of £4.4 billion in HMNB Devonport will kickstart a confirmed programme of 

Page 48



P a g e  | 15 
 

OFFICIAL 

work that extends to 2070 and which is of unique national importance, as demonstrated in 
the Government’s Defence Industrial Strategy. 

 
3.6. However, with structural challenges around city productivity, 21.7% of the working age 

population being economically inactive, and being in the top 20% of deprived wards, the city 
is dragging an anchor of legacy issues. Team Plymouth – a partnership between the Ministry 
of Defence, Babcock International and Plymouth City Council – will address these skills and 
capacity gaps and deliver economic growth with a focus on regeneration, business innovation 
and technology, building on the announcement of Plymouth as one of the first five Defence 
Growth Deals.  

  
3.7. Figure 7.1 is evidence of the strong functional relationship between Plymouth and much of its 

hinterland in terms of employment and commuting. 
  
Figure 3.1. 
 

 
 

3.8. Effective local democracy in England works best when council boundaries match how people 
actually live their lives. People need to access their homes, workplaces, and the community 
and family networks they depend on, all within one clear democratic area. 

 
3.9. There is a strong case for changing Plymouth's boundaries because of how the city has grown 

and how services are delivered. 
 

3.10. Significant existing and planned developments already sit directly on Plymouth's boundaries 
(see Figure 3.2). The "Plymouth Policy Area" is a planning concept in the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan (2014 to 2034), adopted in March 2019. This plan allows for the 
city's growth, but the new development sits within South Hams District Council's 
administrative area. 

 
3.11. Running services for these areas from a different authority is inefficient. It means governance 

and accountability are tied to a more distant centre. Any solution for local government in 

Page 49



P a g e  | 16 
 

OFFICIAL 

Devon that does not fix these problems will deliver poor value for money and weaker 
neighbourhood empowerment. 

  
Figure 3.2 

 

 
  

3.12. Plymouth has a long track record of planning on a sub-regional basis for transport. This is 
best exemplified by the “Plymouth Metro” concept shown in Figure 3.3. The “Plymouth 
Metro” provides a strategic opportunity to grow Plymouth’s travel to work area using rail 
stations and rail services and has the support of Network Rail and the Train Operating 
Company Great Western Railway.  

 
3.13. “Plymouth Metro” will ensure that investment in rail supports delivery of growth for 

Plymouth, maximising benefits from the investment in Devonport Dockyard and creating 
sustainable transport options for the location of new housing developments. It will kick start 
growth, tackle deprivation, reduce costly congestion and reduce carbon emissions from 
transport. It will deliver a package of measures that will create high quality, frequent rail 
services in and around Plymouth, south east Cornwall, and South West Devon. It will 
transform productivity of the city region, creating an attractive, wider travel to work area for 
a growing city region. Work is already underway with Network Rail leading a strategic study 
investigating what infrastructure improvements are needed to accommodate greater train 
frequencies, alongside timetable and economic analysis and an assessment of current station 
facilities. 

Page 50



P a g e  | 17 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Figure 3.3

 
 

3.14. Finally, expanding Plymouth’s boundaries will support the resilience, viability and sustainability 
of the City Council and deliver significant efficiency savings through economies of scale.  

 
3.15. At the core of our strategic vision lies an extraordinary opportunity underpinned by an 

unprecedented national investment in defence. This represents a pivotal “Why now 
moment?” for Plymouth and its surrounding area, and a “once in a generation” opportunity 
to reshape our local economic landscape.  

 
3.16. Plymouth, based on an expanded city boundary, can offer: 

  
• Ambition  

 
o We have a long-standing commitment to deliver growth through our adopted local 

plans and building upon our national specialisms in defence, advanced manufacturing 
and have the UK’s highest proportion of marine jobs. 

  
• A Track Record of Delivery  

 
o The natural environment is one of Plymouth’s greatest assets. For many years we have 

developed innovative approaches to environmental planning and have a track record of 
working with communities and partners to deliver natural infrastructure 
improvements.  

Page 51



P a g e  | 18 
 

OFFICIAL 

o Plymouth’s land area is 43% green spaces, we have three national landscapes, the UK’s 
first National Marine Park, nine Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 28 County Wildlife 
sites, 13 Local Nature Reserves and 109 natural spaces managed by community groups 
we support. Through our work on the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan we have already developed planning policies that support the protection of 
cherished and important landscapes.  
 

o Having retained our planning, place-making and regeneration capacity, we have 
committed £300 million capital over the last ten years to regeneration, levering in over 
£600 million of investment. We created a £200 million Property Regeneration Fund, 
delivered 11 direct developments and pioneered creative approaches to models of 
delivery. This includes innovative programmes such as our Market Recovery Scheme, 
Get Plymouth Building programme and our award-winning Plan for Homes initiative, as 
well as forward funding, land assembly and estate renewal. 
 

o Recently completed investments in Plymouth include the Derriford District Centre, 
Crownhill Court, Plymouth International Medical and Technology Park, Oceansgate, 
ABP port investment and Tinside Lido refurbishment. 

 
o We have an ambitious pipeline of ongoing and future investments, including HMNB 

Devonport, University Hospital Derriford New Hospital programme, Brickfields sport 
facilities, Mount Batten, ABP shore power, Community Diagnostic Centre and a 
transformative £50m public realm regeneration project across the city centre. 

 
o We not only excel in direct delivery but also have a successful track record of 

delivering government funds as Accountable Body. We were one of the first Freeports 
in the country to draw down all our allocation of seed funding and we received our full 
final year allocation of UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) due to our successful 
delivery of previous years. 

  
• A Pipeline of Growth  

 
o We see the provision of natural infrastructure as an integral part of our wider growth 

ambitions for the city and surrounding area. The success of our economic strategy 
relies on our natural environment being the absolute best it can be. We have delivered 
many initiatives over the years working closely with local communities using innovative 
techniques such as “Appreciative Enquiry” to deliver our Stepping Stones to Nature 
scheme, the Green Minds initiative, the Building Resilience in Communities flood 
protection programme and most notably our Plymouth and South Devon Community 
Forest which has already seen over 500 hectares of new woodlands planted, much of 
this within the proposed expanded Plymouth area, which will see tree canopy cover 
increase by 3% by 2050 and a total of 3,000 hectares of new trees and woodland 
created. 
 

o Our commitment to growth comprises 30,000 sqm of commercial space, 8,000 jobs 
and the creation of over 1,000 new businesses.  
 

o We are delivering 10,000 new homes in and around the city centre as part of a 
programme of £9 billion of public and private investment, creating 7,000 jobs linked to 
our regeneration programme.  

Page 52



P a g e  | 19 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
o We are also developing a delivery strategy to meet the housing target for Plymouth 

and the expanded area, estimated to be in the range of 1,876 to 2,909 homes per 
annum.  

 
  

Page 53



P a g e  | 20 
 

OFFICIAL 

Why Devon Needs Fundamental Public Service Reform 
 
4. The 1974 Settlement No Longer Fits 
 

4.1. Devon's current governance structure dates from the Local Government Act 1972, 
implemented in April 1974. That reform was designed for a different world. Despite the clear 
benefits identified in the 1969 Radcliffe-Maud Royal Commission on Local Government in 
England (Cmnd. 4040) of the benefits of a system of unitary government in England the 
recommendations were set aside largely for political reasons. The Act aimed to end the 
artificial separation of towns from their surrounding areas, creating standardised two-tier 
structures across England. Fifty years later, the world that reform addressed has 
fundamentally changed – 

 
• The economic base has shifted from manufacturing to services.  
• The population has aged dramatically.  
• Digital technology has transformed how people live and work.  
• Travel patterns, housing markets, and economic geography bear little resemblance to 

1974.  
 

4.2. The boundaries drawn then increasingly fail to match how Devon functions today. 
 

4.3. More significantly, further change is inevitable. Devon faces ongoing demographic pressure as 
the population continues to age, with those aged 65 and over projected to grow significantly. 
Digital transformation will continue reshaping service delivery whilst raising expectations for 
responsive, integrated services. Economic geography will keep evolving as Exeter grows and 
Plymouth expands, whilst rural and coastal areas face distinct challenges around seasonal 
employment, housing affordability, and service accessibility. Health and social care integration 
demands will intensify as the NHS Long Term Plan embeds Integrated Neighbourhood 
Teams. 

 
4.4. The opportunity to complete this transformation is now, whilst these systems are in flux and 

can be designed to work together from the start. Disruption and risk are coming regardless, 
the question is not whether Devon experiences this disruption, but whether Devon shapes it 
or is shaped by it. Acting now means building governance that matches how communities 
actually function, that operates at the right scale to deliver complex statutory services whilst 
maintaining genuine accountability, and that creates the capacity for genuine public service 
reform from the foundation rather than attempting it through boundaries designed in a 
different era. 

 
Why the Two-Tier System Fails Across Devon 
 

4.5. We recognise that the case for local government reform applies across all of Devon and the 
proposal for Plymouth's expansion sits within a four-unitary model because we believe this is 
the only configuration that serves all parts of Devon effectively. Understanding the challenges 
facing Exeter, Torbay, and rural Devon is essential to demonstrating why four unitaries is the 
right answer for the county. A four-unitary model allows for three growth-orientated urban 
authorities to drive economic development and regeneration, working closely with a South 
West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority, alongside a strong rural focussed Devon Coast 

Page 54



P a g e  | 21 
 

OFFICIAL 

and Countryside unitary authority that can develop place-based bespoke models of service 
delivery for dispersed communities. 

 
4.6. Fragmented strategic planning is perhaps the most visible failure of the current system. 

Housing, transport, and economic development decisions are split between multiple tiers and 
multiple authorities, making coherent delivery almost impossible. The difficulties experienced 
with the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan provide a stark illustration. Despite genuine 
commitment from all parties to work together, the existing dynamics of local government 
ultimately frustrated the very collaboration it needed. When well-intentioned councils find it 
structurally impossible to plan together effectively, the system itself is the problem. A four-
unitary model is the most optimal to achieve the strategic planning benefits from the 
Government's planning reforms, which will see the introduction of Spatial Development 
Strategies to drive growth. 

 
4.7. The duplication inherent in two-tier governance wastes money at precisely the time when all 

councils face severe budget pressures. Multiple sets of elected members, multiple 
management teams, multiple corporate functions, and multiple separate back-office 
operations exist for services that could and should be integrated. Residents pay for this 
duplication through their council tax whilst receiving a more complicated, less responsive 
service. The confusion about which council is responsible for what service weakens 
democratic accountability. When residents do not know whether to contact the county or 
the district about a problem, civic engagement suffers and councils become more remote 
from the communities they serve. 

 
Different Places, Fundamentally Different Needs 
 

4.8. Local government reform must recognise that Devon is not one uniform place. The current 
Devon County Council area masks profound variations in need and circumstance beneath 
county-wide averages. Income deprivation stands at 17.1% across the Devon County Council 
area, compared to 24.4% in Plymouth and 26% in Torbay. But these averages conceal 
extreme variations. Exeter contains wards with health deprivation ranking 287th nationally, 
whilst rural areas like Monkleigh and Putford rank first nationally for barriers to housing and 
services. Some market towns enjoy substantial affluence whilst coastal communities face 
concentrated deprivation and isolation. 

 
4.9. Services designed at county scale for populations of 800,000 cannot respond effectively to 

this granular variation. Commissioning based on county averages systematically under-
provides in areas of highest need whilst potentially over-providing elsewhere. True equity 
means tailoring services to distinct patterns of need, not imposing uniform approaches that 
work nowhere well. 

 
The Challenge Facing Exeter 
 

4.10. Exeter faces a particular set of challenges that the current system cannot address. The city is 
experiencing rapid population growth, driven by Exeter's success as a knowledge economy 
hub, home to a world-class university, the Met Office, and thriving digital and professional 
services sectors. Yet the city is constrained by a boundary defined decades ago that bears no 
relation to how modern Exeter actually functions. Exeter has been held back by Devon 
County Council as highway authority by not having direct control over the ability to align 
transport policy and transport infrastructure with its significant growth plans. 

Page 55



P a g e  | 22 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
4.11. The reality of Exeter extends far beyond its administrative boundary. Some 37,000 people 

commute into the city daily for work. The Exeter Housing Market Area closely matches the 
local economic market area, and both align with what has become the second-largest travel-
to-work area in England after Cambridge. Current development strategies already recognise 
this functional reality.  

 
4.12. The Exeter Plan includes 14,000 new homes within the city boundary by 2041, whilst 

Teignbridge and East Devon have designated areas on the city's outskirts for 30,500 more 
homes.  These neighbouring developments functionally extend the city. Many residents living 
in these new homes will consider Exeter their home, work in the city, use its services, and 
identify with it. Yet governance remains fragmented across multiple authorities, none of 
which can plan coherently across the area that actually matters. 

 
4.13. This fragmentation has real consequences for housing delivery and strategic planning. Exeter 

needs the ability to coordinate planning, transport, and infrastructure across its functional 
economic area. It needs to be able to invest in the capacity and connectivity that will support 
continued growth.  

 
Why Torbay Should Expand Its Unitary Authority 
 

4.14. Torbay provides crucial evidence for the four-unitary model whilst demonstrating why 
modest expansion strengthens rather than changes a successful approach. The authority has 
operated successfully as a unitary for over two decades, proving that focused governance of 
coherent communities delivers excellent services. Children's Services rated Good by Ofsted, 
innovative health and social care integration, and performance on delayed transfers of care 
dramatically better than the national average all demonstrate what a dedicated unitary 
authority can achieve. The authority's distinct identity as the English Riviera creates a clear 
sense of place that residents recognise and value. 

 
4.15. However, Torbay's current compact geography of just 63 km² and population of 

approximately 140,000 creates constraints that expansion would address. With a significant 
growth agenda focussed on photonics and micro-electronics, fishing and tourism, health care 
and creative industries the existing boundary represents a major constraint on strategic 
planning to provide land to support these key economic sectors. 

 
4.16. With approximately 27% of its population aged 65 or over, the authority faces sustained 

demand for adult social care and health services that will intensify as the population continues 
to age. The area experiences high deprivation levels in some coastal wards whilst 
simultaneously managing a tourism sector that operates across a wider functional economic 
area than the current boundary contains. Balancing regeneration investment with service 
provision for vulnerable populations requires both the local knowledge Torbay possesses and 
the financial resilience that a larger tax base provides. 

 
4.17. Expanding Torbay to approximately 220,000 population through modest boundary 

modifications into neighbouring areas with strong functional connections would maintain 
everything that works about the current model whilst building capacity for future challenges. 
The expansion would increase the tax base by approximately 67%, providing the enhanced 
revenue capacity needed to sustain innovative approaches to integrated care without 
requiring unsustainable efficiency gains. The larger scale enables continued investment in 

Page 56



P a g e  | 23 
 

OFFICIAL 

prevention and early intervention whilst managing demographic pressures. Critically, 
expansion preserves Torbay's distinct coastal character and focused governance model. 

 
4.18. The authority maintains the proximity to communities that enables its proven service 

delivery approach whilst gaining the financial resilience necessary for long-term sustainability. 
This validates the principle that unitary authorities should serve communities with genuine 
shared identity, expanded to their natural functional extent rather than constrained by 
boundaries that no longer match economic and social reality. 

 
The Distinct Challenges of Rural and Coastal Devon 
 

4.19. Devon's rural and coastal areas face fundamentally different challenges than the urban centres 
of Plymouth, Exeter, and Torbay. With a population density of just 124 people per square 
kilometre compared to Plymouth's 3,311, these areas require service delivery models 
designed explicitly for geographic dispersion rather than urban concentration. Every service 
becomes inherently more expensive to deliver when populations are scattered across vast 
distances rather than concentrated in towns and cities.  

 
4.20. Rural areas face particular challenges where service delivery must overcome fundamental 

geographic constraints. Market towns like Barnstaple, Tiverton and Tavistock serve as 
centres for surrounding villages and dispersed communities, yet current governance 
fragments service delivery and prevents integrated place-based planning. Adult social care 
services must reach an older demographic across enormous distances, with over 25% of 
residents aged 65 or over in many rural areas, whilst a road network stretching to 24,556 
kilometres requires constant maintenance across challenging terrain. This geography 
demands sophisticated workforce planning to manage staff across wide areas whilst 
controlling significant mileage and travel costs, making environmental services, waste 
collection, planning and economic development inherently more expensive per head. Current 
arrangements add complexity and expense rather than enabling strategic commissioning at 
the right scale for these dispersed communities. 

 
4.21. Rural Devon has a distinct economic base built around agriculture, food production, rural 

tourism and small businesses, with workforce patterns and skills needs that bear little 
resemblance to urban Plymouth or Exeter. Market towns, villages and dispersed communities 
each require different approaches to service delivery than suburban areas, with economic 
development priorities shaped by their particular geography and circumstances. Devon's 
geography creates profound variations across these rural and coastal communities, and they 
deserve governance that understands and responds to their specific needs rather than 
imposing urban models or treating them as an afterthought. 

 
4.22. A purpose-designed Devon Coast and Countryside authority would enable locality-based 

delivery through market town hubs, strong partnerships with parish councils, and 
commissioning strategies that work with small and medium-sized local providers who 
understand rural communities.  

 
Creating the Right Scale for Modern Service Delivery 
 

4.23. The question of scale matters, but not in the way traditional arguments suggest. Recent 
research on adult social care analysed performance across all English upper tier authorities 
and found no correlation between authority size and service quality. Authorities serving 

Page 57



P a g e  | 24 
 

OFFICIAL 

populations from 100,000 to 300,000 achieve outcomes across the full range of performance, 
as do authorities above 500,000. 

 
4.24. The research identifies that scale provides advantages in managing fixed costs, data systems 

and specialist commissioning, but these benefits plateau rapidly. Beyond that threshold, size 
introduces diseconomies through bureaucracy and the loss of local knowledge that enables 
effective prevention. 

 
4.25. Critically, the research identifies that local connection is a prevention superpower. 

Authorities operating at appropriate scales demonstrate particular strengths in community-
based prevention, housing and neighbourhood integration, and working with voluntary 
organisations. 

 
4.26. The NHS 10 Year Health Plan proposes Integrated Neighbourhood Teams delivering care. 

Making this work requires local authorities operating at scales that enable both strategic 
commissioning and neighbourhood delivery which can be delivered in a four unitary model. 

 
Why Four Unitaries Is the Right Answer 
 

4.27. Having considered the distinct challenges facing different parts of Devon, Plymouth has 
concluded that four unitary authorities is the only model that delivers effectively for all areas. 
Four unitaries recognises that Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay, and rural Devon have fundamentally 
different service needs, economic drivers, and demographic profiles that require tailored 
governance rather than one-size-fits-all approaches. The model aligns with functional 
economic areas and travel-to-work patterns, enabling coherent strategic planning rather than 
the current fragmentation. It builds on the proven success of Plymouth and Torbay as 
existing unitary authorities, extending these benefits to Exeter whilst creating a purpose-
designed authority for rural and coastal communities. 

 
4.28. Four unitaries with modest boundary modifications enables each authority to focus on its 

distinct priorities whilst collaborating through the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic 
Authority on regional issues. Plymouth can serve its growth area effectively. Exeter gains the 
governance structure it needs to manage rapid growth. Torbay continues its proven model. 
Devon Coast and Countryside provides purpose-designed rural governance. Each authority is 
large enough to deliver complex statutory services, withstand financial shocks, and achieve 
economies of scale, yet small enough to maintain genuine accountability to local communities. 

 
Aligning with Public Service Partners 
 

4.29. The Devon Integrated Care Board is transitioning into a cluster with Cornwall. This creates a 
genuine opportunity to demonstrate how local care partnerships, neighbourhood health 
models and family-focused working can deliver better outcomes. Plymouth has already 
demonstrated the value of this approach through its Wellbeing Hubs and Family Hubs, 
operating a "no wrong door" model through locality networks that provide seamless, 
integrated support across health, social care and community services. The move to place-
based working across the Devon and Cornwall cluster gives us the chance to build on this 
foundation and as the system reconfigures, there is a real opportunity to anchor this work in 
place-based delivery that responds to local need rather than organisational boundaries. 

 

Page 58



P a g e  | 25 
 

OFFICIAL 

4.30. In policing there is opportunity to ensure that local authorities can work effectively with 
Devon and Cornwall Police in ways that genuinely reflect how communities function. Devon 
sits within the Devon and Cornwall Police area, which covers 1.82 million residents across 
the largest road network of any force in England. Policing priorities need to connect directly 
with the issues people raise most often, whether that is antisocial behaviour in town centres, 
rural crime or safeguarding vulnerable people. Four unitary authorities create the right scale 
for effective partnership working, where police resources and neighbourhood teams can 
work with councils, health services and voluntary organisations to tackle repeat offending, 
support repeat victims and address problem locations. The reorganisation gives us the chance 
to create governance that enables place-based collaboration on community safety. 

 
4.31. Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service already operates through 83 fire stations 

organised into clear geographical areas, so the local government reorganisation will have 
limited impact on their operational model. Their existing geographical structure and strong 
partnership working with local authorities, health services and community organisations 
means they are well positioned to continue their work regardless of boundary changes.  

 
Seizing the Moment for Transformation 
 

4.32. This rare alignment of transformation across multiple public services creates a window that 
will not reopen. Designing these systems together now means they can work as an integrated 
whole from the start, whilst delay condemns Devon to years of attempting to retrofit 
neighbourhood teams onto governance that does not match functional communities. The 
disruption and risk are coming regardless through NHS transformation, police governance 
changes and employment programme implementation, so the opportunity is to complete this 
transformation properly whilst the systems are in flux and choice remains about how they fit 
together. 

 
4.33. This is Plymouth's answer to Devon's local government challenge because it is the only model 

that works for all parts of the county. It replaces artificial boundaries from 1974 with 
structures that match how Devon actually functions in 2025, creating authorities at the right 
scale to be responsive to communities whilst large enough to deliver statutory services 
effectively. It recognises that different places need different approaches rather than imposing 
county-wide uniformity on incompatible geographies. Most importantly, it provides Devon 
with governance structures designed for the next fifty years of change, built on the 
foundation of genuine public service reform and delivered through the moment of 
transformation when creating the right structures is still possible. The moment to act is now. 
  

Page 59



P a g e  | 26 
 

OFFICIAL 

The Base Proposal for Local Government in Devon 
 

5.1. It is a requirement under the 2007 Act to base a proposal on whole district building blocks. 
This section sets out our base case in response to the Secretary of State’s invitation issued 
on 05 February 2025 (and taking account of the feedback on the Plymouth’s Interim Plan set 
out in the letter of 15 May 2025). 

 
5.2. Our base case for local government reorganisation in Devon is as follows: 

 
• Plymouth City Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of 

approximately 270,000 based on its existing unitary council boundary. 
• Exeter City Council as a new unitary authority with a population of approximately 

135,000 based on its existing administrative boundary. 
• Torbay Council as a continuing unitary authority with a population of approximately 

139,000 based on its existing unitary council boundary. 
• Devon as a new unitary council with a population of approximately 697,000 based on 

its existing county boundary, excluding the City of Exeter. 
 

How the Base Proposal Meets the Government’s Criteria 
 

5.3. This option represents the current local government structure, serving as a legally compliant 
baseline for comparison. However, the analysis demonstrates it is a fundamentally suboptimal 
arrangement, characterised by a profound imbalance between a single, dominant rural 
authority (Devon) and three geographically constrained urban unitary authorities (Plymouth, 
Torbay, and Exeter). This structure perpetuates existing constraints on growth and creates 
an imbalanced partnership for devolution purposes.  

 
  

Page 60



P a g e  | 27 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 5.1 
 

 
 

 
Plymouth 

 
National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon ------ 

Existing Boundaries 

 
Base Case Assessment 
 
 Table 5.1 
 
Government 
Criteria 

Assessment Rationale 

1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • Creates 4 unitary councils using the existing 
principal authorities as building blocks.  

• Meets the Government’s invitation to set out a 
base case on whole districts. 

• Removes the existing two-tier county and 
districts currently in Devon. 

2. Right size and 
financial resilience 

Not Met • Creates authorities of uneven population size 
and financial resilience.  

• Risk pooling is unevenly spread across the 
region. 

3. High-quality, 
sustainable services 

Partially Met • Maintains service continuity, but uneven 
population sizes may make collaboration more 
variable. 

• Does not maximise opportunities for growth in 
Plymouth. 

Page 61



P a g e  | 28 
 

OFFICIAL 

4. Local collaboration 
and responsiveness 

Partially Met • Provides for recognised and legally coherent 
administrative boundaries but does not respond 
to concerns and issues raised during the 
Plymouth’s Big Conversation engagement or 
Exeter and Torbay’s local government 
reorganisation engagements.  

• This option is not supported by any of the 
Devon local authorities 

5. Support for 
devolution 

Partially Met • Creates a group of constituent authorities across 
Devon to link into a South West Peninsula 
Mayoral Strategic Authority (to which Cornwall 
Council could be added). 

• The absence of Ministerial modifications for 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay would place 
significant pressure upon any future Mayoral 
Strategic Authority who will be responsible for 
bringing forward the Spatial Development 
Strategy and growth options. 

• Potential perceived imbalance at the Mayoral 
Strategic Authority due to variations in unitary 
council size. 

6. Community 
engagement 

Met • Maintains a foundation of existing governance 
and neighbourhood engagement arrangements in 
each of the unitary authorities. 

 
Our Principles for Local Government in Devon 
 
1. Financial viability 
and population 

Not Met • Whilst as continuing authorities Plymouth and 
Torbay are viable unitary councils, their current 
populations are insufficient to generate the 
financial base required for long-term viability and 
resist financial shocks.  

• Exeter is not viable as a unitary council on its 
existing boundary.   

• The new Devon Coast and Countryside unitary 
council would be of a sufficient size to be 
financially viable, but disproportionately large 
compared with the three other unitary councils 
in this option. 

2. Character and 
identity 

Met • The Base Case preserves the distinct, compact 
urban character, which is reflected in high 
population density of the urban centres of 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay with a rural 
authority based upon the existing county council 
area (excluding Exeter). 

3. Respect for 
boundaries 

Met • This option respects the boundaries of existing 
unitary authorities. 

Page 62



P a g e  | 29 
 

OFFICIAL 

4. National 
Parks/National 
Landscapes 

Met • The existing boundaries of Plymouth, Exeter and 
Torbay do not impinge National Parks or create 
governance complexities for the Park Authority. 
 

5. Parish boundaries Met • This option proposes no changes and therefore 
does not alter any existing parish boundaries. 
 

6. Sustainable growth 
and strategic role 

Not Met • The geographic constraint of 79.9 square 
kilometres prevents strategic growth 
opportunities, inhibiting Plymouth's capacity to 
fulfil its strategic regional and national role.  

• Similarly in Exeter, at just 47.0 square kilometres, 
there are already severe spatial limitations on its 
strategic hub role. At 62.9 square kilometres, 
Torbay’s future capacity to grow is significantly 
constrained. 
 

  

Page 63



P a g e  | 30 
 

OFFICIAL 

The Modified Proposal for Local Government in Devon 
 

6.1. We request a Ministerial modification to our base case proposal because this will deliver 
longer-term benefits in proactively working with the South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic 
Authority to drive growth. Our proposal, which reflects our vision for local government, is 
for there to be 4 unitary councils covering the Devon area as follows: 

  
• An expanded Plymouth Council – comprising the unitary council of Plymouth City 

Council as a continuing authority with a population of approximately 270,000 with a 
ministerial modification to include 13 parishes all within the current district of South Hams 
District Council of resulting in a population of approximately 300,000.  

  
• An expanded Exeter Council – comprising a new unitary council based on the current 

Exeter City Council boundary with population of approximately 135,000 with a Ministerial 
modification to extend this with 15 parishes from within Teignbridge District Council, 28 
parishes from within East Devon District Council and 6 parishes from within Mid-Devon 
District Council resulting in a population of approximately 260,000.  
 

• An expanded Torbay Council – comprising the unitary council of Torbay as a 
continuing authority on its existing boundaries with a population of approximately 139,000 
with a modification comprising of 23 parishes from within Teignbridge District Council 
and South Hams District Council resulting in a population of 220,000. 

  
• A Devon Coast and Countryside Council – comprising a new unitary council 

covering the rest of the former Devon County Council area, resulting in a population of 
approx. 460,000. 

 
6.2. The proposal for 4 unitary councils to replace the existing county council and 8 district 

councils is shown on the map below: 
 
  

Page 64



P a g e  | 31 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 6.1 

 
 

 
Expanded 
Plymouth  

National Parks 

 
Expanded Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Expanded Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Countryside ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
The Case for an expanded Plymouth Authority 

 
6.3. Plymouth and the surrounding parishes share many challenges and opportunities which have 

been understood and developed through collaborative strategic planning, demonstrated 
through the successful Joint Local Plan which demonstrates existing, effective partnership 
working across Plymouth and the communities of the South Hams.  

 
6.4. The future council will maintain Plymouth's commitment to protecting the most vulnerable 

whilst ensuring consistent quality standards for all residents and businesses. Building on our 
mission to make Plymouth a fairer, greener city where everyone does their bit, the expanded 
authority will help realise our shared ambition for a city region that tackles inequality, drives 
prosperity and growth, maintains safety and attractiveness, promotes health and wellbeing, 
supports independence for older residents, and creates opportunities for children, young 
people, and families to thrive.  

 
6.5. We want the expanded Plymouth Authority to be a place where everyone has a great start 

to life, people live healthy and fulfilling lives, are enabled to achieve their full potential and 
contribute to their community, with an ambition that no one is left behind. 

 
6.6. This means that for the residents in the expanded Plymouth area - 

  

Page 65



P a g e  | 32 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Children and young people are safe and feel safe and confident. 
• Everyone benefits from education, skills and employment opportunities that help 

them succeed in life. 
• Everyone lives healthy, active, and fulfilling lives, and makes good choices about their 

wellbeing. 
• Everyone gets the health and social care support and information they need at the 

right time and place. 
• Communities are welcoming and supportive, especially of those most in need, and 

people feel able to contribute to community life. 
  
6.7. Our ambitions for our place are that: 

  
• Plymouth is at the heart of the national defence, marine autonomy and wider growth 

ambitions for the South West region delivering long-term opportunities for young 
people. 

• Rural heritage is recognised and cherished. 
• Residents live in clean, safe, and green communities, where people and organisations 

embrace their environmental responsibilities. 
• Journeys across the area are easier, more predictable, and safer. 
• Everyone has a place they can call home, with appropriate housing for all. 
• Businesses in the area start up, thrive, and grow. 
• Well-connected communities, with effective infrastructure, grow sustainably. 
• The unique character and identity of both urban Plymouth and rural parishes is 

maintained and celebrated. 
 

6.8. Unitary local government provides a stronger foundation for delivering on these ambitions. It 
will enable us to bring the functions currently divided between different authorities together. 
We will transform how we work and use of convening power with other public services, 
enabling us to focus more effectively on the delivery of our shared ambitions. 

  

Page 66



P a g e  | 33 
 

OFFICIAL 

How the Four-Unitary Model Delivers 
 

7.1. We propose to deliver four councils and one connected Devon which: 
  

• Delivers genuine high-quality and effective strategic leadership of place, recognising the 
role of urban settlements as regional centres and economic hubs. 

  
• Delivers accessible, efficient, effective, and responsive services to people that seeks to 

tackle inequalities and deprivation. 
  

• Delivers a system of local governance that acknowledges the relationship and 
interdependencies between city and surrounding towns and villages and ensures that this 
governance still remains genuinely local to where people live. 

  
• Delivers high quality services that addresses the specific needs of individual 

neighbourhoods and parishes, empowering local people and their representatives to 
inform the design and delivery of services and the setting of policies and priorities. 
  

 
The future of the Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority 

 
7.2. As set out in our joint letter of July 2025 from the Leaders of Plymouth City Council, Torbay 

Council, Devon County Council, and district councils across Devon we propose that the 
Devon and Torbay Combined County Authority should be retired and replaced by a new 
South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority (MSA). This MSA would encompass 
Plymouth City Council, Torbay Council, and the successor unitary authorities in Devon 
following local government reorganisation.  

 
7.3. The proposed four unitary councils, including the expanded Torbay unitary council and the 

new Coast and Countryside unitary council, will continue to exist and deliver local services, 
preserving their sovereignty, culture and identity. The MSA would provide strategic 
governance for the region of 1.2 million people and £25 billion economy, enabling us to 
maximise our exceptional environmental assets, coordinate our £2 billion tourism economy, 
address housing pressures, create integrated transport networks, and support critical 
national infrastructure at Devonport dockyard. 

 
7.4. The functions currently held by the Combined County Authority would transition to the new 

MSA, ensuring continuity of strategic coordination while enabling the enhanced devolution 
powers and funding associated with a mayoral model. As stated in our July 2025 joint letter, 
we believe the Combined County Authority should be retired in advance of the new MSA 
being established. This approach ensures that local government reorganisation and devolution 
proceed in a coordinated manner that maximises the potential of our combined region. 

 
  

Page 67



P a g e  | 34 
 

OFFICIAL 

Why Boundary Modifications in Devon Are Essential 
 
 

The Strategic Role of Medium-Sized Cities in National Economic Growth  
 

8.1. City size alone does not guarantee economic success. Many of the UK's largest cities outside 
London have underperformed economically demonstrating that prosperity stems from 
factors such as leveraging local assets, creating strategic connections, and developing 
approaches tailored to unique strengths. 

 
8.2. A recent report by Inner Circle (September 2025) entitled “A Case for Cities in Local 

Government Reorganisation and English Local Government” advocates for a multi-hub 
approach to growth by focussing on a connected network of high-performing cities on 
expanded boundaries more capable of driving delivery and shaping strategy from the ground 
up. 

 
Strategic Importance Through Specialisation 

  
8.3. Medium-sized cities can create distinctive economic advantages that larger urban centres 

cannot easily replicate. This is exemplified by specialised assets like Devonport dockyard, a 
crucial national defence installation that demonstrates how focused development around 
core competencies can elevate a city's importance far beyond that which its population size 
might suggest. The recent designation of Plymouth as the National Centre for Marine 
Autonomy equally demonstrates this. 
 

Figure 8.1 South West Travel to Work Area 
 

 

 

Page 68



P a g e  | 35 
 

OFFICIAL 

8.4. Such strategic assets serve dual purposes, anchoring regional economic systems while 
simultaneously fulfilling critical national priorities. This dual role makes them particularly 
valuable in balanced regional development strategies. 

 
Administrative Boundaries and Economic Reality 

 
8.5. Current administrative structures often fundamentally misalign with functional economic 

areas, creating significant inefficiencies in governance and service delivery. Boundary 
extensions represent a strategic approach to addressing these challenges, offering more 
coherent frameworks for spatial planning, infrastructure coordination, and public service 
delivery. 

 
8.6. This approach aligns with progressive thinking in urban development, which emphasises 

understanding cities as interconnected systems rather than isolated entities. Effective 
governance and economic growth depend on aligning administrative structures with the 
actual economic and social relationships that define a region or sub-region. 

 
A Model for Regional Development 

 
8.7. Strategic boundary realignment delivers - 

  
• Strategic decisions about new housing and employment over a wider geographical area, 

delivering more sustainable larger-scale solutions to drive the ambitious growth agenda 
for the city. 

• The ability to protect and enhance nationally important landscapes while delivering 
growth. 

• Enhanced support for key economic sectors. 
• More strategic investment attraction. 
• Responsive, integrated public services. 
• Improved regional connectivity and transportation planning. 
• Overcoming barriers to growth caused by different policy environments. 

  
8.8. Medium-sized cities with specialised assets offer a compelling model. Strategic boundary 

changes are not about expansion for expansion's sake, but about creating more effective, 
responsive, financially sustainable, and economically vibrant urban systems that better serve 
communities and drive regional prosperity. 

Page 69



P a g e  | 36 
 

OFFICIAL 

Creating the Right Solution for All Devon 
 

9.1. Plymouth's boundary extension delivers benefits for the city and surrounding communities, 
but it forms part of a wider solution that must work for all of Devon.  

 
Why Exeter Needs Unitary Status 

 
9.2. Exeter faces challenges that parallel Plymouth's in important ways yet reflect the city's distinct 

character and circumstances. As Devon's fastest-growing urban area, Exeter is constrained by 
a boundary that no longer reflects the city's functional reality. The numbers tell a compelling 
story. Population growth of 5.9% compared to the national average of 3.8% demonstrates 
Exeter's success as an economic centre, but this growth creates pressures that current 
governance structures cannot address effectively. With 37,000 people commuting into Exeter 
daily, the city's economic footprint extends far beyond its administrative boundary. The 
Exeter travel-to-work area has become the second largest in England after Cambridge, yet 
governance remains fragmented across Exeter City Council and three surrounding district 
councils. 

 
9.3. The housing challenges facing Exeter provide perhaps the clearest illustration of why the city 

needs unitary status with boundary extensions. The Exeter Plan proposes 14,000 new homes 
within the city boundary by 2041, but Teignbridge and East Devon have designated areas on 
Exeter's outskirts for a further 30,500 homes. These are not separate developments - they 
are functional extensions of Exeter where residents will work in the city, use its services, and 
consider it their home. Yet planning these developments requires coordination between 
multiple authorities with different priorities, timescales, and democratic mandates. The 
difficulties experienced with the Greater Exeter Strategic Plan demonstrate that even well-
intentioned collaboration cannot overcome the structural barriers inherent in two-tier 
governance. 

 
9.4. Exeter needs the ability to plan strategically across its functional economic area, coordinating 

housing, transport, and infrastructure investment coherently. The city needs to be able to 
invest in the capacity and connectivity that support continued growth as a knowledge 
economy hub. As home to a world-class university, the Met Office, and thriving digital and 
professional services sectors, Exeter has strengths that benefit all of Devon. However, 
realising this potential requires governance structures that match the city's ambitions. 
Creating Greater Exeter Council with modest boundary extensions would enable strategic 
planning across the area that matters, accelerating housing delivery and supporting the 
economic growth that Devon needs.  

 
Why Torbay Should Expand its Unitary Authority 

 
9.5. Torbay has operated successfully as a unitary council for over two decades, demonstrating 

that smaller authorities can be effective, but its potential is constrained by its current size. 
Expanding the unitary area would allow an authority serving coherent communities with a 
broader shared economic and geographical identity to deliver even more efficient and robust 
services. Torbay's compact geography of just 63 square kilometres and its small population of 
approximately 140,000 creates challenges of scale when delivering major infrastructure 
projects and complex strategic services. Expansion into neighbouring areas with strong 
functional ties would unlock significant administrative and financial efficiencies. 

Page 70



P a g e  | 37 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
9.6. Torbay faces distinct challenges that require governance at a larger, more resilient scale. An 

ageing demographic with approximately 27% of residents over 65 creates sustained demand 
for adult social care and health services, which would benefit from a larger pooled resource 
base achieved through expansion. The tourism sector, supporting 8,000 jobs, operates as 
part of a wider "English Riviera" economic area that transcends the current unitary boundary; 
expanding the authority would allow for coordinated, strategic management of the entire 
regional tourism economy. Coastal deprivation in some wards sits alongside more 
prosperous areas, and larger-scale governance could better implement comprehensive 
regeneration strategies by pooling business rates and attracting greater external investment. 
Torbay's existing innovative approaches, particularly in health and social care integration, 
would be strengthened and more efficiently scaled by expanding the authority to serve a 
wider population base alongside its strong existing partnerships. 

 
9.7. Torbay should expand for compelling reasons. First, while Torbay’s current track record 

validates the principle of effective unitary governance, expanding it validates the principle that 
strategic scale is critical for modern public service delivery and resource management. 
Second, expansion would build upon Torbay's established governance and innovative 
approaches, allowing them to be applied across a wider, functionally connected region, 
delivering significant economies of scale that are currently unavailable. Third, expanding the 
authority to reflect the true functional economic and geographic extent of the "English 
Riviera" would create a more robust authority that can better advocate for and fund its 
distinct coastal and demographic profile. Torbay should expand its unitary status because it is 
the logical next step to maximise its existing success and secure its long-term financial and 
service resilience. 

 
Why Devon Coast and Countryside Needs Purpose-Designed Governance 

 
9.8. Devon's rural and coastal areas have needs that differ fundamentally from Plymouth, Exeter, 

or Torbay. Population density of just 124 people per square kilometre compared to 
Plymouth's 3,311 means that every service costs more to deliver per head. Market towns like 
Barnstaple, Tiverton, and Tavistock serve as centres for surrounding villages and dispersed 
communities across vast distances. An older demographic with over 25% of residents aged 65 
or over creates sustained demand for adult social care delivered across challenging 
geography. The economic base built on agriculture, food production, rural tourism, and small 
businesses requires different support than urban economies focused on services and 
knowledge sectors. 

 
9.9. These communities deserve governance designed explicitly for their needs rather than having 

urban models imposed or being treated as an afterthought in larger authorities dominated by 
urban populations. A purpose-designed rural authority can develop locality-based delivery 
through market town hubs, working closely with parish councils that are vital partners in 
rural governance. It can commission services from predominantly local small and medium-
sized providers who understand rural communities rather than large national contractors 
better suited to urban contexts. It can focus investment on rural priorities including 
transport connectivity, supporting market towns, preventing costly residential care 
placements through community-based support, and maintaining the landscape and 
environment that defines rural Devon. 

 

Page 71



P a g e  | 38 
 

OFFICIAL 

9.10. The scale of Devon Coast and Countryside enables strategic commissioning and specialist 
capacity whilst maintaining genuine connection to local communities. The authority will be 
large enough to deliver complex statutory services efficiently, employ specialist staff, and 
withstand financial shocks.  Yet through locality working and strong parish partnerships, it 
can maintain the local responsiveness that rural communities rightly expect. This balance, 
scale where it matters for efficiency and resilience, locality focus where it matters for 
responsiveness and connection is why Plymouth's proposal creates a dedicated rural 
authority rather than attempting to incorporate rural areas into urban authorities or creating 
a structure that cannot serve either urban or rural needs effectively. 

 
How Four Authorities Work Together Through Regional Collaboration 

 
9.11. The four-unitary model creates authorities that are individually effective and collectively 

capable of addressing regional priorities. Each authority will focus on its distinct challenges 
and opportunities, Plymouth on defence-led growth and urban regeneration, Exeter on rapid 
growth management and knowledge economy development, Torbay on coastal regeneration 
and age-friendly services, Devon Coast and Countryside on rural sustainability and dispersed 
service delivery. This focus enables tailored governance that reflects genuine differences 
across Devon rather than imposing standardised approaches that serve no area well. 

 
9.12. However, some challenges require collaboration beyond individual authority boundaries. 

Strategic transport infrastructure, economic development, skills provision, and major housing 
growth all benefit from coordination across larger geographies. This is where the South 
West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority becomes crucial to the model's success. Four 
balanced constituent councils, each serving coherent communities with distinct identities, can 
work together effectively on regional priorities whilst maintaining genuine local 
accountability. The four-unitary model provides the optimal foundation for Peninsula 
devolution because it creates constituent councils that are neither too large and remote nor 
too small and lacking capacity but appropriately sized for both local delivery and regional 
collaboration. 

 
9.13. The proposal for four unitary authorities represents a solution that works for all of Devon, 

not just Plymouth. It recognises that different parts of the county have different needs that 
require tailored governance. It builds on proven success where it exists, particularly in 
Plymouth and Torbay's experience as unitary authorities. It addresses critical failures in 
current arrangements, particularly the boundary constraints affecting Plymouth and Exeter 
and the fragmentation hindering rural service delivery. Most importantly, it creates 
authorities that can work together on regional priorities whilst maintaining the local 
connection and accountability that effective democracy requires. This is why Plymouth 
recommends four unitaries with boundary modifications - because it is the only model that 
serves all of Devon effectively. 

  

Page 72



P a g e  | 39 
 

OFFICIAL 

Comparing the Options 
 

Options Considered at Interim Plan Stage 
  

10.1. In March 2025, Plymouth City Council submitted an Interim Plan to the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in response to the formal legal invitation issued on 05 
February 2025. This initial submission was required by 21 March 2025, with final proposals 
due by 28 November 2025. The interim plan explored options for extending the city's 
boundaries to achieve the scale required for future sustainability under local government 
reorganisation. 

  
Interim Plan Options Evaluated 

  
10.2. The interim plan considered four main options to address the Government criteria for an 

extension of the city boundary. 
 

Option 1: Extended City Boundary Based on Plymouth Growth Area 
(Recommended) 

  
10.3. This option was recommended to Cabinet and endorsed by Council as the preferred 

approach. The option proposed a modest boundary extension based on the Plymouth 
Growth Area geography. This was considered to best meet the principles for local 
government reorganisation whilst balancing the need for scale with preservation of 
Plymouth's identity and neighbouring community identities. 

 
10.4. The Growth Area approach focused on functional economic relationships and growth 

potential, creating a coherent geography for strategic planning and service delivery. This 
option was selected as the basis for submission to Government as Plymouth City Council's 
preferred approach. 

  
Option 2: Extended City Boundary Based on Local Care Partnership Western 
NHS Locality (Rejected) 

  
10.5. This option would have aligned the city boundary to the provision of health care services by 

the Local Care Partnership. The option was assessed as having potential to meet the 
Government's six criteria for unitary government. However, further work would have been 
required to demonstrate this potential as the option conflicted with known proposals for 
local government reorganisation in the rest of Devon. 

 
10.6. The option was rejected on the basis that it conflicted with some of the principles for local 

government reorganisation and with proposals emerging from other Devon authorities. 
  

Option 3: Extended City Boundary Based on Plymouth Housing Market Area 
(Rejected) 

  
10.7. This option was based on the part of the Housing Market Area identified through 

preparation of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan, adopted in March 2019. 
The option was assessed as having potential to meet the Government's six criteria for unitary 
government, but again further work would have been required to demonstrate this as it 
conflicted with known proposals for local government reorganisation in the rest of Devon. 

Page 73



P a g e  | 40 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
10.8. The option was rejected because it would have created an unwieldy area for service delivery 

and was assessed as being in conflict with the principles for local government reorganisation. 
  

Council Decision 
  

10.9. On 17 March 2025, Plymouth City Council endorsed Option 1 as the preferred approach 
and approved submission of the Plymouth Local Government Reorganisation Interim Plan to 
Government. The Council also agreed to commission expert advice and support to develop 
the detailed evidence base for the final proposals due in November 2025. 

  
Subsequent Development 

  
10.10. Following submission of the Interim Plan in March 2025, the Government responded with a 

letter dated 15 May 2025 providing feedback. This feedback informed the development of the 
detailed options analysis presented in the final proposal, which refined and expanded on the 
Growth Area concept to create what became the Expanded Plymouth option in the Four 
Unitary option. 

  

Page 74



P a g e  | 41 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case) 
 
Figure 11.1 

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Countryside ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
11. Summary Assessment 
 

11.1. Whilst this option meets the Government's minimum legal criteria, it is not designed for 
long-term success. The proposed structure is highly imbalanced, with Devon's population of 
690,000 more than double that of Plymouth at 270,000. Three dense urban authorities 
operate with over 2,200 people per square kilometre, whilst one large rural authority has 
just 104. This option perpetuates existing barriers to growth and creates an unequal 
foundation for any future devolution partnership.  

Page 75



P a g e  | 42 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Plymouth 
 
Figure 11.2 

 
 

Key Statistics 
 

11.2. Plymouth is a densely populated urban authority. It accommodates 270,000 people within a 
compact 79.9 km² area, resulting in a population density of 3,311 people per square 
kilometre. The council's responsibilities include managing a 1,046 km road network and a tax 
base of 76,557 Band D equivalent properties. 

  
Demographic Profile 

  
Children (0-15 years) 17.4% 
Working age (16-64 years) 64.1% 
Older people (65+ years) 18.5% 
Home ownership rate 57.7% 
Social rented 20.5% 
Private rented 21.8% 

  
11.3. Compared to Torbay and Devon, Plymouth has a younger age profile, with a higher 

proportion of both children (17.4%) and working-age residents (64.1%). The city's lower 
home ownership rate of 57.7% is characteristic of its urban housing market. 

 
11.4. At 3,311 people per square kilometre, Plymouth has the highest population density of any 

authority considered in this option, a direct result of its compact geography being 

Page 76



P a g e  | 43 
 

OFFICIAL 

constrained by administrative boundaries. This small area of just 79.9 km² constrains spatial 
planning capacity and limits the tax base available to fund regional strategic development. 

  
Indices of Deprivation 2025 

 
11.5. Plymouth has a population-weighted IMD rank of 15,067 (43.2% most deprived), ranking 68th 

out of 153 upper-tier authorities nationally, placing it in the more deprived half of English 
unitary authorities. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
   

Most Deprived St Peter and the Waterfront 88  
Devonport 575  
St Budeaux 706 

   
Least Deprived Plymstock Dunstone 32,078  

Plymstock Radford 32,068  
Southway 31,856 

   
Domain Ward National Rank 
   
Employment Deprivation St Peter and the Waterfront 83 
Health Deprivation Devonport 193 
Crime St Peter and the Waterfront 455 
Barriers to Housing & 
Services 

St Budeaux 1,221 

 
 

11.6. The city's current boundary imposes a structural constraint on its capacity to address 
concentrated need. With a Weighted IMD Rank of 15,067 (43.2% most deprived), Plymouth 
contains significant pockets of acute deprivation alongside more affluent areas. St Peter and 
the Waterfront ranks 88th most deprived in England, with Employment Deprivation at rank 
83. Nearby Devonport holds the city's worst Health Deprivation position at rank 193. This 
pattern of concentrated challenges within a constrained tax base restricts the authority's 
ability to fund sustained intervention in priority wards whilst maintaining services across the 
whole city. 

  
Service Implications 
  

11.7. The city's compact urban geography enables efficient service delivery through established 
structures and consistent models. While the authority operates with known capacity, its 
small scale is a major disadvantage and the limited tax base severely restricts investment. 

 
11.8. This lack of resources is compounded by substantial service pressures, which are driven by 

high levels of health deprivation (decile 3) and child poverty (IDACI decile 4). The city's scale 
also makes it difficult to maintain a full specialist workforce, further limiting its ability to 
respond. 

 
11.9. These pressures are felt across numerous key services. Children's services face high demand 

from child poverty, and adult social care must manage health deprivation alongside an ageing 
population. At the same time, SEND provision operates at a constrained scale, public health 

Page 77



P a g e  | 44 
 

OFFICIAL 

teams must address deep health inequalities, and housing services are forced to manage 
intense urban pressures. 

 
11.10. Ultimately, the city's small geographic area of 79.9 km² prevents strategic growth and leaves 

it vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks. 
 
Financial Analysis 
 

11.11. Plymouth's financial position is characterised by structural constraints. The tax base of 76,557 
Band D equivalent properties serving 270,000 people must support higher than average 
service demands. The combination of health deprivation, child poverty, and compact urban 
geography creates service cost pressures that cannot be offset through economies of scale. 
The constrained boundary prevents access to growth areas that could expand the tax base, 
creating long-term sustainability concerns. 

Critical Assessment 
 

11.12. The small geographic area of 79.9 square kilometres prevents strategic growth and leaves 
Plymouth vulnerable to demographic and financial shocks. This option fails to address the 
city's fundamental requirement for expansion into its functional economic area. 

 
  

Page 78



P a g e  | 45 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Torbay 
 
Figure 11.3 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 

11.13. Torbay is a compact authority with a population of approx. 139,000 living within a 62.9 km² 
area, giving it a high population density of 2,215 people per square kilometre. The council is 
responsible for a 651 km road network and a tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent 
properties. 

 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 57.3% 
Older people (65+ years) 26.7% 
Home ownership rate 64.0% 
Social rented 19.8% 
Private rented 16.2% 

 
11.14. Torbay has the oldest age profile in this option, with over a quarter of its population (26.7%) 

aged 65 or over. This creates significant demand for adult social care and health services, a 
challenge compounded by a smaller working-age population (57.3%) that constrains economic 
capacity. The area's character as a coastal resort is also reflected in its moderate home 
ownership rate of 64.0%. 

 

Page 79



P a g e  | 46 
 

OFFICIAL 

11.15. The authority's population density of 2,215 people per km² is second only to Plymouth's. This 
density, combined with its small geographic footprint of 62.9 km² the smallest in this 
arrangement severely limits its capacity for growth and strategic development. These 
limitations are intensified by the natural constraints of the bay's geography. 

 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

11.16. Torbay has a population-weighted IMD rank of 12,484 (35.8% most deprived), ranking 39th 
out of 153 upper-tier authorities nationally, placing it in the most deprived third of English 
unitary authorities. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
   
Most Deprived Roundham with Hyde 404  

Tormohun 672  
Tormohun 811 

   
Least Deprived Cockington with Chelston 29,902  

Preston 28,570  
Churston with Galmpton 28,222 

   
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Crime Tormohun 127 
Employment Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 255 
Health Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 330 
Income Deprivation King's Ash 1,186 

 
11.17. Torbay faces an acute mismatch between service need and financial capacity. With a 

Weighted IMD Rank of 12,484 (35.8% most deprived), the authority shows the highest 
concentration of deprivation among the urban unitaries. Wards like Roundham with Hyde 
(rank 404) and Tormohun contain some of England's most deprived areas, including the 
nation's 127th worst ranked LSOA for Crime Deprivation. The authority's small scale of 
139,000 people and 49,254 Band D equivalent properties means these proven service models 
operate without the financial resilience needed to address persistent challenges or withstand 
demographic pressures. 

 
Service Implications 

 
11.18. Torbay demonstrates remarkable capability, delivering high-quality outcomes through 

innovative strategies and strong partnerships. Key strengths include: 
 

o Children's Services rated Good (only one in Devon area) 
o Integrated partnership with NHS for health and social care 
o Proactive approach to improving employment, health, and wellbeing 

 
Financial Analysis 
 

11.19. Torbay's financial position reflects the challenges of operating at small scale with high service 
needs. The tax base of 49,254 Band D equivalent properties serving 139,000 people must 
support significant adult social care demands from an ageing population (26.7% over 65), 
alongside health and employment deprivation both at decile 3. The compact 62.9 square 

Page 80



P a g e  | 47 
 

OFFICIAL 

kilometre geography prevents expansion that could increase the tax base, whilst the coastal 
setting constrains development options. 

 
Critical Assessment 
 

11.20. Whilst Torbay delivers high-quality outcomes through innovation, the authority's small scale 
creates long-term financial pressures. Sustainable delivery will require either enhanced 
resources or continued exceptional efficiency gains that may not be maintainable. 

 
  

Page 81



P a g e  | 48 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Exeter 
 
Figure 11.4 

 
  
 
Key Statistics 
 
11.21. Exeter is a densely populated city, accommodating approx. 135,000 residents within a 

compact 47.0 km² area, which results in a population density of 2,782 people per square 
kilometre. As a future unitary authority, its responsibilities would include maintaining a 508 
km road network and managing a tax base of 39,852 Band D equivalent properties. 

  
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 14.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 68.6% 
Older people (65+ years) 16.6% 
Home ownership rate 57.2% 
Social rented 15.7% 
Private rented 27.1% 

  
 

11.22. Exeter's character as a university city is clear from its demographic profile. It has the 
youngest population, the highest proportion of working-age residents (68.6%), and the most 
professional and managerial jobs (34.6%) in this proposal. This creates a knowledge-focused 
economy but also shapes the housing market; lower home ownership (57.2%) and a high rate 

Page 82



P a g e  | 49 
 

OFFICIAL 

of private renting (27.1%) reflect the student and young professional population, which can in 
turn impact the availability of family housing. 

 
11.23. The city's geography is its primary constraint. At just 47.0 km², Exeter is the smallest 

authority of any option considered, and its population density is high at 2,782 people per 
square kilometre. These severe spatial limitations restrict strategic planning and prevent the 
city from accommodating the growth needed to support its regional role and university 
partnerships. 

 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

11.24. Exeter has a population-weighted IMD rank of 19,949 (57.2% most deprived), currently 
ranking 187th out of 296 lower-tier authorities nationally, making it one of the least deprived 
districts in England. 

 
  

Exeter (57.2%) (Rank 19,949)  
  
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  
Most Deprived Priory 4,236  

St David's 4,425  
Priory 5,114 

Least Deprived Pennsylvania 33,044  
Duryard and St James 31,782  
Pennsylvania 31,569 

   
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
  

 

Health Deprivation St David's 287 
Education, Skills & Training Priory 458 
Crime St David's 755 
Employment Deprivation Priory 3,579 
Barriers to Housing & Services Exwick 6,695 

 
11.25. Exeter faces the most severe spatial constraint of any urban authority in this proposal. At just 

47 square kilometres, the boundary is inadequate for a city. With a Weighted IMD Rank of 
19,949 (57.2% most deprived), Exeter is the least deprived urban authority overall, yet it 
contains significant challenges in specific areas. St David's ward holds the city's worst Health 
Deprivation position at rank 287. The fundamental problem is not deprivation levels but the 
inability to plan strategically. The tight boundary prevents the city from capturing its 
functional economic area or accessing growth opportunities necessary to support its 
knowledge economy and university partnerships. 

 
11.26. The city's high skill levels and strong university partnerships are key drivers for economic 

development. However, the small population of 135,000 is a significant constraint, limiting the 
authority's capacity to deliver specialist services. 

 
Financial Analysis 
 

11.27. Exeter's financial position is the most constrained of the urban authorities. With a tax base of 
only 39,852 Band D equivalent properties serving 135,000 people, the authority has the 

Page 83



P a g e  | 50 
 

OFFICIAL 

smallest financial base. Whilst low deprivation reduces some service cost pressures, the 
compact 47 square kilometre geography prevents access to growth areas that could expand 
the tax base. This creates a fundamental mismatch between Exeter's regional role and its 
financial capacity. 

 
Critical Assessment 
 

11.28. Exeter faces the most severe spatial constraint of any urban authority. The 47 square 
kilometre boundary is inadequate for a city and prevents the strategic growth planning 
necessary to support its knowledge economy and university partnerships. 

  

Page 84



P a g e  | 51 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside 
 
Figure 11.5 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 

11.29. Devon is a large, rural authority with a population of approx. 690,000 spread across a vast 
6,522.2 km² area, resulting in a very low population density of just 104 people per square 
kilometre. The future council would manage an extensive 16,894 km road network and a tax 
base of 277,975 Band D equivalent properties. 

 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 27.6% 
Home ownership rate 70.2% 
Social rented 12.3% 
Private rented 17.5% 

 
11.30. Devon has the oldest age profile of any option, reflecting its character as a rural retirement 

destination. With the lowest proportion of working-age residents (56.5%) and the highest 
proportion of those over 65 (27.6%), the authority has one of the highest old-age 
dependency ratios. This imbalance places significant pressure on both public services and the 
local economy. 

 

Page 85



P a g e  | 52 
 

OFFICIAL 

11.31. While the area has the highest rate of home ownership (70.2%), indicating settled 
communities, its economy is constrained by its demographics. Despite a solid rate of 
professional employment (30.9%), the small working-age population limits potential for 
growth. The authority's primary challenge, however, is the combination of an ageing 
population and a vast rural geography, which creates considerable and widespread demand 
for adult social care across its 6,522 km² area. 

 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

11.32. Devon Coast and Countryside has a population-weighted IMD rank of 17,542 (50.3% most 
deprived). Devon County Council currently ranks 101st out of 153 upper-tier authorities 
nationally, with a moderate overall position that contains significant internal variation. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  
Most Deprived Barnstaple Central 1,570  

Ilfracombe East 1,868  
Barnstaple with Westacott 2,387 

Least Deprived Woolwell  31,970  
Tavistock South East 31,956  
Honiton St Michael's 31,352 

   
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Barriers to Housing & 
Services 

Monkleigh & Putford  1 

Living Environment Ashburton & Buckfastleigh 220 
Health Deprivation Barnstaple Central 572 
Employment Deprivation Barnstaple Central 1,717 

 
11.33. This vast authority demonstrates how averaging across large geographies masks extremes. 

Whilst the overall position appears moderate, the authority contains England's most isolated 
rural area, with the Monkleigh & Putford LSOA ranking 1st nationally for Barriers to Housing 
and Services. Urban market towns like Barnstaple Central face Health Deprivation at rank 
572 and Employment Deprivation at rank 1,717. The structure creates a fundamental 
problem: rural isolation and urban coastal deprivation require distinct service models, yet this 
configuration forces a single approach across incompatible geographies. The separation of 
urban resources from rural need prevents effective targeting of support where it matters 
most. 

 
Service Implications 
 

11.34. The service delivery model is complex, reflecting the area's geography. It combines locality-
based teams in market towns with mobile and outreach services for dispersed communities, 
supported by investment in digital and remote access. This approach requires sophisticated 
workforce planning to manage staff across a wide area and to control significant mileage and 
travel costs. 

 
11.35. This option represents the current local government structure, serving as a legally compliant 

baseline for comparison. However, the analysis demonstrates it is a fundamentally suboptimal 
arrangement, characterised by a profound imbalance between a single, dominant rural 
authority (Devon) and three geographically constrained urban unitary authorities (Plymouth, 

Page 86



P a g e  | 53 
 

OFFICIAL 

Torbay, and Exeter). This structure perpetuates existing constraints on growth and creates 
an imbalanced partnership for devolution purposes.    

  
Financial Analysis 
 

11.36. Devon's financial position reflects economies of scale offset by rural service delivery costs. 
The tax base of 277,975 Band D equivalent properties serving 690,000 people provides 
substantial financial resources. However, these must be spread across 16,894 kilometres of 
roads and numerous dispersed communities. Moderate deprivation (IMD decile 6) creates 
predictable service demands, but geographic dispersion significantly increases unit costs, 
particularly for adult social care serving an ageing population (27.6% over 65) across the vast 
rural area. 

 
Critical Assessment 
 

11.37. This option represents the current structure, serving as a legally compliant baseline. The 
authority operates at sufficient scale for financial resilience, but vast geography and dispersed 
population create service delivery challenges that offset some benefits of scale. 

 
  

Page 87



P a g e  | 54 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option One: Assessment Against Criteria 
  
Table 11.1 
Government Criteria Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • Creates 4 unitary councils using the existing 
principal authorities as building blocks.  

• Meets the Government’s invitation to set out 
a base case on whole districts. 

• Removes the existing two-tier county and 
districts in currently in Devon. 

 
2. Right size and financial 
resilience 

Not Met • Creates authorities of uneven population size 
and financial resilience.  

• Risk pooling is unevenly spread across the 
region. 

3. High-quality, 
sustainable services 

Partially Met • Maintains service continuity, but uneven 
population sizes may make collaboration 
more variable.  

• Does not maximise opportunities for growth 
in especially in Plymouth and Exeter. 

4. Local collaboration 
and responsiveness 

Partially Met • Provides for recognised and legally coherent 
administrative boundaries but does not 
respond to concerns and issues raised during 
the Plymouth’s Big Conversation engagement 
or Exeter and Torbay’s local government 
reorganisation engagements.  

• This option is not supported by any of the 
Devon local authorities 

5. Support for 
devolution 

Partially Met • Creates a group of constituent authorities 
across Devon to link into a South West 
Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority (to 
which Cornwall Council could be added). 

• The absence of Ministerial modifications for 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay would place 
significant pressure upon any future Mayoral 
Strategic Authority who will be responsible 
for bringing forward the Spatial Development 
Strategy and growth options. 

• Potential perceived imbalance at the Mayoral 
Strategic Authority due to variations in 
unitary council size. 

6. Community 
engagement 

Met • Maintains a foundation of existing governance 
and neighbourhood engagement 
arrangements in each of the unitary 
authorities. 

Our Principles for Local Government in Devon 

Page 88



P a g e  | 55 
 

OFFICIAL 

1. Financial viability and 
population 

Not Met • Whilst as continuing authorities Plymouth 
and Torbay are viable unitary councils, their 
current populations are insufficient to 
generate the financial base required for long-
term viability and resist financial shocks.  

• Exeter is not viable as a unitary council on its 
existing boundary.   

• The new Devon Coast and Countryside 
unitary council would be of a sufficient size 
to be financially viable, but disproportionately 
large compared with the three other unitary 
councils in this option. 

2. Character and identity Met • The Base Case preserves the distinct, 
compact urban character of Plymouth, Exeter 
and Torbay, which is reflected in high 
population densities. 

 
3. Respect for 
boundaries 

Met • This option respects the boundaries of the 
existing unitary authorities of Plymouth and 
Torbay. 

4. National 
Parks/National 
Landscapes 

Met • The existing boundaries of Plymouth, Exeter 
and Torbay do not impinge National Parks or 
create governance complexities for the Park 
Authority. 

 
5. Parish boundaries Met • This option proposes no changes and 

therefore does not alter any existing parish 
boundaries. 

 
6. Sustainable growth 
and strategic role 

Not Met • The geographic constraint of 79.9 square 
kilometres prevents strategic growth 
opportunities, inhibiting Plymouth's capacity 
to fulfil its strategic regional and national 
role.  

• Similarly in Exeter, at just 47.0 square 
kilometres, there are already severe spatial 
limitations on its strategic hub role. At 62.9 
square kilometres, Torbay’s future capacity 
to grow is significantly constrained. 

 
 
  

Page 89



P a g e  | 56 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case) 
 
Figure 12.1 

 
 

Expanded 
Plymouth  

National Parks 

 
Expanded Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Expanded Exeter 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Devon Coast and 
Countryside ------ 

Existing District Boundaries 

 
12. Summary Assessment 
 
12.1. This is the preferred option as it meets all Government criteria and Plymouth's principles. It 

establishes four balanced and financially resilient authorities with populations ranging from 
approx. 220,000 to 450,000. The structure respects community identities, creates a clear 
distinction between urban and rural areas, and enables strategic capacity for growth and 
devolution. 

 
12.2. The configuration succeeds because each new authority is strengthened: 
 

• Plymouth gains strategic capacity with a population of 300,000 while maintaining its 
urban character. 

• An expanded Torbay solidifies financial sustainability through a 67% increase in its 
tax base. 

• An expanded Exeter can accommodate city-region growth with a balanced urban 
and suburban character. 

• Devon Coast and Countryside remains a viable authority scaled appropriately for 
effective rural service delivery. 

Page 90



P a g e  | 57 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Two: Expanded Plymouth 
 
Figure 12.2 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 

12.3. Under this option, the Plymouth authority would have a population of approx. 300,000 
across an expanded area of 358.7 km², resulting in a new population density of approx. 
830 people per square kilometre. Its responsibilities would cover a council tax base of 
90,449 Band D equivalent properties and a road network of 1,800 km. 

 
12.4. Compared to the Base Case, this represents a significant change in scale: 

 
• Population An increase of approx. 30,000 (+12.4%) 
• Area An increase of 278.8 km² (+349%) 
• Tax Base An increase of 13,891 Band D equivalent properties (+18.15%) 
• Population Density A decrease from 3,311 to 830 people/km² 

 
Demographic Profile 
 

Children (0-15 years) 17.3% 
Working age (16-64 years) 63.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 19.2% 
Home ownership rate 59.5% 
Social rented 17.3% 
Private rented 21.8% 

 
12.5. Under this option, Plymouth maintains its young demographic profile. The proportion of 

children remains stable at 17.3%, and the working-age population is strong at 63.5%. 

Page 91



P a g e  | 58 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
12.6. Although the older population (19.2%) and home ownership (59.5%) increase slightly due 

to the new extension areas, these figures remain well below those of neighbouring 
authorities. The key outcome is that this expansion adds valuable capacity without 
changing Plymouth's core character as a young, working-age city. 

 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

12.7. Expanded Plymouth has a population-weighted IMD rank of 16,000 (45.9% most 
deprived). The absorption of less deprived areas improves the rank by 933 places (from 
15,067) and provides enhanced financial capacity through an 18% increase in the tax base. 
This configuration would rank approximately 98th out of 153 upper-tier authorities 
nationally, moving towards the less deprived end of the spectrum compared to 
Plymouth's current 68th position. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  
Most Deprived St Peter and the Waterfront 88  

Devonport 575  
St Budeaux 706 

  
Least Deprived Plymstock Dunstone 32,078  

Plymstock Radford 32,068  
Woolwell 31,970 

   
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Employment Deprivation St Peter and the Waterfront 83 
Health Deprivation Devonport 193 
Crime St Peter and the Waterfront 455 
Barriers to Housing & Services Ermington & Ugborough (S Hams) 632 
Living Environment Bickleigh & Cornwood (S Hams) 403 
 

12.8. The expansion aligns governance with the city-region's economic and social geography. 
The Weighted IMD Rank improves to 16,000 (45.9% most deprived), representing a gain 
of 933 places through the absorption of less deprived areas. The most deprived ward 
remains St Peter and the Waterfront at rank 88, which confirms the expansion increases 
capacity without diluting focus on the city's most urgent needs. The new boundary 
integrates planning across the functional economic area, allowing the authority to address 
acute urban challenges alongside specific rural access issues. Areas like Ermington & 
Ugborough face Barriers to Housing at rank 632, requiring targeted intervention that 
benefits from being governed alongside urban employment centres rather than separately. 

 
Service Implications 
 

12.9. A population increase from 270,000 to 300,000 expands the authority's service base 
while maintaining its core deprivation profile (IMD decile 4, IDACI decile 5). This larger 
population also strengthens the workforce, improving capacity to deliver specialist 
services tailored to the area's needs. 

 

Page 92



P a g e  | 59 
 

OFFICIAL 

12.10. Although the proportion of residents aged 65 and over increases slightly (from 18.5% to 
19.2%), the authority's larger scale is a key advantage. It enables better commissioning of 
services and more effective planning for specialist provision across the entire area. 

 
12.11. Health deprivation of decile 3 indicates a clear need for focused intervention. The 

expanded authority is better positioned to address this by supporting integrated health 
improvement programmes and coordinating with NHS partners for the combined 
population. 

 
12.12. More broadly, the larger population base enables more effective strategic planning. This 

supports a coordinated approach to the functional housing market, employment, skills 
development, and infrastructure across the combined geography. 

 
Financial Analysis 
 

12.13. The expansion further improves Plymouth's financial sustainability. The increase in tax 
base to provides enhanced revenue capacity whilst spreading fixed costs across a larger 
population. One-off transition investment of £4.9 million generates over £6 million in 
annual benefits, representing excellent value for money. Enhanced financial resilience 
enables the authority to withstand demographic shocks, invest in preventative services, 
and fund strategic infrastructure necessary to accommodate defence sector growth and 
housing delivery. 

Critical Assessment 
 

12.14. This option addresses Plymouth's fundamental constraint by providing geographic space 
and financial capacity necessary for sustainable long-term service delivery. The expansion 
into the Plymouth Growth Area aligns with functional economic relationships and creates 
a coherent authority capable of fulfilling its role as the region's principal city. 

 
  

Page 93



P a g e  | 60 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Expanded Torbay 
 
Figure 12.3 

 
 
Key Statistics 
  

12.15. The proposed expanded Torbay authority would have a population of approx. 220,000 
across an area of 263.2 square kilometres, resulting in a new population density of 
approx. 835 people per square kilometre. This new authority would be responsible for a 
council tax base of 82,356, Band D equivalent properties and a 1,526-kilometre road 
network. 

 
12.16. Compared to the Base Case, this new option represents a significant expansion in scale 

and resources for Torbay. The population increases by 80,329 (a 57.7% growth), while 
the tax base grows by 133,101 Band D equivalent properties (a 67.2% increase). The 
authority's land area expands by 200.3 square kilometres (318%), which reduces the 
overall population density by 62%. 

  
Demographic Profile 

  
Children (0-15 years) 16.0% 
Working age (16-64 years) 57.5% 
Older people (65+ years) 26.5% 
Home ownership rate 66.8% 

  

Page 94



P a g e  | 61 
 

OFFICIAL 

12.17. The expanded Torbay proposal maintains the area's essential coastal character. The age 
profile remains very similar to the Base Case, with only slight improvements in home 
ownership and professional employment that reflect the inclusion of the extension areas. 

 
12.18. While the older population remains substantial at 26.5%, creating significant demand for 

adult social care, the 62% increase in the tax base provides the enhanced financial capacity 
required to meet these challenges effectively. 

  
Indices of Deprivation 2025 

 
12.19. Expanded Torbay has a population-weighted IMD rank of 15,024 (43.1% most deprived). 

The absorption of less deprived areas improves the rank by 2,540 places (from 12,484), 
which provides enhanced financial capacity through a 62% increase in the tax base. This 
configuration would rank approximately 106th out of 153 upper-tier authorities 
nationally, moving from the most deprived third (current 39th position) to the mid-range 
alongside authorities like Bournemouth and Essex. 

  
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  
Most Deprived Roundham with Hyde 404  

Tormohun 672  
Tormohun 811 

  
Least Deprived Buckland & Milber 30,691  

Ambrook 30,513  
Cockington with Chelston 29,902 

  
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Crime Tormohun 127 
Employment Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 255 
Health Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 330 
Barriers to Housing & 
Services 

Ashburton & Buckfastleigh (Teign) 1,126 

Living Environment Dartmouth & East Dart (S Hams) 325 
 
 

12.20. Expanded Torbay addresses a fundamental capacity crisis. The Weighted IMD Rank 
improves dramatically by 2,540 places to 15,024 (43.1% most deprived), reflecting the 
absorption of less deprived areas. Core areas of concentrated need remain clear 
priorities: Roundham with Hyde at rank 404 and Tormohun containing the LSOA with 
England's 127th worst Crime Deprivation. However, these challenges are now supported 
by a sustainably enhanced resource base through a 62% increase in the tax base. Including 
wealthier adjacent areas like Buckland & Milber from Teignbridge allows the authority to 
manage its dual challenge of coastal deprivation and an ageing population (26.5% over 65) 
without requiring unsustainable efficiency gains or service reductions. 

 
Service Implications 

 
12.21. The expanded authority maintains and enhances Torbay's proven service delivery model. 

The larger scale provides resources to sustain innovative approaches to integrated care 

Page 95



P a g e  | 62 
 

OFFICIAL 

and children's services whilst building resilience against demographic pressures of an 
ageing coastal community. 

Financial Analysis 
 

12.22. The 62% increase in tax base transforms Torbay's financial sustainability. Enhanced 
revenue capacity enables sustained investment in preventative services and integrated 
care partnerships without requiring unsustainable efficiency gains. The authority gains 
financial resilience necessary to manage demographic challenges of an ageing population 
whilst maintaining service quality. 

Critical Assessment 
 

12.23. This option provides Torbay with the financial capacity and geographic scope necessary 
to sustain its proven service delivery model long-term. The expansion addresses the 
fundamental mismatch between service demands and available resources in the Base 
Case. 

  

Page 96



P a g e  | 63 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Expanded Exeter 
 
Figure 12.4 

 
  
 

Key Statistics 
  

12.24. The proposed Expanded Exeter authority would have a population of approx. 260,000 
across a significantly larger area of 605.6 square kilometres, resulting in a new, much 
lower population density of approx. 411 people per square kilometre. The authority 
would be responsible for a council tax base of 88,439 Band D equivalent properties and a 
road network of 2,351 kilometres. 

 
12.25. Compared to the Base Case, this represents a transformation in scale for Exeter. The 

population grows by approx. 90%, while the council tax base more than doubles. The 
most dramatic change is the geographic expansion of 1,188%, which adds 558.6 square 
kilometres to the authority's area. 

  
Demographic Profile 

  
Metric Value 
Children (0-15 years) 15.7% 
Working age (16-64 years) 63.0% 
Older people (65+ years) 21.4% 
Home ownership rate 63.8% 
Professional and Managerial occupations 33.8% 

  

Page 97



P a g e  | 64 
 

OFFICIAL 

12.26. The expanded Exeter model creates a balanced city-region authority by blending the 
young university city core with its surrounding suburban and rural areas. 

 
12.27. This expansion broadens the demographic profile to include more families and older 

residents, all while maintaining the city's strong professional employment base. A key 
result of incorporating these surrounding communities is a substantial increase in the 
home ownership rate, which rises from 57.2% to 63.8%. 

  
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

12.28. Expanded Exeter has a population-weighted IMD rank of 19,609 (56.3% most deprived), 
showing modest improvement from the base case (19,949). As a new unitary authority, 
this configuration would rank approximately 58th out of 153 upper-tier authorities 
nationally, positioning it in the less deprived third. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
   
Most Deprived Priory 4,236  

St David's 4,425  
Priory 5,114 

   
Least Deprived Pennsylvania 33,044  

Duryard and St James 31,782  
Pennsylvania 31,569 

Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
  

 

Barriers to Housing & Services Mid Devon 009D 4 
Health Deprivation St David's 287 
Education, Skills & Training Priory 458 
Crime St David's 755 
Employment Deprivation Priory 3,579 
 

12.29. The expansion provides geographic and planning capacity necessary for Exeter to fulfil its 
regional role. The authority gains responsibility for areas with severe rural challenges, 
notably one LSOA ranking 4th in England for Barriers to Housing and Services (Mid 
Devon 009D). The Weighted IMD Rank of 19,609 (56.3% most deprived) shows 
moderate improvement, but the real benefit is strategic. The integrated structure enables 
coherent governance over the city's functional economic area, allowing targeted 
infrastructure development to address both acute urban challenges like Health 
Deprivation in St David's ward (rank 287) and distinct service access issues in rural 
communities now under its mandate. 

 
Service Implications 
 

12.30. The expanded authority gains capacity to deliver specialist services at appropriate scale. 
Strategic planning capacity for housing growth, employment sites, and transport 
infrastructure aligns with city-region needs.  

Financial Analysis 
 

12.31. The transformation is dramatic. Tax base more than doubles, providing financial 
resources commensurate with Exeter's regional role. The increase in geographic area 

Page 98



P a g e  | 65 
 

OFFICIAL 

provides access to growth areas and commuter zones that expand the tax base. This 
creates capacity for strategic infrastructure investment, coherent transport planning, and 
effective housing delivery. 

Critical Assessment 
 

12.32. This option addresses Exeter's most severe spatial constraint. The expansion provides 
planning capacity to accommodate city-region growth whilst maintaining the knowledge-
economy character. The expanded authority gains resources and space to fulfil its 
regional role without compromising service quality or democratic accountability. 

  

Page 99



P a g e  | 66 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside 
 
Figure 12.5 

 
 
Key Statistics 
  

12.33. The proposed 'Devon Coast and Countryside' authority would have a population of 
approx. 450,000 distributed across an area of 5,486.0 square kilometres. This option 
results in a very low population density of approx. 82 people per square kilometre. The 
new authority would be responsible for a council tax base of 182,395 Band D equivalent 
properties. 

 
12.34. This new entity is formed from the Base Case Devon by transferring its urban/suburban 

areas to other authorities. As a result, its population decreases by 231,414 (a 34.0% 
reduction) and its tax base is reduced by 95,580 Band D equivalent properties (a 34.3% 
reduction). While the land area also decreases, the reduction is smaller at 15.9%, making 
the new authority more consistently rural with its lower population density. 

  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.0% 
Older people (65+ years) 28.3% 
Home ownership rate 69.5% 

  
12.35. The removal of urban areas from the Base Case creates the 'Devon Coast and 

Countryside' authority, which is a more consistently rural entity.  

Page 100



P a g e  | 67 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
12.36. The authority now has the oldest population, with 28.3% of residents aged over 65, and 

the highest rate of home ownership at 69.5%. 
  

Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

12.37. Devon Coast and Countryside has a population-weighted IMD rank of 16,274 (46.7% 
most deprived), showing increased deprivation compared to current Devon County 
Council (17,542, 50.3%). This worsening reflects the deliberate transfer of less deprived 
suburban areas to urban unitaries, leaving a more consistently rural authority with 
concentrated challenges. This configuration would rank approximately 96th out of 153 
upper-tier authorities nationally, compared to Devon's current 101st position. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  
Most Deprived Barnstaple Central 1,570  

Ilfracombe East 1,868  
Barnstaple with Westacott 2,387 

  
Least Deprived Tavistock South East 31,956  

Honiton St Michael's 31,352  
Sidmouth Town 29,670 

  
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Barriers to Housing & Services Monkleigh & Putford (Torridge 008E) 1 
Living Environment Ashburton & Buckfastleigh (Teignbridge 003C) 220 
Health Deprivation Barnstaple Central 572 
Employment Deprivation Barnstaple Central 1,717 
Crime Barnstaple Central 1,532 
 

12.38. This configuration creates a deliberately focused rural authority. The Weighted IMD Rank 
of 16,274 (46.7% most deprived) reflects the transfer of more affluent suburban areas to 
the urban unitaries, which allows the authority to concentrate entirely on rural service 
challenges. The core mission centres on managing extreme rural isolation, retaining 
governance over the Monkleigh & Putford LSOA (rank 1 for Barriers) whilst addressing 
coastal deprivation in areas like Barnstaple Central. This focused model targets resources 
at developing cost-effective solutions for dispersed populations and older demographics 
(28.3% over 65) without competing urban priorities diluting attention or investment. 

 
Service Implications 

 
12.39. The focused rural authority can concentrate entirely on distinct challenges of dispersed 

service delivery, rural poverty, connectivity, and ageing demographics without managing 
dense urban cores with fundamentally different needs. 

 
Financial Analysis 

 
12.40. The 34% reduction in population and tax base creates a more coherent rural authority. 

Whilst resources decrease, the authority maintains appropriate scale for financial 
resilience and specialist services. The more consistently rural character enables focused 
investment in rural service delivery models without competing urban priorities. 

Page 101



P a g e  | 68 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Critical Assessment 

 
12.41. This option achieves appropriate scale for rural governance: large enough for financial 

resilience and specialist services, but coherent enough for genuine local accountability and 
tailored service models. 

Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria 
 
  Table 12.1 

Government Criteria    
1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • Creates four unitary councils in Devon, 
removing the existing two-tier 
arrangements in the expanded area. 

2. Right size and financial 
resilience 

Met • Creates four unitary authorities with 
broadly comparable populations with 
sustainable tax bases of sufficient size 
to resist financial shocks. 

• Creates a nationally significant, growth-
orientated unitary council for Plymouth 
with a population of over 300,000.  

• Creates expanded unitary authorities 
for Exeter and Torbay able to realise 
regionally significant growth potential. 

3. High-quality, sustainable 
services 

Met • Creates a coherent service geography 
for school admissions, transport, skills, 
and social care.  

• Maximises opportunities for growth 
and simplifies residents' access to 
services. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Met • A four unitary model is supported by 
two existing unitary authorities and 
Exeter City Council. 

• Provides for recognised and legally 
coherent administrative boundaries 
which reflect settlement patterns and 
functional economic relationships 

• The proposed expansion areas are 
based on the building blocks of Parish 
and Town Councils with settlements 
that are functionally linked to the 
principal urban areas.  

5. Support for devolution Met • Creates a group of balanced 
constituent authorities to link into a 
South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic 
Authority, allowing retained expertise 
to support a regional strategy. 

6. Community engagement Met • New neighbourhood governance 
arrangements to be developed.  

Page 102



P a g e  | 69 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Protects existing parish and town 
council arrangements. 

• Our Principles for Local Government in Devon 
1. Financial viability and 
population 

Met • Financial modelling demonstrates that a 
four unitary model is viable. 

• The 12.4% increase in population and 
the 16.3% increase in the council tax 
base provide the necessary scale and 
financial capacity for long-term viability 
for Plymouth. 

2. Character and identity Met • The four unitary model maintains the 
character and identity of the expanded 
urban authorities by being based on 
functionally linked settlements within 
parish areas. 

• In the case of the expanded Plymouth 
unitary authority, despite a 349% 
increase in land area the proposal sets 
out how we will preserve the character 
of all communities in the area. 

• In the case of the Devon Coast and 
Countryside unitary authority, 20 of 
the 28 larger towns which are the focus 
of growth and service provisions are 
retained from the former county area. 

3. Respect for boundaries Met • The proposed boundary extensions are 
logical and evidence-based, reflecting 
the functional geography of the 
Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay  housing 
market areas, and travel-to-work 
patterns. 

4. National Parks/National 
Landscapes 

Met • The proposed new boundaries have 
been designed to be minimise impact 
on  National Park Authorities. 

5. Parish boundaries Met • The principle of using whole, undivided 
parishes as the building blocks for the 
extension is a cornerstone of this 
option to reflect the importance of 
character and identity. 

6. Sustainable growth and 
strategic role 

Met • The expansion of the urban areas 
provides the "planning capacity for 
sustainable growth" that is critically 
absent in the Base Case, unlocking the 
growth potential of the three urban 
areas. 

 
  

Page 103



P a g e  | 70 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon) 
 
 Figure 13.1

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
Torbay 

 
National Marine Park 

 
New Devon 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Summary Assessment 
  

13.1. This option creates three unitary authorities of significantly different scales, which presents 
challenges for balanced regional governance and strategic coordination. Whilst each authority 
can deliver core services within their existing boundaries, the arrangement does not optimise 
the opportunities for strategic growth, partnership working, or balanced devolution. The 
arrangement faces challenges in supporting:  

 
• Strategic growth planning across functional economic areas. 
• Balanced partnership working between authorities of different scales. 
• Effective coordination of regional priorities. 

 
13.2. The population distribution shows substantial variation. Devon (811,000) would be 

considerably larger than both Torbay (140,000) and Plymouth (270,000), which creates 
complexity in establishing balanced partnership arrangements and devolution structures that 
give each authority appropriate influence in strategic decision-making. 

 
13.4. Torbay would be below 200,000 population, though many authorities across England 

successfully deliver services at this scale. Plymouth's existing boundaries limit opportunities 
for strategic planning across its wider economic area. Devon would become one of the larger 

Page 104



P a g e  | 71 
 

OFFICIAL 

unitary authorities in England, creating some challenges around maintaining local connection 
across its extensive geography. This option maintains administrative clarity through 
established boundaries but does not fully create the foundation for optimised strategic 
growth or balanced regional partnership.   

  

Page 105



P a g e  | 72 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Plymouth 
 
Figure 13.2 

 
 
The impact on Plymouth is as expressed in the base case. 
  

Page 106



P a g e  | 73 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Torbay 
 
Figure 13.3 

 
  
The impact on Torbay is as expressed in the base case. 

 
 
  

Page 107



P a g e  | 74 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Three: Devon County Council Area 
 
Figure 13.4 

 
 
Key Statistics 
 
13.6 Devon would be a large rural authority encompassing approximately 811,000 people across 

6,569 km², creating a population density of 124 people per square kilometre. The council 
would manage an extensive 24,556 km road network serving numerous towns, villages, and 
dispersed rural communities across Devon's varied landscape.  

 
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.8% 
Working age (16-64 years) 58.4% 
Older people (65+ years) 25.8% 
Home ownership rate 68.2% 
Social rented 11.5% 
Private rented 19.0% 

  
13.7. New Devon has a settled rural population with over a quarter of residents aged 65 or over. 

The working-age population supports both resident population and diverse rural economy 
spanning agriculture, tourism, market towns, and coastal communities. At 124 people per 
square kilometre, the population is much more dispersed than urban authorities. Communities 
range from substantial market towns to small villages and isolated farms. 

 

Page 108



P a g e  | 75 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 
13.8. New Devon has a population-weighted IMD rank of 17,935 (51.5% most deprived), a moderate 

overall position that results from combining incompatible urban and rural geographies. 
  
Category Ward Name National Rank 
   
Most Deprived Barnstaple Central 1,570  

Ilfracombe East 1,868 
  
Least Deprived Pennsylvania 33,044 
  
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Barriers to Housing & Services Monkleigh & Putford (Torridge 

008E) 
1 

Health Deprivation St David's (Exeter 008G) 287 
Education, Skills & Training Priory (Exeter 013E) 458 
 
13.9. This configuration combines incompatible geographies within a single authority. With a 

Weighted IMD Rank of 17,935 (51.5% most deprived), the authority must simultaneously 
address urgent Health challenges in Exeter's urban core, such as St David's ward at rank 287, 
alongside extreme rural isolation where Monkleigh & Putford ranks 1st nationally for Barriers 
to Housing and Services.  

 
13.10. The structure fails because urban coastal deprivation and rural isolation require fundamentally 

different service models, yet this arrangement forces a single approach across an authority of 
811,000 people. The result is ineffective resource deployment and a democratic deficit where 
Exeter (Devon's fastest-growing city) becomes a minority voice within a vast rural authority. 

 
Service Implications 
 
13.11. The primary challenge is managing fundamentally different service models within one 

authority. Exeter requires dense urban service delivery for a young, knowledge-economy 
population, whilst rural areas require dispersed delivery models for an ageing population across 
vast geography. The scale at 811,658 population may compromise local connection and 
democratic accountability. 

 
Financial Analysis 
 
13.12. New Devon would be financially sustainable at this scale, with good capacity for strategic 

investment and service development. However, the key consideration is ensuring that extensive 
geography and dispersed population do not create inefficiencies that offset benefits of scale, and 
that partnership arrangements with Plymouth and Torbay enable balanced regional governance. 

 
Critical Assessment 
 
13.13. This option creates a fundamental democratic deficit by submerging Exeter (Devon's fastest-

growing city) within a vast authority where the City becomes a minority voice. Exeter's distinct 

Page 109



P a g e  | 76 
 

OFFICIAL 

growth challenges and urban service needs become subordinated to rural priorities, hindering 
the city's development and regional role. 

 
 

Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria 
  
Table 13.1 
Criterion Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local 
government 

Partially Met • Creates three legally recognised unitary 
authorities, removing the two-tier structure. 
However, extreme size variation (6:1 ratio) 
undermines equality between authorities and 
creates an unbalanced foundation for 
partnership working. 

2. Right size and financial 
resilience 

Not Met • Plymouth, at 270,000, lacks strategic growth 
capacity.  

• New Devon, at 811,658, may be too large for 
effective local democracy and could exhibit 
dis-economies of scale. 

• Torbay, at 139,000, may be vulnerable to 
future financial shocks. 

3. High-quality, sustainable 
services 

Partially Met • Torbay potentially lacks long-term resilience 
at its existing scale to develop future 
sustainable service delivery. 

• Plymouth is severely constrained from future 
strategic development. 

• The extreme size variations make 
collaboration and standardisation of service 
delivery very difficult. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Not Met • This option is supported by only one local 
authority. 

• Devon's dominance risks marginalising 
Plymouth and Torbay in partnership working.  

• The Integrated Care System, Police, Fire 
Service and devolution arrangements all face 
challenges from size imbalances. 

5. Support for devolution Not Met • Creates unequal partners for devolution, with 
Devon dominating at 66.8% of population.  

• Plymouth cannot represent its functional 
economic area.  

• Provides an extremely difficult foundation for 
a balanced Mayoral Strategic Authority.  

6. Community engagement Partially Met • Uses established principal authority 
boundaries with clear democratic legitimacy.  

• New Devon's scale (with a population of 
811,000) risks weakening local democratic 
connections.  

Page 110



P a g e  | 77 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Residents in large rural wards may feel distant 
from decision-making. 

• Our Principles for Local Government in Devon 
1. Financial viability and 
population 

Not Met • All three principal urban centres cannot grow 
tax base or capture development value.  

• The unitary authority of Plymouth remains at 
a constrained 270,000 population, and 
benefits from the Freeport accrue to New 
Devon rather than to Plymouth. 

• The unitary authority of Torbay remains 
constrained at 139,000 population. 

• Exeter does not achieve unitary status and 
remains constrained at 135,000 population. 

• Long-term financial sustainability of the three 
urban centres (including the existing unitaries 
of Plymouth and Torbay) fundamentally 
undermined. 

2. Character and identity Not Met • Plymouth cannot maintain its identity as a 
strategic regional centre when locked at 
current boundaries. The city's functional 
economic area extends well beyond 79.9 km², 
and this option prevents recognition of those 
natural relationships. 

• Exeter is subsumed within a huge rural 
authority and its potential for growth 
undermined. 

• Torbay cannot maintain its identity and 
potential for growth. 

3. Respect for boundaries Partially Met • Respects existing principal authority 
boundaries, but these boundaries are 
precisely the problem. They do not reflect 
functional economic areas or how people live, 
work and travel. 

4. National Parks/National 
Landscapes 

Met • No major implications on the Dartmoor 
National Park Authority from this option. 

5. Parish boundaries Met • No changes to parish boundaries as no 
boundary extensions proposed. 

6. Sustainable growth and 
strategic role 

Not Met • Opportunities would be lost for Plymouth, 
Exeter and Torbay to plan strategically for 
significant levels of growth to reflect their 
housing market areas and functional 
economic areas. 

• Effective delivery of the Plymouth Freeport 
and sub-regional infrastructure, such as the 
Plymouth Metro proposals, would be more 
challenging.  Fundamentally fails to enable 
Plymouth's growth and regional role. 

  
  

Page 111



P a g e  | 78 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping) 
 
Figure 14.1 

 
 

Plymouth 
 

National Parks 

 
District 4 

 
National Marine Park 

 
District 5 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Summary Assessment 
 

14.1. This option presents significant governance challenges as it fails to meet Government criteria 
and Plymouth's principles. It creates unitary authorities based solely on old administrative 
boundaries, failing to reflect current functional economic relationships. The result is an 
imbalanced structure that favours rural areas, undermines Plymouth's ability to fulfil its role 
as the region's principal city, and leaves it as the smallest and most constrained authority. 

 
 
  

Page 112



P a g e  | 79 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Four: Plymouth 
 
Figure 14.2 

 
 
The impact on Plymouth is as expressed in the base case.  
 
  

Page 113



P a g e  | 80 
 

OFFICIAL 

Option Four: Four District Unitary 
 
Figure 14.3 

 
 
 
Key Statistics 
  

14.2. The proposed Four District Unitary would have a population of 420,000 across a vast area of 
2,785.3 square kilometres, resulting in a low population density of approx. 151 people per 
square kilometre. The authority would be responsible for a council tax base of 167,275 Band 
D equivalent properties and an extensive 7,569-kilometre road network. 

 
 
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.7% 
Working age (16-64 years) 56.9% 
Older people (65+ years) 27.4% 
Home ownership rate 68.6% 

  
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

14.3. The Four District Unitary has a population-weighted IMD rank of 16,389 (47.0% most deprived), 
combining concentrated urban deprivation with affluent rural hinterlands. The overall Weighted IMD 
Rank of 16,389 (47.0% most deprived) obscures significant internal variation. 

 
Category Ward Name National Rank 
  

Page 114



P a g e  | 81 
 

OFFICIAL 

Most Deprived Roundham with Hyde 404  
Tormohun 672 

  
Least Deprived Woolwell 31,970 
  
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
:--- :--- :--- 
Crime Tormohun  127 
Employment Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 255 
Health Deprivation Roundham with Hyde 330 
 

14.4. This configuration lacks geographic coherence, combining Torbay's concentrated urban 
deprivation with large affluent rural hinterlands. The resulting Weighted IMD Rank of 16,389 
(47.0% most deprived) misleads by averaging extremes. Wards like Tormohun, containing 
England's 127th worst Crime Deprivation LSOA, sit alongside some of Devon's wealthiest 
rural areas. This structure prevents effective prioritisation. Resources and attention become 
spread across fundamentally different needs without an obvious service centre or pre-
existing administrative logic to guide delivery. 

 
Service Implications 
 

14.5. The proposed district is exceptionally large and predominantly rural. It covers an area 35 
times greater than Plymouth but with very low population density of 151 people per square 
kilometre. This vast, sparsely populated area combines many distinct communities without an 
obvious single service centre or pre-existing administrative structure, posing significant 
challenges for cohesive governance and effective service delivery. 

Financial Analysis 
 

14.6. A key concern is the significant imbalance this creates with Plymouth. The district has a 
population 58% larger than Plymouth and a council tax base 117% greater. However, its 
population has lower levels of deprivation, indicating comparatively lower need for intensive 
public services. This arrangement concentrates greater financial resources in a less deprived 
district whilst leaving Plymouth with higher concentration of service demand and more 
constrained budget. 

Critical Assessment 
 

14.7. This option creates an authority that lacks coherence, combining Torbay's dense coastal 
urban character with vast rural hinterlands without a unified service delivery logic or 
established administrative structure. 

  

Page 115



P a g e  | 82 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Option Four: Five District Unitary  
 
Figure 14.4 

 
  

 
Plymouth 

 
National Parks 

 
Four District 

 
National Marine Park 

 
Five District 

 
National Landscapes 

 
Key Statistics 
  

14.8. The Five District Unitary covers an area of 3,846.8 square kilometres and has a population of 
approx. 530,000, resulting in a density of 138 people per square kilometre. Compared to 
Plymouth, the district is 48 times larger, yet its population density is 24 times lower than 
Plymouth's 3,311 people per square kilometre. The local authority maintains 10,483 
kilometres of roads and has a council tax base of 199,805 Band D equivalent properties, 
which is 160% larger than Plymouth’s. 

  
Demographic Profile 
  

Children (0-15 years) 15.9% 
Working age (16-64 years) 59.3% 
Older people (65+ years) 24.8% 
Home ownership rate 66.7% 

 
 
 

Page 116



P a g e  | 83 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
Indices of Deprivation 2025 
 

14.9. The Five District Unitary has a population-weighted IMD rank of 17,741 (50.9% most 
deprived), combining fundamentally incompatible urban and rural needs within a single 
authority. 

 
   
   
Category Ward Name National Rank 
   
Most Deprived Barnstaple Central 1,570  

Ilfracombe East 1,868 
   
Least Deprived Pennsylvania 33,044 
   
Domain Worst Ward/Area National Rank 
   
Barriers to Housing & Services Monkleigh & Putford 

(Torridge 008E) 
1 

Health Deprivation St David's (Exeter 008G) 287 
Education, Skills & Training Priory (Exeter 013E) 458 
 

14.10. This arrangement forces governance of incompatible needs within a single authority. With a 
Weighted IMD Rank of 17,741 (50.9% most deprived), the configuration averages urban 
challenges in Exeter wards against extreme rural isolation in Monkleigh & Putford (rank 1 for 
Barriers). St David's ward faces Health Deprivation at rank 287 whilst northern rural areas 
struggle with access to basic services across vast distances. The structure fails to deliver 
appropriate service models for either geography, creating a fundamentally flawed 
arrangement that serves neither urban nor rural communities effectively. 

 
Service Implications 
 

14.11. Five District Unitary would have population density of 138 people per square kilometre, 
comparable to Devon's 104 in the Base Case. The primary concern is not density but lack of 
established service infrastructure and transition costs of creating new delivery models, unlike 
Devon which has decades of established rural service delivery systems. 

Financial Analysis 
 

14.12. This option creates profound disparity between resources and service demands. The district 
possesses a council tax base 160% larger than Plymouth's, granting substantially greater 
financial capacity. However, its population has lower deprivation profile, indicating 
proportionally smaller need for intensive public services. This arrangement concentrates 
immense resources in a district with comparatively fewer needs, leaving Plymouth to manage 
greater concentration of service demand with severely constrained financial base. 

 
 
 

Page 117



P a g e  | 84 
 

OFFICIAL 

Critical Assessment 
 

14.13. This option is presented as fundamentally flawed and inequitable, failing to meet core tests of 
good governance. It creates artificial groupings without functional economic rationale or 
established administrative structures, whilst perpetuating and exacerbating regional 
imbalances. 

 

Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria 
 
Table 14.1 

Government Criteria Assessment Rationale 
1. Single tier of local 
government 

Met • The model adheres to the principle of 
creating single-tier authorities. 

2. Right size and financial 
resilience 

Not Met • Creates authorities of uneven 
population size and financial resilience. 

• Risk pooling is unevenly spread across 
the region. 

• In this option Plymouth remains at a 
non-resilient size, and this failure is 
magnified by the creation of hugely 
advantaged neighbours with tax bases 
117% and 160% larger. 

3. High-quality, sustainable 
services 

Not Met • Allocates vastly superior resources to 
new unitary councils with more affluent 
areas.  

• Population sixes make collaboration 
more variable. 

• All service sustainability challenges of 
the Base Case remain for Plymouth, 
and therefore unresolved. 

4. Local collaboration and 
responsiveness 

Not Met • This option is supported by 7 of the 8 
districts authorities in Devon. 

• The unitary authority of Torbay is 
included within this option but do not 
support it. 

• The proposed boundaries slice through 
existing urban extensions such as those 
surrounding Exeter and Plymouth, 
paying no regarding to the functional 
relationships between communities in 
proximity.  

5. Support for devolution Not Met • This option would create an even more 
imbalanced partnership for devolution.  

• Plymouth would be a minor partner, 
dwarfed by the two new super-
districts, yet be responsible for the 
delivery of nationally significant growth 

Page 118



P a g e  | 85 
 

OFFICIAL 

proposals such as the investment in 
HMNB Devonport. 

6. Community engagement Not Met • The creation of vast, artificial districts 
with "no established structures or 
relationships" would fundamentally 
undermine meaningful community 
identity across the wider region. 

• Our Principles for Local Government in Devon 
1. Financial viability and 
population 

Not Met • This option fails for the same reasons 
as the Base Case, with the added 
inequity of Plymouth being left behind 
while surrounding areas are 
strengthened. 

2. Character and identity Met • Plymouth's own distinct urban 
character is preserved, but in a state of 
isolation. 

3. Respect for boundaries Not Met • The option creates arbitrary 
boundaries with an unclear rationale 
based only on former district council 
boundaries.  

4. National Parks/National 
Landscapes 

Partially Met • The creation of vast new super districts 
bordering the National Park would 
likely introduce new and complex 
governance relationships for the 
Dartmoor National Park Authority. 

5. Parish boundaries Met • As amalgamations of former district 
council areas parish boundaries would 
be protected.  

6. Sustainable growth and 
strategic role 

Not Met • This option would prevent Plymouth 
and Torbay driving forward significant 
complementary growth agendas by 
permanently restricting their areas for 
growth.  

• Exeter would be combined into a wider 
largely rural area which does not reflect 
their travel to work area and is likely to 
result in a loss of focus for their growth 
agenda. Plymouth and Torbay would be 
surrounded by with larger, richer 
authorities. 

  
  

Page 119



P a g e  | 86 
 

OFFICIAL 

Rejected Options 
  

• Option 3 (1-4-5 Model) is not recommended due to significant disadvantages would create a 
severe regional imbalance by concentrating service needs in Plymouth while allocating a 
disproportionate level of resources elsewhere. 

  
• The Base Case (Option 1) is also not recommended. While proposing a district building block 

option which is legally compliant, it would hinder the city's long-term growth prospects by 
constraining its geographic and financial capacity, leading to a future of diminished regional 
influence. 
 

• The New Devon option is not recommended. It creates a fundamental democratic deficit by 
submerging Exeter City within a vast authority where it has a minority voice. Exeter's distinct 
growth challenges and urban service needs become subordinated to rural priorities, hindering 
the city's development and regional role. 

  

Recommended Preferred Option 
  
The modified four unitary model emerges as the most logical, evidence-based, and 
strategically sound path forward. It is the strongest option for providing Devon with a 
framework for a sustainable future, including sufficient land for growth, a resilient tax 
base to fund high-quality services, and a coherent urban identity.  

 
This configuration would create a more balanced regional structure that respects 
community identities and enables the strategic development needed to position Devon 
and the wider region for future success. 
 
  

Page 120



P a g e  | 87 
 

OFFICIAL 

Democracy and Community Empowerment 
 

15.1. The four-unitary model enables genuine democracy across Devon because each authority is 
sized to maintain meaningful connection with residents. Councillors can know their wards and 
communities. Residents understand which council is responsible. Each authority can develop 
engagement approaches tailored to its context, whether urban Plymouth and Exeter, compact 
Torbay, or dispersed rural Devon. 

 
15.2. The expanded authority represents more than administrative change. It offers the 

opportunity to fundamentally reshape the relationship between local government and the 
communities it serves, moving from traditional consultation models to genuine 
empowerment where residents have real influence over the decisions that affect their lives. 

 
15.3. Our recent, extensive public engagement has provided a clear mandate for this new 

approach. We have heard the heartfelt desire from residents, particularly in the South Hams 
parishes, to preserve their strong rural and local identities. We also acknowledge the 
significant concerns raised about being absorbed into a larger, urban-led authority. This 
proposal is our response, designed to build trust by embedding localism and co-design into 
the fabric of the new council. 

 
Redefining the Role of Councillors 

15.4. This reorganisation provides a crucial opportunity to evolve the role of councillors, building 
on their existing strengths as community advocates. While the demands of casework are an 
essential part of their offer, this new model will empower and equip them to further develop 
their roles as proactive community leaders, facilitators, and conveners. This shift in emphasis 
from reactive service delivery to strategic community-building represents a significant 
development in our approach to 21st-century local democracy. 

• Leading - Councillors will provide clear community leadership, bringing together diverse 
stakeholders around shared challenges and opportunities. They will have the authority and 
resources to respond decisively to local priorities whilst maintaining strong connections to 
strategic decision-making. 

• Facilitating - Councillors will convene partnerships between residents, businesses, 
voluntary organisations, and public services. They will create spaces for dialogue and 
collaboration, helping communities identify their own solutions whilst ensuring access to 
necessary support and resources. 

• Advocating - Councillors will serve as strong voices for public interests, ensuring 
community perspectives reach strategic partnerships and decision-making forums. They 
will champion local needs whilst contributing to place-based leadership across the 
authority. 

15.5. This approach builds on Plymouth's existing strengths whilst extending democratic 
engagement across the enlarged authority. Councillors will maintain their essential casework 
function whilst developing enhanced capacity for community leadership and partnership 
building. 

 
 
 

Page 121



P a g e  | 88 
 

OFFICIAL 

Building on Proven Excellence in Community Engagement 
 

15.6. Plymouth City Council already demonstrates exceptional practice in community engagement 
across multiple service areas. This foundation provides the platform for extending our 
empowerment approach across the enlarged authority. 

 
• Strategic Commissioning has pioneered co-production through the Plymouth All-Age 

Unpaid Carers Strategy, developing comprehensive co-production toolkits and training 
programmes. 

• SEND Services operates a structured, inclusive approach to co-production, ensuring 
young people's lived experience directly informs strategic decision-making. 

• Public Health employs Asset-Based Community Development principles through the 
city's Community Builders programme, training 90 professionals citywide in strength-based 
approaches. 

• The Plymouth Health Determinants Research Collaboration embeds research 
expertise within the council to support evidence-based service design grounded in real-
world needs. 

• Youth Services has worked directly with unaccompanied asylum-seeking children to 
understand their experiences and co-create solutions, leading to service improvements 
praised by Ofsted. 

• Natural Environment programmes have transformed relationships with 
environmental groups through practical volunteering and co-designed delivery. 

• Net Zero Delivery engages communities through innovative approaches and facilitates 
Plymouth Climate Ambassadors with young people to ensure their voices shape the city's 
action plan. 

 
Enhanced Engagement Framework for the expanded Plymouth 
 

15.7. The expanded authority will implement a comprehensive Engagement and Consultation 
Framework that moves beyond traditional consultation to genuine empowerment. This 
framework recognises that engagement sits on a spectrum from informing and consulting to 
collaborating and empowering, with clear explanation of where each activity sits and why. 

 
Core Principles 
 

• Respect means treating everyone with dignity and fairness, listening without judgement, 
and celebrating community diversity. 

• Transparency involves being open about what we are doing, why we are doing it, and 
how decisions are made. 

• Inclusion requires actively removing barriers to participation and reaching 
underrepresented voices. 

• Responsiveness means listening carefully, acting meaningfully, and providing timely 
feedback. 

• Partnership involves working collaboratively with residents, striving to co-design 
solutions and share power where possible. 

 
Democratic Arrangements for the expanded Plymouth Authority 
 

Page 122



P a g e  | 89 
 

OFFICIAL 

15.8. The democratic arrangements for the expanded Plymouth Authority will establish effective 
representation for both existing Plymouth residents and the 29,000 people in the 13 parishes 
joining from South Hams through a unified structure that respects local identity whilst 
enabling strategic coordination. 

 
Respecting Heritage 
 

15.9. Plymouth City Councillors have elected and chosen a Lord Mayor annually since receiving its 
Royal Charter in 1439. In 1935, King George V conferred the dignity of Lord Mayoralty upon 
the city by Letters Patent. This history of self-governance matters to our identity, and we 
would like to extend that principle of distinct representation to our new communities. 

 
15.10. Effective and successful reorganisation must address matters of civic identity alongside 

administrative changes. The significance of place-based identity matters, as its neglect has led 
to difficulties in comparable reorganisations elsewhere. Accordingly, our proposal creates a 
model of ceremonial governance that formally recognises and coherently links the distinct 
civic roles across the new authority. 

 
15.11. This framework includes: 
 

• The Lord Mayor of Plymouth as First Citizen - The Lord Mayor, a role granted by 
Royal Letters Patent, will represent the entire expanded authority at city-wide and 
national events, providing continuity and a unifying figurehead. 

• Formal Recognition of Town Mayors - Existing statutory civic roles, such as the 
Town Mayor of Ivybridge, will be formally recognised in the city's official civic protocol. 
Under the Local Government Act 1972, these roles have their own local mandate. They 
will be the civic head of their community, with precedence at events within their town, 
and will have a place of honour at city-wide civic functions. 

• Civic Agreements - Written agreements will establish how these separate civic roles 
work together and appear at each other's events. These will guarantee each community's 
right to hold its own ceremonies and commit the authority to respecting local traditions, 
documenting clearly that historic identities are valued and protected. 

 
Council Size and Representation 
 

15.12. The challenge of democratic representation in local government reorganisation reflects the 
fundamental geography and settlement patterns of Devon. The proposed Rural Devon 
unitary authority, covering approximately 455,000 to 550,000 residents and an electorate of 
approximately 340,000 depending on configuration, would serve a vast and sparsely 
populated area. The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) 
recommends a maximum of 100 councillors for any unitary authority, and analysis suggests 
Rural Devon would require between 70 and 100 councillors depending on the representation 
ratio adopted. 

 
15.13. At 90 councillors, this would result in a representation ratio of approximately 1:3,754 

electors per councillor, closely aligned with Northumberland (1:3,755 electors per 
councillor). At 70 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:4,826 electors per 
councillor, approaching Cornwall Councils model (1:4,956 electors per councillor). These 
ratios reflect the practical realities of serving extensive rural geographies within the 
Commission's recommended parameters. 

Page 123



P a g e  | 90 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
15.14. Our proposal, alongside the other proposed expanded urban authorities, offers a different 

democratic settlement that reflects urban / sub-urban geography. Each urban authority brings 
distinct characteristics that will inform their eventual council size, which should properly be 
determined through the Local Government Boundary Commission for England's electoral 
review process following reorganisation. 
 

15.15. The expanded Plymouth authority, with a population of approximately 300,000 and an 
electorate of 222,213 (using 2024 LGBCE data), would likely require between 60 and 75 
councillors, subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 
 

15.16. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology (strategic leadership, 
accountability, and community leadership) and CIPFA benchmarking of comparable urban 
authorities. Plymouth's electoral review, paused by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission pending this reorganisation process, had agreed a council size of 60 councillors 
for the existing authority based on detailed analysis of CIPFA comparators. The expanded 
authority, incorporating additional communities, requires additional representation to 
maintain effective democratic accountability. At 60 councillors, the ratio would be 
approximately 1:3,704 electors per councillor; at 72 councillors, approximately 1:3,086; at 75 
councillors, approximately 1:2,963. All ratios within this range provide effective 
representation across both the urban core and incorporated parishes. The exact number 
should be determined through proper electoral review. 

 
15.17. Greater Exeter, with a population of approximately 260,000 and an electorate of 177,350, 

would be expected to operate with a council size in the region of 60 to 75 councillors, 
subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 

 
15.18. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology (strategic leadership, 

accountability, and community leadership) and CIPFA benchmarking of comparable 
authorities. The expanded authority's distinctive mixed urban-rural geography, combining the 
city centre with market towns and extensive rural hinterlands, requires sufficient capacity for 
both intensive urban casework and dispersed rural community engagement. Exeter City 
Council currently has 39 councillors, whilst East Devon District Council has 60 councillors. 
At 60 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:2,956 electors per councillor; at 72 
councillors, approximately 1:2,463; at 75 councillors, approximately 1:2,365. All ratios within 
this range provide effective representation, the exact number should be determined through 
proper electoral review. 
 

15.19. Expanded Torbay, with a population of approximately 220,000 and an electorate of approx. 
118,763, would be expected to operate with a council size in the region of 40 to 52 
councillors, subject to the Local Government Boundary Commission's electoral review. 

 
15.20. This range applies the LGBCE's three-criteria methodology and CIPFA benchmarking of 

comparable coastal authorities. Torbay Council currently has 36 councillors, established 
through the LGBCE's 2017 electoral review. The expanded authority, incorporating 
neighbouring communities would require additional representation to reflect its larger 
population and geography. At 40 councillors, the ratio would be approximately 1:2,969 
electors per councillor; at 48 councillors, approximately 1:2,474; at 52 councillors, 
approximately 1:2,284. These ratios are aligned with those of Plymouth and Exeter, 
maintaining the intensive local accountability characteristic of coastal urban authorities whilst 

Page 124



P a g e  | 91 
 

OFFICIAL 

providing capacity for strategic leadership across the expanded area. The specific council size 
should be determined through electoral review following reorganisation. 

 
15.21. This approach recognises that different settlement patterns naturally result in different 

representation ratios across the four proposed authorities. Critically, the precise council size 
for each authority should be determined by the Local Government Boundary Commission 
through its established electoral review process, informed by local consultation and the 
specific characteristics of each area. Whilst we have outlined expected ranges based on 
current council sizes, LGBCE methodology, and CIPFA benchmarking, the people of each 
area should have the final say on their own representation through a proper review process. 

 
15.22. Urban authorities with compact geographies typically operate effectively at lower ratios than 

extensive rural authorities, reflecting intensive casework demands and complex partnership 
working. However, the exact balance between democratic accountability and council 
efficiency is a matter for each community to determine through the electoral review process. 
 

The Path Forward 
 

15.23. We note that the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) paused its 
electoral review of Plymouth pending the outcome of this reorganisation process. We 
therefore strongly recommend that the Government invites the LGBCE to complete a 
comprehensive electoral review across all four proposed unitary authorities once the new 
boundaries are confirmed. This would ensure: 

 
• Fair and consistent application of electoral equality principles across Devon 
• New warding arrangements that reflect both existing and newly incorporated 

communities 
• Appropriate councillor numbers determined in line with the Commission's established 

methodology. 
 

15.24. The indicative ranges outlined above are intended to illustrate the anticipated scale of 
representation. However, the final determination of council sizes and ward boundaries 
should rightly rest with the LGBCE through its established review process. This approach 
upholds democratic legitimacy and ensures that decisions are made independently, without 
prejudging the outcome of the Commission's assessment. 

 
Electoral and Governance Model 
 

15.25. The strong Leader and Cabinet model will continue, with the Leader retaining authority to 
appoint up to nine Cabinet members. Cabinet portfolios may be adjusted to reflect the 
Council’s expanded responsibilities, with discretion to introduce new roles - for example, 
Rural Affairs or Parish Council Liaison. 

 
15.26. Scrutiny arrangements will be strengthened and expanded to provide effective oversight of 

services across the enlarged area, ensuring robust accountability and attention to both urban 
and rural priorities. 

 
 

Page 125



P a g e  | 92 
 

OFFICIAL 

Neighbourhood Networks for Community Empowerment 
 

15.27. This model is a direct response to extensive community engagement. The creation of 
innovative Neighbourhood Networks is designed to position the expanded Plymouth at the 
forefront of community-led governance. This approach is not a top-down imposition, this 
initial starting point is proposed following consultations with councillors and parish councils 
and is grounded in the findings of the comprehensive public engagement process. 

 
15.28. That extensive engagement delivered a clear message: there is an unequivocal demand for 

governance that is responsive, transparent, and "rooted in local knowledge". Our proposal 
addresses this directly by creating a structural guarantee for local influence. 

 
15.29. We have built this framework to address the key themes from our consultations: 

 
• Strengthening Parish Councils: Our approach is founded on the feedback that 

residents view their parish councils as "trusted, accessible, and deeply embedded in the 
fabric of local life". Acknowledging that the number one preference for future 
engagement is "Through my local parish council", our model is designed to strengthen 
their role, not diminish it. 

• Our Commitment to Fair Representation: A recurring concern was the potential 
for a "diluted rural voice". Our model provides a structural guarantee that rural 
communities will be fairly and effectively represented. 

• A Desire for Genuine Engagement: Residents made a clear distinction between 
meaningful engagement and "tokenistic or 'tick-box' exercises". This model is built on the 
principle of being "ongoing, not episodic, and rooted in a genuine commitment to co-
design and collaboration". 

• A Preference for Incremental Development: Following feedback from councillors, 
we will adopt an incremental approach—building on what works, testing for progress, 
and positively growing the model over time. 

• The Importance of Partnership: In line with community feedback, the networks will 
ensure statutory partners like the police and health services are fully involved, enabling 
residents to have the right conversations with the right people. 

 
Framework for Future Community Governance 
 

15.30. The Neighbourhood Networks represent our proposed response to evolving expectations 
for local democracy. They will operate as collaborative forums bringing together ward 
councillors, parish representatives, community organisations, and key service partners. While 
this is our vision, we are clear that the final form and function of these networks must be 
determined through the community-led 'Test, Learn, Grow' process outlined below. They 
are not talking shops or another layer of bureaucracy. They are a practical enabler to 
enhance existing democratic structures. 

 
Operating Principles 
 

15.31. Each network will be designed around natural community areas, recognising that rural 
parishes and urban neighbourhoods have different needs. This flexible approach directly 
responds to the strong emotional attachment residents have to their local identity and the 
fear of becoming "just another suburb". Ward councillors will chair the networks, providing 
democratic leadership and community coordination. 

Page 126



P a g e  | 93 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Our Co-Design Process: A ‘Test, Learn, Grow’ Approach 
 

15.32. This proposal intentionally avoids a rigid, pre-defined model for Neighbourhood Networks. 
We recognise that the tight timescale for submitting this proposal have not allowed for the 
significant, deep consultation required to develop a final model. Therefore, our approach is 
not to present a finished solution, but to outline a clear, community-led process to discover 
and build what works for each unique area, in line with the ‘Test, Learn, Grow’ methodology. 

 
15.33. Phase 1: Discover and Test - This initial phase is about listening and experimentation, not 

imposing solutions. 
 

• Listen Before Designing: We will start with extensive community listening sessions. 
These will be informal conversations in community spaces where people already gather—
coffee shops, community centres, school pickup points, and local markets. The goal is to 
understand how people experience local issues and what governance means to them in 
practical terms. 

• Map Existing Networks: Every community has informal leadership. We will identify the 
people others naturally turn to as our potential bridge-builders. 

• Pilot Small Experiments: We will test lightweight approaches before committing to 
formal structures. This could be a resident-led working group on a specific shared 
problem (like local green spaces or community safety), a community budgeting exercise 
for a small pot of money, or informal monthly "community coffee" sessions where the 
agenda emerges from what people bring. 

 
15.34. Phase 2: Learn and Refine - We will capture not just data, but the stories and narratives 

that explain why certain issues matter so much to communities and how current systems fall 
short. We will work with residents to rigorously evaluate the pilots and experiments, 
creating a shared understanding of what works locally and why. This learning will be the 
foundation for the next phase. 

 
15.35. Phase 3: Design & Grow - The rich learning from the pilots will directly inform the formal, 

co-designed structure of the mature Neighbourhood Networks. This ensures the final model 
is not imposed but is built from the ground up, owned by the community, and tailored to the 
unique character of each area. This iterative process allows us to scale up successful 
elements and create a truly responsive and enduring model for local democracy. 

 
Parish Partnership Agreements 
 

15.36. This approach is founded on the clear feedback from residents who view their Parish 
Councils as "trusted, accessible, and deeply embedded in the fabric of local life". Our 
agreements are therefore designed to empower and build upon this existing democratic 
foundation. Our model is built on strengthening, not supplanting, the first tier of local 
government. Enhanced partnership agreements will provide a framework for collaboration 
with parish councils that respects their local autonomy and established democratic processes. 
This includes opportunities for devolved responsibility for community-level service delivery 
and asset ownership, backed by support and training. 

 
 
 

Page 127



P a g e  | 94 
 

OFFICIAL 

Training and Capacity Building 
 

15.37. The authority will implement comprehensive training programmes for both staff and 
councillors to embed community empowerment principles. Support will be provided for 
community organisations, parish councils, and resident groups to engage effectively through 
training on committee skills, project management, and partnership working where this is 
desired.  

 
Implementation Timeline 
 

15.38. Networks will be active from vesting day and will develop to achieve mature operational 
capability soon after. 

 
 
 
Figure 15.1 
 

 
   Exeter 

 
15.39. Exeter is proposing a multi-layered community neighbourhood governance model that 

builds on the proven success of its thirteen-year Wellbeing Exeter programme. At its heart 
are Local Area Neighbourhood Committees where partners use data and community 
insights to develop local strategies that inform budget and service delivery decisions. The 
model creates a bridge between hyper-local needs and strategic authority, with data and 
engagement flowing between the Strategic Mayor Authority, new unitary councils, Local 
Neighbourhood Area Committees, and Town and Parish Councils where actual delivery 
happens.  

 
15.40. Since Exeter is currently an unparished area, the proposal includes conducting Community 

Governance Reviews to establish these new local governance arrangements, ensuring no 
democratic deficit and that the city's thriving VCSE sector continues to thrive through 

Year One 

Dedicated to the 'Test & Discover' phase: conducting the deep 
community listening and launching the first small-scale pilots and 
experiments.

Year Two 

Focus on the 'Learn & Refine' phase: evaluating the initial pilots and 
beginning to co-design the formal network structures based on 
that learning.

Year Three 

The 'Design & Grow' phase, seeing a wider, flexible rollout of the 
co-designed models to achieve full operational capability.

Page 128



P a g e  | 95 
 

OFFICIAL 

evidence-based, co-produced structures that give neighbourhoods genuine power over 
how services are delivered 

 
      Torbay 
 

15.41. Torbay intends to deliver enhanced community governance by building on its long-
established network of successful Community Partnerships, which have demonstrated 
effectiveness in local engagement and service delivery. The authority will maintain and 
strengthen these existing structures as foundations for neighbourhood-level engagement 
under the new arrangements.  

 
15.42. Torbay's approach also includes the Place Leadership Board, which provides strategic 

place leadership and harnesses the power of anchor institutions locally, regionally, 
nationally and internationally. The council will use networks of Community Builders 
employing strengths-based approaches to help communities help themselves, alongside 
frameworks for Friends of Groups working in parks and green spaces. Torbay's model 
emphasises the need to preserve the distinct identities of "The Bay" and its three coastal 
towns, ensuring that community engagement reflects the strong sense of place and pride 
residents have in Torbay as a distinct sub-region.  

 
                 Devon Coast and Country 

 
15.43. We would recommend that Devon Coast and Country adopts a similar 'Test, Learn, 

Grow' approach which would be undertaken in Plymouth,  to ensure that neighbourhood 
governance arrangements reflect residents' understanding of their neighbourhood, rather 
than imposing predetermined structures.  

 
15.44. Devon County Council has proposed a neighbourhood governance model that shares 

many similarities with Plymouth's approach. Both proposals recognise the importance of 
collaborative forums bringing together ward councillors, parish representatives, 
community organisations, and key service partners including police, health, the voluntary 
sector and emergency services. Both models propose annual action plans based on local 
data and insight. 

 
15.45. However, the key difference between the two approaches lies in how these structures 

would be established. While Devon prescribes fixed numbers, Plymouth's model uses a 
community-led 'Test, Learn, Grow' co-design process where the number, operation and 
size of neighbourhoods would be developed through genuine community consultation, 
ensuring local arrangements reflect the diverse needs and identities of different 
communities.  

 
15.46. Given the geographic scale of Devon Coast and Country, where NACs would cover 

significantly larger areas than in more compact urban authorities, this flexible, community-
led approach becomes even more important to address the challenges of meaningful local 
engagement, particularly in the more dispersed rural and coastal communities. 

 
Our Commitment to the Future 
 

15.45. Ultimately, this proposal is about more than just governance structures. It is about building 
trust and delivering the future that residents told us they want to see. The work of the 

Page 129



P a g e  | 96 
 

OFFICIAL 

Neighbourhood Networks will be directly aimed at creating the Plymouth of 2050 that 
emerged from the consultation: a city that is greener and more sustainable, safer for all 
residents, and built upon a "strong, inclusive community". By empowering communities to 
shape their own neighbourhoods, we can collectively build a city where everyone feels proud 
to live, work, and learn. 

  

Page 130



P a g e  | 97 
 

OFFICIAL 

Better Services Across Devon 
 

Our Commitment to Safeguarding and Service Continuity 
 
16.1. The safety and safeguarding of all people receiving services is our absolute priority 

throughout this reorganisation and beyond. We are unequivocally committed to ensuring 
that no individual, whether a vulnerable child, adult at risk, or any person receiving care and 
support, will experience any reduction in the quality, safety, or continuity of their services 
during transition or in the new unitary structures. 

 
16.2. Safeguarding duties under the Children Act 1989, the Care Act 2014, and all related statutory 

frameworks will be maintained without interruption. Robust safeguarding arrangements, 
oversight mechanisms, and multi-agency partnerships will remain in place and be 
strengthened throughout the reorganisation process. The protection of vulnerable people is 
non-negotiable and will take precedence over all other considerations in our implementation 
plans. 

 
Services are local 

 
16.3. The delivery of high-quality public services that are responsive to, and shaped by, local needs 

is the bedrock upon which good local government is built. Residents and businesses rightly 
expect their local council to get the basics right and provide services that are reliable and 
efficient. This includes regular waste collections, timely consideration of planning applications, 
well-maintained roads, high quality education and childcare, and the vital care and support for 
vulnerable children and adults. 
 

16.4. Both Torbay and Plymouth's experience as a unitary authority demonstrates that authorities 
of this scale can deliver excellent services. The four-unitary model extends these benefits 
across Devon-   

 
o Plymouth and Exeter can focus on urban service challenges including housing, 

regeneration, and young populations  
o Torbay continues tailored services for its coastal community and ageing demographic 
o Devon Coast and Countryside can design services explicitly for dispersed rural 

geography rather than imposing inappropriate urban models   
 

16.5. This tailored approach delivers better outcomes than any single large authority attempting to 
serve incompatible urban and rural needs. 

 
16.6. Rising demand, cost and complexity in critical public services such as Adult and Children's 

Social Care and SEND is creating financial pressure for many councils. Reorganisation offers 
an opportunity to do things differently and to inject new ideas and localised, place-based 
approaches. 

 
16.7. Our current landscape of unitary and two-tier councils, while home to areas of excellence, is 

a product of history. It creates artificial barriers that prevent the truly joined-up services that 
modern public service delivery requires and that our residents deserve. This is a moment of 
opportunity, and we must be structured to seize it. 

 

Page 131



P a g e  | 98 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.8. This proposal outlines a vision to build on the county's considerable strengths by creating 
four unitary councils, each designed to unlock the full potential of the communities they 
serve: 

  
• An expanded Plymouth - Extending a proven model of integrated service delivery 

across its natural community and economic area. 
 

• An expanded Torbay - Scaling up a track record of innovation and nationally 
recognised excellence. 
 

• An expanded Exeter - Creating a strategic authority to build sustainable, thriving 
communities. 

 
• Devon Coast and Countryside - Providing a dedicated champion for the unique needs 

of our rural and coastal areas. 
  

16.9. This reform will create simpler, stronger, and more strategic local government. It will allow 
us to extend our best and most innovative services to more people, delivering better 
outcomes and creating a healthier, more prosperous future for every resident in Devon. 

  
 A Foundation of Strength and a Vision for the Future 

  
16.10. The case for reorganisation is not about fixing what is broken but about unlocking what 

works. Across Devon there is outstanding service delivery, innovative partnerships, and 
nationally recognised success, however, these strengths are often constrained by a 
fragmented local government structure. 

  
Recognising the Models of Excellence 

  
16.11. As a unitary authority, Plymouth has developed sophisticated, integrated services that are 

already delivering for residents. Plymouth has created a social care model where users report 
levels of 'control over their daily life' Adult Social Care Outcome Framework (ASCOF 
Measure 4A) that are significantly higher than the national average. This is complemented by 
an award-winning planning service that determines 100% of major applications on time and a 
highways service that maintains local roads to a standard better than the regional average. 
This demonstrates a clear capacity for high-quality, strategic delivery. 

 
16.12. Torbay Council provides definitive proof of what a focused unitary authority can achieve. 

Its Children's Services are rated 'Good' by Ofsted, a testament to a successful transformation 
that now delivers strong outcomes. In adult services, its innovative model for managing the 
interface with the NHS has resulted in performance on 'delayed transfers of care' that is 
dramatically better than the national average. 

 
16.13. Within the two-tier system, Devon County Council has established a clear strategic 

success in supporting older people. Its adult social care service achieves significantly lower 
rates of permanent admissions to care homes than the national average (ASCOF Measures 
2A & 2B), demonstrating a successful focus on helping people to live independently in their 
own homes for longer. 

  

Page 132



P a g e  | 99 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.14. The challenge is that this excellence is contained by administrative boundaries. The 
reorganisation will break down these barriers, allowing us to build a future for all of Devon 
based on our best and most successful models. 

  
  A foundation built on what works 

  
16.15. As a unitary authority, Plymouth has developed sophisticated, integrated services that are 

already delivering strong outcomes for residents. The Council's approach demonstrates how 
unified structures create the conditions for innovation and high-quality service delivery. 
Planning services have achieved national recognition through multiple Royal Town Planning 
Institute awards, including three Silver Jubilee Cups, a distinction no other authority has 
matched, whilst the joint health and social care model with Livewell Southwest has received 
positive assessments in recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) reviews. 

 
16.16. The challenge Plymouth faces is one of geography, not performance. Administrative 

boundaries currently constrain the Council's ability to extend these proven models across 
the natural community and economic area. The reorganisation addresses this fundamental 
issue, creating a geography that reflects how people live their lives, access services, and 
engage with their local economy. 

  
Children Services and Education 

 
Protecting the Improvement Journey 

 
16.17. Plymouth's children's services are progressing well following the January 2024 Ofsted 

assessment, which recognised strengthened practice. Once Government has decided the 
pattern of government, the subsequent implementation plan will demonstrate how we will 
protect this improvement trajectory, and those in wider Devon, ensuring that the Director 
of Children's Services can maintain focus on completing the transformation programme.  

 
16.18. Detailed implementation planning will include ring-fenced governance to protect the 

Improvement Board's work, clear timelines that avoid disruption to critical improvement 
milestones, and measurable performance targets covering workforce stability, caseload levels, 
and statutory compliance rates. 

  
Delivering Stable Homes, Built on Love 

 
16.19. The expanded Plymouth authority will be structured to deliver the Government's Stable 

Homes, Built on Love vision through fully integrated, multi-agency Family Help services that the 
National Framework demands. 

 
16.20. Plymouth's Children's Transformation and Improvement Project implements five key design 

principles including workforce stability, with the new Target Operating Model supporting 
reduced social worker turnover, localities structures integrating education and social care 
services, and targeted work to address adolescent care issues. Ofsted's January 2024 
assessment confirmed services "require improvement to be good", recognising strengthened 
practice in case summaries, supervision, visits, and plans. The Council has established a clear 
transformation plan to develop, sustain and embed good practice across all areas of service 
delivery. 

 

Page 133



P a g e  | 100 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.21. Extending Plymouth's boundary will create greater consistency in children's services across 
what is functionally a single community. The expanded area will enable a more unified 
approach to family hubs and preventative services directly addressing one of the key 
improvement priorities identified by Ofsted, whilst ensuring families receive seamless support 
regardless of historical administrative boundaries.  

 
Manageable Demand Integration 

 
16.22. Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) level analysis reveals that the extension area contributes 

negligible additional demand across all key children's social care metrics. The area's low 
population density and demographic characteristics result in substantially lower service 
demand compared to Plymouth's urban core, confirming that the expansion can be managed 
within existing operational capacity. 

 
16.23. Plymouth's established children's social care infrastructure, workforce, and systems can 

effectively absorb this minimal additional demand without requiring significant structural 
changes or service disruption. The extension represents an opportunity to extend proven 
practice and quality standards across a natural community area whilst maintaining service 
continuity for all families. 

 
Family Hubs and Early Help 

  
16.24. Plymouth's existing Family Hubs, delivered in partnership with Barnardo's, Lark, and Action 

for Children, provide an established platform for integrated family support. The unified 
structure will enable strategic coordination across service boundaries that currently hinder 
effective delivery. Plymouth's Family Hubs already demonstrate integrated approaches 
through "no wrong door" access and "tell my story once" assessments. 

 
16.25. Extension across the enlarged area will provide seamless family support services that 

currently require navigation across multiple authorities, bringing high-quality integrated 
services to all families. Plymouth's Family Hubs already provide a fully integrated offer to 
families, enabling early support from the first point of contact and ensuring families only need 
to tell their story once to access a range of support services. 

  
SEND Services Strategic Enhancement 

 
16.26. The analysis showing higher reliance on expensive independent sector provision in the 

extension area represents a genuine opportunity for strategic improvement but requires 
careful development to ensure any changes improve outcomes rather than simply reduce 
costs. Strategic SEND planning will be developed in close partnership with parents, schools 
and health partners to strengthen the support available to children with SEND and their 
families. 

 
16.27. Once Government has decided the pattern of government, the subsequent implementation 

plan will include meaningful engagement with service users, including documented 
consultation with care leavers, foster carers, and young people with SEND.  

 
16.28. A single authority can more effectively address identified SEND provision challenges through 

comprehensive strategic coordination across the functional catchment area. Unified 
arrangements enable more coherent SEND provision planning, eliminating boundary issues 

Page 134



P a g e  | 101 
 

OFFICIAL 

that currently complicate service delivery and creating opportunities to reduce high-cost 
placements through strategic sufficiency planning whilst ensuring all children can access 
appropriate provision closer to home.  

 
Workforce and Multi-Agency Coordination 

 
16.29. Ofsted praised Plymouth's highly effective recruitment and retention, which created a stable 

permanent workforce with manageable caseloads. Once Government has decided the 
pattern of government, the subsequent implementation plan will set out specific 
commitments to maintain this stability, including protection of terms and conditions for 
transferring staff and measures to sustain current caseload levels throughout transition.  

 
16.30. Given Devon County Council's ongoing intervention under a commissioner appointed in June 

2025, the implementation plan will also demonstrate how Plymouth will engage constructively 
with the Commissioner's mandate and how the boundary change will be managed within 
existing multi-agency partnerships. 

 
Adult Social Care and Wellbeing 

  
Extending the "Gloriously Ordinary Lives" Vision 

 
16.31. Plymouth's joint delivery model with Livewell Southwest, established in 2015, represents 

mature leadership in integrated health and social care. The current vision of "Gloriously 
Ordinary Lives" provides a framework for people to live "their best life doing the things that 
matter to them, in a place they call home and supported by their own thriving connected 
community, able to access high quality advice, information and timely local services and 
support, where appropriate, in a way that they choose." 

 
16.32. Performance data demonstrates the effectiveness of this approach. Plymouth residents report 

levels of 'control over their daily life' (ASCOF Measure 4A) that are significantly higher than 
the national average. The service also achieves strong performance in reablement (Measure 
1E), helping older people return home from hospital, whilst the integrated model supports 
effective delayed transfers of care (ASCOF Measure 2C). 

 
Strategic Service Integration 

 
16.33. Analysis of MSOA-level demographic and service usage data confirms that the extension area 

represents a modest increase in adult social care demand. The extension area's population 
characteristics, age profile, and existing service patterns indicate that additional demand will 
be minimal and well within Plymouth's established operational capacity. 

 
16.34. Plymouth's established adult social care infrastructure can absorb the additional demand 

whilst extending proven integrated health and social care delivery models to benefit all 
300,000 residents of the expanded area. Many of the service providers operating in this area 
have an existing relationship with the Plymouth Commissioning Team as there is a natural 
flow of individuals between the areas when they access support. The extension represents an 
opportunity to eliminate service fragmentation caused by arbitrary administrative boundaries 
whilst maintaining high-quality provision for all residents. The expanded area aligns neatly to 
the footprints of Primary Care Networks that currently straddle administrative areas and 

Page 135



P a g e  | 102 
 

OFFICIAL 

supports the development of natural neighbourhoods being developed under local Integrated 
Neighbourhood Team development. 

 
16.35. Plymouth has a long history of integrated commissioning with NHS partners, and has 

operated a joint market position statement, single integrated contracts with social care 
providers and joint market engagement. Plymouth is the only area in Devon where this is 
fully embedded, and this approach has reduced fragmentation and duplication between health 
and social care commissioning. This approach ensures care providers experience a ‘single 
Plymouth commissioning voice’ and residents receive seamless care provision as they move 
between health and social care funding. In conjunction with our integrated Health and Social 
Care provider (Livewell) residents in the expanded area would receive truly joined up, 
person centred care. 

 
Comprehensive Improvement and Innovation 

 
16.36. A comprehensive improvement plan addresses all aspects of adult social care through five 

distinct programmes: improving waiting times and experience, vision and strategy 
development, people and practice enhancement, The Meadow View development, and direct 
payment services enhancement. 

 
16.37. The £27 million investment in The Meadow View project consolidates The Vine and Colwill 

services into a purpose-built centre for people with learning and physical disabilities. 
Scheduled for completion in July 2026, this facility will serve the entire extended area as a 
flagship resource providing innovative care approaches and community integration 
opportunities. 

 
Improvement in Reablement Services 

 
16.38. Plymouth is implementing a comprehensive reablement programme, starting October 2025, 

that aims to transform how Adult Social Care supports people to regain their independence. 
The programme vision focuses on remaining independent and effective self-led life 
assessment, moving away from traditional service-dependent models towards community-
based approaches that prevent escalation of need and reduce reliance on statutory services. 

 
16.39. The programme places strong emphasis on recovery, rehabilitation, and outcome-focused 

support, ensuring that individuals are empowered to regain independence and live well in 
their communities. Through collaboration working between Livewell Southwest, Plymouth 
City Council's Place Directorate, and other partners, the programme strengthens 
connections between what services can do for people and what individuals can see they 
could do differently. This approach aims to maximise independence and the efficiency of 
existing services whilst improving long-term outcomes across reablement, community 
outreach, independence at home service, and technology-enabled care. 

 
16.40. Key milestones include achieving 80% of people aged 65 and over remaining at home 91 days 

after discharge from hospital, with reablement capacity increased by 20% through workforce 
and referral pathway redesign. The programme targets a 25% reduction in long-term care 
packages through accelerated reviews of existing packages, with an anticipated annual saving 
of around £500,000 alongside a 10% improvement in independence outcomes at the point of 
reviews. The service aims for a 15% improvement in independence outcomes at the point of 
review, with a 10% reduction in response times and 20% increases in outreach coverage. 

Page 136



P a g e  | 103 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
16.41. The programme encompasses strategic reduction in long-term care dependency through a 

robust and proactive system for reviewing existing care arrangements and making timely 
interventions. This supports system sustainability, reduces demand pressures, and improves 
individual outcomes. The pathway to independence at home service focuses on building 
networks for enhanced community-based support through targeted operational 
improvements, ensuring timely interventions, reduced delayed discharges, and step service 
delivery pathways. 

 
16.42. Innovation through technology-enabled care represents a careful and measured approach. 

The programme will implement and evaluate technology solutions that support independence 
including artificial intelligence applications where appropriate. These tools aim to enhance 
service efficiency, enable early identification of needs, and support timely interventions. 
Operational excellence in community outreach focuses on redesigning and streamlining how 
the service responds to enquiries, providing easier access and place-based delivery through 
wellbeing hubs, enhanced access routes, reduced waiting times, and strengthened local offer. 
This strategic shift empowers people to live independently, reduces service dependency, and 
positions the service as a pivotal entry point across front door services that helps individuals 
reframe their needs and engage with community assets. 

 
Wellbeing Hubs and Integrated Support 

 
16.43. Plymouth's Wellbeing Hubs received strong ratings during Local Government Association 

peer review, with clear recognition of their potential to reach more residents across 
communities. The "no wrong door" approach through locality networks aligned to wellbeing 
hubs and family hubs provides seamless, integrated support across health, social care, and 
community services. 

 
16.44. Many commissioned care providers and voluntary sector partners including Age UK and 

YMCA already operate across the current Plymouth-Devon boundary, including care homes, 
domiciliary care agencies, supported living providers, residential children's homes, foster care 
and supported accommodation providers. This existing cross-boundary working provides a 
foundation for seamless service extension whilst the Older Persons Strategy incorporating 
adult social care, housing, leisure, social inclusion, and transport issues can be extended to 
support the growing older population across the expanded area. 

 
Housing and Planning 

  
Strategic Response to the Housing Crisis 

  
16.45. By setting the Local Planning Authority (LPA) across a larger area, an expanded Plymouth 

authority will deliver a far more effective and strategic response to the region's housing crisis 
than is possible through the current arrangements.   

 
16.46. Decisions about the form and location of new development will be able to be made in the 

context of understanding the city’s functional area and its relationship to surrounding rural 
settlements and the countryside.  This will help the new LPA to meet the area’s housing 
requirement in a manner which is the most sustainable, safeguarding the special 
characteristics of the rural environment and optimising the use of land in the city. Through 
coordinated planning and delivery across area more sensible planning area, there will be 

Page 137



P a g e  | 104 
 

OFFICIAL 

considerable opportunities a more strategic approach to infrastructure delivery, supporting 
the provision of services to ensure that new and existing homes have the facilities and 
accessibility they need. 

 
16.47. Plymouth's Homelessness Recovery Programme features seven dedicated action plans that 

successfully address complex housing challenges across the prevention spectrum. The 
programme has delivered 78 new units of temporary accommodation for homeless families 
since 2023 with 95 more in the pipeline, whilst implementing strategic approaches that have 
we achieved a 66% reduction in 2024/25 from the previous year of the number of families in 
Bed and Breakfast accommodation through innovative planning and partnership working. 

  
Highways and Transport 

  
Highway Service Excellence and Innovation 

  
16.48. Plymouth's highway service manages two distinct categories of assets: the resilience network 

which carries most of the traffic that affects the economy, and the unclassified network for 
local access. The authority has successfully implemented cost-effective maintenance 
strategies, with surface dressing reducing resurfacing costs from approximately £50 per 
square metre to £10 per square metre whilst delivering substantial improvements. The 
expanded area will provide economies of scale for highway maintenance activities such as 
surface dressing and velocity repair systems. 

 
16.49. Residents will benefit from the extension of a best-in-class highways service, which already 

maintains local A, B and C roads to a standard better than the regional average. The 
expansion of Plymouth presents significant opportunities for highways and transport 
integration through strategic coordination and economies of scale. 

 
16.50. Key highway assets including condition monitoring systems, emergency response capabilities, 

and technical expertise can be extended across an expanded Plymouth, providing enhanced 
service delivery to rural communities whilst maintaining Plymouth's established standards for 
the resilience network that supports the city's economic functions. 

 
16.51. Plymouth's highway service has demonstrated innovation through development of 

commercial opportunities, including CCTV monitoring services. With the current Southwest 
Highways contract period ending in 2027, there are opportunities to adopt more dynamic 
approaches including potential trading company models that could reduce costs whilst 
increasing commercial opportunities.  

  
Strategic Transport Investment 

  
16.52. Plymouth's role hosting the sub-national transport body positions the council as a regional 

leader in transport planning and delivery. The authority will build on the area's high bus 
usage, which currently stands at 15.5 million passenger journeys a year, using its £311.4 
million Bus Services Improvement Plan to improve connectivity for all. Combined with the 
£706.3 million strategic transport infrastructure investment, this demonstrates the scale of 
transport transformation already underway. 

 

Page 138



P a g e  | 105 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.53. The Enhanced Bus Partnership with local operators creates a proven model for public 
transport coordination that can be extended across the enlarged area, improving connectivity 
whilst reducing car dependency and supporting sustainable development patterns. 

 
Environment and Waste 

  
Waste Collection and Recycling 

  
16.54. Plymouth currently operates comprehensive environmental services including domestic waste 

collection for residual waste, recycling, and garden waste, with food waste collection planned 
to commence in late April 2026 which will add nine additional rounds.  

 
16.55. Whilst no changes to rounds will be made on or immediately after vesting day, there will be a 

future opportunity to integrate including the redesign and optimisation of collection routes 
across the combined areas, which could deliver cost savings whilst improving service delivery. 

 
Environmental Infrastructure 

  
16.56. The delivery and coordination of environmental infrastructure is illustrated by Plymouth’s 

leadership of the Plymouth and South Devon Community Forest a new project that will see 
thousands of new trees planted across the city. It will stretch from the heart of the city to 
the edge of the moor, encompassing 1,900 hectares of land to form a mosaic of different 
forest habitats. The City Council is also leading on other environmental programmes working 
closely with the National Trust, the Environment Agency, and South West Water. 

 
Grounds Maintenance and Environmental Management 

  
16.57. The authority manages extensive grounds maintenance operations covering 20,000 individual 

grass areas, play parks, and sports pitches, alongside arboriculture services. Environmental 
planning services will be integrated with grounds maintenance and arboriculture to form a 
unified service structure, providing opportunities for coordinated approach to environmental 
management across the expanded area. 

 
16.58. Plymouth's highly proactive approach to supporting a more sustainable and net zero city will 

be able to be rolled out across the wider area, enabling it to benefit from being part of 
Plymouth’s Net Zero Partnership and wider initiatives to deliver environmental and 
decarbonisation outcomes.  Since 2016, the Council has secured over £450m in external 
grants for net zero infrastructure and other projects, delivering a total investment of over 
£662m (and this excludes substantial grants for major highways projects that also deliver 
improved active travel and public transport opportunities).   

 
16.59. The integrated approach to environmental management supports coordinated climate action 

implementation across the natural geographic area, enabling more effective resource 
management and environmental protection that recognises ecological boundaries rather than 
administrative divisions. The strategic approach includes comprehensive environmental 
monitoring, coordinated biodiversity enhancement, and integrated approaches to sustainable 
development that support both environmental protection and economic growth. 

 
16.60. The proposed expansion creates a unified structure that eliminates service fragmentation 

whilst extending Plymouth's proven capabilities across crucial services to benefit all residents. 

Page 139



P a g e  | 106 
 

OFFICIAL 

Plymouth's leadership in social care innovation, children's services development, SEND 
provision, homelessness prevention, planning, and economic development creates substantial 
opportunities for the extended area. 

  
A Cohesive and Ambitious Future for All of Devon 

 
16.61. The creation of an expanded Plymouth authority is the cornerstone of the proposal, but the 

vision for a better Devon is incomplete without tailored plans for the rest of the county. 
 

Expanding Torbay - Balancing Opportunity with Risk Management 
 
16.62. The expanded Torbay authority presents significant opportunities to build on the council's 

impressive track record of innovation and high performance, offering the potential to scale a 
proven model of integrated service excellence across a wider South Devon geography, whilst 
requiring careful management to preserve the achievements that make Torbay a national 
exemplar. 

 
Preserving Integrated Care Excellence 

 
16.63. Central to Torbay's success is its nearly twenty-year pioneering approach to integrated 

health and social care. The Integrated Care Organisation (ICO) has been described as "a 
pathfinder and national leader" in delivering seamless services maintaining exceptional delayed 
transfer of care performance that ranks among the best nationally.  

 
16.64. Whatever the outcome of reorganisation, this model must be protected. Expansion offers 

opportunities to extend this nationally recognised approach across a wider coastal geography 
facing similar demographic challenges. The ICO model's integrated neighbourhood approach, 
community support model which diverts residents from statutory services, and close 
relationships with the voluntary sector could benefit a larger population whilst maintaining 
the localised delivery that has been fundamental to its success. 

 
16.65. However, expansion would require careful planning to ensure the model remains coherent 

and effective at larger scale. The authority would need to maintain strong NHS partnership 
arrangements whilst extending them to cover additional Primary Care Networks, creating 
seamless care pathways across the enlarged area without diluting the integration that 
characterises Torbay's achievement. 

 
A Centre of Excellence for Children's Services 

 
16.66. As the only authority in the area rated 'Good' by Ofsted, the expanded Torbay could 

become a recognised centre of excellence for children's services. The council's 
transformation journey, built on restorative practice and workforce engagement, has 
achieved remarkable results with notably low social worker vacancy rates.  

 
16.67. In February 2023, Torbay became the first UK local authority awarded Registered 

Restorative Organisation status by the Restorative Justice Council. The Learning Academy's 
"grow your own" approach to recruiting and developing social workers offers potential to 
benefit children and families across a wider South Devon geography. 

 

Page 140



P a g e  | 107 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.68. The opportunity to extend this excellence requires balanced consideration. Expansion would 
enable Torbay's restorative practice framework to benefit a larger cohort of children and 
families, with the Learning Academy model creating career development pathways across the 
enlarged area. However, protecting current performance during any expansion requires 
careful transition planning, maintaining workforce stability, and ensuring the restorative 
culture can be embedded across new teams. The authority would need to preserve the 
focused leadership and clear accountability that has been fundamental to Torbay's 
improvement journey. 

 
16.69. The authority demonstrates strong cost control in children's services despite high demand 

pressures. Through the Safety Valve intervention programme, Torbay is successfully 
addressing High Needs Block pressures with a clear deficit recovery plan, progress that could 
be maintained within stable boundaries. Strategic SEND planning across a larger geography 
could create additional opportunities for sufficiency planning and local provision 
development, whilst requiring coordination to maintain progress on deficit reduction. 

 
Environmental Leadership 

 
16.70. Torbay demonstrates exceptional environmental stewardship with zero municipal waste 

going to landfill compared to regional and national averages, alongside significantly lower 
greenhouse gas emissions per capita than both the Southwest and England averages, 
performance that could be extended across an expanded area. The unified authority could 
develop comprehensive environmental strategies addressing coastal erosion, flood risk and 
biodiversity protection at a scale matching ecological boundaries 

 
Exeter - A Strategic Hub for Sustainable Communities 

 
16.71. Greater Exeter would bring together Exeter's strategic role as a major transport hub and 

UNESCO City of Literature with the surrounding market towns and communities across East 
Devon, Mid Devon and Teignbridge that form its natural catchment. 

 
Integrated Service Delivery Model 

 
16.72. The Greater Exeter authority would operate through a multi-level service delivery model 

combining strategic functions at authority level with place-based delivery through locality 
teams. This structure addresses the area's diverse characteristics, from the dense urban core 
of Exeter to market towns and rural communities. The authority would develop clear 
neighbourhood governance arrangements in line with the English Devolution and 
Empowerment Bill, building on existing parish and town council structures whilst creating 
new capacity for community engagement in urban areas. 

 
Strategic Housing and Growth Coordination 

 
16.73. A unified authority could accelerate delivery of significant housing growth, coordinating the 

Liveable Exeter programme within the city with strategic growth sites east and southwest of 
Exeter. By bringing housing, planning, transport and infrastructure under single strategic 
control, the authority could overcome the fragmentation that has hindered the Greater 
Exeter Strategic Plan, ensuring new communities receive the schools, health services and 
transport connections needed from day one. 

 

Page 141



P a g e  | 108 
 

OFFICIAL 

16.74. The authority's unified planning powers enable strategic infrastructure delivery across the 
entire functional area. Major transport corridors, strategic drainage, education provision and 
healthcare facilities can be planned holistically, creating conditions for sustainable growth that 
meets housing need whilst protecting environmental assets. The Housing Delivery Test 
confirms Greater Exeter's strong recent performance at 108% delivery against target for 
2020/21 to 22/23, providing a foundation for continued delivery at scale. 

 
Opportunities to Address Critical Service Gaps 

 
16.75. Greater Exeter has significant opportunities to develop adult social care strategically through 

integration of housing, planning and commissioning powers in adult social care that a unified 
authority would be well-positioned to address. The area requires substantial additional care 
home capacity to support older people with complex needs and dementia, with the majority 
of this need concentrated in East Devon and Exeter. The area also faces considerable Extra 
Care housing deficits. A new authority could integrate housing, planning and social care 
powers to strategically commission and deliver Extra Care housing, embedding provision 
within city regeneration schemes and brownfield developments. 

 
16.76. The authority could leverage Wellbeing Exeter and established community infrastructure to 

develop neighbourhood-based adult social care aligned with NHS Primary Care Network 
boundaries, addressing current over-reliance on residential care placements. Through 
integrated commissioning with NHS partners, the authority could strengthen hospital 
discharge pathways and expand reablement services focused on maintaining independence. 

 
16.77. Greater Exeter's projected population growth in older age groups, particularly those aged 75 

and over, requires proactive investment in Extra Care housing, enhanced domiciliary care 
capacity and specialist dementia services. The unified authority's integrated housing and 
planning powers enable strategic provision embedded within new developments from the 
outset rather than as an afterthought. Working with developers, housing associations and 
care providers ensures new housing growth includes appropriate care infrastructure. 

 
A Catalyst for Children's Services Transformation 

 
16.78. Devon County Council's children's services have been rated Inadequate by Ofsted since 

2020, with recent reinspection in September 2024 finding the authority still inadequate. The 
creation of Greater Exeter authority would provide a necessary catalyst for transformation, 
enabling a fresh start with new leadership and clear accountability.  

 
16.79. Local government reorganisation offers the opportunity to build transformation capacity, 

with the authority able to leverage the University of Exeter and Exeter College to create 
structured pipelines into social care careers. Using local housing and economic development 
powers to provide affordable housing for social workers, educational psychologists and 
SEND caseworkers could directly address the workforce retention challenges that have 
hampered improvement. 

 
16.80. By aligning education, housing, health and employment services under single strategic control, 

the authority would be well-placed to deliver the integrated "Family Help" services and Best 
Start Family Hubs mandated by the new Children's Social Care National Framework, ensuring 
comprehensive early intervention support. 

 

Page 142



P a g e  | 109 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Locality-Based Children's Services 

 
16.81. The authority would implement locality-based children's services integrating early help, 

children's social care, youth services and SEND provision. These locality teams would create 
accessible local presence across the authority's geography whilst maintaining sufficient scale 
for specialist expertise and management oversight. Working in partnership with schools, 
health services and voluntary sector organisations, locality teams would deliver coordinated 
multi-agency support with clear accountability. 

 
16.82. The authority's access to the University of Exeter, Exeter College and other educational 

institutions creates opportunities for structured social work pipelines and workforce 
development. Strategic use of integrated housing and economic development powers can 
support affordable accommodation for key workers, addressing retention challenges where 
high housing costs create recruitment barriers. 

 
SEND Service Development 

 
16.83. Greater Exeter requires strategic SEND planning to ensure appropriate local provision and 

reduce reliance on expensive independent sector placements. The unified authority enables 
comprehensive planning across education, social care and health, developing specialist 
resourced provision in mainstream schools, expanding local special school capacity where 
needed, and creating appropriate post-16 pathways. 

 
16.84. Working in partnership with schools, parents and health colleagues, the authority would 

strengthen universal and targeted support whilst ensuring appropriate specialist provision 
where needed. Unified planning enables effective quality assurance, strategic workforce 
development for SEND specialisms, and coordinated transitions between education phases 
and into adulthood. 

 
Devon Coast and Countryside - Tailored Services for a Unique Landscape 

 
16.85. This new authority would provide a bespoke solution for Devon's vast rural and coastal 

communities, designed to address the distinct challenges of an aging population across 
dispersed geography while building on established strengths in adult social care and 
environmental services. 

 
Locality Model for Rural Delivery 

 
16.86. The authority would operate through a locality model explicitly designed for dispersed rural 

and coastal geography. Locality teams based in key market towns would provide accessible 
local presence for residents whilst maintaining the scale needed for specialist capacity and 
resilience. These teams would integrate services currently split between county and district 
councils, creating coherent delivery across housing, planning, adult social care, children's 
social care and community services. 

 
16.87. The locality structure enables services to be shaped by and responsive to local communities 

rather than imposed from distant centres. Working extensively with town and parish 
councils, voluntary sector partners and community organisations, the authority would 
harness local knowledge and community connections that are essential for effective rural 

Page 143



P a g e  | 110 
 

OFFICIAL 

service delivery. Each locality would develop place-based approaches flexing to meet the 
varying needs across different communities, from coastal towns to moorland villages, from 
commuter settlements to agricultural heartlands. 

 
16.88. Strategic authority-wide functions would provide consistency, specialist services that benefit 

from scale, and infrastructure supporting local delivery. This includes commissioning of 
specialist adult social care and children's placements, strategic workforce development, 
emergency planning, and major infrastructure projects that serve the whole authority area. 

 
Responding to Demographic Realities 

 
16.89. The authority would serve a substantial population with significant projected growth in older 

age groups, particularly among the oldest residents. This aging profile, combined with higher 
dementia prevalence in coastal districts and higher long-term residential care admission rates 
in more rural districts, requires a service model fundamentally different from urban areas. 
The authority could focus investment on preventing costly residential placements by 
expanding Extra Care Housing, reablement, and community support that enable people to 
live independently longer, with potential for significant annual savings. 

 
Building on Devon's Adult Social Care Strengths 

 
16.90. Devon County Council's adult social care performs strongly, with comprehensive CQC self-

assessment underway and strong satisfaction measures. The council has achieved consistent 
financial performance with a clear practice model emphasising quality of life, strengths-based 
approaches, and early prevention. Any future Devon Coast and Countryside authority should 
build on these foundations, minimising disruption whilst realising benefits of integrating 
district council housing and community services functions. 

 
16.91. The authority's scale enables strategic commissioning working effectively with Devon's 

predominantly small and medium-sized care providers who offer essential hyper-local 
knowledge and community connections. Rather than favouring large national providers, the 
authority can develop the local care market through strategic partnerships, quality 
development support, and fair pricing recognising genuine costs of rural delivery. 

 
Hyper-Local Service Delivery Model 

 
16.92. A "hub-and-spoke" model could ensure specialist services reach key market towns while 

deep partnerships with town and parish councils deliver truly local responsiveness. The 
authority could develop place-based commissioning strategies that work with Devon's 
predominantly small and medium-sized care providers, who offer hyper-local knowledge, to 
build market resilience and ensure the right care is available close to home. 

 
16.93. The locality model would integrate housing, social care, and community services with NHS 

and voluntary sector partners where beneficial. This approach would address the reality that 
domiciliary care costs in Devon are among the highest in the Southwest due to rurality and 
travel distances, requiring innovative solutions like expanding Shared Lives placements, which 
offer substantially lower costs compared to residential care while promoting independence. 

 
 

 

Page 144



P a g e  | 111 
 

OFFICIAL 

Children's Services Improvement 
 
16.94. For children's services, local government reorganisation provides an essential opportunity to 

address the sustained failure that has persisted in Devon County Council's provision.  
 

16.95. A rural-focused authority could concentrate on building the necessary capacity for 
improvement without the distraction arising from the higher levels of need and demand in 
urban centres. This would enable implementation of the National Framework's preventative 
approach adapted specifically to rural community contexts. 

  

Page 145



P a g e  | 112 
 

OFFICIAL 

Devon’s Financial Resilience 
 

Financial Resilience – Context 
 

17.1. Our proposal will lead to ongoing savings in the cost of running local government across 
Devon, delivering significant efficiencies and value for money for taxpayers through a 
reduction in the number of councils from 11 to 4. The financial case prepared in 
collaboration with Exeter City Council, is presented in detail in the appendix. where we 
have set out the cost data, assumptions, evidence, and methodology in detail.  
 

17.2. Plymouth's expansion is financially robust, yielding an annual benefit of £6 million against a 
one-off transition cost of £4.9 million. For all four unitary authorities in Devon, the overall 
financial case for our modified proposal is highly compelling – 

 
• The total investment is £70.1 million (Transition Costs). 
• This investment quickly pays for itself, with a full payback achieved by Year 3. 
• The new structure generates £58 million in Net Annual Benefit by Year 4  

 
17.3. This plan represents excellent value for money and significantly strengthens the financial 

resilience of the entire Devon region. This section summarises the financial case for our base 
proposal (and our modification) across Devon, and demonstrates, for the modification 
proposed, that each of the four authorities created will be financially viable – putting local 
government in Devon on a firmer financial footing. The financial case for a modification of the 
base proposal is explained through a comparison of the viability of four local authorities on 
existing district boundaries with the (more sustainable) modification proposed, which 
improves financial sustainability significantly.  

 
17.4. This section also reviews the balance sheet position of Devon’s local authorities, examining 

risks relating to council debt and financial resilience. Implementation costs are estimated and 
broken down for each of the four new councils, and the cashflow and financing implications 
of implementing a new model of local government are explained across a medium-term 
transition period, showing how implementation costs are repaid over time through efficiency 
savings and the release of capital receipts. Finally, this section summarises the position 
relating to inherited council tax rates for each of the proposed four new council areas. 

 
Viability and financial sustainability 

 
Overall resources: comparing the financial size of new proposed unitary councils 

 
17.5. Figures 17.1 and 17.2 below show how the size, in overall resource terms, of the proposed 

unitary councils compares to existing English single-tier councils.  Whilst in the base proposal 
(figure 17.1), the proposed Torbay and Exeter unitaries are relatively small in overall 
resource terms, figure 17.2 shows how the modified proposal puts all of the proposed 
councils into the middle quartiles when compared to existing English unitaries. 

 
  

Page 146



P a g e  | 113 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 17.1 

 
 
Figure 17.2 

 
 

Viability: estimated costs compared to estimated income 
 

17.6. We have used detailed financial modelling to compare estimated costs with estimated income 
for the proposed unitaries.  This analysis uses reported RA return and taxbase data as the 
basis for modelling cost and council tax income at current prices, with specialist forecasts of 
Business Rates and Revenue Support Grant income (together, the estimated Settlement 
Funding Assessment) provided by PIXEL, expert consultants in local government finance and 
funding. The Settlement Funding Assessment forecasts for each proposed unitary have used 

Page 147



P a g e  | 114 
 

OFFICIAL 

the formula funding approach proposed in the Government’s recent Fair Funding Review 2.0 
consultation, which is anticipated to have a significant impact on local authority funding in 
Devon as a whole and for each proposed council.  The Estimated Net Cost of Service shown 
table 17.1 below includes the assumed savings detailed in table 17.4 (though not the ‘stretch’ 
savings, where there is less assurance over delivery).  Forecast costs and taxbase use a 
2025/26 baseline position, and SFA income has been scaled back to a 2025/26 price base to 
ensure comparability.  The methodology and approach is explained in more detail in the 
appendix; the position on Dedicated Schools Grant and Housing Revenue Account ring-
fenced funding is explored separately below. 

 
17.7. Tables 17.1 and 17.2 below summarise the modelled position for the base and modified 

proposals: 
 

Table 17.1 

 
  

Table 17.2 

 
 

17.8. Our modelling forecasts that an Exeter Unitary on current district boundaries (the base case 
proposal) is likely to have costs that exceed its income – with a large funding gap which will 
pose a significant financial challenge.  On current boundaries the changes to formula funding 
modelled by PIXEL suggest that both Plymouth and Torbay are likely to face financial 
challenges (though less significant).  Under the modified proposals, Exeter, Torbay and 
Plymouth authorities our analysis shows an improved financial position when comparing costs 
with income for an expanded Exeter, Torbay and Plymouth unitaries, with the rural / coastal 
Devon council still showing a healthy surplus in funding.  Analysis suggests that the modified 
proposal would create four viable unitary councils, with a modelled surplus providing some 
resilience against demand pressures or other financial shocks.    

 
Dedicated schools grant & SEND  

 
17.9. In common with other areas in England, the structural imbalance of costs and income for 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities services poses the most significant threat to 

Page 148



P a g e  | 115 
 

OFFICIAL 

financial viability for local government in Devon.  All current top tier councils face growing 
deficits on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) high needs block, with Devon County 
Council’s cumulative DSG deficit standing at £127.2m as at the end of 2024/25.  Councils 
across the country await details of the Government’s proposed reforms to the SEND system 
and DSG funding.  We have not attempted to predict or forecast how reforms and changes 
to funding would impact the position for councils in Devon by April 2028 (when the current 
statutory override ends).  Our analysis assumes that the issue of SEND deficits will be 
addressed in a way which ensures the viability of other council services is protected as far as 
possible from financial impact.  The size of Devon County Council’s SEND deficit means that 
any alternative assumption would pose fundamental challenges to viability, whatever the 
structure of unitary local government proposed for Devon. 

 
Housing Revenue Account  

 
17.10. There are three Councils in Devon that have retained their Council Housing stock.  The 

three Councils have adjoining boundaries and under our base and modified proposals, the 
functions would move across to two of the proposed Unitary Authorities.  In the base 
proposal, the current East and Mid Devon Housing Revenue Account (HRA) functions would 
merge within the Devon Coast and Countryside proposal.  In the modified proposal, some 
stock from the current East and Mid Devon would fall within the boundary of an expanded 
Exeter unitary, with other East and Mid Devon stock falling within the Devon Coast and 
Countryside unitary.  The current number of properties are set out in the table below: 
 

Table 17.3 
 

Council Number of Properties 
East Devon District Council 4,129 
Exeter City Council 4,789 
Mid Devon District Council 2,975 
Total 11,893 

 
17.11. It is anticipated that under the modified proposal, approximately 7,000 properties would be 

consolidated within the Expanded Exeter unitary with the balance (close to 5,000 properties) 
consolidated within the Devon Coast and Countryside council. 

 
17.12. Transitional costs that impact the HRA have been built into the wider financial proposal.  The 

main transitional costs that will impact the HRA are as follows: 
 

• Redundancy; 
• Programme delivery team; 
• External communication and branding; 
• Workforce onboarding, culture and development; 
• ICT set up and consolidation. 

 
17.13. Whilst many of the transition costs will be relatively low, it is anticipated that there is the 

potential for reasonable redundancy costs and ICT consolidation costs.  The funding of the 
transition costs will be managed in the same manner as the wider transition costs for the 
proposal. 

 

Page 149



P a g e  | 116 
 

OFFICIAL 

17.14. Reducing from three HRAs to two will enable reasonably significant management savings of 
around 15-20% within the initial years of the new Councils operation.  The three Councils 
currently spend close to £20m on management and supervision, which means there is an 
opportunity to deliver around £4 million a year in savings to fund the transitional costs and 
invest in the existing stock.  Longer term savings will be realised from contract and ICT 
consolidation allowing further investment in stock and the potential to invest in additional 
social house building. 

 
17.15. The Regulator of Social Housing's Rent Standard will continue to apply to individual 

properties in the new Unitary Authorities and therefore it will be essential that the new 
Councils ensure that the standards have been followed appropriately in the previous 
Authorities. 

 
17.16. In summary, the re-configuration of existing Housing Revenue Accounts and the reduction of 

the number of HRAs from three down to two poses opportunities and risks relating to both 
the base and modified proposals: 

 
• Managing Transitional costs will be challenging as most capital receipts associated with the 

HRA are derived from Right to Buy sales which have certain restrictions meaning they 
cannot be used to fund Transitional Costs.  This will mean a greater reliance on revenue 
reserves; 

• Exeter City Council’s HRA has a healthy level of revenue reserves, which can fund 
transition in the modified proposal for an expanded Exeter unitary.  These reserves could 
subsequently be replenished by the saving arising from a reduction in management costs 
over the first few years; 

• The other two HRAs have weaker revenue reserves, which will put pressure on the 
Devon Coast and Countryside HRA when managing transition costs in both the base case 
and modified proposals. 

• Commissioning a stock condition survey, ensuring there is an asset management plan in 
place for housing and developing a 30-year business plan will be resource intensive and 
costly, but essential to the understanding of the future resource requirements in all 
scenarios. 

• Both HRAs would be of a manageable size to allow for effective management in all 
proposed scenarios.  Under our modified proposal, the smaller HRA (Devon Coast and 
Countryside) would be of a similar size to the existing Exeter City Council HRA. 

 
The Financial Case for four Unitary Councils - costs, savings, and payback period 

 
Savings and improved viability  

 
17.17. Across the Devon area (including Plymouth and Torbay), we estimate that our proposals will 

deliver annual, ongoing efficiency savings of around £50m-£70m per annum for both the base 
case and modified proposals. These figures are estimates based on detailed modelling and a 
range of assumptions.  Table 17.4 below sets out a summary breakdown of the areas where 
savings will be achieved; full details of the methodology and assumptions used are set out in 
the appendix.  After implementation costs are paid back, we estimate that the modified 
proposal would deliver a total cumulative saving of over £400m across a 10-year period 
following the creation of new Unitary councils.   
 

Page 150



P a g e  | 117 
 

OFFICIAL 

17.18. These savings will improve the viability of local government in Devon, at a point where 
Devon is likely to see an overall reduction in the level of Government grant and business 
rates relative to other parts of the country due to the impact of the Fair Funding Review.  
Tables 17.1 and 17.2 above show how our modified proposal ensures that the financial 
dividend of Local Government Reorganisation in Devon is distributed more evenly to create 
four viable unitary councils.   

 
17.19. Looking at the extended Plymouth proposal alone, our modelling suggests that the viability of 

an extended Plymouth council would be improved by over £6m per annum when compared 
to the base proposal (which maintains Plymouth City Council on its current boundaries).  
This represents a strong payback for Plymouth in viability terms – a £6m annual return on an 
initial investment of £4.9m. 

 
Table 17.4: estimated savings (base and modified proposal): 
 

 
 

17.20. The total estimated annual saving of £64.5m / £58.4m (for the base / modified proposal) has 
been included in our viability modelling.  This is a net figure, with savings from the 
consolidation of lower tier and corporate services offsetting the additional costs of creating a 
fourth set of upper tier services.  A brief explanation of each category of saving is set out 
here – further detail (including detail on assumptions and methodology used) is set out in the 
appendix.  

 
17.21. Service disaggregation costs are the additional fixed costs of setting up a fourth set of 

upper-tier services – an addition to existing costs for management, systems and specialist 
fixed cost functions in education, social care, highways, public health and other ‘top tier’ 
service areas across the two existing unitary councils and Devon County Council.  These are 
estimated to be lower in the base proposal, because the small size of Exeter would drive a 
lower cost for core services, whereas the much larger size of the Devon Coast and 
Countryside base case authority would benefit from economies of scale.  

 
17.22. Service consolidation savings are savings to fixed costs for lower-tier services, delivered 

by reducing the level of duplication in systems, management costs and specialist functions for 
planning, waste collection, environmental health, parks, street cleaning and other functions 
that are currently carried out by 10 different councils (which would reduce to 4 under our 

Page 151



P a g e  | 118 
 

OFFICIAL 

proposals).  As with service disaggregation costs, the base proposal would have lower fixed 
costs overall due to the much larger size of the Devon Coast and Countryside council and so 
the savings are greater in this category under the base proposal. 

 
17.23. Corporate service consolidation savings are savings to fixed costs for corporate 

services, delivered through a reduction in the number of corporate functions (HR, Finance, 
Asset Management, ICT etc.) across local government in Devon from 11 to 4.  Again, 
because of economies of scale the savings in this category are greater in the base proposal. 

 
17.24. Optimising senior leadership savings will be delivered through a reduction in the number 

of senior leaders across local government in Devon.   
 

17.25. Optimising costs of democracy savings relate to a reduction in the number of elected 
councillors across Devon, and a reduction in the number of local government elections held, 
because of reducing the number of councils from 11 to 4. 

 
17.26. Property rationalisation is anticipated as a result of local government re-organisation – as 

in previous local government reorganisation (LGR) exercises elsewhere in the country, there 
will be buildings that become surplus to requirements because of the merger of councils and 
a re-distribution of staff work bases.  The saving has been estimated based on the costs of 
main office accommodation only. 

 
17.27. Service transformation savings relate to further reductions in the cost of delivering 

frontline services (over and above the service consolidation savings) because of changes to 
delivery models that deliver efficiencies.  There are likely to be many opportunities for 
service transformation savings; the estimated figures included here relate mainly to 
anticipated reductions in the cost of waste collection services and social care work because 
of a more localised approach to service delivery, cutting down on travel time and optimising 
processes.  Savings in this category will be significantly larger in the modified proposal, which 
will create coherent and balanced service delivery geographies that allow for localised, 
efficient service delivery models. 

 
17.28. Harmonisation of fees and charges will be required where councils merge – new 

authorities will have to set consistent policies and prices for charging for services like 
licensing, leisure and parking.  The experience of previous LGR exercises elsewhere in the 
country is that harmonising charges results in a more efficient service, with higher levels of 
overall income.  Savings in this category are larger in the modified proposal, primarily due to 
modelling by Exeter District Council on how charging policies would be harmonised across 
an Extended Exeter Unitary. 

 
‘Stretch’ savings – further savings that might be delivered through our proposal 

 
17.29. In addition to the savings categories described above, Table 16.4 also sets out a possible 

additional saving (of £11.3m in the modified proposal), modelled on a reduction in the cost of 
social care packages through ‘right sized’, localised delivery models.  This additional saving has 
not been included in the wider financial modelling of financial viability and payback periods 
because there are differing views on how local government reorganisation in Devon (and 
other two-tier areas) might impact on the cost of commissioned social care services.   

 

Page 152



P a g e  | 119 
 

OFFICIAL 

17.30. Currently, the unit costs of providing social care packages in the County Council area are 
observably higher than similar unit costs in the Unitary council areas of Torbay and Plymouth.  
It is arguable that some of this difference relates to the benefits of providing social care 
through a more localised, responsive delivery model in a smaller geographical area.  The 
£11.3m saving is based on a modest (2-3%) reduction in the cost of commissioned social care 
packages across the current county area – based on an assumed reduction in unit costs that 
are currently higher than the unit costs of councils in Devon which operate more localised 
social care services.  However, we feel that this assumed reduction is more uncertain than 
other assumptions used in our financial modelling, and so we are taking a prudent approach 
by excluding this saving from our financial viability calculations. 

 
The cost of implementing our proposals 

 
17.31. Implementation costs will vary significantly for the different new council areas proposed, and 

between the base and modified proposals. We have assumed that – for the modified proposal 
– Plymouth / expanded Plymouth and Torbay / expanded Torbay will be created through a 
continuing authority model, whereas for both the base proposal and the modified proposal 
the other two new councils will be created through a more complex transition, with the 
operation of a shadow authorities and a need to set up new infrastructure, policy 
frameworks and operating models for each new council. In the base proposal Plymouth and 
Torbay would remain unchanged, and therefore there would be zero cost of implementation 
for these areas.  The tables below set out a breakdown of estimated implementation costs 
across Devon for the base and modified proposal, and also a breakdown of implementation 
costs estimated for the extended Plymouth proposal alone. 

 
Table 17.5: Estimated Devon-wide implementation costs (base proposal): 
 
(Note: this table does not include any costs relating to Torbay or Plymouth as these councils would be unchanged in the base proposal.) 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Base proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 5.0 12.0 5.0 22.0 

Workforce exit costs would 
be significant in the re-
organisation of the County 
Council and 8 district 
councils. 

Programme delivery 
team 1.6 4.1 0.7 0.5 6.9 

Two separate 
implementation teams and a 
cross-cutting programme 
team. 

External 
communication and 
branding 

0.0 0.6 0.6 0.0 1.2 

Limited re-branding exercise 
(signage, website) assumed 
for two new councils; 
branding and 
communications post vesting 
day within BAU capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, culture 
and development 

0.0 0.5 0.5 0.0 1.0 

Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programmes for new 
councils. 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 2.0 7.5 3.5 1.0 14.0 

Establishing new ICT 
infrastructure and systems 
for two new councils; 
transferring / interfacing data 
from legacy systems. 

Page 153



P a g e  | 120 
 

OFFICIAL 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Base proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.9 
Establishing policy and 
constitutional frameworks 
for two new councils. 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 2.6 

Shadow / parallel running 
costs for Devon C & C and 
Exeter unitary councils.  

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.5 0.7 0.7 1.9 

Cost of adapting and re-
configuring office 
accommodation to release 
longer term savings. 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 2.0 1.8 0.7 4.5 Contingency for 

unanticipated costs 

TOTAL 4.2 21.8 20.1 7.9 55.0   

 
Table 17.6: Estimated Devon-wide implementation costs (modified proposal): 
 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Modified proposal  - £m 

Comments / explanation Year -1 
(2026/27) 

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

Year 2 
(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 5.0 14.0 6.0 25.0 

Most redundancy costs would fall 
to Exeter / ‘Devon Coast and 
Countryside’ councils. 

Programme 
delivery team 2.4 5.1 1.7 0.9 10.1 

Four separate implementation 
teams + 1 Devon wide 
programme team. 

External 
communication and 
branding 

0.0 1.0 0.6 0.0 1.6 

Limited re-branding exercise 
(signage, website) assumed for all 
councils; branding and 
communications post vesting day 
within BAU capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, culture 
and development 

0.0 0.8 0.9 0.0 1.7 
Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programmes for new councils 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 2.4 8.7 5.0 1.0 17.1 

Default approach will be data 
transfer into existing systems for 
Plymouth & Torbay, other 
councils would face far more 
significant costs 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.3 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.9 

Continuing authority model for 
Torbay and Plymouth, costs all 
relate to Devon C & C and 
Exeter. 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 2.6 Shadow / parallel running costs 

for Devon C & C and Exeter only 

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.9 1.0 0.7 2.6 

Mainly Devon C & C and Exeter 
where more significant 
rationalisation will take place 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 4.0 3.8 0.7 8.5 Contingency for unanticipated 

costs 

TOTAL 5.8 27.7 27.3 9.3 70.1   

 

Page 154



P a g e  | 121 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 155



P a g e  | 122 
 

OFFICIAL 

Table 17.7: Estimated implementation costs for extended Plymouth Council modification only: 
 

Cost category 

Estimated cost for Modified proposal (Extended Plymouth only) - 
£m 

Comments / explanation 
Year -1 

(2026/27) 
Year 0 

(2027/28) 
Year 1 

(2028/29) 
Year 2 

(2029/30) TOTAL 

Redundancy / 
workforce exit 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

No Redundancy costs 
anticipated for Expanded 
Plymouth implementation – 
TUPE only applies where 
there is a transfer of role. 

Programme delivery 
team 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.2 1.5 

Expanded Plymouth 
programme team stood up 
from 2026 – 2029 
(supplemented from BAU 
capacity).  

External 
communication and 
branding 

0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Limited re-branding exercise 
(signage, website); branding 
and communications post 
vesting day within BAU 
capacity 

Workforce 
onboarding, culture 
and development 

0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.2 
Induction and training for 
transferring staff; culture 
programme for new council 

ICT set up and 
consolidation 0.1 0.4 0.5 0.0 1.0 

Default approach will be 
data transfer into existing 
systems 

New council 
establishment - 
policy & process 

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Continuing authority model 
– new policies and 
processes would be 
developed within BAU 
capacity over time 

Shadow authority 
costs 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Continuing authority model 
– no shadow authority 
parallel running costs, 
elections to new council 
within BAU capacity 

Property 
rationalisation 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 

Limited rationalisation for 
Plymouth, some costs to 
develop workspace for 
transferring operational staff. 

Programme 
contingency 0.0 1.0 1.0 0.0 2.0 

Contingency for 
unanticipated costs (e.g. 
redundancy, data 
configuration) 

TOTAL 0.4 2.2 2.1 0.2 4.9   

 
Financing implementation costs and payback periods 

 
17.32. It is anticipated that implementation costs would be financed from a combination of Capital 

Receipts Flexibilities and reserves.  Colleagues at Exeter City Council have indicated that 
there is a level of useable capital receipts (together with a receipts pipeline) that would be 
sufficient to finance the more significant implementation costs arising from the formation of 
our proposed Exeter and ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ based unitaries in both the base 
and modified proposals.  Plymouth City Council has sufficient Usable Capital Receipts in hand 
to fund the more modest £4.9m implementation costs for the modified proposal for an 
Extended Plymouth council; similarly, Torbay Council has a reasonable level of useable 

Page 156



P a g e  | 123 
 

OFFICIAL 

reserves (c. £69m as at the end of 2024/25) which could be utilised to finance the 
implementation costs for an extended Torbay council. 

 
17.33. Our financial modelling has been used to estimate the profile of expenditure and savings over 

a 10-year period the base and modified proposals across the whole of Devon.  The financial 
profile up to and including Financial Year 2032/33 is set out in table 17.8 below: 

 
Table 17.8 

 
 
 
17.34. It can be seen that both the base and the modified proposals are estimated to have strong 

payback periods (paying back all estimated implementation costs by the third year after 
vesting day). Over a 10-year period following the creation of new councils, our modelling 
suggests that both proposals would deliver cumulative savings (after the payback of transition 
costs) of over £400m. 

 
Debt and other financial resilience issues 

 
17.35. We have commissioned independent consultants LG Improve to provide financial resilience 

benchmarking information on our base and modified proposals.  LG Improve have used 
published 2024/25 statement of accounts information to estimate the value of assets, 
liabilities and reserves that proposed unitary councils would inherit (based on shares of 
population within current / predecessor council areas).  This section examines some key 
financial resilience issues for Devon as a whole, and also for the proposed unitary councils 
under our base and modified proposals. 

 
17.36. Firstly, figures 17.3, 17.4 and 17.5 below set out key financial resilience ratios for the 

combination of 11 local councils in Devon and compares these to other shire areas that have 
been invited to submit proposals for re-organisation.  Figure 17.3 compares the level of 
Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power and shows that 
collectively, councils in Devon have a relatively low level of reserves for their size.  Figure 
17.4 shows how this position is exacerbated by the impact of Devon County Council’s large 
cumulative DSG deficit, which when set against reserve levels, leaves Devon in the least 
financially resilient position of all reorganising areas when viewed through this measure.  
Figure 17.5 examines the relative level of financing requirement (a measure of underlying 
debt) in Devon which is slightly above the average for all reorganising areas – noting that the 
average position is skewed by exceptionally high levels of debt in two Surrey District 
Councils.  

Page 157



P a g e  | 124 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Figure 17.3: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Devon compared to other 
re-organising shire areas: 
 

 
 
Figure 17.4: Usable Revenue Reserves + cumulative DSG deficit as a proportion of Core Spending Power – 
Devon compared to other re-organising shire areas: 
 

 
 

Page 158



P a g e  | 125 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 17.5: Capital Financing Requirement : Core Spending Power ratio – Devon compared to other re-
organising shire areas:  
 

 
 

17.37. The inherited financial resilience position illustrated in figures 17.3-5 above will be a challenge 
for any new combination of councils in Devon.  In particular, figure 17.4 underlines the 
importance of reducing the level of cumulative DSG deficit for local government in Devon 
prior to any reorganisation taking effect, in order to launch new councils with a relatively 
financially sustainable position.  The size of Devon County Council’s SEND deficit poses a 
fundamental challenge to viability, whatever the structure of unitary local government 
proposed for Devon. 

 
17.38. Figures 17.6 and 17.7 below explore similar ratios for the base proposal, this time comparing 

against existing English Unitary councils. Our analysis assumes that the issue of SEND deficits 
will be addressed or substantially mitigated through Government reform prior to the launch 
of new councils, so only Usable Revenue Reserves and Capital Financing Requirement ratios 
are considered here: 

 
  

Page 159



P a g e  | 126 
 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 17.6: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Base proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
 
Figure 17.7: Capital Financing Requirement to Core Spending Power ratio – Base proposal unitaries compared 
to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
  

Page 160



P a g e  | 127 
 

OFFICIAL 

Finally, figures 17.8 and 17.9 below explore these ratios for the modified proposal:  
 
Figure 17.8: Usable Revenue Reserves as a proportion of Core Spending Power – Modified proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 
Figure 17.9: Capital Financing Requirement to Core Spending Power ratio – Modified proposal unitaries 
compared to existing English Unitary councils: 
 

 
 

17.39. It can be seen that, as with the comparison of costs and income and overall resources set out 
above, this analysis of financial resilience shows an improved, more resilient position for 
councils proposed in our modified proposal.  On the key ratios of Usable Revenue Reserves: 
Core Spending Power (a measure of relative financial resilience) and Capital Financing 

Page 161



P a g e  | 128 
 

OFFICIAL 

Requirement : Core Spending Power (a measure of relative exposure to long term 
borrowing need), the modified proposal moves all councils closer to the average position for 
existing unitaries. 

 
Council Tax Harmonisation 

 
17.40. All eleven councils in Devon currently set different rates of council tax. Any local 

government reorganisation would require harmonisation so that new unitary councils levy a 
consistent rate across their area. This has been standard practice in previous reorganisations 
and should not present significant challenges, provided Government offers continuing and 
shadow authorities similar flexibility to that granted previously. 

 
17.41. Decisions on harmonisation would be taken by democratically elected shadow and continuing 

authorities in February 2028, assuming new councils commence in April 2028. We are not 
proposing how this should be done. That will be a matter for future political decision makers 
based on local circumstances and priorities. 

 
17.42. For financial modelling purposes, we assume harmonisation to the average point in the first 

year of each council. This represents a modest impact of around £2 per month, either 
upwards or downwards depending on previous district, for a typical Band B Devon 
household before accounting for any underlying increase councils may choose to apply. 

Page 162



P a g e  | 129 
 

OFFICIAL 

Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula 
Devolution 
 

18.1. Plymouth's proposal for four unitary councils provides the optimal foundation for the South 
West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. Four balanced constituent councils each serving 
coherent communities with distinct identities, can work together effectively on regional 
priorities whilst maintaining genuine local accountability.   

 
18.2. Our ambition is for the creation of a South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority 

(MSA) to be created at the earliest opportunity so that we can drive change particularly with 
respect to aligning public services and deploying more effectively devolved funding and 
powers to the benefit of local people and businesses. 

 
18.3. We want to grasp the huge opportunities this will create linked to the ambitious growth 

agendas of the constituent authorities by requesting Government proceeds with a South 
West Peninsula Strategic Authority comprising an expanded Plymouth, an expanded Exeter, 
an expanded Torbay, and a reconfigured Devon, leaving the door open for Cornwall.  

 
18.4. A South West Peninsula Mayor promoting at the Council of Nations and Regions how 

Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay, and Devon could play a greater role in helping to deliver national 
growth will play a significant part in delivering on the Government’s objectives set out in the 
“Power and Partnership: Foundations for Growth” White Paper. Equally, a South West 
Peninsula Mayor will promote the interests of the South West, including cross-regional 
working on strategic issues such as connectivity and infrastructure as well as advocating for 
more powers, decision-making, and funding to be devolved closer to local communities. 

 
18.5. Creating a South West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority presents an opportunity to 

unify public services across the wider region. The South West is a robust economic area with 
a Gross Value Added (GVA) of £47.597 million as at 2023. Initially the South West Peninsula 
Mayoral Strategic Authority would bring enhanced powers and responsibilities for local 
transport, strategic planning, housing, infrastructure coordination, climate change, skills and 
driving economic development. 

 
Local Transport 

 
18.6. A South West Peninsula MSA would become the Local Transport Authority for public 

transport functions enabling better strategic management of the whole network which is 
currently spread across 4 authorities with differing priorities. It would also be responsible for 
public transport provision, including bus and rail services. By developing a single, peninsula-
wide Local Transport Plan greater integration and inter-operability is possible, with multi-
ticketing and other service enhancements such as introducing electric buses and other 
decarbonisation measures. 

 
Strategic Planning 

 
18.7. With the provisions of the Planning and Infrastructure Bill likely to receive Royal Assent in 

late 2025/early 2026, the South West Peninsula MSA would become responsible for Spatial 

Page 163



P a g e  | 130 
 

OFFICIAL 

Development Strategies which will set the strategic patterns and scales of development, 
provide a spatial strategy that guides Local Plans and enables growth, identify strategic 
locations for development, include policies on the use and development of land that are of 
strategic importance to the area,  and identify key infrastructure requirements to enable the 
spatial strategy to be implemented (e.g. transport, energy and economic infrastructure).  

 
18.8. A South West Peninsula Spatial Development Strategy, digitally enabled with a 30-year time 

horizon, and linked in with the National Infrastructure Strategy produced by National 
Infrastructure and Service Transformation Authority, could be prepared over a 24-month 
period to drive the nationally significant scale of growth envisaged for the area. 

 
Housing 

 
18.9. The housing crisis facing England is particularly acute in the South West region due to the 

attractiveness of the area to second homeowners and the impact of tourism. This manifests 
itself in acute shortages of affordable housing, especially social-rented accommodation, and 
significant increases in homelessness.  The seriousness of this situation is compounded by 
new affordable housing completions decreasing in the South West by 8.9% since the 
introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework in 2012 and 2023/2024. 

 
18.10. Total supply of new affordable housing in Cornwall, Devon, Plymouth, and Torbay in 2023/24 

was 1,487. With high levels of new housing required across the whole area from the 
Government’s Standard Method, the South West Peninsula MSA will be able to take a more 
strategic approach to housing, working closely with Homes England and its Strategic Partners. 
The MSA would have control over grant funding for housing deliver and regeneration 
allowing more effective use of these resources to target local housing needs as set out in the 
Spatial Development Strategy, including, where appropriate setting up Mayoral Development 
Corporations and using acquired Compulsory Purchase Order powers. 

 
Health and Well-Being 

 
18.11. Local government devolution in the UK has increasingly included health-related powers, with 

the aim of integrating services, addressing health inequalities, and linking health outcomes to 
economic growth.  

 
18.12. Greater local government involvement in health point to several potential benefits: 

 
• Tackling wider determinants of health - Local authorities already hold powers related to 

areas like housing, education, employment, and transport, which are critical determinants of 
public health. Devolution allows for a ‘health in all policies’ approach, integrating health goals 
into these wider policy areas. Having public health embedded in Plymouth City Council allows 
for this cross-council approach to tackling core determinants of health and address 
inequalities that impact upon health.  

 
• Addressing health inequalities - Evidence suggests that enhancing localised control can be 

more effective at reducing regional health inequalities, particularly by investing in preventative 

Page 164



P a g e  | 131 
 

OFFICIAL 

initiatives and shifting resources towards primary and community care. 
 

• Service integration - Closer alignment between local government (which manages social 
care and public health) and the NHS (which runs clinical services) can lead to a more seamless 
and integrated experience for patients. Plymouth is already on this journey.  

 
• Innovation - Devolution can create "innovation zones" and allow local leaders the freedom 

to experiment with new models of care that are better suited to their specific population 
needs. This is already being addressed through the Plymouth approach to our neighbourhood 
health model and participation in the national Test, Learn, Grow programme. 

 
Infrastructure Coordination 

 
18.13. There are some fundamental strategic weaknesses in relation to the transport infrastructure 

of the South West derived in large measure from its peninsula geography: resulting in single 
points of potential failure in both the Strategic Road Network and the rail network into and 
out of the region. A Peninsula Strategic Mayoral Authority will be able to raise these strategic 
connectivity issues with Government and National Infrastructure and Service Transformation 
Authority NISTA to ensure the objectives of the National Infrastructure Strategy are aligned 
so that it supports the delivery of growth in the region. 

 
Climate Change 

 
18.14. The South West Peninsula MSA will be responsible for developing the Local Environmental 

Improvement Plan which will support the Government’s Environmental Improvement Plan.  
A South West Peninsula Strategic Mayoral Authority will be able to also use the Spatial 
Development Strategy to continue to address decarbonisation legislative and local 
commitments, strengthen resilience, address the decline in biodiversity, and ensure new 
infrastructure responds to the latest evidence on climate change. 

 
Skills 

 
18.15. The South West Peninsula MSA will be able to coordinate the delivery of skills across a 

wider-than-local basis through its Local Growth Plan. This will enable more targeted strategic 
interventions in skills bespoke to each constituent authority. For example in Plymouth, the 
focus will be on developing defence, marine, green/blue and digital technology, construction, 
civil engineering, and health care skills reflecting the Government's investments in HMNB 
Devonport, Derriford Hospital and the designation of Plymouth as the National Centre for 
Marine autonomy.  

 
18.16. The MSA will be able to maximise opportunities while directing interventions and initiatives 

to areas where the demand is greatest and which ties in with the Government’s “Plan for 
Change” missions. 

 
 
 
 

Page 165



P a g e  | 132 
 

OFFICIAL 

Driving Economic Development 
 

18.17. By developing a peninsula-wide Local Growth Plan, the MSA will be able to use its enhanced 
devolved powers and funding resources to drive growth and innovation, market the region 
nationally and internationally, tackle known areas of economic inequality, specifically by 
developing inclusive growth initiatives, and ensure that benefits from major projects such as 
the defence investments at HMNB Devonport and Derriford Hospital can be felt across the 
region. 

 
Policing 
 

18.18. The Government has confirmed its commitment to creating Mayors of Strategic Authorities 
with policing functions across England in this Parliament. The intention to transfer significant 
functions to these Mayors makes clear that devolution will involve substantive powers, not 
symbolic arrangements. Strong, coherent unitary authorities position Devon's councils to 
engage effectively in these discussions. The current two-tier system, with divided 
responsibilities and unclear accountability, makes it difficult to present a credible case for 
taking on devolved powers. Four unitary authorities provide the foundation from which 
Plymouth, Exeter, Torbay and Devon Coast and Countryside can participate as genuine 
partners in a Strategic Authority, each bringing clear accountability and capacity to deliver. 
 

18.19. Alternative models would undermine effective devolution. A single mega-council would 
replicate problems of remote governance and the district proposal with Exeter submerged 
would create an unbalanced MSA. The four-unitary model creates the balanced partnership 
needed for effective regional governance. 

 
  

Page 166



P a g e  | 133 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Stakeholder Engagement and Support 
 

Our Approach to Engagement: The “Big Community Consultation” 
 

19.1. Between 29 May 2025 until 04 August 2025, the Council undertook the “Big Community 
Consultation” on its proposals for local government reorganisation. Further events and 
meetings were held with local businesses and public sector partners between 28 August 2025 
and 08 October 2025. This consultation was designed to meet the 4 “Gunning Principles” and 
respond to the requirements of the Government set out in the letter to the Devon 
authorities dated 15 May 2025, particularly in relation to Criterion 6a and 6b. The Council 
adopted a multi-channel strategy to reach a wide and diverse audience. This included a 
dedicated project website, tailored surveys, facilitated conversation events, stakeholder 
briefings, and a targeted media campaign. The engagement was structured to allow meaningful 
input before the final business case is submitted to Government.  

 
19.2. The full Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report is shown in the appendices. 
 

Application of the “Gunning” Principles  
 
19.3. The engagement was carried out in line with the Gunning Principles:  
 

• It took place at a formative stage, while the proposal was still being developed.  
• Clear and accessible information was provided throughout, including FAQs and 

updates.  
• Residents had adequate time to respond, with events and surveys running over 

several weeks.  
• Feedback was conscientiously considered and has directly informed the 

development of the final proposal.  
 

How the engagement was delivered  
 
19.4. To ensure that we could reach as many people as possible, we:  

 

• Held 19 facilitated conversation events across Plymouth and South Hams, attended 
by 489 people.  

• Two tailored surveys which received 824 responses.  
• The project website attracted over 11,000 unique visitors and 816 subscribers.  
• Launched a social media campaign which generated over 2.1 million impressions 

and reached more than 100,000 individuals.  
• Distributed posters, flyers and newsletters to community venues, schools, GP 

surgeries and libraries across both Plymouth and South Hams.  
• Held 17 stakeholder meetings and 1:1 briefings with MPs, universities, emergency 

services, housing, and business groups.  
 
19.5. The engagement process was designed to ensure that Plymouth City Council’s proposals for 

LGR were shaped by the views of residents, stakeholders, and community groups across 
Plymouth and the 13 South Hams parishes. The approach was inclusive, transparent, and 
responsive, with a strong emphasis on listening and co-design.  

Page 167



P a g e  | 134 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
19.6. A full summary of the approach to engagement and feedback, is available in the appendix.  
 

Our Findings   
 

South Hams residents  
 
19.7. 489 Residents expressed strong opposition to joining Plymouth City Council, citing concerns 

about losing rural identity, planning pressures and infrastructure strain. There was high praise 
for existing local services and a strong desire to retain local decision-making through 
empowered parish councils. Confusion about current governance structures was common, 
and many called for better transport, youth services and road maintenance. 

 
Plymouth residents  

 
19.8. Feedback was more optimistic, with residents sharing a vision for a greener, safer, and more 

inclusive city. Key priorities included improved transport, affordable housing, cultural 
vibrancy, and stronger community involvement. There was a clear desire for more meaningful 
engagement and trust-building. Young people highlighted the need for youth-led spaces, 
better mental health support and involvement in city-wide decisions.  

 
Similarities across both areas 

 
19.9. Across both areas, there was pride in local identity and a strong emphasis on protecting 

green spaces. Residents valued responsive governance and called for improved engagement 
and transparency. Transport, infrastructure and healthcare were common concerns, though 
South Hams residents focused more on preserving rural character, while Plymouth residents 
emphasised growth and opportunity.  

 
Stakeholder feedback  

 
19.10. Stakeholders broadly welcomed the engagement process and recognised the potential 

benefits of a more strategic governance model. Whilst there were concerns about 
representation for rural communities, service equity, financial transparency and planning, 
there was strong support for ongoing engagement, youth inclusion and protecting the distinct 
identities of different areas. Feedback from MPs, universities, emergency services and 
business groups reflected a mix of cautious optimism and calls for clarity on delivery and 
impact. 

 
What We Heard from Stakeholders and How it has Informed Our Proposal for 
the Devon Area 

 
19.11. The main issues raised during the engagement and our response to these comments are 

shown below: 
 
Governance and representation: The proposal must outline how rural communities will be 
represented within the expanded authority. This includes exploring models such as preserving parish 
councils, dedicated rural wards, or advisory panels.  
 
Our response: We will progressively move from informing and consulting towards collaborating and 
empowering, building community confidence and capacity along the way. Our approach recognises 
that empowerment looks different in different places within unitary model of Government across 
England, and it will be consistent with Clause 58 of the English Devolution and Empowerment Bill 

Page 168



P a g e  | 135 
 

OFFICIAL 

currently before Parliament. In adopting a phased approach, and whilst awaiting the detailed 
regulation (see Clause 58 (3) of the bill we will work flexibly to support locally appropriate 
neighbourhood governance solutions whilst maintaining consistent standards and values across the 
enlarged area.  
  
Service equity: The proposal should demonstrate how services will be maintained or improved 
across all areas, with particular attention to rural needs, transport connectivity, healthcare access, 
and waste management.  
 
Our response: Our reorganisation proposal extends proven excellence across Devon while ensuring 
no community experiences reduced service quality. The four-authority model specifically addresses 
rural needs through dedicated structures that eliminate current fragmentation. 
 
The dedicated ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ authority is purpose-designed for dispersed 
populations through Neighbourhood Area Teams integrating housing, social care, NHS and voluntary 
services. Plymouth's integrated health and social care model with Livewell Southwest will serve all 
300,733 residents of the expanded area, while Torbay's nationally recognised Integrated Care 
Organisation excellence benefits South Devon's wider geography. Plymouth's Homelessness 
Recovery Programme, delivering 78 new temporary accommodation units with 95 more in pipeline, 
extends across the enlarged area. Greater Exeter authority addresses substantial unmet adult social 
care needs through integrated housing and planning powers. Our unequivocal commitment ensures 
safeguarding duties and service continuity for vulnerable children and adults throughout transition, 
with robust oversight mechanisms strengthened across all new unitary structures. 
 
Financial transparency: Concerns regarding council tax harmonisation, funding allocations, and 
debt inheritance must be addressed clearly and credibly. Residents want to understand how 
resources will be managed and whether the reorganisation will deliver value for money.  
 
Our response: decisions to set financial plans, budgets and council tax for the extended Plymouth 
area will be taken in formal committee meetings, open to scrutiny by the public and elected 
councillors.  All financial matters will be subject to external audit and assurance, with value for money 
assessed annually as is the case currently.  We hope and anticipate that decisions on inherited assets, 
liabilities and debt will follow national guidance and, again, will be reported transparently and subject 
to public scrutiny and external audit where appropriate.  
 
Planning and development: The proposal must include safeguards against overdevelopment and 
urban sprawl. It should promote strategic planning that respects local character, protects green 
spaces, and ensures infrastructure keeps pace with growth to meet the needs of the expanded 
authority.  
 
Our response: We will commit to the early commencement of a new local Plan for the expanded 
Plymouth area that will address the planning and development concerns raised. We also commit to 
an extensive programme of community and stakeholder engagement as part of preparing the new 
plan. 
  
Community engagement: Ongoing engagement must be built into the governance model. 
Residents want to be part of the decision-making process, not just consulted at key milestones. 
Mechanisms for feedback, participation, and accountability should be embedded in the proposal.  
 

Page 169



P a g e  | 136 
 

OFFICIAL 

Our response: Our proposal embeds ongoing engagement as a structural guarantee through 
innovative Neighbourhood Networks operating from vesting day. These collaborative forums bring 
together ward councillors, parish representatives, community organisations, and service partners, 
providing continuous dialogue rather than episodic consultation. 
 
The 'Test, Learn, Grow' co-design process ensures communities shape their own governance model 
through extensive listening sessions, pilot experiments, and rigorous evaluation. This iterative 
approach creates mechanisms for continuous feedback, participation, and accountability embedded 
throughout the authority's operations, ensuring democratic legitimacy and genuine community 
ownership. 
 
Youth inclusion: The views of young people must be reflected in the final proposal: their priorities 
for housing, transport, education, and wellbeing are essential to shaping a future-ready city.  
 
Our response: In addition to committing to continued direct engagement with the Youth Council on 
Local Government Reorganisation and service design issues, our new Community Engagement 
Framework will ensure the voice of young people is heard. We also commit to holding bespoke 
sessions with young people on the new Local Plan for the expanded Plymouth. 
 
Digital inclusion: The Council must commit to maintaining non-digital service options and investing 
in digital literacy and infrastructure. Accessibility must be a core principle of service design. 
 
Our response: The Council has an approach to the service design that includes the principle of 
designing for digital first as well as providing alternative accessible services for those that are digitally 
excluded. Accessible services include both phone support and in person, primarily through our 
network of libraries. For example, we have registered the phone numbers of residents who are 
digitally excluded, and their calls are prioritised over other customers when they need to call 
Plymouth City Council. This is coupled with a focus on improving digital inclusion in the city through 
supporting network providers to deliver infrastructure (1Gbps broadband and 4 and 5G mobile 
services) and helping residents with the skills and providing access to equipment that will allow them 
to get online. Recent survey results show that only 3% of Plymouth residents never use the internet 
and a further 2% are insufficiently confident in their use of the internet. We are using these results 
including both age and geography splits of this data to help us target interventions to help overcome 
this level of digital exclusion. 
 
Learning from Neighbouring Authorities' Engagement 
 
19.12 Following a review of the published engagement results from neighbouring authorities, several 

remarkably consistent themes emerge that are worth noting: 
 

• Distance and democratic deficit - The most significant pattern is the widespread concern 
about remoteness from decision-making. Residents repeatedly expressed anxiety that larger 
or centralised councils would be too distant from their communities, creating what many 
described as a democratic deficit where local voices go unheard. This was particularly 
pronounced in areas like North Devon, where people already feel overlooked and cite 
specific examples of underfunded local services and infrastructure. 

• Place-based identity - Across all the engagement processes, people demonstrated a strong 
emotional attachment to their local identity and place, with clear preferences for governance 
structures that enable genuinely local decision-making rather than simply managing services 
from a distance. 

Page 170



P a g e  | 137 
 

OFFICIAL 

• Transparency and participation - The desire for transparency, accessible councillors, and 
early involvement in decisions came through consistently in every authority's consultation 
work. 

• Practical service concerns - Alongside governance principles, residents highlighted 
practical concerns about infrastructure, transport connectivity (particularly in rural areas), and 
environmental protection. 

 
19.13 It is worth noting that Devon County Council's consultation showed 69% support for their 

single Devon unitary model despite these concerns about remoteness being clearly articulated. 
However, this figure should be understood in context, the specific question testing support for 
the single authority option was inserted into the engagement with only 19 days remaining 
before close, and received just 432 responses compared to the 7,470 responses gathered during 
the broader three-month consultation phase. This represents approximately 5.8% of the total 
engagement response. 

 
  

Page 171



P a g e  | 138 
 

OFFICIAL 

Implementation Plan 
 
Assumptions   
 

• Devon local authorities will work together to put into place interim governance and delivery 
mechanisms that enable joint working. 

• This implementation plan outlines the arrangements for the integration of 13 parishes within 
the Plymouth Authority, the creation of an Exeter Unitary Authority, the continuation of 
Torbay Council and the creation of a new unitary to cover the Coast and Countryside of 
Devon. 

• In this scenario, Plymouth and Torbay have continuing authority status,   
• Exeter City Council and the ‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ authority are granted new 

authority status,  
• The transition also includes a workstream to support devolution arrangement under the 

English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill 2025 and the creation of a Strategic 
Authority in Devon.  

  
Rationale for implementation   

 
20.1. The proposal involves the consolidation of 11 existing local authorities (comprising 2 Unitary 

Authorities, 1 County Council, and 8 District Councils) into 2 new unitary authorities and 2 
continuing authorities. This structural reform is designed to reduce institutional complexity, 
streamline decision-making across the county and unlock future Devolution by central 
Government.   

 
20.2. By simplifying governance structures and rationalising service delivery arrangements, the 

proposal aims to eliminate friction between tiers of government, improve coordination, and 
enhance the consistency and accessibility of services. It will also establish clearer lines of 
democratic accountability by aligning local representation with service responsibility and 
establish Neighbourhood Networks. The proposal seeks to establish financially sustainable 
unitary authorities that are better equipped to deliver strategic priorities, respond effectively 
to local needs and are ready for Devolution. 

 
20.3. Ahead of the transition, we will put in place interim governance and delivery mechanisms 

that enable joint working with our local authority partners. Throughout the transitional 
period, our focus will be on realising benefits, addressing potential challenges proactively, 
and keeping disruption to a minimum; ensuring all legal obligations are met. We are 
dedicated to maintaining seamless service provision in collaboration with neighbouring 
local authorities, with the overarching aim of achieving meaningful improvements for our 
communities. 

 
LGR Implementation key dates and delivery phases  
 

20.4. The timings provided below, including election dates, reflect those outlined by MHCLG. The 
impact on Plymouth would have to be confirmed once a decision is made by MHCLG on the 
proposals. 

  

Page 172



P a g e  | 139 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
Figure 20.1 

 
 
Strategic governance and oversight 
 

20.5. This section outlines the governance arrangements for the transition period under local 
government reorganisation, distinguishing between authorities with continuing status and 
those designated as new authorities. The dual-pathway approach ensures that both types of 
authorities meet statutory requirements and transition safely and legally to the new 
arrangements. The table below sets out the key governance components and how they vary 
across the two pathways.  

 
Table 20.1 

Governance 
component 

Continuing Authorities 
Plymouth 

Torbay 

New Authorities 
Exeter 

‘Devon Coast and Countryside’ 
Legal status  The current local authority retains 

existing legal identity and absorbs new 
areas. The Structural Changes Order 
can:  

• legally expand boundaries, 
• designate the authority as the 

continuing authority  
• transfer assets, liabilities, and 

staff,  
• set out transitional governance 

arrangements (e.g. 
implementation executive)  

A new legal entity is created via 
Structural Changes Order (SCO), to:  

• legally define boundaries,  
• transfer assets, liabilities, and 

staff,  
• and set out transitional 

governance arrangements (e.g., 
shadow council) 

Transition 
governance body  

Establishment of an Implementation 
Executive to oversee the transition. 

A Shadow Executive or Joint 
Committee is established to oversee 
the transition.  

Page 173



P a g e  | 140 
 

OFFICIAL 

Existing Chief Executive of the 
continuing authority to act as 
programme sponsor.  

The programme sponsor is appointed 
from among senior officers or elected 
members of predecessor councils.  

Decision-making 
powers  

The existing council takes 
responsibility for transitional 
governance, overseen by a dedicated 
Implementation Executive.  

The transition body is granted powers 
via SCO to prepare for vesting day.  
  

Electoral 
arrangements  

Existing councillors to continue in 
office  
Elections to take place in May 2027  

New elections are required under 
SCO; transitional arrangements are 
specified in the SCO.   

Staffing and 
TUPE  

TUPE applies to incoming staff; HR 
harmonisation led by existing HR 
function.  

TUPE applies across all predecessor 
councils; new HR structures are 
established.  

Service 
harmonisation   

CSC/Education  
ASC  
Highways  
Waste  
Planning  
Housing  
Leisure  

CSC/Education  
ASC  
Highways  
Waste  
Planning  
Housing  
Leisure  

Assets  Full asset transfer  Full asset transfer  

Contracts  Contract novation required  Contract novation required  

Branding and 
identity  

Existing branding to be retained and 
extended.  

New branding and identity developed 
for the new authority.  

Monitoring and 
Evaluation  

M&E is embedded within existing 
performance frameworks.  

A new M&E framework developed 
from scratch, aligned with the SCO 
and MHCLG expectations.  

Risk 
management  

Builds on risk registers and 
governance assurance of existing 
council.  

A new risk management framework is 
required, covering all predecessor 
councils.  

   
Implementation Framework for Local Government Reorganisation in Plymouth  
  
Assumptions  
 

• Plymouth retains continuing authority status.  
• This implementation plan covers the arrangements for the integration of 13 parishes within 

the Plymouth Authority.  
  
Transition in Plymouth  
 

20.6. This implementation framework is underpinned by a strategic case which sets out how the 
proposed reorganisation of local government in Plymouth will deliver improved 
outcomes. The programme will deliver a unified governance structure, service delivery 
arrangements, and local democratic framework across the expanded area.   

 
20.7. These outputs are expected to lead to measurable outcomes:   

Page 174



P a g e  | 141 
 

OFFICIAL 

• single council responsible for all services (no service user confusion), 
• enhanced local accountability, 
• and greater operational efficiency.   

 
20.8. In the longer term, the programme aims to achieve a financially sustainable local authority 

capable of delivering on strategic priorities and responding effectively to local needs across 
the expanded area. The strategic case is supported by a set of assumptions, including the 
granting of continuing authority status, Government support, constructive stakeholder 
engagement and sufficient delivery capacity.   

  
Strategic governance and oversight  
  
20.9. Overall governance will be established in June 2026 to prepare for the transition phase.  
  

• Programme Sponsor: Leader of the Council  
• Senior Responsible Officer (SRO): Chief Executive  
• Governance Body: Implementation Executive   
• Programme Management Office (PMO): Established to coordinate delivery across 

workstreams, following best practice set out HM Treasury’s Teal Book Guidance on 
Project Delivery in Government.   

• Legal Framework: Transition governed under the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007, with oversight from MHCLG. Consideration of the 
English Devolution and Community Empowerment Bill 2025.   

  
Implementation phases and timeline (indicative)  
  
Table 20.2 
 

Milestone  Description  Target Date  
Proposal submitted to 
MHCLG  

Formal submission of LGR case  28 November 2025  

MHCLG consultation  MHCLG Consultation  January 2026 to early May 2026 
(indicative times)  

MHCLG decision  Decision to implement a proposal 
communicated to stakeholders  

June 2026 (indicative times)  

Statutory Change Order 
and Parliamentary Process  

Structural Change Order (SCO)  
Parliamentary process   

Starts after the summer recess in 
Autumn 2026 for 6 to 9 months 
(indicative times)  

Transition Authority 
operational  

Structural Change Order is in place 
and outlines arrangements for 
elections, councillor numbers and 
governance of the transition are 
provided in the SCO.   
This begins the process of 
transition, where existing councils 
prepare the transfer of assets, 
functions and staff but continue to 
function and deliver services until 
vesting day.   

First trimester of 2027 for at least 
one year. (indicative times)  

Page 175



P a g e  | 142 
 

OFFICIAL 

Elections  First elections to transition 
authority  

06 May 2027  

Local Government 
Boundary Review  

Electoral boundaries review 
process  

This process will take place at a 
currently indeterminate date after 
the elections to the transition 
authority  

Vesting Day  New unitary authority goes live  01 April 2028  
 
Programme structure and workstreams 
 
Figure 20.2 

 
 
A structured implementation programme is provided as an appendix to this report.   

  

Page 176



P a g e  | 143 
 

OFFICIAL 

Managing Transition Risks 
 

21.1. We will apply our corporate risk management framework principles and approaches to 
support the transition from the existing structure of local government in Devon to the 
creation of the 4 unitary authorities. This approach will allow functional areas of risk (in 
areas such as SEND, adult social care, children's services, planning, highways etc.) to be 
planned for leading up to the implementation stage. It also allows for cross-cutting risks to 
be captured to ensure proper assessment, mitigation, review, and scrutiny. 

 
21.2. At this stage we have identified the following key risks:  

 
Table 21.1 

Risk description Mitigation 

Delayed decision by the Secretary of State and/or 
delayed parliamentary approval for the Structural 
Change Order delays the start of the transition 
and compresses timescales.  

Mobilise the transition programme team and start 
preparation work as soon as the proposal is submitted. 
Maintain regular liaison with MHCLG and monitor 
legislative developments. Build flexibility into 
programme timelines to manage uncertainty.  

Difficulties collaborating or engaging with other 
Councils, resulting in poor coordination ahead of 
vesting day.  

Establish a cross-authority LGR Governance Board with 
agreed terms of reference and clear decision-making 
process. 

Risk to operational continuity and seamless 
delivery of services due to disruption in 
processes, systems, or staff readiness during 
transition. 

Develop detailed operational transition plans for all 
service areas, including staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, and harmonisation of service delivery and 
performance models across legacy authorities. Ensure 
that each service has effective leadership, statutory 
systems, and local delivery infrastructure fully in place 
for vesting day. 

Risk that reorganisation affects service delivery in 
Adult Social Care, resulting in failure to meet 
statutory obligations in these critical service 
areas. 

Establish a dedicated transition workstream for Adult 
Social Care services. Engage early with Livewell 
Southwest and other partners. Develop detailed 
operational plans covering staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, safeguarding protocols, and service delivery 
models. Harmonise commissioning with neighbouring 
authorities and align with Integrated Care Boards. 
Prioritise these services to ensure leadership, statutory 
systems, and local delivery infrastructure are fully in 
place for vesting day. 

Risk that reorganisation affects service delivery in 
children's services, including safeguarding, 
Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
and Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, 
resulting in failure to meet statutory obligations 
in these critical service areas.  

Establish a dedicated transition workstream for 
Children Social Care services and engage early with 
commissioned and partner providers. Develop detailed 
operational plans covering staff training, ICT and data 
alignment, safeguarding protocols, and service models. 
Harmonise commissioning with neighbouring authorities 
and align with Integrated Care Boards. Prioritise these 
services to ensure leadership, statutory systems, and 
local delivery infrastructure are fully in place for vesting 
day. 

Page 177



P a g e  | 144 
 

OFFICIAL 

Complexities in aggregating and disaggregating IT 
systems and data. Risk of failure or delay in data 
migration, including data loss and system 
incompatibility. 

Audit ICT systems across critical services and key 
providers to ensure compatibility, data protection, and 
continuity. Establish dedicated workstreams with clear 
plans and contingencies. Prioritise key systems for 
vesting day, aligning others based on contract timelines. 
A unified contract register will support this process. 

Risk of service continuity issues due to contract 
termination, novation challenges, or supplier 
disputes. Some existing contractual arrangements 
may be difficult to transfer, renegotiate, or exit. 

Develop a procurement transition strategy that includes 
a contract audit, a unified contract register, and early 
supplier engagement. Plan for novation and continuity 
clauses in line with the National Procurement Policy 
Statement. Review existing contracts early to identify 
long-term commitments and work with providers to 
ensure flexibility and value for money. 

Risk that actual transition costs exceed 
projections, reducing the savings achieved and 
impacting the overall financial case. 

Close monitoring of transition costs, contingencies have 
been built into the budget and adjusting plans where 
necessary to ensure delivery remains within budget. 

Failure to realise anticipated savings, resulting in 
continued demand and budgetary pressures, 
adversely affecting service delivery. 

Prudent and phased approach to delivering efficiencies, 
supported by robust financial oversight and regular 
monitoring by the programme team.  Tracking of 
financial benefits and alignment with Medium Term 
Financial Planning across transition period.  

Risk of diminished staff morale due to 
uncertainty, organisational change, and perceived 
job insecurity during transition. Risk of loss of 
key personnel and corporate memory. 

Ensure a change-management programme is established. 
Continue the staff engagement and wellbeing strategy 
and extend it to new personnel. Provide regular 
updates on progress during the transition.  

Resistance to organisational change, cultural 
misalignment, and reduced productivity during 
restructuring. 

Develop change-management programme and People 
Strategy for the new organisation. Conduct early 
engagement with Trade Unions. Plan for a structured 
approach to onboarding and induction.  

Risk of stakeholder disengagement or opposition 
during the transition period. 

Prepare a transition engagement strategy and plan, 
tailored to the stakeholders. Continue inclusive 
engagement that began with our ‘Big Conversation’ 
throughout the process, applying the Gunning 
Principles.  

  

Page 178



P a g e  | 145 
 

OFFICIAL 

Our Asks of Government 
 
In our Interim Plan, we requested clarification from Government on a number of key issues. These 
have been revised and updated to reflect the feedback from MHCLG set out in its letter of 15 May 
2025, and subsequent updates of guidance on the MHCLG web site. We would welcome the 
opportunity to discuss this face to face with Government after our submission. 
 
We would like Government to confirm: 
 

1. That Plymouth City Council is a “continuing authority” with a modest boundary extension to 
enable a smooth process for the implementation of unitary government by April 2028. This 
will minimise the risk to critical top tier services and the cost of implementation as the vast 
majority of affected staff and functions will already be in place, thereby allowing service 
continuity to be maintained over this period of reorganisation. 

 
2. The transitional flexibilities that have been previously applied regarding council tax capping to 

facilitate council tax equalisation are able to be applied to support council tax harmonisation 
in Devon, if required.  

 
3. National guidance is provided for the division and re-distribution of balance sheet assets and 

liabilities arising from the reorganisation of council boundaries and resultant absorption of 
balances, assets and liabilities from predecessor authorities. 
 

4. To what extent any further work is required in the implementation phase of local government 
reorganisation in relation to the Government’s health system reforms insofar as they relate to 
the creation of the proposed four unitary council’s and the devolution plans for a Peninsula 
Strategic Mayoral Authority. 
 

5. That the Structural Changes Order contains all the standard provisions used in other 
reorganisations including precise ward and parish schedules, clear maps, transfer of property 
rights, liabilities, and staff, the actual vesting date and any necessary provisions on Section 24 
controls and electoral arrangements. 
 

6. That standard flexibilities will apply in relation to the use of capital receipts for transformation 
that will allow the 4 new unitary councils to deliver the transitional arrangements at pace. 

  

Page 179



P a g e  | 146 
 

OFFICIAL 

Conclusion 
 

22.1. Our plan for local government reorganisation for the Devon area is transformative, 
innovative, growth-orientated, and evidence-led. By moving from an outdated and inefficient 
two-tier system of local government to a modernised system based on four unitary councils 
we can deliver a sustainable and more resilient future for the people of Plymouth, Exeter, 
Torbay, and Devon. Our proposal will minimise disruption to local service delivery during the 
transition period because our base proposal is centred on two continuing authorities. Our 
proposals therefore meet criterion one of the White Paper. 

 
22.2. Our base proposals for local government in Devon comply with the Government’s criteria to 

be based on whole district boundaries but we are clear that this is not the optimal future 
arrangement to achieve the Government’s wider objectives set out in its White Paper in the 
Devon area. To achieve these wider objectives, we consider that modifications to our 
proposal should be supported by the Secretary of State and be the subject of the statutory 
consultation. 

 
22.3. Our modified proposal creates four financially viable unitary councils all of sufficient size to 

withstand financial shocks and which are projected to make savings from the third year.  Our 
proposal therefore meets criterion two of the White Paper. 

 
22.4. Our modified proposal for the Devon area meets criterion three of the White Paper because 

it creates a coherent geography for service delivery by simplifying access to services for 
residents and removing administrative duplication, taking account of the community 
consultations that have been held and providing a foundation to respond to the 
Government’s planned neighbourhood structures. The proposed four modified unitary 
authorities strike the right balance between sufficient scale to be financially viable but well-
related to functional economic geographies to maintain a grip on service delivery. 

 
22.5. Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have collaborated closely in creating an aligned proposal for a 

modified four-unitary model in Devon which recognises and responds to issues of community 
identities as well as reflecting on the ground cultural and historic context. Through data 
sharing protocols and working on functions of mutual interest we have been able to show in 
our proposal for Devon how we have met criterion four of the White Paper. 

 
22.6. Our proposal with modifications provides the optimal arrangements to support the 

Government’s objectives in relation to devolution thus meeting criterion five of the White 
Paper. We have demonstrated that a four-unitary model for Devon is the best structure to 
accelerate housing delivery, especially in growth-orientated urban based authorities such as 
Plymouth, Exeter, and Torbay. 

 
22.7. Plymouth, Exeter and Torbay have all undertaken extensive community consultation 

exercises to engage local communities and businesses. Each authority is responding positively 
with proposals for stronger community engagement and neighbourhood empowerment 
arrangements as part of these local government reorganisation proposals, drawing upon 
these community consultations and therefore meeting criterion six of the White Paper. 

 
 

Page 180



P a g e  | 147 
 

OFFICIAL 

22.8. Plymouth has proposed four unitary councils for Devon because we believe this is the only 
model that serves all of Devon effectively. Our expanded boundary into South Hams is 
essential to our growth ambitions, but it only makes sense within a wider Devon solution 
that gives Exeter the governance it needs, maintains Torbay's proven model, and creates 
purpose-designed rural governance. Our proposal represents a forward-thinking approach 
that will modernise local government in the Devon area for decades to come ensuring a 
resilient and sustainable future for the communities and businesses of the area. 

 
  

Page 181



P a g e  | 148 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

Page 182



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

 
 
  

Page 183



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Contents 
 
Appendix 1 – Finance 
 
Appendix 2 – List of Parishes 
 
Appendix 3 – Implementation plan 
 
Appendix 4 – Letters of support 
 
Appendix 5 – List of figures and tables 
 
Appendix 6 – List of acronyms 
 
Appendix 7 – Key terms explained 
 
Appendix 8 – Sources 
 
Appendix 9 – Climate Impact Assessment 
 
Appendix 10 – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 

  

Page 184



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Appendix 1 - Finance 
 

1. Overview of approach 

Our approach to the financial modelling and review of costs, savings and financial 
viability has been developed by a senior group of cross-authority finance 
professionals, following a review of various approaches taken in previous or 
proposed Local Government Re-organisations. We have developed detailed 
financial models to establish the financial case for reorganisation, and to assess 
the viability of each proposed new unitary. Transitional and implementation costs 
have been estimated with reference to the implementation plans set out in 
Appendix 2, drawing upon evidence from previous Local Government 
Reorganisations and a review of available models. Corroborating indicators of 
financial resilience have been reviewed alongside our modelling to provide 
further analysis of financial sustainability. We have commissioned specialist 
external input to provide advice and modelling in technical areas. This appendix 
sets out the methodology used for the core financial modelling work, referencing 
source data and setting out assumptions and the basis of calculations at each 
stage. 
 
As a first stage, we have used published financial datasets to collate and analyse 
baseline costs. Within these baseline calculations, we have differentiated fixed 
and variable cost elements and used this analysis to estimate likely savings and 
additional costs from the aggregation and disaggregation of different service 
areas. We have also used data collected from the 11 current councils across 
Devon as a baseline to estimate the likely savings from the aggregation of 
corporate services and rationalisation of senior managers, the rationalisation of 
accommodation, and a reduction in the number of elections and councillors. 
Savings from the transformation of service delivery and the harmonisation of 
income streams have been calculated for some specific areas. This has enabled us 
to estimate the future running costs of each proposed unitary council (after the 
delivery of reorganisation and transformation savings, and the application of any 
ongoing costs of disaggregation). 
 
Section 2 of this Appendix provides further detail on this stage of financial 
modelling. 
 
Secondly, we have compared the estimated future running cost with modelled 
revenue streams for each proposed new unitary in order to assess the financial 
viability of each proposed base and modified unitary. Secondary assessments of 
viability have been carried out by reviewing comparative resilience and viability 
indicators for each new council, alongside an initial assessment of likely balance 
sheet health.  
 
The methodology used to assess viability and financial sustainability is set out in 
more detail in section 3 of this appendix. 
 

Page 185



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Section 4 below explains how the costs of implementation have been estimated, 
for each new council area and for Devon-wide co-ordination and governance 
arrangements. Estimated implementation costs are profiled, alongside estimates 
of savings, disaggregation costs and revenues, to produce a medium-term 
financial forecast for each proposed new unitary. Financing options for costs have 
been considered. 

 
2. Transformation and Reorganisation benefits and 

Disaggregation costs 

 
2.1 Baseline costs 
 
Costs have been estimated and analysed using source data from the 2025/26 
Revenue Account (RA) returns from each of the current 11 councils, with some 
further detail sourced from published financial statements (adjusted to a 2025/26 
price base). This source cost data has been supplemented with further information 
collected through a working group of senior finance leaders from each council, using 
a 2025/26 price base with a reconciliation back to the published RA data. Data from 
published 2024/25 statement of accounts and other published sources has also been 
used to estimate 2025/26 senior management costs and members allowances. The 
results of this data collection exercise are presented in Annex 1 below, which sets 
out a baseline cost for each current authority against various categories of cost.  
Costs for corporate services (charged as overheads to RA lines in accordance with 
guidance) have been disaggregated by each authority so that the full cost of 
corporate services can be analysed.  The total baseline cost reconciles to each 
authority’s 2025/26 RA return. 
 
All baseline costs analysed in Annex 1 are generally presented and analysed using the 
net cost of service calculation prescribed by the RA guidance, aggregating the total 
cost of services at a level of cost which: 

• Includes costs that are funded by government grants, i.e. costs shown are 
gross of government grant income (with costs funded by Dedicated Schools 
Grant set out separately). 

• Presents (with some exceptions) a net position for other (non-government 
grant) income streams. Exceptions, where costs are presented gross of non-
government grant income, are noted in paragraph 2.5 below. 

 
This approach allows a fuller understanding of the costs that would be impacted by 
Local Government Reorganisation, allowing all taxpayer-funded costs to be analysed. 
However, we have applied a general assumption that most non-governmental income 
streams (e.g. fees and charges income, grants and funding provided by other, non-
governmental bodies) are either not material or would be impacted in line with 
costs. For example: 

• Client income for social care packages would be distributed to new 
authorities in line with the net cost of care packages. 

• Income from fees and charges will generally be distributed in line with the 
cost of the service. 

Page 186



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

• Other income streams are generally considered to be de-minimis for the 
purposes of this proposal stage. 

 
The exceptions to this general approach for non-government grant income are 
income received from parking operations (parking charges, permit income and fines), 
and income received within economic and community development functions 
(generally for property held for economic development and regeneration purposes, 
but also including revenue grants). These income streams are material (totalling 
£65.7m and £59.2m respectively across Devon). The geographical distribution of 
income streams and behaviour of cost in these areas are likely to vary independently 
of each other and so have been analysed separately. 
 
All costs shown are revenue costs. At this stage we have not attempted to baseline 
or analyse Capital Expenditure; although we consider that there would be financial 
benefits from the aggregation and consolidated management of capital programmes 
savings are likely to be smaller and difficult to estimate at this stage. Capital financing 
costs are including in the cost modelling set out in Annex 1 as disclosed in each 
Council’s 2025/25 RA return. 
 
2.2 Estimates of savings and costs – service aggregation and disaggregation 
 
The baseline cost data presented in Annex 1 has been disaggregated into fixed and 
variable elements for different service areas.  Fixed and variable costs have been 
estimated with reference to existing council budget data for comparable authorities.  
We have taken this approach to try to model estimates of savings and costs, but also 
to ensure that the overall cost of new council structures is forecast effectively, taking 
into account the fixed costs of different service areas in a new four unitary model of 
local government, and apportioning the variable cost of operations carefully across 
new council areas.  The methodology set out in this section 2.2 also forms the basis 
of the financial viability assessment in section 3 below. 
 
Variable costs have been reallocated to proposed new unitary councils for base case 
and modified proposals based on the following principles: 

• Where a whole existing council will be incorporated within a proposed new 
unitary council, all the variable costs for that council are included within the 
proposed new unitary.  For example, in both the base proposal and modified 
proposal, the estimated variable costs for Torridge District Council services 
are included within the cost base for the proposed Devon Coast & 
Countryside unitary. 

• Where an existing council area will be split between two or more proposed 
unitary councils, the estimated variable costs for that council have been 
allocated to proposed new unitary councils in proportion to appropriate cost 
drivers for each constituent geography. Cost drivers have been selected for 
each category of cost using a balance of accuracy / availability of data and the 
most appropriate basis for apportioning cost across geographical areas. 

 
The fixed costs of providing services across Devon are likely to change significantly 
through the creation of four unitary councils to replace the existing eleven Unitary, 

Page 187



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

District and County Councils.  For upper-tier functions, fixed costs are likely to 
increase with the creation of a fourth set of social care, highways and education 
functions – requiring additional management structures, systems and specialist 
functions.  For lower tier and corporate functions, fixed costs are likely to reduce 
through the aggregation of functions – the cost of management structures, systems 
and specialist functions that are currently duplicated will be reduced. 
 
As noted in paragraph 2.2.1 above, some information (on the cost of elections, 
accommodation, senior management and member allowances costs) has been 
collected through a working group of senior finance leaders from each council, using 
a 2025/26 price base with a reconciliation back to the published RA data.  Data from 
published 2024/25 statement of accounts and other published sources has also been 
used to estimate 2025/26 senior management costs and members allowances and to 
ensure a consistent estimate.  These categories of cost are shown separately in 
Annex 1 and have been analysed separately as detailed in section 2.3 below. 
 
The fixed costs for service delivery and other corporate functions for the new base 
and modified unitary proposals have been estimated; again, with reference to similar 
current council fixed cost bases as a guide, using fixed costs in the two current 
Devon unitaries as a basis for comparative analysis. The following key assumptions 
have been used: 
• For the base case proposal: 

o Plymouth and Torbay councils will be unchanged and so both fixed and 
variable costs are assumed to be unchanged.   

o The new proposed Exeter unitary is assumed to have a similar fixed cost 
base to the current Torbay unitary, being of a similar population. 

o The new proposed Devon Coast and Countryside unitary is assumed to 
have a larger fixed cost base than the current Plymouth unitary authority, 
reflecting the fact that it is a larger, more dispersed council.   

• For the modified case proposal: 
o The proposed expansion to Plymouth Council is modest, representing a 

marginal 12% expansion of population over a relatively small area.  
Because we are proposing a continuing authority model for the expanded 
Plymouth Council, we have assumed that the cost of existing Plymouth 
City Council management structures, systems and specialist functions will 
continue into the new council largely unchanged. A very small increase 
has been included in the modified proposal estimates of the fixed costs of 
education services, reflecting the need to establish a larger specialist 
school transport function across a new rural area with different demands 
for mainstream school transport. 

o The proposed expansion of current Torbay Council boundaries and the 
proposed expanded Exeter unitary area represent more significant 
expansions and an increase in fixed costs has been assumed for these 
modified proposals compared to the base proposal.  Under our modified 
proposal, expanded Exeter, expanded Torbay and expanded Plymouth 
will have broadly similar populations and so are assumed to have similar 
fixed cost bases. 

Page 188



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

o As with the base proposal, the modified proposal for the Devon Coast 
and Countryside unitary would be the largest unitary council of the four 
proposed and is significantly more dispersed than the other three urban 
councils.  However, its size would be reduced compared to the base case 
proposal, and so a more modest fixed cost base is assumed when 
compared to the base proposal. 

 
Our analysis assumes that some existing shared service arrangements across Devon 
councils (specifically, Pensions Administration, Internal Audit, Libraries and Trading 
Standards & Coroners) will continue to operate as shared services. We have not, at 
this stage, assumed that new shared service arrangements will be created and 
therefore for all other services, fixed costs have been estimated based an assumption 
that there will be four separate functions operating across Devon following a 
transition period. Some areas of cost – for example, Capital Financing and Levies – 
are treated as wholly variable and, at this stage, have been apportioned to new 
proposed council areas based on population. 
 
It is important to note that, throughout, our estimates of cost are for future ‘steady 
state’ unitary councils, after a period of transition and transformation into new 
council structures is concluded. We acknowledge that new councils that are not 
continuing authorities will inherit a cost base that is likely to be larger than the 
estimates set out here. This issue is explored further in section 4 below. 
 
Estimates of changes to fixed costs before and after reorganisation are set out in 
Tables 1 and 2 (below and overleaf), for the base case and modified proposals 
respectively. 
 
Table 1: Estimated fixed service delivery costs before and after reorganisation:  
base case proposal 

 Total 
estimated 

current 
fixed costs 

Estimated fixed costs after reorganisation 
(£m) – base case proposal Total 

estimated 
future 

fixed costs 

Difference 
– cost / 
(saving) 

Devon  
coast & 

countryside 
Exeter Plymouth Torbay 

Top tier functions 42.7 21.6 9.5 11.8 9.5 52.5 9.8 
Lower tier functions 62.3 11.7 6.9 8.5 6.9 34.0 -28.3 
Corporate functions 140.1 38.1 21.6 29.1 21.6 110.2 -29.9 

TOTAL 245.1 71.4 38.0 49.3 38.0 196.7 -48.4 
 
Table 2: Estimated fixed service delivery costs before and after reorganisation: modified 
case proposal 

 
Total 

estimated 
current 

fixed costs 

Estimated fixed costs after reorganisation 
(£m) – modified case proposal Total 

estimated 
future 

fixed costs 

Difference 
– cost / 
(saving) Devon  

coast & 
countryside 

expanded 
Exeter 

expanded 
Plymouth 

expanded 
Torbay 

Top tier functions 42.7 16.7 13.8 11.9 13.8 56.2 13.5 
Lower tier functions 62.3 9.5 8.9 8.5 8.9 35.7 -26.5 
Corporate functions 140.1 32.0 29.2 29.1 29.2 119.3 -20.8 

TOTAL 245.1 58.2 51.8 49.4 51.8 211.2 -33.9 
 

Page 189



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

 
2.3 Property optimisation, democratic costs and optimising leadership 
 
We have estimated savings achievable through the rationalisation of property and 
the optimisation of democratic and leadership costs separately to the broader 
estimation of savings and additional costs arising from the wider.  The baseline 
expenditure for the relevant categories of cost has been disaggregated from other 
corporate / central services costs (as set out in Annex 1) to ensure there is no 
double-counting within wider aggregation savings.  For all costs in this section, under 
the base case costs are assumed to be unchanged for the base proposal for Plymouth 
and Torbay unitaries. 
 
Property optimisation 
 
Savings through the rationalisation of office accommodation have been estimated for 
the proposed Exeter and Devon Coast and Countryside unitaries in both the base 
and modified proposal – and in the modified proposal for an expanded Torbay 
council - with reference to actual premises running costs of office accommodation 
collated through a cross-authority senior finance officer working group.  Taking an 
average cost across similar categories of office sites from the existing office estate 
cost base, we have estimated the costs of office accommodation for new proposed 
councils using the following assumptions: 
• It is assumed that the cost of office accommodation for the base-case Exeter 

unitary would be broadly equivalent to the current cost of office accommodation 
for Torbay Council, a similar-sized unitary. 

• It is assumed that office accommodation for the proposed Devon Coast and 
Countryside unitary would be dispersed for both the base and modified 
proposals.  We have based estimated costs for both the base and modified 
options on four larger satellite sites. 

• For the modified proposal for an expanded Exeter unitary, we have assumed the 
office accommodation cost of the base case proposal, with an additional two 
small satellite sites. 

• It is assumed that office accommodation costs for the proposed expanded 
Torbay unitary would be equivalent to those for the current Torbay council, with 
a further mid-sized satellite site. 

 
It is possible that further property optimisation savings may be achievable through a 
broader rationalisation of operational property (for example, depot sites and 
customer service delivery points).  However, we are not assuming any further 
savings beyond the office estate as a result of this exercise. 
 
We do not consider that there are likely to be any significant property optimisation 
savings falling to the proposed expanded Plymouth Council within our modified 
proposal, and so for this proposal office accommodation costs for the current 
Plymouth Council are assumed to be equal to the costs for an expanded Plymouth 
Council.  In line with other corporate services, a marginal increase in variable costs 
for wider FM services has been assumed in order to account for any increase in 
satellite customer service point or depot costs. 

Page 190



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

 
Optimisation of democratic costs 
 
The number of elections held in Devon will reduce in proportion to a reduction in 
the number of councils in Devon from 11 to 4.  Currently, every 4 years there are 
15 elections held in Devon – Exeter and Plymouth Councils hold ‘elections by thirds’ 
with three elections every four years; all other councils hold one election every four 
years. We have assumed (under both the base case and modified proposals) that the 
Exeter based and Plymouth based unitaries will continue with elections by thirds and 
the other two councils will operate an ‘all out’ democratic process. The estimated 
cost of elections has therefore been reduced proportionately through a reduction 
from 15 elections to 8 elections every four years, with costs allocated to new 
councils in line with the number of elections assumed for each new council, allowing 
for different population sizes as a further variable element and fixed management and 
system costs. 
 
The number of councillors would also reduce with a reduction in the number of 
councils – there are currently 475 district, county and unitary councillors across the 
11 authorities in Devon. Councillors are paid allowances and expenses, which would 
reduce in proportion with a reduction to the number of councillors. 
 
Cost estimates of general and special allowances have been calculated by reducing 
the baseline costs across current devon councils in proportion to the reduced 
number of councillors.  This cost has been apportioned across the base and modified 
proposed unitaries using the assumed number of councillors set out in the table 
above.  Special allowances are assumed to change in proportion to the number of 
councillors and so have not been calculated separately to general expenses / 
allowances. 
 
 
Optimisation of leadership costs  
 
Senior leadership costs will reduce as a result of Local Government Reorganisation 
in Devon through the elimination of duplication and consolidation of management 
structures. For the purposes of our analysis, we have defined ‘senior leadership’ as 
follows: 
 

• For district councils, the Chief Executive and direct reports to the Chief 
Executive, plus (if different) the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

• For the County Council and Unitary Councils, the Chief Executive, direct 
reports to the Chief Executive, and the third tier of management; including 
the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

 
Current senior leadership costs have been collated through a cross-authority senior 
finance officer working group and cross referenced to published statement of 
accounts data (adjusted to a 2025/26 price base). Headteachers and other school-
based senior leaders have been excluded. These costs are shown separately in 
Annex 1 (with other cost categories adjusted to ensure there is no double-counting). 
 

Page 191



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

For the Plymouth and Torbay Councils proposed in the base case proposal, senior 
leadership costs are assumed to be unchanged; we are assuming that (under a 
continuing authority model) that senior leadership team costs for expanded 
Plymouth will remain unchanged from the current Plymouth council costs. For other 
new unitary councils proposed (Exeter Council / expanded Exeter and Devon Coast 
and Countryside Councils in the base and modified proposals, and for the modified 
proposal for expanded Torbay) we have assumed that each Council will have a 
leadership team cost broadly equivalent to the average senior leadership cost for the 
existing top tier authorities. 
 
Tables 4 and 5 (below and overleaf) set out estimates of the various savings covered 
in this section. 
  

Page 192



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

 
Table 4: Estimated costs & savings before and after reorganisation (Office accommodation, 
Democratic costs, Senior leadership): base case proposal 
 

 Total 
current 

costs 
(£m) 

Estimated costs after reorganisation 
(£m) – base case proposal 

Total 
estimate
d future 

costs 
(£m) 

Estimate
d saving 

(£m) 
Devon  

Coast & 
Countryside 

Exeter Plymouth Torbay 

Office accommodation 8.4 2.1 1.4 1.6 1.4 6.5 -1.9 
Elections 4.0 0.9 0.4 0.5 0.3 2.1 -1.9 
Member allowances 5.9 1.9 0.6 1.2 0.5 4.2 -1.7 
Senior Leadership 13.0 2.5 2.5 2.2 2.5 9.7 -3.3 

TOTAL 31.3 7.4 4.9 5.4 4.7 22.4 -8.9 
 
Table 5: Estimated costs & savings before and after reorganisation (Office accommodation, 
Democratic costs, Senior leadership): modified proposal 

 Total 
current 

costs 
(£m) 

Estimated costs after reorganisation (£m) 
– modified proposal 

Total 
estimate
d future 

costs 
(£m) 

Estimat
ed 

saving 
(£m) 

Devon  
Coast & 

Countryside 

expanded 
Exeter 

expanded 
Plymouth 

expanded 
Torbay 

Office accommodation 8.4 2.1 1.6 1.6 1.7 6.9 -1.5 
Elections 4.0 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.3 2.2 -1.8 
Member allowances 5.9 1.5 0.8 1.3 0.8 4.4 -1.5 
Senior Leadership 13.0 2.5 2.5 2.2 2.5 9.7 -3.3 

TOTAL 31.3 6.8 5.5 5.7 5.3 23.3 -8.0 

 
2.4 Other savings  
 
New unitary councils would have to harmonise fees and charges; the experience of 
previous reorganisations in other areas is that this results in some additional income. 
For the base Devon Coast and Countryside proposal, and for the modified proposals 
for the Devon Coast and Countryside and extended Torbay unitaries, we have 
assumed a 2% increase in parking revenues, with a separate modelled increase for 
the modified extended Exeter Unitary developed by finance colleagues at Exeter City 
Council.  A minor increase in fees and charges income is also assumed within cost 
estimates for regulatory services and leisure services.  
 
Some modest savings arising from economies of scale in procurement and 
efficiencies for single systems have been assumed to be delivered through the 
merging of lower tier services in the Devon Coast and Countryside proposals for 
both options, and in the extended Exeter and extended Torbay options for the 
modified proposal. A 5% reduction in variable costs has been assumed for planning 
development, economic and community development, with more modest savings in 
regulatory services and sports, leisure and open spaces. 
 
Specific savings assumptions have been developed in Waste Collection for the 
extended Plymouth, extended Exeter and extended Torbay proposals in the 

Page 193



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

modified case in consultation with finance colleagues at Exeter City Council.  
Comparative analysis of unit costs in this service indicates that there are likely to be 
cost reduction opportunities arising from reduced travel times and route 
harmonisation, as well as extended use of recycling technology currently adopted at 
Exeter City Council across a wider area.  
 
Comparing unit costs for Adult and Children social work safeguarding, assessment 
and care management activity (excluding care placement costs) between current 
Devon County Council and current Plymouth City Council costs indicates that there 
is likely to be a saving in this area falling to the extended Plymouth council, which 
could be delivered through reduced travel times and other operational efficiencies.  
We have applied existing Plymouth City Council unit costs to the activity data 
supplied by Devon County Council for the expanded area, which results in a 
significant cost saving on current apportioned costs. 
 
In addition to the savings categories described above, Table 6 below also sets out a 
possible additional saving (of £11.3m in the modified proposal), modelled on a 
reduction in the cost of social care packages through ‘right sized’, localised delivery 
models. This additional saving has not been included in the wider financial modelling 
of financial viability and payback periods because there are differing views on how 
Local Government Reorganisation in Devon (and other two-tier areas) might impact 
on the cost of commissioned social care services. 
 
Currently, the unit costs of providing social care packages in the County Council 
area are observably higher than similar unit costs in the Unitary council areas of 
Torbay and Plymouth.  It is arguable that some of this difference relates to the 
benefits of providing social care through a more localised, responsive delivery model 
in a smaller geographical area.  The £11.3m saving is based on a modest (2-3%) 
reduction in the cost of commissioned social care packages across the current 
county area – based on an assumed reduction in unit costs that are currently higher 
than the unit costs of councils in Devon which operate more localised social care 
services.  However, we feel that this assumed reduction is more uncertain than 
other assumptions used in our financial modelling, and so we are taking a prudent 
approach by excluding this saving from our financial viability calculations. 
 
2.5 Summary of transformation and reorganisation benefits and disaggregation 
costs 
 
Table 6 sets out a summary of disaggregation costs and financial savings for the base 
and modified proposals calculated using the methodology set out above. 
  

Page 194



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

 
Table 6: Summary of costs and savings – Base and Modified proposals 

 

Estimated 
cost / 

(saving) 
(£m) - Base 

Proposal 

Estimated 
cost / 

(saving) 
(£m) - 

Modified 
Proposal 

Description 

Service disaggregation costs 9.8 13.5 Additional cost of creating new top tier services 

Service consolidation savings -28.3 -26.5 Savings from the consolidation of lower tier services 
Corporate services 
consolidation savings -29.9 -20.8 

Savings from the consolidation of corporate services 

Optimising Senior Leadership -3.3 -3.3 Reduced costs of senior leadership team 

Optimising costs of democracy -3.6 -3.3 
Savings in the cost of elections and councillor 
allowances / expenses 

Property rationalisation -1.9 -1.5 Savings from the rationalisation of offices 

Service transformation savings -5.9 -11.3 
Savings from the transformation of services, i.e waste 
route optimisation 

Harmonisation of fees and 
charges -1.3 -5.2 

Additional income from the harmonisation of fees and 
charges 

TOTAL NET MODELLED 
ANNUAL SAVING -64.5 -58.4 

 

 
 

3. Financial sustainability and viability 

 
Estimated costs and income for proposed authorities 
 
Using the estimates of fixed and variable costs developed through the methodology 
set out in section 2 above, we have modelled a projected cost of services for each 
Unitary Council proposed.  All costs are shown at a 2025/26 price base 
 
Income from Council Tax has been estimated using published 2025/26 taxbase 
figures, aggregated at parish level to match proposed authority boundaries.  For 
councils where council tax harmonisation will be required, harmonisation to an 
average rate has been assumed in the first year of new unitary councils. 
 
Settlement Funding Assessment income for the base case and modified proposals has 
been modelled for all unitaries proposed by specialist advisors Pixel, using their latest 
modelling of the impact of changes proposed in the government’s recent Fair 
Funding Review 2.0 consultation.  Note that this modelling was done in October 
2025, before the impact changes to Indices of Multiple Deprivation data and prior to 
the policy statement. 
 
Table 7 below sets out these estimated costs and income streams. 
  

Page 195



 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Table 7: Estimated Costs of proposed Unitary Councils – Base and Modified proposals 

 

 
 

4. Transition costs and medium-term financial profiles 

 
Transition costs are detailed in the main proposal document, with main assumptions 
stated there. These have been developed through workshop discussions with the 
Plymouth City Council LGR team, with reference to learning from previous Local 
Government Reorganisations. Colleagues at Exeter City Council have provided 
estimates for the transition costs for the disaggregation of an Exeter-based Unitary 
from the wider Devon Coast and Countryside Unitary, which are assumed to be 
similar for both the base case and modified proposals. We have assumed transition 
costs for the creation of an extended Torbay council in the modified proposal to be 
approximately double the costs for the creation of an extended Plymouth council, 
due to a more complex implementation; though under the proposed continuing 
authority model these costs would remain far lower than transition costs for the 
other two councils proposed. 
 
Annex 2 sets out how costs and savings are assumed to fall across the 
implementation period and for the first 10 years of new councils. We have assumed 
that savings will take 2-3 years to be fully implemented in most cases. 
 

Page 196



         
 

 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Annex 1 - Baseline Costs (£m) 

  
East 

Devon Exeter Mid 
Devon 

North 
Devon 

South 
Hams Teignbridge Torridge West 

Devon 
Devon 

CC Plymouth Torbay 
TOTAL 
COST 

Education (DSG funded) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 425.1 108.8 66.5 600.3 
Other Education 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 82.7 20.3 13.3 116.2 

Transport Strategy 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.4 0.1 3.0 
Highways 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.0 7.1 7.5 49.6 

Traffic Management 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.5 0.1 0.9 
Parking costs 1.9 3.5 0.7 1.3 2.4 2.1 1.1 0.8 5.5 6.4 2.5 28.1 

Parking income -5.6 -10.6 -1.5 -4.0 -4.8 -5.8 -2.4 -1.1 -9.8 -12.2 -8.0 -65.7 
Parking Services -3.7 -7.1 -0.8 -2.8 -2.4 -3.7 -1.3 -0.4 -4.3 -5.8 -5.5 -37.6 

Concessionary Fares 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.1 4.4 3.6 16.1 
Other transport 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 18.2 0.1 0.9 19.3 

Children Looked After 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 118.2 59.0 27.2 204.4 
Safeguarding Children 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 48.4 12.5 15.0 76.0 

Other Children’s Social 
Care 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.0 12.7 6.4 54.0 

Adults Care – 18-64 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 175.1 63.4 30.0 268.6 
Adults Care – 65+ 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 153.9 48.1 26.8 228.9 

Safeguarding Adults 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.3 8.5 1.1 49.9 
Other Adults Social Care 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.9 2.0 9.7 42.6 

P. Health children’s services 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 16.3 6.7 3.6 26.6 
P. Health adults’ services 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 19.1 8.6 4.6 32.3 

Other Public Health 
services 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.1 2.5 3.0 9.7 

Homelessness 1.4 2.5 0.3 -0.4 0.6 1.6 0.5 0.6 1.0 7.0 4.1 19.1 
Housing Benefits admin. 0.9 1.0 0.5 0.6 0.6 1.4 0.3 0.4 0.0 1.6 2.0 9.3 

Other Gen. Fund housing 0.2 0.5 0.0 -0.1 0.4 0.5 0.3 0.2 0.0 -0.1 0.8 2.7 
Libraries & Archives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.8 2.0 0.7 10.5 
Culture, Heritage & 

Tourism 0.3 2.6 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.1 4.0 1.5 8.8 
Sport, Leisure & Parks 5.4 3.2 1.7 -0.2 0.9 2.9 0.5 0.3 2.1 5.3 0.7 22.9 

Cemetery & Crematoria 0.2 0.1 -0.1 -0.2 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 -1.9 -0.8 -2.9 
Trading Standards 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.4 0.3 0.2 2.9 

Regulatory services 2.0 0.8 -0.1 -0.3 1.3 2.0 0.6 0.7 0.0 0.4 1.4 8.7 

P
age 197



         
 

 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

  
East 

Devon Exeter Mid 
Devon 

North 
Devon 

South 
Hams Teignbridge Torridge West 

Devon 
Devon 

CC Plymouth Torbay 
TOTAL 
COST 

Community safety 0.6 0.5 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.4 2.9 
Flood & Coastal Protection 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.1 -0.9 0.7 

Street cleansing 1.8 1.7 0.6 0.7 0.9 2.4 1.0 0.6 0.0 4.6 1.9 16.2 
Waste Disposal 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 26.5 1.4 6.5 34.5 

Waste Coll. & Recycling 6.4 3.9 0.7 0.8 6.2 4.6 1.9 2.8 16.6 12.7 6.0 62.7 
Building control 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 -0.4 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.7 

Planning (dev. control) 1.6 0.5 0.4 0.1 1.7 1.3 0.3 0.7 0.8 1.3 0.3 9.0 
Planning policy 0.5 0.2 0.5 0.3 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.0 0.5 0.5 0.2 3.3 

Environment & Climate 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 2.6 1.2 0.2 5.2 
Economic & Com. Dev. cost 1.0 7.4 1.6 1.9 3.1 0.8 2.1 1.8 8.7 10.8 4.6 43.8 
Economic & Com. Dev. inc. -0.1 -13.9 -1.5 -2.3 -3.5 -0.8 -2.2 -1.4 -6.2 -23.6 -3.7 -59.2 
Economic & Community 

Development. 0.8 -6.6 0.1 -0.4 -0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4 2.5 -12.8 1.0 -15.4 
Coroners & courts 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 0.7 0.4 2.9 

Corporate & Democratic 0.4 0.7 1.1 -1.5 0.8 -0.6 0.4 0.5 2.6 3.3 4.4 12.1 
Local tax collection 1.4 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.8 0.7 0.3 0.1 0.4 1.3 7.7 
Emergency planning 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.9 

Other central services 0.0 0.6 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 -0.7 1.2 0.0 2.0 
Non-distributed costs 0.0 1.3 0.7 0.8 0.2 1.6 0.2 0.4 5.5 0.0 1.3 11.9 

Finance & Procurement 1.2 1.7 0.7 1.2 0.6 1.4 0.6 0.3 10.2 4.6 3.4 25.8 
FM, Property & Accomm’n. 1.1 1.4 1.5 2.1 0.5 0.2 1.0 0.0 0.2 10.4 2.6 21.0 

ICT, Change & Cust. Svs. 1.9 4.0 1.1 2.8 1.4 1.7 1.5 1.2 11.8 13.8 1.8 43.1 
Legal services 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.1 0.3 0.3 3.6 1.4 2.8 10.2 

HR & OD 0.4 0.8 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.6 0.4 0.2 6.3 2.3 2.1 14.1 
Senior Management 1.1 0.8 0.6 0.8 0.5 0.7 0.4 0.5 2.9 2.2 2.5 13.0 

Office Accommodation 0.5 0.7 0.3 0.6 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 2.5 1.6 1.4 8.4 
Cllr. expenses & allowances 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.3 1.3 1.2 0.5 5.9 

Election costs 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 1.4 0.5 0.3 4.0 
Other overheads 1.0 0.8 2.0 10.4 0.1 0.1 0.6 0.1 12.4 1.4 11.5 40.3 
Housing Benefits 15.5 28.6 11.2 17.4 10.5 18.0 9.8 6.5 0.0 40.4 35.3 193.2 

Levies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.6 0.2 2.8 
Trading Accounts -0.5 0.0 0.0 -0.2 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.0 -1.5 0.0 -2.4 

Capital financing 1.2 5.9 1.1 2.3 1.0 2.0 0.2 1.4 41.3 48.5 20.7 125.6 
Interest, investment inc. -2.2 -1.7 -0.7 -0.4 -1.8 -1.2 -0.7 -2.0 -4.0 -4.8 -14.2 -33.6 

P
age 198



         
 

 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

  
East 

Devon Exeter Mid 
Devon 

North 
Devon 

South 
Hams Teignbridge Torridge West 

Devon 
Devon 

CC Plymouth Torbay 
TOTAL 
COST 

NET COST OF SERVICES 43.1 51.8 25.8 36.8 26.2 40.1 21.3 16.9 1,372.9 517.2 319.1 2,471.1 

P
age 199



         
 

 
Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 

Annex 2 - Medium Term Financial Profile (£m) 

Base Case proposal

Year -1 
(2026/27) 

(£m)

Year 0 
(2027/28) 

(£m)

Year 1 
(2028/29) 

(£m)

Year 2 
(2029/30) 

(£m)

Year 3 
(2030/31) 

(£m)

Year 4 
(2031/32) 

(£m)

Year 5 
(2032/33) 

(£m)

Year 6 
(2033/34) 

(£m)

Year 7 
(2034/35) 

(£m)

Year 8 
(2035/36) 

(£m)

Year 9 
(2036/37) 

(£m)

Year 10 
(2037/38) 

(£m)
Transition costs 4.6 22.4 20.1 7.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Savings in each year 0.0 0.0 -8.4 -33.6 -62.1 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5
Incremental Net Impact 4.6 22.4 11.7 -25.7 -62.1 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5 -64.5
Cumulative Impact 4.6 27.0 38.7 13.1 -49.0 -113.6 -178.1 -242.6 -307.1 -371.7 -436.2 -500.7
Modified Proposal Year -1 Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10
Transition costs 5.8 27.7 27.3 9.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Savings in each year 0.0 0.0 -4.9 -29.7 -54.8 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4
Incremental Net Impact 5.8 27.7 22.4 -20.4 -54.8 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4 -58.4
Cumulative Impact 5.8 33.5 55.9 35.6 -19.2 -77.6 -136.0 -194.4 -252.8 -311.2 -369.6 -428.0

P
age 200



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Page 201



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Appendix 2 – List of Parishes 
 

Parishes (extended Exeter)  

 
Ashcombe 
Aylesbeare 
Bicton 
Brampford Speke 
Broad Clyst 
Budleigh Salterton 
Cheriton Bishop 
Chudleigh Town 
Clyst Honiton 
Clyst Hydon 
Clyst St Lawrence 
Clyst St. George 
Clyst St. Mary 
Colaton Raleigh 
Colebrooke 
Cranbrook 
Crediton Town 

Crediton Hamlets 
Dawlish Town 
Dunchideock 
East Budleigh 
Exminster 
Exmouth 
Farringdon 
Hittisleigh 
Holcombe Burnell 
Huxham 
Ide 
Kenn 
Kenton 
Lympstone 
Mamhead 
Newton St. Cyres 
Nether Exe 

Otterton 
Powderham 
Poltimore 
Rewe 
Rockbeare 
Shillingford St. George 
Sowton 
Starcross 
Stoke Canon 
Tedburn St. Mary 
Upton Pyne 
West Hill 
Whimple 
Whitestone 
Woodbury 

 
  
Parishes (extended Torbay) 

 
Abbotskerswell 
Bishopsteignton 
Brixham – (Existing 
Area) 
Broadhempston 
Coffinswell 
Denbury and Torbryan 

Haccombe with 
Combe 
Ideford 
Ipplepen 
Kingskerswell 
Kingsteignton 
Kingswear 
Littlehempston 

Marldon 
Newton Abbot 
Ogwell 
Shaldon 
Stoke Gabriel 
Stokeinteignhead 
Teigngrace 
Teignmouth 

 
  
Parishes (extended Plymouth) 

 
Bickleigh 
Brixton 
Cornwood 
Ermington 
Harford 

Holbeton 
Ivybridge 
Newton and Noss 
Shaugh Prior 
Sparkwell 

Ugborough 
Yealmpton 
Wembury 
 

  

Page 202



Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal 
November 2025 

Appendix 3- Implementation plan 

Page 203

https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/DevolutionDeal/Shared%20Documents/PMO/03_Working_Documents_and%20Draft_Proposals/Appendices/Appendix%202%20-%20Implementation%20Timeline.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=pohG3N


 OFFICIAL# DRAFT LGR Proposal Implementation Plan

Continuing Authority Implementation Plan Timeline

Key Milestones

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Phase 1 - Programme planning and pre-requisite activities

Submission of formal unitary proposal 28-Nov-25
Statutory consultation by Government

Ministers' decision to implement a proposal June 2026 (indicative)

Possibility of the Minister instructing LGBE to deliver a structural review of Devon electoral 

boundaries

Plymouth City Council 2026 Elections

Phase 2- Likely start of implementation programme, upon government decision

Parliamentary Approval for Structural Changes Order to expand boundary  (Date TBC)

Possibility of the Minister instructing LGBE to deliver a structural review of Devon electoral 

boundaries

Phase 3 - Implementation Executive - Transition period begins

May 2027 Elections * TBC by MHCLG after submission (Plymouth 1/3, South Hams All out) 06-May-25
Budget setting for the existing authority on the new boundary for 2028/29 28-Feb-25
Phase 4 - Vesting day - Transition is complete and services operate within extended area. 01-Apr-25

Confirmation or extension of the boundary by LGBCE (Date unknown)
Completion of boundary review by LGBCE (Date unknown)

Workstream - Programme Management  and Governance

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Internal programme support (Legal, HR and financial)

MHCLG Agreement / Approval for Continuing Authority

Governance established (PMO/Reporting/RAIDD/Planning)

Detailed transition implementation plan agreed and shared with MHCLG

Alignment of existing change activities across councils

Council board to oversee the programme in place

Delivery of safe & legal May 2027*elections for the existing councils

Delivery of safe & legal May 2027* elections for the Unitary Council

Boundary Commission Review* (TBC - anticipated to start date after the May Election)

Legal policy and processes in place for the expanded boundary - application of Plymouth City 

Council policies to the 13 areas and communication of the changes involved to residents

Preparation of Day 1 Operation & Service Plans, including staff training and communication of 

changes created

Programme closure and handover to transformation

Monitoring and evaluation

Benefit realisation

Workstream - Community, Customer and Partnerships

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Development of Neighbourhood Networks Operating Model  with Communities (Towns/Parish 

and Community Reps)

Ongoing engagement with residents and stakeholders

Expand current access arrangements to cover expanded area

Neighbourhood Networks operational

Workstream - Assets Optimisation (Technology and Property)

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Baseline property plan for expanded area, map out what property to onboard

Identify business critical data and systems from 13 areas and create transition plan.

Prepare the onboard new staff 

Implement transition plan for business critical data and systems from predecessor councils

Integrate capital invesment programme for 13 areas

Use existing data management policy and processes and communicate to staff

Use existing security protocols and policies (and communicate to staff)

Workstream - People and Culture

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Communication Strategy and Plan agreed for all staff

HR Transition Management Plan agreed for new staff

Existing People and Culture Model shared with new staff

External and Internal Communications delivered

Develop and Deliver Staff Engagement Plan

TUPE transfer of new staff to existing Council

Trade Union Engagement for new staff including TUPE arrangements

Closure of the workstream and handover as BAU

Staff Terms and Conditions and Job Descriptions updated and aligned to existing authority Policy 

and Process

Workstream - Service Alignment and Improvement

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Alignment of service requirements 

New Functional operating Models and Services aligned

Service Policy, Process and Procedures Prioritised and updated

SLAs and Performance Metrics aligned

Revised Membership of Partnership Boards (new area representation on PBs)

Service Continuity across predecessor Council Boundaries ensured (either side of vesting day)

External Agencies and Statutory Bodies Notified

Workstream - Finance

Oct
-25

Nov
-25

Dec
-25

Jan
-2

6

Fe
b-26

M
ar

-26

Apr
-2

6

M
ay

-26

Ju
n-

26

Ju
l-2

6
Aug

-26

Se
p-2

6

Oct
-26

Nov
-26

Dec
-26

Jan
-2

7

Fe
b-27

M
ar-

27

Apr
-27

M
ay

-27

Ju
n-2

7

Ju
l-2

7
Aug

-27

Se
p-

27

Oct-
27

Nov
-2

7

Dec
-27

Jan
-28

Fe
b-

28

M
ar-

28

Apr
-2

8

M
ay

-28

Ju
n-

28

Ju
l-2

8

Budget Baseline Defined

Implementation budget prepared and in place for 2027/28

Agree responsibilities for legacy financial statements with new authorities

Agree responsibility for Peninsula Pensions, Pension Fund Accountable Body and Devon Audit 

Partnership

Spending protocol and governance for all authorities in place and monitored

Internal Audit Plan, Audit Charter and Risk Strategy reviewed and in place

Income / payment arragements transition and communication.

Consolidation of Grants, fees and charges, and approach to Devolved Funding agreed

Council tax (equalisation plus Additional Notional Amounts through MHCLG, collection scheme 

and rates agreed). 

Consult on and introduce a new Council Tax Support Policy. 

Business rates collection scheme and billing agreed

Consult on business rates

Financial Strategy and budget for 2028/29 agreed (Incl. aligned capital programmes, Fees and 

Charges)

Write new Treasury Management, Capital and Investment Strategies 

Existing contracts reviewed and requirement moving forward determined

Transfer of company holdings from South Hams to Plymouth Councils

Insurance arrangements for the existing authority in place

Approach and process for ascertaining opening balances in the councils concerned.
Transfer of assets and liabilities to existing authority completed

Version 0.3 Page 1 of 1 CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT

P
age 204



Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal 
November 2025 

Appendix 4 - Letters of support 

Page 205

https://plymouthcc.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/DevolutionDeal/Shared%20Documents/PMO/03_Working_Documents_and%20Draft_Proposals/Appendices/Appendix%203%20-%20Letters%20of%20Support.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=RBcdqK


OFFICIAL

Helen Wylde-Archibald 

Chief Executive Officer

Plymouth Chamber of 
Commerce

24th October 2025

Tudor Evans OBE

Leader, Plymouth City Council

RE: Local Government Reorganisation in Devon

Dear Tudor,

I am writing to you as the Chief Executive Officer of the Plymouth Chamber of 
Commerce. Plymouth Chamber is a founder member of Devon Chamber and has been 
supporting the Plymouth’s maritime city’s businesses for more than 200 years having 
been founded in 1813. We have over 800 members and we have our own programme of 
events, attended by over 40,000 people last year. We run various business support 
programmes and initiatives, and our strategic priorities are people, planet, and purpose: 
comprising inclusivity, working towards net zero and doing business that has positive 
social impact, creates employment and sustainable growth.

Plymouth Chamber has been briefed on regular occasions by your officers and so we 
are aware of the issues and the options for Devon. 

We support the government’s proposal to move to a simpler and more efficient unitary 
structure of local government for Devon which we believe will benefit businesses across 
the whole of Devon.

Plymouth Chamber of Commerce supports the proposal by Plymouth City Council for 
four unitary councils in Devon to replace the current two-tier system. We also support 
the proposed modest extension of the city boundary into the wider travel to work area 
which we think will enable a more strategic approach to future growth and a more 
consistent offer to businesses in the area. 

Page 206



OFFICIAL

We also believe that it is important that any proposals for local government 
reorganisation reinforce the opportunities for growth linked to the recent 
announcements of the Defence Deal for the city, its identification as a national centre 
for Marine Autonomy, and the need to deliver significant numbers of new homes for all 
the workers that are projected to be needed for these endeavours.

We are aware of other proposals for the area of Devon and so look forward to further 
engagement with you in the future when the government undertakes its statutory 
consultation.

Your sincerely,

Helen Wylde-Archibald

Helen Wylde-Archibald 

Chief Executive Officer

Plymouth Chamber of Commerce

CC Richard Steven – Chair Of Plymouth & Devon Chambers Of Commerce

Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



22 October 2025

Tudor Evan  OBE 
Plymouth City Council 

Christopher Stephens
Chair of Plymouth Regeneration Forum
c/o womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP
Ballard House
West Hoe Road
Plymouth
PL1 3AE

Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales under number OC317661. VAT registration 
number is GB123393627. Registered office: 4 More London Riverside, London, SE1 2AU, where a list of members' names is open to inspection. We 
use the term partner to refer to a member of the LLP, or an employee or consultant who is of equivalent standing. Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP 
is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA number 449247).
Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP is a member of Womble Bond Dickinson (International) Limited, which consists of independent and autonomous 
law firms providing services in the US, the UK, and elsewhere around the world.  Each Womble Bond Dickinson entity is a separate legal entity and is 
not responsible for the acts or omissions of, nor can bind or obligate, another Womble Bond Dickinson entity.  Womble Bond Dickinson (International) 
Limited does not practise law.  Please see www.womblebonddickinson.com/legal notices for further details.

AC_218576543_1

Dear Tudor

Local Government Reorganisation in Devon

I am writing to you as the Chair of the Plymouth Regeneration Forum.

The Plymouth Regeneration Forum was set up some years ago to engage with key investors, 
landowners, and other development stakeholders in the city. The Forum is a chance to discuss relevant 
planning issues affecting the city and to act as an opportunity for members to be kept informed of the 
work that the City Council is doing as well as hearing from the development industry about issues that 
are of concern to them. The Forum is managed in partnership with Womble Bond Dickinson.

We have had presentations at the Plymouth Regeneration Forum from City Council officers on progress 
with local government reorganisation during 2025. At the 4th of September meeting, there was an 
interactive session where participants were asked to respond to a series of questions regarding 

expanded authority?, participants highlighted the following:

Stronger local voice recognised by the government by meeting criteria of the government thus
funding.

Cost savings.

An opportunity to clear out "dead wood".

Better connectivity via transport to the city to help with the job growth.

A stronger collective voice to represent the area nationally.

To look at transport efficiencies more coherently.

Clarity and confidence among investors.

Page 211



AC_218576543_1 2 

 Ability to plan infrastructure and provide greater certainty enabling business to make better 
medium and long term investment plans. 

 Potential economies of scale across the various organisations. 

 Economies of scale. 

 Better ways to manage the travel to work area. 

 Pulled funding resources. Strategic improvements to infrastructure. 

 Hopefully more consistency in terms of development throughout the expanded authority. 

 Access to government funding. 

 Reducing costs of delivering services across the area by avoiding duplication. 

 Greater voice for Plymouth which means more investment for more affordable homes/creation 
new jobs/improved local services. 

 Consistent approach to development management and planning but needs Local Plan to evolve. 

 Opportunities to improve public transport across the areas where Plymouth would expand to, and 
across the region. 

 United consistency across the area. 

 Opportunities to combine budgets and overheads to create a more efficient system. 

 More cohesive approach to housing and infrastructure delivery across the expanded local 
authority - but the local authority needs to be adequately staffed and resourced. 

expanded local authority?, participants commented:  

 Distraction from real services in the interim. 

 Whilst the change happens there could be a vacuums of decisions. 

 
area. 

 Need to deliver well across many areas , more challenging for SMEs. 

 Difficulties in aligning agendas across formerly separate authorities. Will need strong common 
purpose. 

 Ability to knit competing interests constructively. Difficulty in achieving growth agenda as most 
settlements will not be suitable except Ivybridge and Sherford. 

 
whole region fail further. 

 Spread too thinly at inception. 

  

 Time lag for implementation and uncertainty during that period. 

Page 212



AC_218576543_1 3 

 Lack of resourcing. 

 Direction of travel to a situation where funding decision at mayoral level are not as local. 

 More red tape stifling growth with added wider arguments slowing potential investment and 
growth. 

 Pressure on services and cost due to geography. 

 Delay in implementation. 

 Difficulty in aligning agendas. 

 Increased council tax for better service attracting skills to the region for new jobs. 

 No improvement in service delivery due to expanded area. 

 Decision making on matters such as planning and housing allocation, making sure that the needs 
of the new areas absorbed into Plymouth City Council are reflected and balanced with those of 
the existing authority. 

 
reflective of the whole area? 

 Smaller areas needs may get overlooked. 

 
required to deliver what will be expanded services. 

In response to the question: Thinking about the long term (not just the next couple of years) what 
opportunities would you like there to be for Plymouth businesses?, participants said: 

 
city centre. 

 Consistency on the procurement asks of businesses across the regions to help streamline our 
strategies and internal development etc. 

 Breadth. For resilience. Not overly reliant in 1 or 2 sectors. 

 Greater certainty on opportunities to incentivise investment. 

 Hopefully, businesses only with a PL postcode getting the work in Plymouth. 

 Utilising local businesses and consultants for local work and projects. 

 A way to share our long term plans with you. 

 Working with those on the ground and actually listening to them. 

 Become better at attracting private funding to support gov funded redevelopment. 

 Strong investment in forward thinking infrastructure that allows growth to happen in a sustained 
and sustainable way. 

 Nationally focussed campaign on strength of combined area for advanced manufacturing. 

 Increased opportunities with development partners to deliver private rented sector/build to rent in 
Plymouth city centre. 

Page 213



AC_218576543_1 4 

 A focus on working with local businesses. 

 Opportunity to consider how public transport integrates across the region to improve service. 

 Wider tender agreements for both social and private housing. 

 Better consistency with planning and development, ensuring not all areas are left behind. 

 Ability to attract larger employers to the region in order that job opportunities, particularly at a 
senior level, become available. 

 A fully joined up approach across the southwest for growth and resilience not an enlarged 
Plymouth and Exeter working against each other. 

As you can see from these responses there is clear in principle support for unitary government in Devon 
 

There was also a fourth question asked about future engagement by any expanded authority with local 
business.  Plymouth Regeneration Forum members could also see other benefits from the streamlined 
proposal for four unitary councils in Devon in terms of public sector service reform building upon 
business relationship programmes that already exist and which could be enhanced in the future so that 
the voice of business is heard in future strategic growth discussions. 

I trust the above comments are of assistance and we look forward to discussing local government reform 
again in the new year when the government publishes its statutory consultation. 

Yours sincerely 

Christopher Stephens 
Chair of Plymouth Regeneration Forum 
c/o Womble Bond Dickinson (UK) LLP 

Page 214



 
 

Professor Claire Taylor  
Vice-  
Plymouth Marjon University  
Derriford Road  
Plymouth 
PL6 8BH 
 
21st October 2025  

 
 

Tudor Evans OBE 
Leader, Plymouth City Council 
 
 
 
Dear Tudor, 
 
Local Government Reorganisation in Devon 
 
For over 180 years, Marjon staff and students have sought to make a difference for individual lives and 
communities. Founded in London in 1840 and moving to Plymouth over 50 years ago we are proud to 

- bally where there is a need to address inequity, 
raise aspiration and provide graduates to fill higher level skills gaps. Our strategy, Marjon 2030, makes 
clear that we are a university driven by strong principles of social justice, rooted in our Church of 
England foundation, and committed to the common good. We work within a values framework, and our 
purpose is to tackle inequity.  
 
Our focus is to ensure that we provide outstanding graduates to work in the public, professional and 
community sectors. Our curriculum is designed with employers to ensure relevance, and we are proud 
of our track record across key areas of need including professionals working within education, health, 
criminal justice, business, social and human sciences.  We therefore recognise our central role in 
addressing the projected employment opportunities in the city arising from the defence deal, other 
regeneration initiatives, and the huge opportunities that will come with a new structure of local 
government in Devon. Critically, we have a role to play ensuring our public services infrastructure is fit 
for purpose.  
 

unitary council. Given the huge pipeline of growth planned for the city, and the need to link the 
opportunities that will arise from this to the aspirations of young people in the city, especially those 
from more deprived backgrounds, I see educational advantages to your proposal. These include more 
simplified and unified governance, opportunities for improved strategic coordination in relation to 
educational progression pathways, strengthening preventative support and early intervention for 
children and families, and more integrated long-term school-place and infrastructure planning. I 
therefore support your proposed boundary extension. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 215



It is also important to point out how your proposals for the whole of Devon will provide a strong 
foundation for the work of the proposed South-West Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority. This will be 
essential to better coordinate the delivery of higher skills on a regional basis making the most of the 
powers and funding devolved to it once it is established. The recent Post-16 Education and Skills White 
Paper is explicit about the role for Strategic Authorities in this respect.

I have also been made aware of your proposal for the replacement of the existing two-tier local 
government arrangements in Devon with four unitary councils. Again, this will simplify how the 
education sector can engage with a streamlined local government structure to deliver more targeted 
skills programmes and clear progression pathways linked to the new economic opportunities. I 
therefore support your proposals for local government reorganisation in Devon. 

I would be grateful if the City Council could continue to keep me informed of progress on local 
government reorganisation.

Yours sincerely,

Professor Claire Taylor
Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive 
Plymouth Marjon University

Page 216



Page 217



OFFICIAL

Richard Stevens
Chair of Plymouth Growth Board

1 Milehouse Road
Milehouse
Plymouth

Devon 
PL3 4AA

17th October 2025

Tudor Evans OBE
Leader, Plymouth City Council
Council House
Armarda Way
Plymouth
PL1 2AA

Local Government Reorganisation in Devon

Dear Tudor,

I am writing to you as the Chair of the Plymouth Growth Board. As you know the Plymouth Growth 
Board (PGB) is a public private partnership, bringing together representatives from key businesses 
and business organisations, Plymouth’s three universities, City College Plymouth, representatives of 
the voluntary and community sector, Plymouth Culture, and others. Its primary role is to ensure city 
organisations collaborate and oversee the delivery of the Plymouth Economic Strategy and Plymouth 
Plan. It is the recognised voice of business in delivering economic growth. 

Firstly, I would like to thank you and your officers for regularly engaging and consulting with the 
Plymouth Growth Board on local government reorganisation in Devon since the publication of the 
government’s white paper. We feel well-versed in the issues arising from local government 
reorganisation for business and are aware of the various options being put forward.

Plymouth Growth Board supports the government’s proposal to move to a simpler and more 
efficient unitary structure of local government for Devon. We believe strongly from our experience 
that this will remove duplication and inefficiency and deliver significant savings.

Plymouth Growth Board strongly supports the proposal by Plymouth City Council for four unitary 
council’s in Devon to replace the current two-tier system. We especially endorse the part of the 
proposal which seeks to extend the boundary of the city to encompass the towns and villages 
immediately surrounding Plymouth which from a business perspective are already economically linked 
to the city. We see the following benefits of this proposal for business:

Driving strategic economic growth and investment on and expanded economic footprint to 
deliver the Defence Deal, the plans for 10,000 homes in the city centre, the further 
investment in the Freeport and Enterprise Zone and the £6 billion regeneration pipeline.

Creating city growth-orientated local authorities that can improve investor confidence and 
build upon the already close working relationships with business.

Page 218



OFFICIAL

Delivering both strategic infrastructure improving regional connectivity the rough the 
Plymouth Metro rail initiative and the completion of the current £719 million strategic and 
sustainable transport programmes.

Enabling a more strategic and integrated approach to spatial planning both in relation to the 
new-style local plans required by the Planning and Infrastructure Bill but also allowing for an 
early start with a Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority Spatial Development Strategy 

Ensuring through workforce and skills development that the projected shortfall of some 
25,000 jobs in Plymouth expected in the next 10 years arising from the expansion of the 
defence sector and opportunities linked to Plymouth’s designation as the national centre for 
marine autonomy can be addressed with skills aligned to those new jobs.

Ensuring simplified governance and more responsive service delivery arrangements for 
business with single points of contact. 

Putting the authorities on a firmer financial footing in order to maintain a focus  on economic 
development and regeneration.

Enabling the continued development of sector-specific opportunities, especially in relation to 
marine autonomy and the cultural sector. 

Facilitating a more strategic approach over a wider geographical area for the continuation of 
climate and sustainability initiatives.

Enabling a much-needed acceleration of housing and future strategic land releases. 

We believe that the creation of four unitary authorities for Devon (three of which have ambitious 
and complimentary strategies for growth and regeneration) will provide a strong urban voice for the 
planned Peninsula Mayoral Strategic Authority when it is created.

We also see other benefits from the streamlined proposal for four unitary councils in Devon in terms 
of public sector service reform building upon business relationship programmes that could be 
enhanced in the future so the voice of business is heard in future strategic growth discussions.

We look forward to further engagement with you in the future when the statutory consultation is 
undertaken by the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local Government which we 
understand will be early in 2026.

Your sincerely,

Richard Stevens MBE
Chair, Plymouth Growth Board

Page 219



OFFICIAL

Verena Womersley
Chair, Plymouth Housing Development Partnership
C/o Clarion Housing Group 
8 Shelley Way, Plymouth, Devon, PL5 1QF

17 October 2025

Tudor Evans OBE
Leader, Plymouth City Council

Dear Tudor,

Local Government Reorganisation in Devon

I write as the Chair of the Plymouth Housing Development Partnership (PHDP). The PHDP is 
a group of 9 leading Housing Associations working with the City Council and Homes England 
to maximise the delivery of new affordable housing in Plymouth. Collectively our members 
manage more than 20,000 affordable homes in the city and invest many tens of millions of 
pounds into their existing and new build properties every year.

Following the briefing and discussion with the PHDP members and Council officers, the 

more efficient unitary structure of local government for Devon.  During the session it was 
discussed by members that they believe this has ability to benefit the cross boundary working 
that the housing associations achieve in providing affordable housing across the whole of 
Devon. 

The consensus within the PHDP was that the proposal by Plymouth City Council for four 
- replacing the current two-tier system - gives rise to providing an 

improved strategic approach to the housing challenges of the area and enabling an 
acceleration of housing delivery within an expanded Plymouth. The proposed extension of the 
city boundary into the wider housing market area could in our members view enable a more 
strategic approach to future growth. 

Page 220



OFFICIAL

We also believe that the proposal by Plymouth City Council provides a clear opportunity to 
drive the delivery of a significant numbers of new homes for all the new jobs arising from the 

ising 10,000 homes.

We look forward to more detailed discussions with you and your officers once the 
government announces their intentions for local government in Devon. 

Your sincerely,

Verena Womersley
Chair, Plymouth Housing Development Partnership

Page 221



 

Professor Richard Davies, Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive, Office of the Vice Chancellor, University of Plymouth, Drake Circus, Devon PL4 8AA      
T +44(0)1752 582030   E vc@plymouth.ac.uk   W www.plymouth.ac.uk  

 
Tudor Evans OBE 
Leader 
Plymouth City Council 
Ballard House 
26 West Hoe Road 
Plymouth 
PL1 3BJ 

Thursday 06th November 2025 
 

Dear Tudor, 
 
Local Government Reorganisation in Devon 
 
I am writing to you in connection with local government reorganisation following briefings from 
your officers over this the course of this year. 
 
The University of Plymouth sees the benefits of working with a Peninsula Mayoral Strategic 
Authority when it is established to deal with regional matters, especially skills, once government 
announces its devolution plans for the southwest. In principle, we also support the government’s 
proposal to move to a simpler and more efficient unitary structure of local government for Devon 
which we believe will benefit education providers across the whole of Devon. 
 
Plymouth City Council has proposed four unitary councils in Devon to replace the current two-tier 
system in place outside of Plymouth and Torbay Unitary Authorities. We recognise that not all 
councils in Devon are supportive of this approach and that issues of boundary changes are 
contentious ones. However, given the newly announced Defence Growth Deal and our on-going 
collaborations together, we believe it is important that Plymouth’s unitary authority has the scale 
and capacity to ensure that these investments deliver real and lasting benefits to the city and 
more widely. As such we are supportive of your proposal, include the proposed boundary 
changes.  
 
At the University of Plymouth, we are significantly investing in our campus and facilities to ensure 
a first-class learning, research and working environments as part of our commitment to a “triple 
gold student experience.” We are at the forefront of globally significant research in relation to 
marine science and engineering, climate change, and oceanography. This is vital to the wider 
growth agenda of the city as we need to recruit and retain bright young people to fill the projected 
shortfall of some 25,000 jobs because of Plymouth’s unique role related to defence of the realm. 
 
We look forward to hearing from you further in the future on local government reorganisation. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Professor Richard Davies   
Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive 

Page 222

mailto:vc@plymouth.ac.uk


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Appendix 5 - List of figures and tables 
 
Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

Figure 3.1 Page 15  A map showing the 
proportion of population 
working in Plymouth from 
neighbouring areas. 

Original content 
developed by Plymouth 
City Council, derived 
from Census 2021 data 
Nomis - Official Census 
and Labour Market 
Statistics 

Figure 3.2 Page 16 A map showing the 
Plymouth Policy Area 

Original content 
developed by Plymouth 
City Council to illustrate 
the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local 
Plan:  
The Plymouth Plan | SO1 - 
Delivering the spatial 
strategy 

Figure 3.3 Page 17 A figure showing the 
Plymouth Metro Local Rail 
Network 

Original content 
developed by PCC to 
illustrate the Plymouth 
Metro Local Rail Network 

Figure 5.1 Page 29 A map showing the base 
case for Devon 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Table 5.1 Page 29 A table showing the 
assessment of the Base 
Case for Devon against 
the Government criteria 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 6.1 Page 33 A map showing the 
expanded 4 unitary 
authorities 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal  

Figure 8.1 Page 36 A map showing Travel to 
work areas in the South 
West 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
2011 ONS Travel to 
Work Areas 

Figure 11.1 Page 44 A map showing the base 
case 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 11.2 Page 45 A map showing the 
Plymouth base case 

Original content 
developed for this 

Page 223

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
https://plymswdevonplan.co.uk/policy/so1-delivering-the-spatial-strategy
https://plymswdevonplan.co.uk/policy/so1-delivering-the-spatial-strategy
https://plymswdevonplan.co.uk/policy/so1-delivering-the-spatial-strategy
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 11.3 Page 48 A map showing the 
Torbay base case 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 11.4 Page 51 A map showing the Exeter 
base case 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 11.5 Page 54 A map showing the Devon 
Coast and Countryside 
base case 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Table 11.1 Page 57 A table showing the base 
case assessment against 
the government criteria.  

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 12.1 Page 59 A map showing the 
modification – Four 
Unitary Authority Option 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 12.2 Page 60 A map showing the 
expanded Plymouth 
modification 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 12.3 Page 63 A map showing the 
expanded Torbay 
modification 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 12.4 Page 66 A map showing the 
expanded Exeter 
modification 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 12.5 Page 69 A map showing the Devon 
Coast and Countryside 
modification 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Table 12.1 Page 71 A table showing the 
assessment of the 
modified four unitary 
model against the 
government criteria 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 13.1 Page 74 A map showing the New 
Devon proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Page 224

https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

Figure 13.2 Page 76 A map showing Plymouth 
in the new Devon 
proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 13.3 Page 77 A map showing Torbay in 
the new Devon proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 13.4 Page 78 A map showing Devon in 
the new Devon proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Table 13.1 Page 80 A table showing the 
assessment of the New 
Devon proposal against 
the government criteria 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 14.1 Page 83 A map showing the 1-4-5 
proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 14.2 Page 84 A map showing Plymouth 
in the 1-4-5 proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 14.3 Page 85 
 

A map showing a 4 
District Unitary in the 1-
4-5 proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Figure 14.4 Page 87 A map showing a 5 
District Unitary in the 1-
4-5 proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
Open Geography Portal 

Table 14.1 Page 89 A table showing the 
assessment of the 1-4-5 
proposal against the 
Government criteria. 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 15.1 Page 101 A figure showing the 
implementation of the 
neighbourhood networks 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.1 
 

Page 120 A chart showing the 
financial sustainability of 
the four unitary councils 
in the base case in relation 
to other unitary councils 
nationally 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Page 225

https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/search?q=BDY_PARNCP%202024&sort=Title%7Ctitle%7Casc


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

Figure 17.2 Page 120 A chart showing the 
financial sustainability of 
the modified four unitary 
councils in relation to 
other unitary councils 
nationally 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.1 Page 121 A table summarising the 
modelled position for the 
base case proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.2 Page 121 A table summarising the 
modelled position for the 
modified proposal 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.3 Page 122 A table showing the 
number of housing stock 
in East Devon District 
Council, Exeter City 
Council, and Mid Devon 
District Council 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.4 Page 124 A table showing the 
estimated savings (base 
and modified proposal) 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.5 Page 126 A table showing the 
estimated Devon-wide 
implementation costs 
(base proposal) 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.6 Page 127 A table showing the 
estimated Devon-wide 
implementation costs 
(modified proposal) 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.7 Page 129 A table showing the 
estimated implementation 
costs for expanded 
Plymouth Council 
modification only 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Table 17.8 Page 130 A table showing the 
financial profile up to and 
including Year 2032/33 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.3 Page 132 A chart showing the 
Usable Revenue Reserves 
as a proportion of Core 
Spending Power – Devon 
compared to other re-
organising shire areas 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.4 Page 132 A chart showing the 
Usable Revenue Reserves 
and cumulative DSG 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Page 226



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

deficit as a proportion of 
Core Spending Power – 
Devon compared to other 
reorganising shire areas 

Figure 17.5 Page 133 A chart showing the 
Capital Financing 
Requirement: Core 
Spending Power ratio – 
Devon compared to other 
reorganising shire areas. 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.6 Page 134 A chart showing the 
Usable Revenue Reserves 
as a proportion of Core 
Spending Power – Base 
proposal unitaries 
compared to existing 
English Unitary councils 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.7 Page 134 A chart showing the 
Capital Financing 
Requirement to Core 
Spending Power ratio – 
Base proposal unitaries 
compared to existing 
English Unitary councils 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.8 Page 135 A chart showing the 
Usable Revenue Reserves 
as a proportion of Core 
Spending Power – 
Modified proposal 
unitaries compared to 
existing English Unitary 
councils 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 17.9 Page 135 A chart showing the 
Capital Financing 
Requirement to Core 
Spending Power ratio – 
Modified proposal 
unitaries compared to 
existing English Unitary 
councils 

Original content 
developed for this 
document. 

Figure 20.1 Page 148 A chart showing the 
implementation timeline 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
MHCLG guidance 

Table 20.1 Page 148 A table outlining 
implementation processes 

Original content 
developed for this 

Page 227



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Figure/ 
Table 

Page 
number 

Description Source 

for continuing and new 
authorities. 

document; not derived 
from external sources. 

Table 20.2 Page 150 A table showing the 
implementation timeline 
for Plymouth 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; derived from 
MHCLG guidance 

Figure 20.2 Page 151 A figure showing the 
structure chart for the 
LGR implementation 
programme in Plymouth 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; not derived 
from external sources. 

Table 21.1 Page 152 A table showing the key 
risks of implementation 

Original content 
developed for this 
document; not derived 
from external sources. 

 

Page 228



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Appendix 6 - List of acronyms 
 
Acronym Full Form Explanation 

ASCOF Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework 

National performance measures for 
adult social care services. 

CASD Continuous At Sea 
Deterrent 

UK’s nuclear submarine-based 
deterrent programme. 

CQC Care Quality Commission Regulator of health and social care 
services in England. 

DSG Dedicated Schools Grant 
Ring-fenced funding from the 
Department for Education for 
schools and education services. 

GVA Gross Value Added A measure of economic output and 
productivity. 

HRA Housing Revenue Account 
A ring-fenced account for income 
and expenditure related to council 
housing. 

ICO Integrated Care 
Organisation 

A partnership model integrating 
health and social care services. 

IDACI Income Deprivation 
Affecting Children Index 

A sub-measure of deprivation 
focused on children. 

IMD Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 

A composite measure of relative 
deprivation across England. 

LGBCE Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England 

Independent body responsible for 
electoral reviews and boundary 
changes. 

LGR Local Government 
Reorganisation 

A process led by central government 
to change how councils are 
structured and operate in a local 
area. 

MHCLG 
Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local 
Government 

Central government department 
overseeing local government. 

MSA Mayoral Strategic Authority A proposed regional governance 
model led by an elected mayor.  

MSOA Middle Layer Super Output 
Area 

A statistical unit of geography used 
by ONS for data analysis. 

MOD Ministry of Defence 
UK government department 
responsible for defence and armed 
forces. 

Page 229



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Acronym Full Form Explanation 

ONS Office for National Statistics UK’s national statistical institute. 

PMO Programme Management 
Office 

A team responsible for governance 
and coordination of major 
programmes. 

RA Revenue Account 

The budget used for day-to-day 
service delivery and operational 
costs. It excludes capital 
expenditure. 

SCO Structural Change Order 

A legal document issued by 
government that sets out the details 
of a local government reorganisation, 
including boundaries, powers, and 
transition arrangements. 

SEND Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities 

A term covering children and young 
people who require additional 
support. 

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) 

Legislation protecting employees 
when services transfer between 
organisations. 

UKSPF UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
Government fund supporting local 
economic development and 
regeneration. 

VCSE Voluntary, Community and 
Social Enterprise 

Sector comprising charities, 
community groups, and social 
enterprises. 

 
  

Page 230



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Appendix 7 - Key terms explained 
 
Term Meaning 

Unitary authority 
A single-tier local government responsible for all local 
services in its area, replacing the two-tier system of 
county and district councils. 

Continuing authority 
An existing council that retains its legal identity and 
absorbs new areas during reorganisation, rather than 
being replaced or merged. 

Vesting day The official date when the new council structures come 
into legal effect and begin operating. 

Ministerial 
modification 

A change to a submitted proposal made by the Secretary 
of State to improve outcomes or align with government 
priorities. 

Neighbourhood 
networks 

Proposed local forums that bring together councillors, 
parish representatives, and community organisations to 
influence decisions and improve services. 

Parish partnership 
agreements 

Formal arrangements between the new council and 
parish councils to support collaboration and protect local 
identity. 

Plymouth growth 
area 

A geographic area around Plymouth identified for 
strategic planning and development, including housing and 
infrastructure. 

Plymouth policy area 
A planning concept used in the Joint Local Plan to define 
the wider area that functions as part of Plymouth’s 
housing and economic region. 

Joint Local Plan 
A shared planning document developed by multiple 
councils to guide development and land use across a 
wider area. 

Spatial development 
strategy 

A long-term strategic plan for where development should 
happen, including housing, transport, and infrastructure. 

Electoral review 
A formal process to assess and redraw council ward 
boundaries to reflect population changes and ensure fair 
representation. 

Council tax 
harmonisation 

The process of aligning council tax rates across newly 
formed or reorganised councils to ensure fairness. 

Capital receipts Money from selling assets. 

Implementation 
executive 

A temporary governance body within a continuing 
authority that oversees the transition to the new 
arrangements. 

Page 231



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Term Meaning 

Shadow council A temporary council formed before vesting day to 
prepare for the launch of a new authority. 

Extra care housing Specialist housing designed for older people who need 
care and support but want to live independently. 

Shared lives 
placements 

A form of adult social care where individuals live with a 
carer in their home, offering a family-style environment. 

Freeport A designated area where normal tax and customs rules 
do not apply, intended to boost trade and investment. 

Local Transport 
Authority 

The body responsible for planning and managing public 
transport services in a given area. 

Enhanced bus 
partnership 

A formal agreement between councils and bus operators 
to improve services and coordinate investment. 

Wellbeing hubs Local centres offering integrated health, social care, and 
community services to support residents’ wellbeing. 

Civic agreements Formal arrangements recognising the ceremonial roles of 
mayors and civic leaders across different communities. 

Letters patent A formal legal document issued by the monarch granting 
rights or status, such as Plymouth’s Lord Mayoralty. 

 
 
  

Page 232



  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Appendix 8 - Sources 
 
Data sources and limitations 
 
This proposal draws on a range of data sources to support the case for a four 
unitary model of governance. Wherever possible, we have used publicly available 
datasets published by central government departments, statutory bodies, and 
recognised sector organisations. These include official statistics, financial returns, and 
performance indicators. 
 
In some instances, we have relied on data that is not publicly available. This includes 
proprietary analysis commissioned under commercial contract with external 
consultancies, as well as internal datasets held by participating authorities. 
 
The analysis draws particularly on multiple Office for National Statistics datasets to 
provide the most accurate picture possible of local populations and service demand. 
However, detailed population data at small geographical levels is not always 
published consistently across all the areas we have examined. Where precise figures 
are unavailable, we have used approximations based on the most appropriate ONS 
sources for each geography. 
 
This means that some figures represent best estimates rather than exact counts, 
particularly where we have needed to aggregate or disaggregate data across different 
statistical boundaries. We have applied consistent methodology throughout to 
ensure comparability between areas, but readers should be aware that all population 
figures carry some degree of uncertainty at the level of detail required for this 
analysis. 
 
For social care demand analysis, we have used public and MSOA level data shared by 
participating authorities. This data has not been directly incorporated into this 
proposal, but we note for transparency that it is subject to varying definitions and 
recording practices between authorities, reflecting different service models and 
operational approaches. Any future analysis using this data would need to account 
for these variations. 
 
Demographic data sources 

 
Office for National Statistics, Population estimates for England and Wales: mid-
202430. Published: July 2025. Available at: ONS – Population Estimates [ons.gov.uk] 
 
Office for National Statistics, Census 2021 Small Area Multiples (OA level data) 
data via Nomis. Updated regularly. Available at: 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021 
 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, English Indices of 
Deprivation 2025. Published: 30 October 2025. Available at: English indices of 
deprivation 2025 - GOV.UK 

Page 233

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/populationestimatesforenglandandwales/mid2024
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/populationestimatesforenglandandwales/mid2024
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/sources/census_2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2025
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2025


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

 
Boundaries and mapping 
 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty / National Parks / National 
Landscapes – Natural England 
Highways and Roads - OS Open Roads 
Open Geography Portal – Lower Super Output Area, Middle Super Output Area, 
Output Areas, Parishes, Wards.  
 
Economic development statistics 

 
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, Housing and 
Economic Needs Assessment Guidance. Last updated: 24 February 2025. Available at: 
GOV.UK – Housing Needs Guidance [gov.uk] 
 
Office for National Statistics, Regional Gross Value Added (Balanced) by Industry: All 
ITL Regions. Published:17 April 2025. Available at: ONS – GVA by Industry 
[ons.gov.uk] 
 
Office for National Statistics, Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES): 
Provisional Results 2023. Published: 4 November 2024. Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/ukbusinessregisterandemploymentsurveybresprovisi
onalresults2023revisedresults2022 
 
Plymouth City Council, Foreign business investment is driving high value jobs in 
Plymouth. Published: 13 March 2023. Available at: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/foreign-business-investment-driving-high-value-
jobs-plymouth 
 
Local government metrics 

Children Services Data  
Department for Education, Explore Education Statistics, published: n.d. Available at: 
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/ 
 
Adult Social Care Data 
NHS Digital, Adult Social Care Activity and Finance Report, England, 2023–24, 
published: 31 October 2024. Available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report/2023-
24 [digital.nhs.uk] 
 
Local Government Association, LG Inform, published: n.d. Available at: 
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/ [lginform.l...cal.gov.uk] 
 
 
 

 

Page 234

https://naturalengland-defra.opendata.arcgis.com/datasets/areas-of-outstanding-natural-beauty-england
https://www.data.gov.uk/dataset/65bf62c8-eae0-4475-9c16-a2e81afcbdb0/os-open-roads1
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/maps/2bbaef5230694f3abae4f9145a3a9800
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/maps/12baf1e6a44441208ffe5ba5ed063a68
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/maps/31dac98df61a4312991646842b147e2f
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/maps/85eafa24d3d14fdabe8a5537e84f486c
https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/maps/729ef47ece1d486c883248d71bc3921f
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/nominalandrealregionalgrossvalueaddedbalancedbyindustry
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/datasets/nominalandrealregionalgrossvalueaddedbalancedbyindustry
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/ukbusinessregisterandemploymentsurveybresprovisionalresults2023revisedresults2022
https://www.ons.gov.uk/releases/ukbusinessregisterandemploymentsurveybresprovisionalresults2023revisedresults2022
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/foreign-business-investment-driving-high-value-jobs-plymouth
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/foreign-business-investment-driving-high-value-jobs-plymouth
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

Local government initiatives 

 
Key Cities Key Cities: The network that speaks for urban UK. (n.d.).  Available at: 
https://keycities.uk 
 
UK Government (Homes England). Tens of thousands of new homes delivered for 
communities across England. Published 17 May 2024. Available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/tens-of-thousands-of-new-homes-delivered-
for-communities-across-england 
 
Plymouth City Council, Plymouth City Council and Homes England launch new City 
Centre Vision. Published: 27 March 2025. Available at: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/plymouth-city-council-and-homes-england-
launch-new-city-centre-vision 
 
Plymouth City Council. Plymouth bus service improvements. Published: April 2025 
Available at: https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/bus-improvements. 
 
Plymouth City Council. Plymouth and South Devon Freeport. Available at: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth-and-south-devon-freeport. 
 
Plymouth City Council, Launching Team Plymouth: A united city, driving defence 
innovation and opportunity for all. Published: 19 September 2025. Available at: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/launching-team-plymouth-united-city-driving-
defence-innovation-and-opportunity-all 
 
Plymouth City Council, Driving Growth in Plymouth Brochure. Published: 2019. 
Available at: 
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s94752/Visitor%20plan%20cabinet%2
0report%20v5%20PK.pdf 
 
Plymouth Sound National Marine Park. Homepage – Plymouth Sound National 
Marine Park. Published: n.d. Available at: 
https://plymouthsoundnationalmarinepark.com/ 
 
 
Financial data sources 

 
Plymouth City Council, Council Tax Base Setting and Council Tax Support Scheme 
2025/26. Published: 14 January 2025. Available at: Decision - Council Tax Base 
Setting and Council Tax Support Scheme 2025/26 - Modern Council 
 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Local authority revenue expenditure and financing England: 2025 to 2026 budget individual 
local authority data. Published: 19 June 2025. 
Available at: GOV.UK – Local authority revenue expenditure and financing 2025 to 
2026 [gov.uk] 

Page 235

https://keycities.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/tens-of-thousands-of-new-homes-delivered-for-communities-across-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/tens-of-thousands-of-new-homes-delivered-for-communities-across-england
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/plymouth-city-council-and-homes-england-launch-new-city-centre-vision
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/plymouth-city-council-and-homes-england-launch-new-city-centre-vision
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/bus-improvements
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouth-and-south-devon-freeport
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/launching-team-plymouth-united-city-driving-defence-innovation-and-opportunity-all
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/news/launching-team-plymouth-united-city-driving-defence-innovation-and-opportunity-all
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s94752/Visitor%20plan%20cabinet%20report%20v5%20PK.pdf
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s94752/Visitor%20plan%20cabinet%20report%20v5%20PK.pdf
https://plymouthsoundnationalmarinepark.com/
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=112484
https://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=112484
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2025-to-2026-budget-individual-local-authority-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2025-to-2026-budget-individual-local-authority-data
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/local-authority-revenue-expenditure-and-financing-england-2025-to-2026-budget-individual-local-authority-data


  
 

Appendix to Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Final Proposal  
November 2025 
 
 

 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 2025-26 Local 
precepting authorities in England: Council Tax data spreadsheet. Published: 25 April 2025. 
Available at: Live tables on Council Tax - GOV.UK 
 
South Hams District Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 
June 2025. Available at: https://www.southhams.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-
06/SH%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf 
 
West Devon Borough Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 
June 2025. Available at: https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-
06/WD%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf 
 
Mid Devon District Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 13 
June 2025. Available at: MDDC Statement of Accounts 2024/25 
 
North Devon Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: June 2025. 
Available at: Draft statement of accounts 2024-25 
 
East Devon District Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 30 
June 2025. Available at: eddc-statement-of-accounts-2024-25_draft_.pdf 
 
Exeter City Council Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 22 August 2025. 
Available at: statement-of-accounts-2024-25-unaudited.pdf 
 
Teignbridge District Council Draft Statement of Accounts 2024-25. Published: 4 
July 2025. Available at: 2024-25-draft-statement-of-accounts-with-strata.pdf 
 
Torbay Council Statement of Accounts 2023-24. Published: August 2024. Available 
at: Microsoft Word - Torbay SOA draft 2023-24 v1.1 
 

Page 236

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-council-tax
https://www.southhams.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-06/SH%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf
https://www.southhams.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-06/SH%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf
https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-06/WD%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf
https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-06/WD%20Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/media/357530/draft-mddc-statement-of-accounts-2024-25.pdf
https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-06/Draft%20Statement%20of%20Accounts%202024-25.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/media/mc4dq4wf/eddc-statement-of-accounts-2024-25_draft_.pdf
https://exeter.gov.uk/media/uupfwhqq/statement-of-accounts-2024-25-unaudited.pdf
https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/media/23pesxmy/2024-25-draft-statement-of-accounts-with-strata.pdf
https://www.torbay.gov.uk/media/20822/unaudited-draft-accounts-23-24.pdf


Local Government 
Reorganisation

Project details
Assessment author

Joseph Harmer on behalf of the LGR team.

Project summary

This assessment covers Plymouth's proposal for Local Government Reorganisation. 

This Climate Impact Assessment has been undertaken to evaluate the environmental implications of submitting a 
proposal for Local Government Reorganisation for Devon.  

Plymouth City Council is acting in response to a formal government request and does not hold decision-making 
authority over the implementation of reorganisation, which remain subject to future decisions by the Secretary of 
State. Accordingly, this assessment evaluates only the strategic intentions stated in the document, based on the 
foreseeable environmental effects of the proposal.

Summary of assessment

It is important to note that the likely climate impacts of implementing this proposal, or any competing proposals, are 
very uncertain at this stage. There is significant uncertainty regarding future governance arrangements mandated by 
central government, service delivery models, and spatial planning frameworks across Devon, all of which would 
materially influence environmental outcomes. These uncertainties preclude a robust assessment of long-term 
climate consequences at this stage. 

The large geographical scope and long timescales for the delivery of the proposal, coupled with the absence of a 
complete baseline environmental profile of the existing administrative area, make it difficult to assess whether the 
proposal will enhance or degrade the environment, relative to the current situation or competing proposals. The 
proposal affects a wide range of geographies, from urban areas to rural parishes and the coast. The proposal can 
affect the medium- and long-term future of the areas in ways that cannot be fully anticipated at this stage. In 
addition, climate change introduces non-linear and unpredictable pressures on the environment, making forecasting 
difficult. 

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 1 of 5

Page 237



However, this assessment demonstrates the strategic commitment of the Council to transparency and 
environmental responsibility throughout the process and will support further assessment and mitigation planning on 
a case-by-case basis should implementation proceed.

Assessment scores

Biodiversity

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

Biodiversity impacts will vary significantly depending on land use changes and development density across the area. 
Many of these impacts, such as habitat fragmentation, species migration, or tree canopy maturity, unfold over 
decades. Development projects will take place regardless of Local Government Reorganisation, and can have both 
beneficial or adverse impacts. For example, while tree planting programmes (such as the Plymouth and South Hams 
Community Forest) offer long-term benefits, construction and infrastructure expansion will cause ecological 
disruption. 

The proposal states that “rural heritage is recognised and cherished” as part of the vision for the Plymouth area. It 
commits to strategic planning that “respects local character, protects green spaces, and ensures infrastructure 
keeps pace with growth.” In addition, the proposal for Plymouth builds on a robust planning framework that already 
integrates biodiversity protection; the Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon Joint Local Plan. 

The expansion of urban governance into rural areas could pose risks to biodiversity if not carefully managed. 
Equally, this expansion may improve coordination across ecological zones. The proposal’s emphasis on local 
engagement and safeguarding rural identity present opportunities to better protect biodiversity.

GHG Emissions

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

Assessing the likely impact of the proposed reorganisation on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions presents significant 
methodological challenges and could only be speculative at this stage. The scope of the proposal is broad, 
encompassing multiple sectors and jurisdictions, and the outcomes depend on numerous variables beyond the 
control of the reorganised authority. These include future investment decisions, national policy shifts, and 
behavioural responses across diverse communities. For this reason, the proposal is assessed as having a neutral 
impact on GHG emissions. 

Despite the limitations in quantification, the proposal demonstrates a clear strategic intention to uphold best 
environmental practice. Plymouth City Council’s Net Zero Action Plan, which targets net zero by 2030, is explicitly 
committed to being scaled across the wider Greater Plymouth area. This extension builds on a robust existing 
strategy and is supported by major investment in low-carbon transport, district heating, and waste reform.  

Existing environmental frameworks, including the Joint Local Plan, provide continuity and safeguards against 
emissions increases due to development. The proposal acknowledges public concerns, particularly regarding 
overdevelopment, loss of green space, and urban-led governance. These risks underscore the importance of 
inclusive environmental governance and tailored planning protections for rural areas.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 2 of 5

Page 238



Renewable Energy

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on renewable energy generation, primarily due to the difficulty 
of quantifying outcomes at this stage. The scope of the reorganisation is broad, and the deployment of renewable 
energy infrastructure depends on multiple external factors, including national policy, market conditions, and local 
planning decisions.  

While the proposal does not explicitly prioritise renewable energy, it includes several elements that support low-
carbon energy systems. Plymouth’s participation in the Advanced Zoning Pilot for district heating is a notable 
example, with potential to facilitate low-carbon heat networks. The proposal also references the Planning and 
Infrastructure Bill and the potential development of a Spatial Development Strategy for the Peninsula Mayoral 
Strategic Authority, both of which could enable coordinated regional planning for renewable energy infrastructure.

Ocean and Waterways

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on waterways and ocean health. This reflects the difficulty of 
evaluating outcomes in this domain, given the wide geographic scope of the reorganisation and the number of 
external variables involved. Marine and coastal ecosystems are influenced by national regulation and planning, and 
infrastructure delivery, much of which lies beyond the control of the reorganised authorities. 

While the proposal does not include a dedicated strategy for marine and coastal environments, it references several 
initiatives that support ocean health, in particular the UK’s first National Marine Park, with funding for public 
engagement, marine conservation, and sustainable economic development. The proposal mentions collaboration 
with the Environment Agency, SouthWest Water, and the National Trust, though not specifically in relation to marine 
health.

Air Quality

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on air quality. This reflects the difficulty of determining 
outcomes at this stage, given the wide scope of the reorganisation and the number of external variables involved. 
While transport habits are influenced by individual behaviour, local authorities retain significant control over 
development patterns, transport infrastructure, and planning policy, all of which shape air quality outcomes.  

The proposal includes reference to current transport and planning measures that may support improved air quality, 
particularly in urban areas, with, for example, improvements to public transport, and successful partnerships 
(Plymouth Enhanced Bus Partnership and Peninsula transport). While the proposal is not intended as a 
comprehensive environmental strategy, its strategic direction shows good practice.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 3 of 5

Page 239



Materials and Waste

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on waste and materials management.  

This reflects the difficulty of evaluating long-term environmental outcomes arising from administrative 
reorganisation. While local authorities retain control over service design, infrastructure investment, and operational 
standards, the environmental impact of these changes will ultimately depend on behavioural responses, such as 
household participation in recycling schemes and food waste separation.

The proposal does not include a quantified waste reduction target or an assessment of how reorganisation will 
affect waste generation or recycling performance in Devon. These outcomes will be shaped by future service 
decisions and the extent to which behavioural change is supported and sustained. 

In Plymouth and the 13 parishes of the South Hams, the proposal demonstrates a strategic intention to align waste 
services with environmental best practice, with the introduction of food waste collections and the proposed 
integration of waste services across the Greater Plymouth area. These measures may over time improve operational 
efficiency and reduce emissions.

Climate Change Adaptation

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

The proposal is assessed as having a neutral impact on climate adaptation. This reflects the inherent difficulty in 
evaluating adaptation outcomes at this stage, given the wide scope of the reorganisation and the number of external 
variables involved. Climate adaptation depends on long-term planning, behavioural change, and infrastructure 
delivery, much of which lies beyond the immediate control of the reorganised authorities. 

Despite these limitations, the proposal demonstrates a strategic intention to support climate resilience through 
infrastructure, planning, and governance in the Plymouth and South Hams. 

Public engagement highlights the importance of environmental resilience to residents. South Hams respondents 
raised concerns about infrastructure strain and planning pressures, while Plymouth residents emphasised safety, 
green infrastructure, and community resilience. These concerns reinforce the need for inclusive governance and 
locally tailored adaptation strategies.

Education / Engagement / Enabling Conditions

Score

(3) No impact or neutral impact

Score justification

In relation to environmental issues, Plymouth City Council supports community-led climate initiatives, including 
behaviour change campaigns and local partnerships. Plymouth’s Net Zero Delivery Team facilitates the Climate 
Connections engagement platform and Plymouth Young Climate Ambassadors, engaging residents and young 
people in shaping the city’s climate action plans. 

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 4 of 5

Page 240



In relation to community empowerment, the proposal puts forward Neighbourhood Networks to bring together 
councillors, parish representatives, and community organisations. 

South Hams residents expressed a strong desire to retain local decision-making and protect rural identity, while 
Plymouth residents emphasised the need for trust-building, inclusive governance, and environmental education. 
Both groups valued green spaces, community pride, and responsive governance.  

The proposal appears to respond directly to these concerns, particularly through its Neighbourhood Networks and 
community empowerment model. It builds on existing strengths in Plymouth’s community engagement practice and 
proposes to extend these across the enlarged authority.

Climate Impact Assessment

LOC-7756-25

20-10-2025

Local Government Reorganisation LOC-7756-25 20-10-2025 FINAL 5 of 5

Page 241



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 1 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT – LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION 
FINAL PROPOSAL 
SECTION ONE: INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSAL 

Author(s): 

The person completing the 
EIA template. 

Emmanuelle Marshall Department and service: LGR Project Team Date of 
assessment: 

06/10/2025 

Lead Officer: 

Head of Service, Service 
Director, or Strategic 
Director. 

Ross Jago Signature: Approval 
date: 

04/11/2025 

Overview: This Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) accompanies Plymouth City Council’s submission to Government proposing the 
reorganisation of local government across Devon. The proposal responds to the Government’s invitation issued 
alongside the English Devolution White Paper in December 2024, which sets out a national framework for structural 
reform. Plymouth’s strategic case for change seeks to establish a more coherent and efficient governance model. The 
proposed changes aim to simplify service delivery, improve democratic accountability, and better reflect the functional 
geography of the region. If accepted, the proposed authorities would be operational from 1st April 2028. At this stage, 
the proposal remains subject to public consultation and central government decision. This EIA therefore focuses on the 
strategic intentions of the proposal and its potential equality and human rights implications, rather than implementation 
arrangements, which will be assessed separately if the proposal is implemented. This is both because the proposal 
remains subject to central government decision, and because it concerns an expanded geographical area outside of the 
Plymouth administrative boundary. Any future equality considerations arising from implementation under Plymouth’s 
jurisdiction will be addressed through separate assessments at the appropriate stage. 

Decision required: To note the content of this Equality Impact Assessment of Plymouth City Council’s Draft Local Government 
Reorganisation Proposal for Devon.  

SECTION TWO: EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT SCREENING TOOL  

Potential external impacts: 

• Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact service users, communities or
residents with protected characteristics?

Yes  No 

P
age 242



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 2 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Potential internal impacts:  

Does the proposal have the potential to negatively impact Plymouth City Council employees? 

Yes   No   

Is a full Equality Impact Assessment required? (if you have answered yes to either of the 
questions above then a full impact assessment is required and you must complete section 
three).        

Yes   No   

If you do not agree that a full equality impact assessment is required, please set out your 
justification for why not. 

N/A 

 

SECTION THREE: FULL EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 243



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 3 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

P
age 244



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 4 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Age Plymouth 

• Children (0-15 years) 17.4% 
• Working age (16-64 years) 64.1% 
• Older people (65+ years) 18.5% 

Southwest 

• 15.9 per cent of people are aged 0 to 
14, 61.8 per cent are aged 15 to 64.  

• 22.3 per cent are aged 65 and over. 

England  

• 17.4 per cent of people are aged 0 to 
14. 

• 64.2 per cent of people are aged 15 to 
64. 

• 18.4 per cent of people are aged 65 
and over. 

(2021 Census) 

Engagement from people with the 
protected characteristic of age 

Older adults between the ages of 55 and 74 
accounted for 313 respondents, or nearly 
50% of all age-disclosing participants. 

9 respondents in South Hams and 5 
respondents in Plymouth were between the 
ages of 16 and 24 

Additionally, a youth-specific event was held 
in Plymouth. 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage.  

This is what we have learned 
so far in our consultation. 

Feedback from youth groups 
in our consultation (p.4 
Engagement report) indicates 
concerns about potential 
inequalities in access to 
services and representation. 
Young people highlighted the 
need for youth-led spaces, 
better transport, mental 
health support and 
involvement in decision-
making. Young people in rural 
communities in particular 
highlighted accessibility 
challenges.  

Older residents in rural areas 
may be concerned about 
reduced access to healthcare 
and transport during the 
process of reorganisation.  

Concerns were expressed 
during engagement about 
health inequalities and 
inequality of service between 
urban and rural communities. 

Continuity in service 
delivery for children and 
adults is a priority.  

Mitigation plans for 
service continuity during 
reorganisation will be 
developed and delivered 
to ensure these 
ambitions are realised 
and risks are minimised 
should the proposal be 
selected by the Secretary 
of State. 

Not known yet. 

 

Care 
experienced 
individuals 

It is estimated that 26 per cent of the 
homeless population in the UK have care 
experience. In Plymouth there are currently 7 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Continuity in service 
delivery for children and 
adults is a priority.  

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 245



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 5 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

(Note that as per 
the Independent 
Review of 
Children’s Social 
Care 
recommendations, 
Plymouth City 
Council is treating 
care experience 
as though it is a 
protected 
characteristic).  

per cent of care leavers open to the service 
(6 per cent aged 18-20 and 12 per cent of 
those aged 21+) who are in unsuitable 
accommodation. 

The Care Review reported that 41 per cent 
of 19–21-year-old care leavers are not in 
education, employment or training (NEET) 
compared to 12 per cent of all other young 
people in the same age group.  

In Plymouth there are currently 50 per cent 
of care leavers aged 18-21 Not in Education 
Training or Employment (54 per cent of all 
those care leavers aged 18-24 who are open 
to the service). 

There are currently 195 care leavers aged 18 
to 20 (statutory service) and 58 aged 21 to 24 
(extended offer). There are more care leavers 
aged 21 to 24 who could return for support 
from services if they wished to. 

A total of 50 care-experienced individuals 
participated in the engagement process, 
representing approximately 6.1% of all survey 
respondents across Plymouth and the South 
Hams. This includes 35 respondents from the 
South Hams and 15 from Plymouth 

Broader themes relevant to 
this group were raised in the 
engagement, including 
concerns about access to 
children’s services, continuity 
of care, stability, and the 
importance of youth-led 
spaces and mental health 
support. These issues were 
particularly evident in the 
youth engagement sessions 
and in feedback relating to 
service integration and 
safeguarding. 

 

The needs of care-
experienced young 
people are recognised in 
the proposal.  

Mitigation plans for 
service continuity during 
reorganisation will be 
developed and delivered 
to ensure our ambitions 
for care experienced 
individuals are realised 
and risks to them are 
minimised, should the 
proposal be selected by 
the Secretary of State. 

 

P
age 246



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 6 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

Disability 9.4 per cent of residents in Plymouth have 
their activities limited ‘a lot’ because of a 
physical or mental health problem.  
12.2 per cent of residents in Plymouth have 
their activities limited ‘a little’ because of a 
physical or mental health problem (2021 
Census) 
 
150 respondents to the Plymouth and South 
Ham’s surveys identified as having a disability 
or long-term health condition that limits daily 
activities. 
This represents approximately 18.3% of all 
survey participants (150 out of 824). 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Potential changes to service 
delivery, transport and 
healthcare provision resulting 
from the integration of the 
South Hams could 
disproportionately affect 
disabled residents who rely 
on accessible services.  

While the engagement report 
does not disaggregate 
feedback from disabled 
respondents, the themes of 
digital inclusion, accessible 
service delivery, and local 
responsiveness were 
consistently raised and are 
particularly relevant to this 
group. 

The proposal aims to 
improve strategic 
coordination of SEND 
services.  

Wider concerns from 
this group will be 
considered in the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that the 
reorganisation does not 
disadvantage people with 
disabilities and that 
inclusive service design 
principles are upheld, 
should the proposal be 
selected by the Secretary 
of State. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 247



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 7 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

• Gender 
reassignment 

0.5 per cent of residents in Plymouth have a 
gender identity that is different from their sex 
registered at birth. 0.1 per cent of residents 
identify as a trans man, 0.1 per cent identify as 
non-binary and, 0.1 per cent identify as a 
trans woman (2021 Census).  
 
Approximately 0.6% of all survey participants 
indicated that their gender identity is different 
from the sex assigned at birth. 

The proposal does not 
include any measures that are 
foreseen to disadvantage or 
adversely affect individuals or 
groups with the protected 
characteristic of gender 
reassignment, transgender 
and non-binary individuals. At 
this strategic stage, no 
specific adverse impacts have 
been identified, but this 
group has specific safety, 
healthcare and community 
support needs that must be 
considered during 
implementation.  

The Council recognises 
the importance of 
inclusive service design 
and equitable 
representation. Should 
the proposal proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through further 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 248



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 8 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

Marriage and 
civil partnership 

40.1 per cent of residents have never married 
and never registered a civil partnership. 10 
per cent are divorced, 6 percent are 
widowed, with 2.5 per cent are separated but 
still married. 

0.49 per cent of residents are, or were, 
married or in a civil partnership of the same 
sex. 0.06 per cent of residents are in a civil 
partnership with the opposite sex (2021 
Census). 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Differences in the way 
services are delivered in the 
two areas to be aggregated, 
may result in indirect impacts 
such as changes to housing, 
benefits, or family services 
that will need mitigating if and 
when the programme 
reaches the delivery stage.  

The Council is 
committed to treat 
individuals in all 
relationship statuses 
fairly and equitably. 
Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

The total fertility rate (TFR) for England was 
1.62 children per woman in 2021. The total 
fertility rate (TFR) for Plymouth in 2021 was 
1.5. 

No adverse impacts are 
anticipated at this early stage. 

Service changes that may 
result from the proposal 
could affect access to public 
health interventions during 
pregnancy, access to early 
years and family support. 
These risks will be reviewed 
and addressed as and when 
the programme reaches 
implementation stage. 

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 249



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 9 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

• Race • In 2021, 94.9 per cent of Plymouth’s 
population identified their ethnicity as White, 
2.3 per cent as Asian and 1.1 per cent as 
Black (2021 Census) 
People with a mixed ethnic background 
comprised 1.8 per cent of the population. 1 
per cent of the population use a different 
term to describe their ethnicity (2021 
Census) 
92.7 per cent of residents speak English as 
their main language. 2021 Census data show 
that after English, Polish, Romanian, Chinese, 
Portuguese, and Arabic are the most spoken 
languages in Plymouth (2021 Census). 
 
South Hams Survey 
Out of 403 respondents to the South Hams 
survey, 288 individuals (71.46%) identified as 
White. A total of 10 respondents (2.48%) 
identified as belonging to ethnic minority 
groups, including 2 Asian or Asian British 
(0.50%), 2 Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Groups 
(0.50%), and 6 categorised as Other (not 
stated) (1.49%). Additionally, 5 respondents 
(1.24%) selected “Prefer not to say,” and 100 
respondents (24.81%) did not provide an 
answer to the ethnicity question. 
 
Plymouth Survey 
Of the 421 respondents to the Plymouth 
survey, 290 individuals (68.88%) identified as 
White. A total of 11 respondents (2.61%) 
identified as belonging to ethnic minority 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have an 
adverse impact on individuals 
or communities on the basis 
of race. BME respondents 
contributed to the 
consultation, but numbers 
are quite small, affecting the 
robustness of the data. 
Cultural needs and 
experiences of discrimination 
may be overlooked in service 
design and governance 
changes if and when the 
reorganisation programme 
reaches the implementation 
stage. 

 

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments and 
engagement, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 250



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 10 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

groups, comprising 3 Asian or Asian British 
(0.71%), 3 Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Groups 
(0.71%), 1 Black, Black British, Caribbean or 
African (0.24%), and 4 categorised as Other 
(not stated) (0.95%). In addition, 12 
respondents (2.85%) selected “Prefer not to 
say,” and 108 respondents (25.65%) did not 
answer the ethnicity question. 

• Religion 
or belief 

48.9 per cent of the Plymouth population 
stated they had no religion. 42.5 per cent of 
the population identified as Christian (2021 
Census).  
Those who identified as Muslim account for 
1.3 per cent of Plymouth’s population while 
Hindu, Buddhist, Jewish or Sikh combined 
totalled less than 1 per cent (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have an 
adverse impact on individuals 
or communities based on 
religion or belief. However, 
the risk that cultural needs 
and experiences of 
discrimination may be 
overlooked in service design 
and governance changes is 
noted and will be acted upon 
if and when the proposals are 
implemented.  

Should the proposal 
proceed to 
implementation, the 
Council will ensure that 
the specific needs of this 
group are considered 
through future 
assessments, in line with 
its statutory duties and 
commitment to inclusive 
service delivery. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 251



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 11 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

Protected 
characteristics 
(Equality Act, 
2010) 

Evidence and information (e.g. data and 
consultation feedback) 

Adverse impact Mitigation activities  Timescale and 
responsible department 

• Sex 51 per cent of our population are women and 
49 per cent are men (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have a direct 
adverse impact on women. 
However, women may be 
disproportionately affected 
by any changes to transport, 
safety, and community 
services that may indirectly 
result from the 
implementation of this 
proposal, especially if caring 
responsibilities are not 
considered when the delivery 
stage is reached.  

Should the proposals be 
accepted by central 
government, further 
work will be undertaken 
during the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that women’s 
needs and voices are 
considered.  

Not known yet. 

 

• Sexual 
orientation 

88.95 per cent of residents aged 16 years and 
over in Plymouth describe their sexual 
orientation as straight or heterosexual. 2.06 
per cent describe their sexuality as bisexual, 
1.97 per cent of people describe their sexual 
orientation as gay or lesbian. 0.42 per cent of 
residents describe their sexual orientation 
using a different term (2021 Census). 

The proposals are not 
anticipated to have a direct 
adverse impact on LGBTQ+ 
people. The needs or 
experiences of LGBTQ+ 
residents, particularly around 
safety and inclusion, could be 
overlooked in service design 
and governance changes. This 
risk will be addressed if and 
when the programme 
reaches the delivery stage.  

Should the proposals be 
accepted by central 
government, further 
work will be undertaken 
during the 
implementation phase to 
ensure that LGBTQ+ 
residents needs and 
voices are considered. 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 252



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 12 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

 

SECTION FOUR: HUMAN RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS  

• Human Rights Implications Mitigation Actions   Timescale and 
responsible department 

 The proposal does not explicitly 
reference human rights legislation. 
However, its strategic design supports 
several rights under the Human Rights 
Act 1998. These include rights relating 
to non-discrimination, private life, and 
access to services. Risks to rights are 
minimal at the proposal stage but will 
require careful management during 
implementation, particularly in relation 
to service continuity and inclusive 
governance. 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained. 

 

Not known yet.  

SECTION FIVE: OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES   

Equality objectives  Implications Mitigation Actions   Timescale and 
responsible department 

Work together in partnership to: 

 promote equality, diversity and 
inclusion 

 facilitate community cohesion   

 support people with different 
backgrounds and lived experiences 
to get on well together 

The proposal aligns with Plymouth City 
Council’s equality objectives by 
embedding inclusive governance 
principles, protecting local identity, and 
promoting community cohesion. It 
supports equality and diversity through 
co-designed neighbourhood 
governance, inclusive engagement 
frameworks, and strategic service 
integration. The proposal also 
recognises the importance of lived 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained by central 
government.  

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 253



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 13 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

experience, particularly among young 
people and rural communities. 

Give specific consideration to care 
experienced people to improve their life 
outcomes, including access to training, 
employment and housing. 

The proposal supports improved 
outcomes for care-experienced people 
by committing to integrated service 
delivery across the Greater Plymouth 
area, including children’s social care, 
housing, and employment support. It 
builds on Plymouth’s existing 
transformation programme, which 
includes multi-agency Family Help 
services, targeted support for 
adolescents, and strategic coordination 
of housing and education. The proposal 
ensures continuity of care and access 
to opportunities for care-experienced 
individuals across the expanded 
geography, aligning with the Council’s 
objective to improve life chances 
through inclusive, joined-up services. 

None at this stage. This objective 
will be pursued during the 
implementation stage if and when 
the proposal is retained by central 
government. 

 

Not known yet. 

 

Build and develop a diverse workforce 
that represents the community and 
citizens it serves.  

This objective is not explicitly 
addressed in the proposal, but the 
proposal doesn’t adversely impact our 
ambition to achieve this. 

This objective may need to be 
addressed separately or 
incorporated into future 
implementation planning. In the 
continuing authority status the 
proposal seeks to secure, this 
objective would continue to be 
pursued. 

Not known yet. 

 

Support diverse communities to feel 
confident to report crime and anti-social 
behaviour, including hate crime and hate 
incidents, and work with partners to 
ensure Plymouth is a city where 
everybody feels safe and welcome.  

This objective is not explicitly 
addressed in the proposal, but the 
proposal doesn’t adversely impact our 
ambition to achieve this. 

This objective may need to be 
addressed separately or 
incorporated into future 
implementation planning. In the 
continuing authority status the 

Not known yet. 

 

P
age 254



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 Page 14 of 14 

OFFICIAL 

proposal seeks to secure, this 
objective would continue to be 
pursued. 

 

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



November 2025 1

C

Plymouth City Council’s  
Local Government Reorganisation 
Engagement Report  
November 2025 
 

Plymouth City Council Devolution  
and Local Government Reform Team

Page 257



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report2

C

CONTENTS

Executive summary 											           3

Context 													             3

Overview of the engagement process 								        3

The Gunning principles 										          3

Summary of findings 											          4

Engagement website 											          8

Facilitated conversations 										          9

Media and building awareness 									         10

Stakeholder meetings 										          11

South Hams survey demographic analysis 							       16

South Hams survey key LGR questions 							       19

South Hams Big Community Conversation events 					     26

Plymouth survey demographic analysis 							       33

Plymouth survey key LGR questions 								        35

Plymouth Big Community Conversation events 						      48

Plymouth Youth Big Community Conversation events 	 				    52

Page 258



November 2025 3

C

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Context 
Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) is a UK Government initiative to simplify council structures and devolve more power 
to local areas. Plymouth City Council has responded to this call by proposing a modest expansion of its boundary to include 
13 neighbouring parishes currently within South Hams District Council. This proposal aims to create a more sustainable, 
efficient, and strategically aligned local authority that better reflects the economic and social realities of the region.

The Council has already submitted its interim proposal to Government and is now developing a detailed proposal, due 
in November 2025. As part of this process, Plymouth City Council undertook a second phase of engagement to ensure 
the proposal is informed by local perspectives and reflects the needs and aspirations of communities across the proposed 
new boundary. At the time the engagement was undertaken Plymouth City Council was developing proposals for the 
wider Devon and therefore engagement was focused on Plymouth's immediate neighbours and City. Engagement was 
designed to respond to the Government's formal request that: 

“New unitary structures should enable stronger community engagement and deliver genuine opportunity  
for neighbourhood empowerment.
n	 Proposals will need to explain plans to make sure that communities are engaged.
n	 Where there are already arrangements in place it should be explained how these will enable strong 

community engagement.”
*MHCLG invitation letter 5 February 2025 

This report summarises the engagement activity carried out with residents and other key stakeholders on 
the Council’s LGR proposals and their vision for the future of their local areas. It provides an overview of 
the feedback received during the engagement period and the conclusions which can be drawn. 

Overview of the engagement process 
The engagement process section of this report sets out the detailed activities that were undertaken to raise awareness 
and gather feedback.   

The awareness raising mechanisms included: social media posts by Plymouth City Council and through CAN-Digital; 
emails to stakeholder contacts; briefings with stakeholders, the local MPs, political parties and councillors; facilitated 
conversation events with residents, press releases, hardcopy surveys available on request; and poster and leaflet 
distribution to businesses, schools, community buildings, GPs, dentists and pharmacies. 

Information was shared and feedback was gathered through the dedicated project website, 19 community facilitated 
conversations, a survey hosted online and in hard copy format; presentations and 1-2-1 meetings with stakeholders. 

The Gunning principles 
The approach to the engagement was designed to be in-line with the Gunning principles: 

1. 	Was the engagement carried out a formative stage? 
	 n	 Yes: The engagement is taking place while Plymouth City Council is still developing its detailed proposal for Local 	

	 Government Reorganisation (LGR), ahead of a formal submission in November. Therefore, the process is still 		
	 open to influence.

2. 	Was sufficient information provided? 
	 n	 Yes: The communications provide a clear explanation of what LGR is, what the Council’s proposal is, FAQs 

	 addressing concerns and queries from the initial round of engagement early in the year. Detailed web pages 		
	 continued to be updated throughout the engagement when additional enquiries were submitted.  

3. 	Was there adequate time for consideration and response? 
	 n	 Yes: Events were held over multiple weeks, in different venues, at different times of day, to enable people to 		

	 attend at a time and location suitable for them. The survey was online for four weeks. 

4. 	Was their conscientious consideration of the feedback? 
	 n	 Yes: Resident engagement activity in this phase had concluded before the summer period to give adequate time 		

	 for evaluation so the feedback could influence the final submission in November. 

Page 259



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report4

C

Summary of findings  
The engagement process undertaken by Plymouth City Council between May and August 2025 has provided a rich 
and detailed picture of public sentiment across both Plymouth and the 13 South Hams parishes proposed for inclusion 
in  an expanded Plymouth. The findings reveal a complex landscape of shared aspirations, divergent concerns, and clear 
expectations for how local government should evolve to better serve communities.

The views from residents 
Shared themes across Plymouth and South Hams
Across both Plymouth and the South Hams parishes, there is a strong sense of place and pride in local identity. Residents 
value their communities for their natural beauty, social cohesion, and access to essential services. There is widespread 
support for the principle of local decision-making, with many respondents expressing a desire for governance that is 
responsive, transparent, and rooted in local knowledge.

Service quality is a recurring theme. Waste and recycling services, healthcare access, education, and transport 
infrastructure are consistently highlighted as priorities. While digital services are appreciated for their convenience, there 
is a clear expectation that councils must continue to offer face-to-face and telephone options, particularly for vulnerable 
residents and those in rural or digitally excluded areas.

Environmental protection is another unifying concern. Respondents across both areas emphasise the importance of 
safeguarding green spaces, promoting sustainability, and ensuring that future development does not compromise the 
character or ecological integrity of their communities.

Differences in feedback between Plymouth and South Hams
The most striking difference in feedback relates to the proposed boundary expansion. From those we spoke to in  
South Hams, there was significant resistance to being absorbed into Plymouth City Council. Many residents fear that 
their rural identity will be diluted, that urban priorities will dominate decision-making, and that services tailored to small 
communities will be lost. There is also concern about planning pressures, overdevelopment, and the potential erosion of 
local representation.

In contrast, Plymouth residents are more focused on the opportunities that reorganisation might bring. They express a 
desire for improved infrastructure, more affordable housing, better public transport, and enhanced cultural and economic 
vibrancy. While concerns about service quality and governance persist, the tone is generally more optimistic and future-
oriented.

These differences underscore the need for Plymouth City Council to approach the final proposal with sensitivity and 
nuance. The proposal must demonstrate how the needs of both urban and rural communities will be met, and how 
governance structures will ensure fair representation and service delivery across the expanded area.

Youth perspectives
Young people in Plymouth provided thoughtful and forward-looking feedback. They value the city’s green spaces, cultural 
venues, and sense of safety, but they also want more youth-led spaces, better transport, and improved mental health 
support. Their vision for Plymouth in 2050 includes a city that is inclusive, well-connected, and full of opportunity, with 
affordable housing, strong job prospects, and a vibrant cultural life.

This feedback highlights the importance of engaging younger residents in the planning process. Their priorities reflect long-
term aspirations that should inform the design of services, infrastructure, and community engagement strategies.

Local governance and representation
Feedback from South Hams residents strongly emphasised the importance of parish councils in maintaining local identity, 
accountability, and community cohesion. Many expressed concern about the future role of these councils under any 
new governance arrangements, seeking reassurance that their influence and autonomy would not be diminished. There 
was a clear desire to preserve the hyper-local governance that parish councils provide, especially in rural settings where 
community ties are strong. Additionally, the engagement revealed widespread confusion about the current two-tier 
system of local government. Many participants conflated the roles of parish, district, and county councils, often attributing 
responsibilities incorrectly. This highlights a need for clearer communication and education around governance structures, 
both in the current system and any proposed changes, to ensure residents feel informed and empowered. 

Page 260



November 2025 5

C

Accessing services
The engagement revealed a clear preference for a blended model of service delivery. Residents want the flexibility to 
access services digitally, by phone, or in person, depending on the nature of the issue and their personal circumstances. 
Libraries and community hubs are seen as vital access points, particularly in rural areas.

Plymouth City Council must ensure that any future service model is inclusive and adaptable. This includes investing 
in digital infrastructure and skills, maintaining physical service locations, and designing systems that are intuitive and 
accessible to all.

Communication and engagement preferences
Effective communication is essential to building trust and ensuring meaningful participation in local government. 
Throughout the engagement process, residents across both Plymouth and South Hams consistently expressed a desire 
to be genuinely involved in shaping decisions that affect their communities. There is a clear distinction made between 
meaningful engagement and what many perceive as tokenistic or “tick-box” exercises. People want to feel that their voices 
are not only heard but also acted upon, and that their input has a tangible influence on outcomes.

Face-to-face engagement was particularly valued. Many participants highlighted the importance of being able to speak 
directly with council officers in community settings, where conversations could be open, honest, and responsive. These 
interactions were seen as more personal and trustworthy than digital or written communications alone. The facilitated 
conversation events were widely praised for creating space for dialogue, and there is a strong appetite for these to 
continue beyond the current phase of engagement.

In the South Hams, Parish Councils emerged as a vital conduit for communication and representation. Residents view 
their Parish Councils as trusted, accessible, and deeply embedded in the fabric of local life. They want to see these councils 
empowered and actively involved in any future governance arrangements. Many respondents indicated that they would 
prefer to receive updates and participate in consultations through their Parish Councils, which they see as more attuned 
to local needs and concerns than larger, more centralised bodies.

To meet these expectations, Plymouth City Council must have an inclusive and flexible approach to engagement, 
recognising that different communities and individuals have different preferences and levels of access. Transparency, 
responsiveness, and follow-through will be critical. Residents want to see how their feedback is being used and to be  
kept informed of progress and decisions in a timely and accessible manner.

Ultimately, the success of the Local Government Reorganisation proposal will depend not only on the strength of the 
proposal but also on the quality of the relationships built with communities. Engagement must be ongoing, not episodic, 
and rooted in a genuine commitment to co-design and collaboration.

Page 261



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report6

C

The views from stakeholders 
The feedback gathered from stakeholders throughout the engagement process reflects a wide range of perspectives, 
but can largely be grouped under a set of consistent themes. These themes; governance and representation, service 
equity, financial transparency, planning and development, and community engagement including youth voice, mirror those 
identified through resident engagement and provide a useful framework for understanding the priorities, concerns, and 
aspirations expressed by partners across sectors. While each stakeholder brought a distinct lens shaped by their role or 
industry, there is a clear convergence around the need for strategic clarity, inclusive decision-making, and a commitment to 
delivering tangible benefits for communities across the proposed expanded authority.

Governance and representation
Stakeholders broadly recognised the potential for a more strategic and coherent governance model, with benefits in 
national influence and operational alignment. However, concerns were raised about democratic representation, particularly 
for rural communities, and the future role of parish councils. Questions around boundary choices and the risk of 
centralised decision-making highlighted the need for reassurance that local voices would remain influential.

Service equity
There was strong support for improving service consistency across the region, especially in housing, education, health, 
and safeguarding. The expansion was seen as a chance to better coordinate delivery, but stakeholders warned that growth 
must be matched by infrastructure and funding. Concerns included the sustainability of emergency services, health 
inequalities, and the risk of rural areas being underserved. In education, particular emphasis was placed on the implications 
for Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) provision, with questions around capacity, funding (including the High 
Needs Block), and the ability to meet statutory responsibilities. School leaders highlighted the need for clear planning to 
avoid delays in specialist placements, ensure continuity in Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) processes, and prevent 
resource dilution across a wider catchment.

Financial transparency
Financial clarity was a recurring theme. Stakeholders sought reassurance that the reorganisation would deliver value for 
money, with clear plans for council tax harmonisation, funding allocation, and cost-efficiency. There were questions about 
whether the scale of change justified the investment, and whether rural service costs might outweigh projected savings.

Planning and development
Planning was one of the most discussed areas. Stakeholders saw opportunities in unlocking land-led development, 
attracting investment, and aligning infrastructure strategies. However, there were concerns about the loss of rural planning 
expertise and the risk of marginalising smaller communities. The need for integrated planning across housing, health, and 
emergency services was widely emphasised.

Community engagement and youth voice
The Council’s engagement efforts were welcomed, with calls for continued dialogue and broader inclusion. Stakeholders 
encouraged the use of varied communication channels and more targeted forums, particularly for Small and Medium 
Enterprises (SMEs) and sector-specific groups. Youth voice was highlighted as a priority, with suggestions to embed 
generational perspectives into future planning and investment.

Additional considerations 
Some feedback extended beyond these core themes. Environmental and recreational partners called for better liaison 
and coordination, particularly around the coast path. The construction sector advocated for a local capability hub and 
stronger procurement strategies. Concerns were also raised about implementation timelines, regional collaboration, and 
the capacity of Plymouth’s leadership to manage the expanded authority effectively.

Page 262



November 2025 7

C

Considerations for the final proposal
As Plymouth City Council prepares its final submission to Government, it must address several critical considerations:

Governance and representation: The proposal must outline how rural communities will be represented within the 
expanded authority. This includes exploring models which maintain and enhance parish councils, or advisory fora.

n	 Service equity: The proposal should demonstrate how services will be maintained or improved across all areas, 
with particular attention to rural needs, transport connectivity, healthcare access, and waste management. In 
education, stakeholders highlighted the importance of ensuring sufficient capacity and resourcing to meet increased 
demand, particularly for SEND provision. The transition must be carefully managed to avoid disruption to statutory 
responsibilities and ensure continuity for families and professionals.

n	 Financial transparency: Concerns about council tax harmonisation, funding allocation, and debt inheritance must be 
addressed clearly and credibly. Stakeholders want to understand how resources will be managed, including the financial 
implications of absorbing additional responsibilities such as SEND, and whether the reorganisation will deliver value for 
money without compromising service quality.

n	 Planning and development: The proposal should promote strategic planning that respects local character, protects 
green spaces, and ensures infrastructure keeps pace with growth to meet the needs of the expanded authority.

n	 Community engagement: Ongoing engagement must be built into the governance model. Residents want to be 
part of the decision-making process, not just consulted at key milestones. Mechanisms for feedback, participation, and 
accountability should be embedded in the proposal.

n	 Youth inclusion: The views of young people must be reflected in the final proposal. Their priorities for housing, 
transport, education, and wellbeing are essential to shaping a future-ready city.

n	 Local capability and procurement: Consideration should be given to how the expanded authority will support 
local economic resilience through procurement and investment.

Page 263



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report8

C

ENGAGEMENT APPROACH

The engagement launched on 29 May 2025 with Plymouth City Councilissuing a press release announcing the engagement. 
This also included the launch of the engagement platform (Have Your Say Today - Big Community Conversation - 
Commonplace)

Engagement website 
The LGR engagement website was launched on 29 May 2025 to communicate information about the Council’s proposals 
and the engagement opportunities, including the online survey. 

From the launch, anyone could register to stay informed on the Council’s plans by subscribing to email updates. This was 
done through the project website homepage.  

A detailed Frequently Asked Questions section was updated throughout the engagement in response to questions raised 
from the community. Project updates were communicated through a ‘Latest News Post’ and this was emailed to all 
registrants of the project website. 

For example, on the 12 June, those signed up for updates received an alert signposting them to additional FAQs that had 
been added to the website regarding ‘Understanding Local Government’, ‘More about Plymouth City Council’ and the 
impact our proposals will have on the local parish/town councils in South Hams. 

From 29 May until 4 August there were 816 subscribers to the project website and 11,431 visitors.

Surveys
Two separate surveys were conducted, one for residents living within Plymouth’s existing boundary, and another for those 
in the 13 South Hams parishes. The South Hams survey ran from 29 May to 10 July, while the Plymouth survey was open 
from 1 July to 3 August.

While both surveys were broadly similar, they were tailored slightly to reflect the different contexts and existing 
knowledge about each area. Their shared aim was to explore residents’ perceptions of their local area and their 
aspirations for the future. Each survey gathered both quantitative and qualitative feedback, not only on the Council’s 
proposals but also on wider community priorities.

Open-text responses were included throughout and have been thematically coded. The survey findings section includes 
tables showing the number of mentions for each theme. 

An online survey was hosted on the Big Community Conversation website and printed copies of the survey were also 
available on request or at the facilitated conversation events. 

A total of 824 people had their say across both surveys. 

Page 264

https://bigcommunityconversation.commonplace.is/
https://bigcommunityconversation.commonplace.is/


November 2025 9

C

Facilitated conversation events 
A series of Big Community Conversation events were held between May and July 2025. These events were designed 
to gather insights from residents and stakeholders to help shape the Council’s detailed proposal for submission to 
Government.

A total of 19 events were held:

n	 13 events in each of the proposed parish areas in South Hams

n	 6 events in the centre / north / south / east and west of Plymouth city boundaries and a specific event for young 
people in Plymouth. 

All events were held in accessible community venues and were open to any resident, regardless of location, allowing 
flexibility for attendees to choose the most convenient session.

South Hams Parish Events 
n	 Shaugh Prior: (Monday 9 June) at Lee Moor Village Hall, 10am to 12noon

n	 Sparkwell: (Tuesday 10 June) at Sparkwell Parish Hall, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Cornwood: (Monday 16 June) at Cornwood Village Hall, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Harford: (Tuesday 17 June) at Lukesland Gardens, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Ugborough: (Friday 20 June) at Ugborough Village Hall, 7pm to 9pm

n	 Ivybridge: (Saturday 21 June) at The Watermark Centre, 3pm to 5pm

n	 Brixton: (Tuesday 24 June) at Brixton Community Centre, 2.30pm to 4.30pm

n	 Yealmpton: (Wednesday 25 June) at Yealmpton Methodist Church, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Ermington: (Thursday 26 June) at Ermington Community Hub, 10am to 12noon

n	 Wembury: (Saturday 28 June) at Wembury War Memorial Hall, 10am to 12noon

n	 Newton and Noss: (Wednesday 2 July) at Newton and Noss Village Hall, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Holbeton: (Thursday 3 July) at Holbeton Village Hall, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

n	 Bickleigh: (Thursday 10 July) at Woolwell Centre, 6.30pm to 8.30pm

Plymouth city events
n	 City Centre: (Monday 21 July) at the Council House, Armada Way, PL1 2AA

n	 Plympton: (Tuesday 22 July) at the Rees Centre Family and Wellbeing Hub, Mudge Way, PL7 2PS

n	 Estover: (Thursday 24 July) at the ELM Wellbeing Hub, Leypark Walk, PL6 8UE

n	 Barne Barton: (Monday 28 July) at The Barn Family Hub, Kit Hill Crescent, PL5 1EJ

n	 Elburton: (Tuesday 29 July) at Coombe Dean Academy, Charnhill Way, PL9 8ES

Plymouth youth event 
n	 City Centre: (Wednesday16 July) at the Council House, Armada Way, PL1 2AA open for all young people  

aged 12-18 years old. 

In total: 489 people attended events 

Page 265



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report10

C

Meetings with other stakeholders / representatives of organisations, businesses and 
groups
A series of meetings with representatives of organisations, businesses and groups in the South Hams and within Plymouth 
who were willing to provide qualitative feedback on the proposals. Notes of these meetings were captured and fed into 
this report. This included: 

n Parish Councils		  n Devon Chamber of Commerce 		  n Plymouth Regeneration Forum
n Plymouth Growth Board	 n Plymouth Housing Development Partnership	 n Plymouth Manufacturers Group
n Local Care Board Executive Group and Delivery Group 			   n Local universities / schools
n Fred Thomas MP		  n Luke Pollard MP				    n Rebecca Smith MP

Media and building awareness
A media and digital communications campaign was launched, which included issuing press releases to the local media, 
inclusion in resident newsletters, organic social media campaign. The aim of the campaign was to raise awareness and to 
encourage attendance at the events and the completion of survey responses by using targeted digital advertising across 
Facebook, Instagram and Google Ads.  

Our multi-channel approach ensured broad visibility and effective targeting, significantly boosting participation in the LGR 
consultation. For example: 

Thirteen Parishes: Delivered via CANN Digital and in-house ads, with strong performance on Meta and Google Display.

Plymouth Residents: Area-specific ads (e.g. Estover, Barne Barton, Elburton) generated high reach and engagement.

Youth Engagement: Snapchat ads reached over 30,000 users, with the highest impressions among 18–24s and most clicks 
from 25–34s.

Community Promotion: Posts in 19 local Facebook groups supported in-person event attendance.

This resulted in: 

n	 Platforms Used: Meta (Facebook and Instagram), Google Display, Snapchat, Nextdoor, LinkedIn, and local Facebook 
groups.

n	 Total Impressions: Over 2.1 million across all platforms.

n	 Total Reach: Over 100,000 individuals engaged.

n	 Total Clicks: More than 9,000 direct link clicks to the consultation.

In addition:

n	 Three press releases were issued, resulting in media coverage in publications e.g. The Herald and online at Plymouth 
Live / Devon Live / BBC Spotlight etc. 

n	 Promotion was included in four editions of Plymouth City Council’s weekly e-newsletter, which is distributed to 26,000 
residents 

n	 Social media posts on Facebook, X, Instagram, LinkedIn and Nextdoor.

n	 Staff communications to encourage Plymouth City Council staff to participate in the consultation in their capacity as 
residents who live and work in Plymouth or the South Hams.

n	 Posters and flyers were distributed to community venues, schools, dentists, GP surgeries, libraries and pharmacies. 

Page 266



November 2025 11

C

STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK

A series of meetings have been held with stakeholder to capture their views on the proposals. Industry specific 
presentations were created to outline the benefits of LGR to each sector. A number of the meetings, due to the large 
number of people attending, interactive feedback software was also used to capture feedback. Below is a summary of the 
discussions: 

Parish Councils 
Over the course of our engagement programme, Plymouth City Council has held one-to-one meetings with clerks and 
chairs from all 13 affected parish councils – Bickleigh, Shaugh Prior, Sparkwell, Brixton, Wembury, Cornwood, Harford, 
Ugborough, Ivybridge, Ermington, Yealmpton, Holbeton, and Newton and Noss. These discussions were followed by a 
Parish Conference on 19 March 2025, providing a platform for collective dialogue and feedback.

Over the past few months, Plymouth City Council also encouraged further participation, with many Parish Council’s 
attending the Big Community Conversation events held in their local area. Some parish councils have expressed 
dissatisfaction with the LGR process and have formally requested that Plymouth City Council cease future direct 
engagement. Whilst efforts to build an ongoing relationship have not been successful there has been productive dialogue.

While an initial approach to neighbourhood governance proposals was discussed, further announcements from the 
Government relating to “Area Committees” means that our approach will be developmental, which parish councils will 
be welcomed to join. The parishes we met expressed a preference for a parish council forum with their future principal 
authority, along the same lines as was recently started by the South Hams District Council. 

While there was recognition of the potential for improved service delivery – particularly in areas such as transport, 
housing, and economic development – they emphasised the importance of maintaining a rural-urban balance. The Parish 
Councils acknowledged the strategic economic ties between Plymouth and surrounding areas but stressed the need for 
any transition to respect the distinct character of rural communities. Practical concerns were also raised around council 
tax harmonisation, service continuity, and staffing, highlighting the need for clear planning and communication throughout 
the reorganisation process. 

Luke Pollard MP (22/08/25)
Luke Pollard MP expressed strong support for Plymouth City Council’s LGR proposals. He welcomed the engagement 
efforts, particularly the Big Conversation events, and appreciated the Council’s coordination with other medium-sized, 
boundary-constrained cities. Mr Pollard also emphasised the importance of Plymouth remaining a Continuing Authority.

Marjon University (28/08/25)
Marjon’s feedback sought clarity on the regional picture and raised questions about devolved skills funding, which is 
particularly relevant to them as an education provider. While they acknowledged the potential benefits of economies of 
scale and coherent planning, they cautioned that boundary changes might simply shift existing problems. Specific concerns 
were raised around education, including school places and SEND provision. 

Plymouth Manufacturers Group (29/08/25)
The Plymouth Manufacturers Group provided a pragmatic and strategically focused perspective on the LGR proposals 
reflecting its businesses are located in Plymouth and the 13 parishes. Their feedback centred on the potential implications 
for business operations, future business support packages, investment confidence, and infrastructure development. A key 
concern was the continuity of services during the transition, particularly regarding planning applications, and how the 
reorganisation might affect access to central government grants. The group also highlighted a perceived tension between 
urban and rural priorities, questioning how the proposal would support future planning opportunities, including energy 
provision and hydrogen infrastructure.

Participants saw opportunities in clearer governance structures, reduced bureaucracy, and more joined-up infrastructure 
planning. Concerns were raised about the cost of delivering rural services potentially outweighing efficiency gains. 
There was strong interest in improving transport links, both regionally and nationally, to support industrial growth and 
international connectivity. The potential to leverage the Freeport, attract Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 
(STEM) investment, and develop industrial business parks on the city’s fringes was seen as a positive step toward 
economic resilience.

Page 267



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report12

C
The group emphasised the importance of maintaining and enhancing existing communication channels with the Council. 
They praised current engagement mechanisms and relationships with Council officers, and recommended continued 
support for forums and roundtables that include SMEs as well as larger firms. 

Suggestions included appointing dedicated liaison officers, developing a well-informed online business hub, and ensuring 
that procurement practices support local companies. Overall, the group expressed cautious optimism, with a clear desire 
for strategic clarity, inclusive engagement, and tangible benefits for the business community.

Plymouth Housing Development Partnership (01/09/25)
The Plymouth Housing Development Partnership (PHDP) identified clear opportunities in aligning infrastructure, housing, 
and service delivery across a wider geography. The expansion was seen as a chance to unlock land-led development, 
improve coordination with utility providers, and build investor confidence, particularly in the delivery of affordable housing 
and strategic planning for schools, SEND provision, and homelessness services.

There was strong support for the idea that a larger authority could enable more consistent and efficient service delivery, 
with better economies of scale and shared learning. Stakeholders highlighted the potential for new towns and larger-scale 
developments, while also emphasising the importance of maintaining a focus on smaller rural sites that make a meaningful 
difference to local communities. The proposal was viewed as a way to extend Plymouth’s proactive and “can-do” approach 
to planning and development across a broader area.

However, concerns were raised about the pace and sequencing of infrastructure delivery, with fears that housing growth 
could outstrip essential services such as transport, utilities, and education. The potential loss of rural planning expertise 
and the centralisation of decision-making in Plymouth were seen as risks, particularly for smaller villages. The identity of 
rural communities was a recurring theme, with some stakeholders expressing discomfort at the idea of being absorbed 
into a city-led authority that may not reflect their distinct character or priorities.

There were queries around the implications for Local Housing Allowance (LHA) calculations and the continuity of 
services during the transition. The partnership called for enhanced collaboration with developers and service providers, 
and for mechanisms such as S106 agreements to be used strategically to support local priorities. Communication was a 
key theme, with strong support for the existing PHDP forum and calls to use a range of channels, including social media, 
local media, interactive mapping tools, and in-person meetings - to keep stakeholders informed and engaged. The group 
also urged the Council to consider the generational dimension of the project, ensuring that the needs of young people are 
reflected in future planning and investment.

Page 268



November 2025 13

C

Devon and Cornwall Police (03/09/25)
Chief Constable Vaughan provided a clear endorsement of unitary local government from a policing perspective. He 
noted that single tier governance could simplify operations and partnerships, particularly safeguarding, and enable clearer 
alignment. While some structural adjustments would be needed, such as estate planning and some safeguarding service 
reconfiguration, the overall assessment was that unitary governance was operationally sound.

Plymouth Regeneration Forum (04/09/25)
Participants explored the rationale behind the use of parish boundaries rather than district ones, queried the minimum 
population size required by government, and asked whether there was sufficient political consensus to support the 
proposal. Concerns were voiced about the democratic implications of reorganisation, the potential impact on staffing and 
service continuity, and the risk of smaller communities being overlooked during the transition. 

A recurring theme was the frustration within the construction sector regarding the lack of recognition of local capability. 
Stakeholders called for the creation of a Construction Capability Hub and a more strategic approach to procurement that 
prioritises local expertise and protects the “Plymouth pound.” 

Participants identified opportunities for a stronger collective voice at the national level, improved infrastructure planning, 
and more cohesive development across the region. The proposal was seen as a chance to reduce duplication, streamline 
service delivery, and attract both government and private investment - particularly in housing, jobs, and environmental 
infrastructure. 

However, concerns remained about resourcing, the time lag for implementation, and the risk of decision-making vacuums. 
Participants warned that prioritising cost savings could undermine service delivery if not matched by adequate staffing and 
investment. 

Participants emphasised the need for a joined-up regional approach that fosters collaboration rather than competition 
between cities like Plymouth and Exeter and stressed the importance of balancing growth with sustainability and 
resilience.

LCP Delivery Group (NHS) (04/09/25)
 NHS colleagues raised important questions about population growth, funding settlements, and health inequality. They 
queried whether the government would increase funding to match the expanded population and whether the proposal 
would genuinely reduce deprivation or simply shift statistics. Concerns were also raised about wellbeing hub capacity and 
the need for ongoing involvement in planning.

South West Coast Path Association (04/09/25)
The association welcomed the opportunity for improved engagement with Plymouth City Council, noting that the expanded 
boundary would include more of the coast path. They highlighted missed grant opportunities and the need for better liaison 
arrangements.

University of Plymouth (09/09/25)
The University appreciated the briefing and expressed a strong civic commitment to the city. They asked detailed 
questions about governance, boundaries, and political implications, including whether parts of West Devon had been 
considered and how services would be managed post-expansion. They were interested in whether formal support was 
being sought and offered to engage further.

Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service (12/09/25)
The Fire Service found the meeting helpful but raised concerns about the sustainability of services and the lack of 
coterminous boundaries. They noted that this could be costly in the long term. However, they saw opportunities in a more 
aggregated service model and expressed interest in strategic partnerships, including with Cornwall.

Page 269



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report14

C

Rebecca Smith MP (11/09/25)
Rebecca Smith MP expressed scepticism about the proposal and raised concerns about the timetable. She highlighted 
worries about the status and impact on parish council assets and services, particularly around precepts and service 
duplication and reflected a preference for a smaller expansion.

Plymouth Growth Board (18/09/25)
The Plymouth Growth Board expressed clear and unequivocal support for Plymouth City Council’s proposals around 
Local Government Reorganisation. Members highlighted that the move would simplify service delivery and infrastructure 
development, particularly in areas where people live and work across current administrative boundaries. The proposal 
was seen as a logical step that aligns with the city’s economic footprint, housing targets, and travel-to-work patterns. It 
was also noted that the inclusion of the 13 parishes made geographical sense and would help reduce duplication and 
complexity in services such as planning, education, and care. 

While there was some concern about the logistics of transitioning to a unitary authority and the potential disruption 
to statutory services, the Board acknowledged that financial modelling and risk assessments were underway to address 
these issues. Questions were raised about the overlap with devolution plans, particularly the proposed Peninsula Mayoral 
Strategic Authority, and the exclusion of Cornwall from current discussions. Despite these complexities, the Board 
concluded that the Plymouth proposition is well-founded and should be unequivocally supported, as it complements the 
city’s long-term economic strategy and ambitions for growth.

Arts University Plymouth (AUP) (22/09/25)
Expressed strong support for the proposals. The university welcomed the opportunity for greater coordination between 
Plymouth’s three universities and City College and saw potential for a more unified regional approach to education. 

They considered this critical, noting that while institutions are national providers, there is a risk of overlooking regional 
needs. Strengthening reach into the wider region and engaging a broader demographic was seen as fundamental, and the 
expansion of Plymouth aligns well with this priority. AUP would support further consolidation of education provision, 
believing the proposals could help broker deeper collaboration between universities and colleges. 

They also recognised wider issues affecting Plymouth as a coastal city, particularly transport challenges that impact 
students’ ability to access education. There was hope that the proposals could accelerate improvements to city centre 
links and infrastructure, especially for those from rural communities. The university highlighted that its current 9 to 4 
culture is shaped by these limitations, and expanding the city’s borders could create opportunities to make studying more 
accessible. They also noted the potential for job creation and improved ability to service employment needs across a 
larger area. AUP encouraged consideration of the positive implications for the wider region, suggesting that even a modest 
population increase could reflect the city’s ambition.

Schools Headteacher and Trust Leads Briefing (26/09/25)
Schools expressed a mix of cautious optimism and a number of questions regarding the potential impacts of Plymouth 
City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) on education delivery, particularly in relation to SEND provision. 
There was recognition that the reorganisation could simplify processes for families living on the fringes of Plymouth,  who 
currently navigate between two local authorities.

A key theme is the anticipated increase in the number of pupils with SEND and the potential transfer of SEND schools 
from Devon to Plymouth. Headteachers identified the need for clarity on whether these schools will remain under 
Devon's jurisdiction or move to Plymouth, and the implications for existing plans to expand specialist placements. The 
timing of these developments in relation to needs assessment and planning processes was noted as requiring careful 
consideration.

The financial implications were discussed, particularly around the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Designated Schools 
Grant (DSG), which is under pressure due to costly independent placements. The transfer of Devon's HNB deficit and the 
approach to managing this within the new authority structure formed part of the discussion.

Operational considerations were also highlighted, including the increased demand on school transport, the transition of 
EHCPs to Plymouth's system, and the associated statutory responsibilities. The capacity and resourcing requirements for 
the Plymouth Education Team to manage a wider geographical remit, including outreach, health services, and multi-agency 
coordination, were identified as areas requiring planning. The need for clear processes during the transition period - 
particularly around EHCP reviews and funding agreements - was noted to ensure continuity for families and professionals.

Page 270



November 2025 15

C

Fred Thomas MP (03/10/25) 
Fred Thomas MP was supportive of the proposals and highlighted the positive impact that Plymouth’s expansion could 
have on the work being undertaken around HM Dockyard. He emphasised the importance of ensuring that the future 
expanded council maintains its focus on all communities across Plymouth, recognising that growth should not come at the 
expense of existing residents and neighbourhoods. He stressed the need for balanced investment and attention to both 
new and established areas within the expanded Plymouth.

Chamber of Commerce (08/10/25) 
The overall sentiment from businesses attending the Devon and Plymouth Chamber of Commerce meeting was cautiously 
optimistic, with many recognising the potential benefits of Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation 
proposal, while also raising important concerns about implementation and long-term impact. 

Businesses saw clear potential in the proposal to streamline public services and achieve economies of scale, particularly in 
transport, housing, and infrastructure. 

Many welcomed the idea of a stronger, more unified voice for Plymouth at the national level, which could attract greater 
investment and improve regional visibility. There was enthusiasm for improved support for start-ups, apprenticeships, 
and local procurement, alongside hopes for a more joined-up skills agenda and better access to business support across 
the wider geography. Some also highlighted the opportunity to simplify service structures and reduce red tape, making it 
easier to do business locally. 

Despite the optimism, several concerns were raised. Businesses questioned whether Plymouth City Council could 
effectively represent and support rural areas, noting the risk of urban-centric decision-making. There were worries about 
the financial implications of absorbing new areas, particularly around debt and infrastructure costs. Some feared a dilution 
of focus on growth and innovation during the transition period, and others highlighted the need for inclusive governance 
structures to ensure all voices are heard. The potential for disruption to existing business support services and the need 
for clearer strategic alignment across the region were also noted. 

Looking ahead, businesses expressed a desire for more global-facing opportunities, improved transport links, and a 
stronger regional brand that benefits all areas. There was a call for greater collaboration between unitary authorities, 
consistent support for multi-location businesses, and a focus on local recruitment and skills development. Importantly, 
businesses want to see continued engagement, with open channels for feedback, early involvement in decision-making, and 
communication that is inclusive, responsive, and transparent.

Page 271



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report16

C

SOUTH HAMS SURVEY (DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS)

The following section presents the demographic information that was collected from respondents to the full survey. The 
survey recorded key demographic data that aids the project team’s understanding of who took part in the engagement 
exercise. Demographic data was collected in an optional personal information section of the survey.

It is important to note that none of the below questions were compulsory. 

Which parish do you live in? 
When completing the questionnaire, respondents were asked to provide their postcode. The total number of survey 
respondents for this question was 403. Most respondents were from Ivybridge (which has the largest population of the  
13 parishes). 

Your Parish Count Percentage
Ivybridge 104 25.81% 
Newton and Noss 50 12.41%
Brixton 47 11.66%
Ugborough 33 8.19%
Bickleigh 32 7.94%
Wembury 30 7.44%
Ermington 24 5.96%
Holbeton 21 5.21%
Yealmpton 14 3.47%
Cornwood 12 2.98%
Plymouth 10 2.48%
Sparkwell 9 2.23%
Shaugh Prior 6 1.49%
No parish identified 4 0.99%
Harford 2 0.50%
Modbury 1 0.25%
Cullompton 1 0.25%
South Brent 1 0.25%
Kingsbridge 1 0.25%
Saltash 1 0.25%
Grand Total 403

Age 
The table below demonstrates a wide range of respondents from different age groups. Of those who provided their age, 
the age groups with the largest number of respondents were people aged between 55-64 (21 per cent) and people aged 
between 65-74 (15 per cent) 

Age Count Percentage
Not given 95 23.57%
16-19 1 0.25%
20-24 3 0.74%
25-34 18 4.47%
35-44 38 9.43%
45-54 55 13.65%
55-64 85 21.09%
65-74 62 15.38%
75-84 36 8.93%
85+ 4 0.99%
Prefer not to say 6 1.49%
Grand total 403

Page 272



November 2025 17

C

Work status 
The table below demonstrates the working status of each participant. Of those who responded to this question in the 
survey, the majority (37 percent) are working full time. However, many (32 per cent) were retired.  

Work status Count Percentage
No answer 54 13.40%
In full-time education 4 0.99%
In part-time education 1 0.25%
Not in employment 8 1.99%
Not in employment but actively looking 2 0.50%
Retired 127 31.51%
Working full time 148 36.72%
Working part time 59 14.64%
Grand Total 403

Care experience 
Plymouth City Council recognises that care experience is an additional protective characteristic. Of those who answered 
the question, 35 people stated that they have experience of the children’s social care system. 

Care experience? Count Percentage
No answer 80 19.85%
No 267 66.25%
Prefer not to say 21 5.21%
Yes 35 8.68%
Grand Total 403

Armed Forces 
As part of our commitment to the Armed Forces, Plymouth City Council asks people if they currently or have previously 
served in the Armed Forces. Of those who answered the question nearly eight per cent have served, or are currently 
serving in the Armed Forces. 

Armed Forces Count Percentage
No answer 93 23.08%
No 266 66.00%
Prefer not to say 12 2.98%
Yes 32 7.94%
Grand Total 403

Sex
We asked all participants what their sex at birth.

Sex Count Percentage
Female 164 40.69%
Male 137 34.00%
Prefer not to say 12 2.98%
No answer 90 22.33%
Grand Total 403

Page 273



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report18

C

Gender 
We asked all participants if their gender identity is the same as the sex they were registered with at birth. 

Gender Count Percentage
Yes 296 73.45%
No 2 0.50%
Prefer not to say 8 1.99%
No answer 97 24.07%
Grand Total 403

Disability
We asked all participants if day-to-day activities are limited due to a health problem or disability expected to last  
12+ months.

Disability Count Percentage
Yes, limited a lot 11 2.73%
Yes, limited a little 35 8.68%
Prefer not to say 14 3.47%
No 250 62.03%
No answer 93 23.08%
Grand Total 403

Ethnicity 
We asked all participants to define their ethnicity. 

Ethnicity Count Percentage
White 288 71.46%
Prefer not to say 5 1.24%
Other (not stated) 6 1.49%
Mixed or multiple ethnic groups 2 0.50%
Asian or Asian British 2 0.50%
No answer 100 24.81%
Grand Total 403

Page 274



November 2025 19

C

South Hams survey key LGR questions (Online and Paper)
The total number of responses to the full survey was 403. The following section sets out the full analysis. Any 
demonstrable differences in findings by respondent type are stated within the commentary for those questions.  

Qualitative data has been coded for themes and one response may contain multiple themes. This means that the number 
of themes mentioned in a thematic table may exceed the number of responses to that question.

Responses in this section include feedback received from the online and paper survey.

Again, none of these questions were compulsory. 

What do you consider your local area? 
This was a free text question, to enable the participants to define the ‘place’ in which they live and identify with. While the 
survey was targeted at residents in South Hams, the responses show that people tend to define their local area in terms 
of specific parishes and towns rather than broader regional labels – highlighting a place-based identity rooted in immediate 
communities.

Answer Count Additional commentary provided 
Ivybridge and 
Surrounding 
Areas 

122 Ivybridge is overwhelmingly the most frequently cited local area. 
However, it was often mentioned alongside nearby villages: Bittaford, Ugborough, Ermington, Modbury, 
Cornwood, Lee Mill, and South Brent. 
Indicates a strong sense of local identity tied to the town and its immediate rural surroundings. 

South Hams 
(General 
or Multiple 
Locations) 

84 Many respondents refer to “South Hams” either generally or in combination with specific towns and 
villages. 
Reflects a regional identity that encompasses multiple communities. 
Some explicitly state “South Hams NOT Plymouth,” showing resistance to urban association. 

Brixton, 
Yealmpton, 
Wembury, and 
Newton and 
Noss Cluster 

63 These villages are frequently grouped together, suggesting a shared community or travel-to-work area. 
Newton and Noss and Yealmpton are often mentioned with Holbeton and Battisborough Cross. 

Plymouth and 
Surrounding 
Urban Areas 

27 A minority of respondents identify Plymouth or its suburbs (Plymstock, Crownhill) as their local area. 
Some mention the “Plymouth travel-to-work area,” suggesting functional ties rather than cultural ones. 
A few responses explicitly reject Plymouth as part of their local identity. 

Woolwell, 
Roborough, 
Bickleigh 

22 Woolwell is a prominent local identifier, often linked with Roborough and Bickleigh. 
Some respondents associate Woolwell with Plymouth, while others distinguish it from the city. Reflects 
a semi-urban fringe identity. 

Modbury, 
Kingsbridge, 
Totnes, 
Salcombe 

18 These towns are often mentioned in combination. 
Reflecting a broader South Devon identity, especially in coastal and market town contexts. 

Holbeton and 
Surrounding 
Villages 

17 Holbeton is frequently grouped with Newton and Noss, Yealmpton, and Battisborough Cross. Indicates 
a strong rural community cluster. 

South Devon 
/ Dartmoor 
/ National 
Landscapes 

12 Some respondents refer to South Devon or Dartmoor National Park as their local area. 
Highlights environmental and landscape-based identity. 

Other Villages 
and Parishes 

11 These are often mentioned in combination with larger towns like Ivybridge or grouped by parish. 
Reflects dispersed rural identities. 

Sherford 8 Sherford is emerging as a distinct local area, often mentioned with Elburton, Brixton, and Plympton. 
Reflects its growing role in regional development. 

General 
Radius-Based 
Definitions 

5 A few respondents define their local area by proximity rather than named locations. 
Indicates a functional or travel-based understanding of locality. 

Not Plymouth 4 This was where people are explicit in their answer and don’t provide any other detail.  

Other  2 Didn’t provide an exact location – but said ‘countryside’ or ‘moors’ 

Page 275



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report20

C

Where is your work or education based?   
This was a free text question, to enable the participants to define where they work and identify the links between the 
parishes and Plymouth. The majority of respondents who are in work or education are based in Plymouth, underscoring the 
city’s role as a key employment and education hub for South Hams residents. This highlights strong functional ties between 
rural parishes and the urban centre. However, a notable number also work from home or in nearby towns like Ivybridge, 
reflecting the impact of hybrid working and the importance of local centres. The diversity of responses, including national and 
online roles, shows that while Plymouth dominates, work and education are increasingly decentralised and flexible.

Answer Count Additional commentary provided 
Plymouth 76 Many respondents gave further details (eg Derriford) 
Other named locations 
outside of South Hams or 
Plymouth 

60 Numerous other locations are mentioned, including towns, villages, and institutions 
across the UK such as Paignton, Teignbridge, Tavistock, Torbay, London, and nationwide 
or online roles. 

Work from home 27 A substantial number of respondents work or study from home, showing the impact of 
remote arrangements and hybrid working models. 

Ivybridge 24 Ivybridge is a significant local centre for work and education, with many respondents 
based here, including voluntary and hybrid roles. 

Other South Hams towns 
and villages 

14 Many respondents work or study in South Hams towns and villages such as Modbury, 
Brixton, Yealmpton, Wembury, Holbeton, and Newton Ferrers, indicating strong local ties. 

Kingsbridge 6 Kingsbridge is mentioned as a work or education base, showing its role in the local 
economy and services. 

Totnes 7 Totnes and Dartington are cited for work and education, reflecting their cultural and 
educational institutions. 

Cornwall 4 Cornwall appears in a few responses, indicating cross-border commuting or study. 
Exeter 3 Exeter is mentioned occasionally, likely due to its university and regional services. 

Where do you do most of your shopping? 
Shopping habits show a strong reliance on Ivybridge and Plymouth, with Ivybridge slightly ahead as the most frequently 
cited local destination. Lee Mill also features prominently, especially for supermarket access. The results highlight a blend 
of local loyalty and urban convenience, with many respondents also shopping online or in nearby towns and villages. This 
suggests that while South Hams residents value local options, they also depend on larger centres and digital platforms for 
variety and accessibility.

Answer Count Commentary
Ivybridge 84 Ivybridge is a key local shopping destination, frequently mentioned for its convenience and range of 

stores including Tesco and local shops.
Plymouth 78 Plymouth is a major urban shopping centre, cited for its city centre, supermarkets, and retail parks 

including Plymstock and Plympton.
Lee Mill 61 Lee Mill is popular for its large Tesco store and proximity to surrounding villages, often mentioned 

alongside Ivybridge.
Online 56 Online shopping is widely used for convenience, accessibility, and delivery services, especially among 

those with mobility needs or preferences for remote shopping.
Remainder; 
local, own village, 
smaller town

28 Many respondents shop locally in South Hams villages such as Modbury, Yealmpton, Wembury, Newton 
Ferrers, and South Brent, supporting small businesses and local convenience.

Plymstock/ 
Plympton

22 These suburban areas within Plymouth are popular for supermarket shopping and are often mentioned 
alongside Plymouth or Lee Mill.

Other named 
locations 

18 Includes less common or more dispersed shopping areas such as Saltash, Yelverton, Elburton, and Marsh 
Mills, as well as general terms like “local” or “varied.”

Totnes 14 Totnes is known for its independent shops and market town atmosphere, attracting shoppers from 
nearby areas.

Exeter
10 Exeter is a regional shopping destination with large retail outlets and services, mentioned by those 

willing to travel further.

Woolwell/ 
Roborough

10 Woolwell and Roborough serve as local shopping hubs for nearby communities, with mentions of Tesco 
and Lidl.

Tavistock 7 Tavistock is mentioned occasionally, likely for its market and traditional shopping experience.
Kingsbridge 7 Kingsbridge offers local shopping options for nearby rural communities and is occasionally mentioned 

alongside Totnes and Modbury.
Not Plymouth 2 This is where people have been explict with their answers. 

Page 276



November 2025 21

C

Where do you spend the most time socialising or taking part in cultural activities? 
The responses show a balance between local engagement and regional travel, with many participants socialising or taking 
part in cultural activities across Devon, including Plymouth and Ivybridge. This suggests that while local towns and villages 
provide accessible options, residents are willing to travel for broader cultural experiences - highlighting both the value of 
nearby amenities and the importance of regional connectivity for leisure and social life.

Answer Count
Across Devon for restaurants, pubs, theatres, beaches, outdoors etc 67
Ivybridge 63
Plymouth 59
Wider South Hams 48
Stay local for pubs, walks, cafes, beaches 24
Not Plymouth 3

What is good about the area where you live? 
This was a free text question. The responses highlight a deep appreciation for community spirit and the natural 
environment, with many residents valuing the friendliness, supportiveness, and social cohesion of their local areas. The 
beauty and tranquillity of the countryside, coastline, and Dartmoor are also central to people’s sense of place. A strong 
rural identity, combined with access to essential amenities, contributes to a balanced lifestyle. While fewer respondents 
mentioned governance or transport, the overall sentiment reflects pride in living in a safe, clean, and well-connected area 
with a strong sense of belonging.

Theme Count Commentary
Community 
spirit

114 Residents consistently praised the friendliness, supportiveness, and strong social bonds within their 
communities. Many highlighted local groups, activities, and the sense of knowing one another, which 
contributes to a vibrant and inclusive atmosphere.

Natural 
environment

100 The beauty of the countryside, coastline, Dartmoor, and green spaces was a dominant theme. 
Respondents valued the peacefulness, access to nature, and the unspoilt character of their 
surroundings.

Rural identity 85 Many emphasized the importance of maintaining a distinct rural character, separate from urban 
development. Living in small towns or villages, away from city noise and congestion, was seen as 
central to their lifestyle and identity.

Access to 
amenities

38 Respondents appreciated being close to essential services such as shops, schools, healthcare, leisure 
facilities, and public transport. The balance of rural living with convenient access to amenities was 
seen as a key strength.

Safety and 
cleanliness

24 Low crime rates, clean and tidy environments, and a general sense of safety and peace were 
frequently mentioned. These qualities were seen as vital to the quality of life in South Hams 
communities.

Local Services 
and facilities

11 There was recognition of the value of well-maintained local services such as GPs, schools, recycling, 
and council-run amenities. Respondents appreciated the role of the council in maintaining these 
facilities and ensuring they meet community needs.

Transport and 
connectivity

5 Some respondents highlighted the importance of good transport links, particularly to the A38 and 
nearby cities, as well as ease of commuting while maintaining a rural lifestyle.

Governance and 
representation

3 A few comments touched on the role of South Hams District Council, expressing satisfaction with its 
governance and concern about being absorbed into Plymouth City Council.

Page 277



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report22

C

What is not so great (about the area in question) and you would like to see 
improved, including Council Services? 
This was a free text question. The most common concerns raised by residents relate to public transport and road 
conditions, highlighting a need for improved connectivity, infrastructure maintenance, and safer travel options. Access to 
services and amenities – particularly healthcare, leisure, and youth facilities – was also frequently mentioned, alongside 
frustrations with council coordination and governance. Issues around housing development, safety, and environmental 
stewardship reflect deeper anxieties about preserving rural identity and quality of life. These insights suggest that future 
planning should prioritise transport, infrastructure, and community services, while ensuring that growth respects the 
character and needs of South Hams communities.

Theme Count Commentary
Public transport 93 Dissatisfaction with infrequent and unreliable bus and train services, particularly in evenings and 

weekends.
Poor connectivity to Plymouth and key destinations like hospitals and cultural venues.
Limited options for non-drivers and elderly residents, and lack of footpaths or cycle paths.

Roads and potholes 92 Widespread concern about potholes, poor road surfaces, and lack of maintenance.
Requests for bypasses (e.g. Lee Mill), safer walking and cycling conditions, better traffic 
management, and improved road layouts (especially in Ivybridge).
Speeding traffic, congestion, and inadequate infrastructure such as slip roads and roundabouts 
were frequently mentioned.

Access to services and 
amenities

38 Lack of shops, leisure facilities, healthcare services, and community spaces.
Poor internet and postal services, limited recycling options, and concerns about affordability 
and rising costs.
Desire for more community events, youth clubs, and better use of local parks and green spaces.

Governance and 
Council services

28 Frustration with multiple overlapping councils and lack of coordination.
Concerns about poor communication, planning enforcement, and representation.
Resistance to merging with Plymouth City Council and fears of losing rural priorities and 
identity.

Housing and 
development

17 Concerns about overdevelopment, urban sprawl (especially in Sherford and Newton), and the 
impact on infrastructure and the environment.
Frustration with second homes, lack of affordable housing, and insufficient planning for 
supporting services like schools and roads.

Safety and anti-social 
behaviour

9 Issues included rising crime, lack of police presence, anti-social behaviour, vandalism, and poor 
waste management in communal areas.
Pavement parking and unsafe traffic conditions were also noted.

Healthcare 6 Limited access to GP appointments and broader health services.
Long referral times, lack of dental provision, and concerns about merging healthcare services 
with Plymouth.

Financial concerns 4 High council tax, parking fees, and general cost of living were mentioned as areas needing 
improvement.
Desire for fairer banding and better value for money in service delivery.

Cleanliness and 
maintenance

4 Poor upkeep of public spaces, overgrown vegetation, and inadequate waste collection services.
Requests for better landscaping and tidier village environments.

Environmental 
concerns

2 Loss of green space, poor environmental protection, and concerns about pollution and 
biodiversity.
Desire for more sustainable planning and better stewardship of natural assets.

Page 278



November 2025 23

C

What do you really value about the services (e.g. waste and recycling collection / 
leisure facilities / roads management / parks) your current councils provide?
People could submit more than one answer – the first four were suggested answers and then participants could also add 
their own. Residents most value councils that demonstrate local understanding and accessibility, with the highest praise 
given to councillors who are easy to reach and responsive to community needs. High-quality services, particularly waste 
and recycling, are also appreciated, alongside recognition of councils that understand the challenges facing rural areas. 
These responses suggest that trust and satisfaction are closely tied to visibility, local knowledge, and service reliability, 
reinforcing the importance of maintaining strong local representation and tailored service delivery.

Answer Count
Easy access to my local councillor 139
Council understands my area 190
High quality services 132
Understands the challenges facing the area 96
Other answers: 
Other with no narrative 26
Recycling 20
Understanding rural area 14
Good quality schools 2
Good quality roads 2

How do you hope that Local Government Reorganisation will impact you and/or 
your community? 
People could submit more than one answer – the first three were suggested answers and then participants could also add 
their own. The majority of respondents expressed hope that reorganisation would lead to more locally made decisions 
and improved services, with clearer accountability. However, this optimism was strongly tempered by widespread 
opposition to being absorbed into Plymouth City Council. Many voiced concerns about losing rural identity, autonomy, and 
tailored service delivery. A significant number also expressed satisfaction with current arrangements and scepticism about 
the motives and benefits of change. Key themes included fears over council tax increases, environmental degradation, and 
urban-centric planning. Overall, the feedback highlights a desire for reform that strengthens local representation and rural 
priorities – rather than centralisation or urban alignment.

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Improved services   125
Decisions that impact you will 
be made locally 

168

Clearer who is responsible for 
what service  

33

Other answers:
Strong Opposition to Joining 
Plymouth City Council

56 Clear and repeated rejection of being absorbed into Plymouth.
Concerns about urban priorities dominating rural needs.
Emotional appeals to preserve identity, autonomy, and local governance.
Frequent use of phrases like “leave us alone,” “we don’t want this,” and “not part of 
Plymouth.”

Satisfaction with Current 
Arrangements / Desire for No 
Change

22 Belief that current systems work well and do not need change.
Scepticism about the need for reorganisation.
Concerns that change will bring disruption without clear benefits.
Calls to “leave South Hams alone” and maintain the status quo.

General Distrust, Scepticism 
and Lack of Faith in the 
Process

21 Deep scepticism about the motives and benefits of reorganisation.
Perception that the plan is ill-conceived and politically driven.
Belief that it will benefit officials rather than communities.
Frustration with lack of clear problem statement or justification.

Page 279



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report24

C

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Preference for Local Decision-
Making and Representation

18 Desire for decisions to remain with South Hams or local councils.
Support for Parish and Town Councils having more influence.
Frustration with boundary confusion and lack of accountability.
Emphasis on rural voices being heard and respected.

Concerns About Council 
Tax, Precepts and Financial 
Transparency

13 Anxiety over potential increases in council tax and uncapped precepts.
Lack of clarity around financial implications of reorganisation.
Perception of a “stealth tax” and fears of paying more for fewer or less relevant 
services.
Calls for clearer communication and justification of costs.

Environmental and Planning 
Concerns

10 Distrust in Plymouth’s environmental record and planning decisions.
Fears of overdevelopment, especially in rural and coastal areas.
Desire to protect natural beauty, wildlife, and village character.
Support for sustainable building practices and infrastructure planning.

Rural Identity and Way of Life 9 Strong desire to preserve the rural character and lifestyle of South Hams.
Concerns that urban governance will erode rural values and traditions.
Emphasis on understanding the unique needs of dispersed, small communities.

Efficiency, Value for Money and 
Service Delivery

7 Support for streamlining services and reducing waste.
Desire for better budget management and spending decisions.
Criticism of expensive schemes with little perceived benefit.
Hope for more joined-up service delivery across borders.

Public Transport 
Improvements

3 Hope that reorganisation could lead to better transport links.
Desire for more joined-up thinking across travel-to-work areas.
Specific mentions of bus and taxi services needing improvement.

Healthcare and Social 
Services Concerns

3 Worries about merging with Plymouth affecting GP access and healthcare equity.
Concerns about inconsistent support across boundaries (e.g., Devon Carers vs 
Plymouth services).
Fear that rural healthcare will be deprioritised.

What has been your experience of children’s social care services in your local area 
- thinking about things like how approachable staff are, waiting times, quality of 
support provided, and communication with families? 
Among those who have used children’s social care services, experiences are evenly split between positive, neutral, and 
negative, suggesting a mixed picture of service delivery. While some families report high-quality support and approachable 
staff, others highlight issues with communication and waiting times else where in the survey. However, the vast majority 
of respondents (over 280) indicated they do not use these services, which reflects the demographic profile of survey 
respondents. Many participants are retired or not currently engaged with children’s services.  

Answer Count
Very positive   12
Positive    12
Neither    13
Negative    12
Very negative   7
Don’t use children’s services 284

Page 280



November 2025 25

C

How would you describe the quality of adult social care services where you live - 
considering factors like availability of advice and information, being able to contact 
someone, range of services offered, quality of care, and support for maintaining 
independence? (select one option)  
Among those with experience of adult social care services, feedback is mixed, with a fairly even spread of positive, neutral, 
and negative responses. While some residents appreciate the quality of care and support for independence, others report 
issues with accessibility, communication, and service range, else where in the survey. However, the majority of respondents 
(over 250) do not use these services, reflecting the demographic profile of the survey and suggesting that broader 
engagement with service users is needed to fully understand strengths and areas for improvement.

Answer Count
Very positive  16
Positive   28
Neither   18
Negative   21
Very negative  7
Don’t use adult social care services 252

What should be the top priorities when deciding what the future model of local 
government should be for Devon? 
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 
When asked to rank their top priorities for the future model of local government in Devon, respondents placed the 
highest value on councils that understand local issues and deliver high-quality services. Local decision-making was also 
a key concern, reflecting a strong desire for governance that is responsive and rooted in community needs. While some 
participants emphasised cost-saving and reducing bureaucracy, these were generally ranked lower than priorities focused 
on service quality, local representation, and planning.

Interestingly, climate change and sustainability – though selected by fewer respondents – was consistently ranked as a 
top priority by those who did choose it, suggesting a passionate minority with strong environmental concerns. Overall, 
the results highlight that residents want a model of local government that is efficient, locally informed, and capable of 
delivering meaningful services without losing sight of rural identity and long-term sustainability.

P
ri

or
it

y 

U
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 o

f 
lo

ca
l i

ss
ue

s 

H
ig

h 
qu

al
it

y 
se

rv
ic

es
 

Lo
ca

l d
ec

is
io

n 
m

ak
in

g 

Su
pp

or
ti

ng
 L

oc
al

 
B

us
in

es
se

s 

Tr
an

sp
or

t 
an

d 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 

E
as

y 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

C
ou

nc
ill

or
s 

C
re

at
in

g 
jo

bs
 a

nd
 

ec
on

om
ic

 g
ro

w
th

 

Sa
vi

ng
 m

on
ey

 

R
ed

uc
in

g 
bu

re
au

cr
ac

y 

H
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 
pl

an
ni

ng
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 

an
d 

su
st

ai
na

bi
lit

y 

C
ou

nc
il 

O
ffi

ce
s 

N
ea

rb
y 

Count  89 108 46 6 20 2 5 8 3 5 17 1 
60 47 117 14 29 6 3 7 16 2 7 2 
77 51 59 29 19 13 13 8 13 8 13 7 
37 33 29 86 28 10 14 11 13 18 22 9 
22 21 18 63 23 70 29 10 21 17 13 3 
8 21 14 37 36 41 29 18 14 19 20 53 
5 16 11 27 24 28 82 12 26 27 26 26 
7 5 8 28 16 36 53 27 63 26 15 26 
4 4 7 14 9 29 44 78 57 22 10 32 
1 3 1 4 17 34 24 52 47 81 21 26 
 1  1 76 32 10 46 29 51 11 52 

     13     34 135 73 
Ranking 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Page 281



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report26

C

Are there any other priorities which haven’t been mentioned above, that you would like us to 
consider as part of our work to develop our final proposal for local government reorganisation? 
This was an open question. However, the answers that people provided could be gathered together in a number of clear 
themes. Many respondents used this open question to reinforce strong opposition to being incorporated into Plymouth, 
with repeated calls to preserve South Hams’ autonomy and rural identity. There was also a clear desire for greater clarity 
around which council is responsible for which services, and for maintaining the current structure of South Hams District 
Council. Environmental protection and safeguarding the rural character of the area were recurring themes, alongside 
calls for improved access to services and infrastructure – particularly transport, healthcare, and waste facilities. These 
responses underline the importance of transparency, local control, and protecting what residents value most about their 
communities.

Themes Count
Strong opposition to being incorporated into Plymouth 52
Clearer who is responsible 33
Remain as South Hams 28
Environmental protection and rural character 25
Greater access to services and infrastructure e.g. better 
transport links, road maintenance, and access to essential 
services like libraries, healthcare, and waste facilities.

21

More accessible services e.g. family hubs / adult social care 1

How would you like your local authority to engage with you in the future? 
Participants could select multiple options for this. However, it is clear that the most popular route is through their local 
parish council, closely followed by email communication. 

Answer Count Percentage
Through my local parish council 140 26.42%
Email communication 135 25.47%
Through regular communication, consultation and 
engagement activity

124 23.40%

Through my local ward councillor 73 13.77%
Through local groups and organisations 58 10.94%
Grand total who responded to this question

South Hams Big Community Conversation events 
Between June and July 2025, Plymouth City Council held 13 facilitated conversation events across the South Hams 
parishes proposed for inclusion in the Plymouth Growth Area. These sessions were led by Council staff trained in 
facilitation techniques, including Trauma-Informed approaches and Appreciative Inquiry, to ensure respectful, inclusive, and 
constructive dialogue. Held in accessible community venues, the events encouraged open and anonymous participation, 
allowing residents to share their views freely. The feedback gathered has been thematically analysed and plays a key role in 
shaping the final proposal

Page 282



November 2025 27

C

Question 1: How do you think LGR will impact you and/or your community?  
Across all parish engagement events, participants voiced a wide range of concerns about the potential impact of Local 
Government Reorganisation, with consistent themes emerging across the South Hams. There was a strong and heartfelt 
emphasis on the importance of parish councils in preserving rural identity, ensuring local representation, and maintaining 
community cohesion. Many residents expressed scepticism about the proposed changes, fearing a shift toward urban-
centric governance that might overlook the distinct needs of rural communities. Concerns were raised about the quality 
and funding of services, increased planning and development pressures, and a perceived lack of trust in Plymouth City 
Council’s ability to manage rural priorities effectively. Additionally, the engagement highlighted widespread confusion 
about the current two-tier system of local government. Many participants conflated the roles of parish, district, and 
county councils, often attributing responsibilities incorrectly. This underscores the need for clearer communication about 
existing governance structures and any proposed changes, to ensure residents feel informed, reassured, and genuinely 
represented.

Common themes across all 13 parishes
Representation 
and governance

 l 	Fear of diluted rural voice: Many parishes worried that decisions would be dominated by urban councillors, 
with rural concerns sidelined.

 l 	Loss of local knowledge: Concerns that existing councillors and staff with deep local understanding would be 
replaced or marginalised.

 l 	Democratic deficit: Repeated mention of the imbalance in councillor numbers (e.g. 10 councillors for 13 
parishes) and fears of being outvoted.

 l 	Concern about the role and impact on Parish Councils
Planning and 
development

 l 	Urban sprawl: Strong opposition to increased housing developments, especially if driven by Plymouth’s needs.
 l 	Loss of green space: Many feared that rural landscapes would be sacrificed for urban expansion.
 l 	Infrastructure strain: Worries that roads, schools, and health services are already stretched and would 

worsen under LGR.
Financial 
concerns

 l 	Council Tax (CT) disparities: Questions about whether CT would rise or be harmonised, and whether rural 
areas would subsidise urban ones.

 l 	Funding allocation: Fears that money raised in rural areas would be spent in Plymouth.
 l 	Debt inheritance: Concerns about taking on Plymouth’s financial liabilities.

Services and 
infrastructure

 l 	Waste and recycling: Many praised current SH services and feared they would decline under PCC.
 l 	Transport: Poor public transport was a recurring issue, with hopes that LGR might improve it – but 

scepticism prevailed.
 l 	Health and social care: Concerns about current access, especially for elderly and SEND populations.
 l 	Lack of understanding about which council currently provides which services. 

Identity and 
community

 l 	Loss of rural character: Strong emotional attachment to village life and fear of becoming “just another 
suburb.”

 l 	Community cohesion: Many felt their communities were tight-knit and self-sufficient, and worried LGR would 
disrupt this.

Area-specific feedback (that were not a strong theme in the other areas)
Bickleigh 

l	 Concerns about Woolwell urban extension and dual carriageway construction.
l 	 Specific issues with cross-boundary services (Devon vs Plymouth).

Cornwood
l 	 Unique concerns about mineral rights and planning around mines.
l 	 Strong preference for one unitary authority across the whole of Devon but not to include Plymouth.

Harford
l 	 Desire for health hub in Ivybridge.
l 	 Specific mention of Dartmoor National Park planning authority.

Shaugh Prior
l 	 Mining operations and renewable energy planning.
l 	 Concerns about Dartmoor planning jurisdiction and identity.

Page 283



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report28

C
Sparkwell
l 	 Tungsten mine and its impact on roads and environment.
l 	 Strong distrust of Plymouth City Council due to past planning and environmental decisions.

Yealmpton
l 	 Concerns about sewage infrastructure and beach pollution.
l 	 Strong emphasis on maintaining rural peace and safety.

Contradictions or differing views between areas
Ivybridge vs Smaller Parishes: Ivybridge showed mixed feelings, with some seeing potential benefits in better services 
and representation, while smaller parishes were overwhelmingly negative.

Waste Services: Some parishes praised South Ham’s recycling system; others preferred Plymouth’s simpler approach.

Transport: While most parishes criticised poor public transport, a few (e.g. Ivybridge) noted good train access and ring 
and ride services.

Planning: Some areas (e.g. Yealmpton) feared overdevelopment, while others (e.g. Sparkwell) were more focused on 
protecting specific assets like mines or greenbelt.

Question 2: What is good about the area where you live? 
Residents across the South Hams parishes expressed deep appreciation for their communities, highlighting a strong sense 
of rural identity, natural beauty, and social cohesion. The responses were overwhelmingly positive, with many describing 
their areas as peaceful, safe, and well-connected to nature. There was a clear pride in local amenities, community spirit, 
and the quality of life afforded by living in these rural settings.

Common themes across all 13 parishes
Natural 
environment and 
rural identity

 l 	Scenic beauty: Dartmoor, coastlines, estuaries, green spaces, and wildlife were frequently mentioned.
 l 	Peace and quiet: Many valued the tranquillity and low noise levels compared to urban areas.
 l 	Rural character: Residents felt strongly about maintaining their countryside lifestyle and resisting 

urbanisation.

Community spirit 
and social cohesion

 l 	Close-knit communities: People described knowing their neighbours, helping each other, and feeling safe.
 l 	Local events: Village fairs, pantomimes, remembrance services, and seasonal celebrations were cherished.
 l 	Volunteering and clubs: WI, gardening clubs, sports teams, and youth groups were seen as vital to 

community life.

Local services and 
amenities

 l 	Health services: Local GP surgeries and pharmacies were praised, especially where they were responsive 
and accessible.

 l 	Schools: Primary schools were frequently mentioned as excellent and central to village life.
 l 	Waste and recycling: Many appreciated the current waste collection systems, especially food and garden 

waste services.

Accessibility and 
location  

 l 	Proximity to nature and urban centres: Many valued being close to Plymouth, Ivybridge, or the A38 
while still enjoying rural life.

 l 	Walking and cycling routes: Access to footpaths, moors, and coastlines was a major benefit.
 l 	Transport links: Train stations, ring and ride services, and bus routes were appreciated where available.

Local identity and 
pride

 l 	Unique village character: Residents felt their areas had distinct identities worth preserving. 
 l 	Local governance: Parish councils were seen as effective and responsive, contributing to a sense of 

empowerment. 

Page 284



November 2025 29

C

Area-specific feedback (that were not a strong theme in the other areas)
Bickleigh
l 	 Strong pride in Woolwell in Bloom and community centre awards.
l 	 Emphasis on green space and nature on the doorstep.

Cornwood
l 	 Historical significance of the village hall and American soldier mess hall.
l 	 Oldest WI in Devon and strong interest in renewables.

Harford
l 	 Lukesland and church community as central to social life.
l 	 Ability to walk directly onto Dartmoor from home.

Shaugh Prior
l 	 Mining heritage and community management of industrial impacts.
l 	 Unique mix of industry and housing with strong local governance.

Sparkwell
l 	 Dartmoor Zoo and parish hall as cultural anchors.
l 	 Strong equestrian community and seasonal events like flower festivals.

Yealmpton
l 	 Yealmpton Show and active community groups.
l 	 Strong support from local landowners and vibrant village centre.

Contradictions or differing views between areas
Urban proximity: Ivybridge and Yealmpton appreciated being near Plymouth for services, while others (e.g. Sparkwell, 
Wembury) saw proximity as a threat to rural identity.

Waste services: Some praised SH’s detailed recycling system; others preferred simpler systems like Plymouth’s.

Transport: Ivybridge and Yealmpton noted good access; more remote parishes like Cornwood and Harford highlighted 
poor connectivity.

Page 285



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report30

C

Question 3: What do you really value about the services your current Council provides? 
Residents across the South Hams parishes expressed strong appreciation for local council services, particularly those 
that are visible, responsive, and community-oriented. There was a clear emphasis on the value of waste collection, local 
governance, and access to health and education services. Many responses reflected a fear that these well-functioning 
services could be lost or diluted under Local Government Reorganisation. Often confusion as to which council provides 
which services. 

Common themes across all 13 parishes
Waste and recycling 
Services

l 	 Highly valued: Weekly or fortnightly collections, food and garden waste services, and responsive bin 
replacement.

l 	 Concerns about change: Many feared losing the current system, especially where South Hams was 
seen as better than Plymouth City Council.

Health and social care l 	 Local GP surgeries and pharmacies: Praised for accessibility and responsiveness.
l 	 Adult and children’s social care: Devon’s provision was often seen as good, with concerns about how  

it would be managed under Plymouth City Council.
Education and school 
transport

l 	 Primary schools: Frequently mentioned as excellent and central to community life.
l 	 School buses: Valued especially in more rural areas where walking isn’t feasible.

Infrastructure and 
maintenance

l 	 Road repairs and gritting: Appreciated where done well, though patchiness and delays were noted.
l 	 Drainage and fly-tipping: Some parishes highlighted proactive responses from SH.

Local Governance 
and communication

l 	 Parish councils: Seen as responsive, accessible, and deeply embedded in the community.
l 	 District councillors: Praised for attending meetings and resolving issues quickly.
l 	 Direct contact: Residents valued being able to speak to someone locally rather than navigating 

complex systems.
Community facilities 
and services

l 	 Libraries, leisure centres, and youth clubs: Frequently cited as important and well-used.
l 	 Community centres and village halls: Central to social life and often supported by the council.

Area-specific feedback (that were not a strong theme in the other areas)
Cornwood
l 	 Recycling shop and quick bin replacement.
l 	 Concerns about losing funding for the local shop.

Ermington
l 	 Ivybridge police hub and SEND school opening.
l 	 Strong praise for Ivybridge waste recycling.

Harford
l 	 Better relationship with Devon County Council than South Hams due to specific officers.
l 	 Recycling issues when contracted out, later resolved.

Sparkwell
l 	 Praise for proactive district councillors and bin collection.
l 	 Concerns about mining impacts and environmental health.

Yealmpton
l 	 South Ham’s handling of Anti Social Behaviour and dog mess.
l 	 Youth club funded by parish council.

Contradictions or differing views between parishes
Waste services: Some parishes (e.g. Ivybridge, Yealmpton) praised SH’s detailed recycling system, while others (e.g. 
Sparkwell) preferred simpler systems like Plymouth City Council’s.

Health services: Mixed reviews – some found local surgeries excellent, others struggled with access and appointments.

Council responsiveness: While many praised South Hams and Devon County Council for being accessible, a few noted 
difficulties in contacting the council or getting timely responses.

Page 286



November 2025 31

C

Question 4: What is not so great (about the area in question) and what would you like to see 
changed, including Council services? 
Residents across the parishes identified a range of local challenges, with many expressing frustration over infrastructure, 
transport, planning, and access to services. There was a strong desire for better communication, more responsive 
governance, and improved facilities, especially for young people and the elderly. Concerns about overdevelopment, loss  
of rural character, and insufficient investment in local amenities were widespread.

Common themes across all 13 parishes
Infrastructure and 
roads 
 

l 	 Potholes and poor road surfaces: A near-universal complaint, especially in rural areas affected by heavy 
vehicles or mining. 

l 	 Drainage and flooding: Several parishes reported blocked drains and waterlogging. 
l 	 Street lighting and signage: Requests for better lighting and clearer road signs. 

Transport and 
connectivity 
 

l 	 Limited public transport: Many areas suffer from infrequent or non-existent bus services, especially on 
Sundays. 

l 	 School transport: Concerns about accessibility and safety for children. 
l 	 Cycle lanes: Poor maintenance and underuse were noted, with calls for better upkeep and promotion. 

Planning and 
development 
 

l 	 Overdevelopment fears: Strong opposition to new housing developments, especially where infrastructure 
is lacking. 

l 	 Loss of green space: Concerns about urban sprawl and environmental degradation. 
l 	 Sherford cited frequently: As an example of poor planning and pressure on services. 

Health and social 
services 

l 	 GP and hospital access: Long waits, limited facilities, and lack of local provision were common issues. 
l 	 SEND and elderly care: Worries about service quality and accessibility, especially under a larger authority. 

Safety and policing 
 

l 	 Lack of police presence: Many felt their communities were underserved. 
l 	 Speeding and traffic safety: Calls for better enforcement and safer road design. 

Youth and 
community services 

l 	 Few activities for young people: Requests for youth clubs, sports facilities, and evening entertainment. 
l 	 Community centres and parks: Need for upgrades and better maintenance. 

Waste and 
recycling 

l 	 Fly-tipping: Linked to restrictive tip access and lack of enforcement. 
l 	 Bin collection: Desire for simpler systems and more frequent pickups. 

 
Area-specific feedback (that were not a strong theme in the other areas) 
Bickleigh 
l 	 Concerns about dual carriageway construction and Woolwell development. 
l 	 Lack of secondary schools and poor infrastructure planning. 

Cornwood 
l 	 No village shop and sparse bus service. 
l 	 Fears of becoming like Plympton or Plymstock. 

Harford 
l 	 Ivybridge health facilities lacking; frequent power cuts and poor mobile signal. 

Shaugh Prior 
l 	 Mining impacts on roads and planning. 
l 	 Renewable energy concerns and lack of clarity on Dartmoor planning jurisdiction. 

Sparkwell 
l 	 Heavy traffic from the mine and poor road conditions. 
l 	 Fears of becoming a suburb of Plymouth. 

Yealmpton 
l 	 Sherford development pressure and lack of safe cycling routes. 
l 	 Concerns about Anti Social Behaviour and youth safety. 

Contradictions or differing views between parishes
Transport: Ivybridge and Yealmpton noted some good services, while others (e.g. Cornwood, Sparkwell) reported severe 
limitations. 
Waste services: Some praised Soth Ham’s system; others found it overly complex and preferred Plymouth’s approach. 
Planning: While most opposed further development, a few saw potential for growth if infrastructure matched. 

Page 287



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report32

C

Question 5: How would you like your Local Authority to engage with you in the 
future?
Across the parishes, residents expressed a strong desire for meaningful, transparent, and accessible engagement with 
their Local Authority. There was a clear preference for face-to-face communication, localised meetings, and ongoing 
dialogue – especially in light of the proposed changes under Local Government Reorganisation. Many felt that current 
engagement was insufficient and wanted to ensure their voices would be heard and respected in future decision-making.

Common themes across all 13 parishes
Communication 
channels

l 	 Face-to-face engagement: Strong preference for in-person meetings, drop-in sessions, and local surgeries.
l 	 Digital and traditional media: Use of email, social media, newsletters, and parish magazines was encouraged, 

but with recognition of digital exclusion.
l 	 Printed materials: Posters, flyers, and hard copies in community hubs and libraries were seen as essential for 

reaching all demographics.
Localised 
representation

l 	 Parish councils: Seen as vital conduits for communication; residents want them to remain empowered and 
involved.

l 	 Councillor visibility: Requests for councillors to attend parish meetings regularly and be accessible to 
residents.

l 	 Local knowledge: Emphasis on the importance of representatives understanding the specific needs of rural 
communities.

Transparency 
and 
responsiveness

l 	 Clear information: Residents want clarity on proposals, impacts, and timelines.
l 	 Timely responses: Frustration with slow replies from councils, especially around planning and service queries.
l 	 Consultation before decisions: Strong opposition to “tick-box” exercises; people want genuine involvement 

before changes are made.
Inclusive 
engagement

l 	 Digital exclusion concerns: Many noted that elderly or rural residents may not use online platforms.
l 	 Accessible formats: Calls for large print, physical noticeboards, and inclusive venues.
l 	 Community-led engagement: Suggestions to use local events, pubs, and community centres as engagement 

points.

Area-specific feedback (that were not a strong theme in the other areas) 
Harford
l 	 Wants council meetings held locally, not just in Plymouth.
l 	 Emphasis on equal representation and justification when decisions differ from community views.

Shaugh Prior
l 	 Interest in citizen panels and feedback boxes.
l 	 Engagement during popular parish events and through local pubs.

Sparkwell
l 	 Strong emphasis on transparency and trust-building.
l 	 Specific concerns about the mine and desire for ongoing dialogue with environmental health officers.

Yealmpton
l 	 Requests for regular meetings and better telephone access.
l 	 Emphasis on maintaining visibility of councillors and safeguarding local identity.

Contradictions or differing views between parishes
Digital vs. physical communication: Some parishes embraced email and social media, while others stressed the need 
for printed materials due to digital exclusion.

Engagement satisfaction: Ivybridge appreciated early engagement on LGR, while others (e.g. Sparkwell, Wembury) felt 
the process had been poorly advertised or underhanded.

Preferred venues: While some suggested formal settings like community centres, others preferred informal spaces like 
pubs or local events.

Page 288



November 2025 33

C

PLYMOUTH SURVEY (DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS)

The following section presents the demographic information that was collected from respondents to the full survey. The 
survey recorded key demographic data that aids the project team’s understanding of who took part in the engagement 
exercise. Demographic data was collected in an optional personal information section of the survey.

It is important to note that none of the below questions were compulsory. 

Age 
The table below demonstrates a wide range of respondents from different age groups, reflecting a diverse demographic 
profile. The largest proportions of respondents are in the 55–64 and 65–74 age brackets, each representing 19.71% of the 
total. This suggests strong engagement from older adults. 

Age Count Percentage
Not given 101 23.99%
16-19 2 0.48%
20-24 3 0.71%
25-34 17 4.04%
35-44 36 8.55%
45-54 54 12.83%
55-64 83 19.71%
65-74 83 19.71%
75-84 39 9.26%
85+ 0 0.00%
Prefer not to say 3 0.71%
Grand total 421

Work status 
The table below outlines the employment status of survey participants. Among those who responded, the largest group 
– 33.97% – reported working full time, indicating strong representation from the employed population. A significant 
proportion, 39.90%, identified as retired, reflecting notable engagement from older individuals no longer in the workforce. 
Additionally, 14.73% reported working part time, while smaller percentages were in education or seeking employment. 

Work status Count Percentage
No answer 20 4.75%
In full-time education 3 0.71%
In part-time education 1 0.24%
Not in employment 19 4.51%
Not in employment but actively looking 5 1.19%
Retired 168 39.90%
Working full time 143 33.97%
Working part time 62 14.73%
Grand Total 421

Care experience 
Plymouth City Council recognises that care experience is an additional protective characteristic. Of those who answered 
the question, 15 people stated that they have experience of the children’s social care system. 

Care experience? Count Percentage
No answer 244 57.96%
No 153 36.34%
Prefer not to say 9 2.14%
Yes 15 3.56%
Grand Total 421

Page 289



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report34

C

Armed Forces 
As part of our commitment to the Armed Forces, Plymouth City Council asks people if they currently or have previously served 
in the Armed Forces. Of those who answered the question 40 have served, or are currently serving in the Armed Forces. 

Armed Forces Count Percentage
No answer 99 23.52%
No 273 64.85%
Prefer not to say 9 2.14%
Yes, in regular armed forces 36 8.55%
Yes, in reserve armed forces 4 0.95%
Grand Total 421

Sex
We asked all participants what their sex at birth.

Sex Count Percentage
Female 177 42.04%
Male 132 31.35%
Prefer not to say 17 4.04%
No answer 95 22.57%
Grand Total 421

Gender 
We asked all participants if their gender identity is the same as the sex they were registered with at birth. 

Gender Count Percentage
Yes 305 72.45%
No 3 0.71%
Prefer not to say 14 3.33%
No answer 99 23.52%
Grand Total 421

Disability
We asked all participants if day-to-day activities are limited due to a health problem or disability expected to last 12+ months.

Disability Count Percentage
Yes, limited a lot 27 6.41%
Yes, limited a little 77 18.29%
Prefer not to say 21 4.99%
No 196 46.56%
No answer 100 23.75%
Grand Total 421

Ethnicity 
We asked all participants to define their ethnicity. 

Ethnicity Count Percentage
White 290 68.88%
Prefer not to say 12 2.85%
Other (not stated) 4 0.95%
Mixed or multiple ethnic groups 3 0.71%
Asian or Asian British 3 0.71%
Black, Black British, Caribbean or African 1 0.24%
No answer 108 25.65%
Grand Total 421

Page 290



November 2025 35

C

Plymouth survey key LGR questions (Online and Paper)
The total number of responses to the full survey by close was 403. The following section sets out the full analysis. Any 
demonstrable differences in findings by respondent type are stated within the commentary for those questions.  

Qualitative data has been coded for themes, and one response may contain multiple themes. This means that the number 
of themes mentioned in a thematic table may exceed the number of responses to that question.

Responses in this section include feedback received from the online and paper survey.

Again, none of these questions were compulsory. 

Where is your work or education based?   
The responses highlight Plymouth’s dominant role as a centre for work and education, with nearly a quarter of participants 
based there. This suggests strong local engagement and a concentration of institutions and employers in the city.

The presence of remote working and international/UK-wide roles reflects evolving work patterns, especially post-
pandemic, and points to a more flexible, dispersed workforce.

Smaller clusters like Derriford, City Centre, and surrounding areas such as South Devon and Plympton show that while 
Plymouth is central, the wider region also contributes meaningfully to the local economy and education landscape.

Answer Count Additional commentary provided 
Plymouth 100 l 	 This is by far the most common response, reflecting Plymouth’s central role in the region’s 

work and education landscape. Responses include specific locations like Ballard House, City 
College, and various neighbourhoods (e.g., Crownhill, Estover, Stoke). It also includes broader 
mentions like “Plymouth and surrounding area” and “Plymouth University,” showing a strong 
local identity and concentration of institutions.

Other 48 l 	 This group includes unique or less frequent responses that don’t fit neatly into other categories. 
It includes specific buildings, job titles, and niche locations.

Home/remote 
working

20 l 	 This group reflects the shift toward flexible and remote working arrangements. Many responses 
simply state “home,” while others mention hybrid setups or working from home internationally. 
This trend is consistent with post-pandemic work culture.

City Centre 9 l 	 These responses specifically mention Plymouth’s city centre, indicating a hub for business, 
education, and public services. The repetition of “City Centre” shows its prominence as a 
workplace location.

Derriford 7 l 	 Derriford is another key employment area, especially for healthcare and business. Responses 
include Derriford Hospital and business parks, highlighting its role in public services and 
corporate activity.

South Devon 6 l 	 This group includes towns like Ashburton, Bovey Tracey, Dartmouth, Dartington, and Torbay. 
These responses reflect rural and semi-urban work or education settings, possibly linked to 
arts, education, or local services.

Plympton 5 l 	 Plympton responses reflect residential and educational settings, with mentions of schools and 
broader community areas.

International/UK 
wide

5 l 	 These responses reflect roles with a broader geographic scope, including global consultancy and 
UK-wide operations. They highlight the reach of some professionals beyond the South West.

Crownhill 4 l 	 Crownhill appears as a smaller but notable cluster, likely reflecting residential and educational 
institutions in the area.

Plymstock 4 l 	 Plymstock is another residential area with educational and community ties. It’s part of the wider 
Plymouth urban area.

Devonport 4 l 	 Devonport responses suggest ties to naval, educational, and community services. It’s a 
historically significant area with ongoing relevance.

Cornwall / Devon 4 l 	 Includes places like Saltash, Tavistock, and South Hams. These are close to Plymouth and may 
represent commuter zones or regional service areas.

Estover 2 l 	 Estover is mentioned in relation to business parks and volunteer work, indicating a mix of 
commercial and community engagement.

Exeter 1 l 	 Only one direct mention of Exeter, suggesting limited representation from this city despite its 
regional importance.

Page 291



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report36

C

Where do you do most of your shopping?
The data shows that Plymouth is the dominant shopping location, with most respondents identifying it as their primary 
area – highlighting the city’s strong retail presence and local identity. The City Centre also stands out as a key destination, 
valued for its variety and convenience.

A notable number of respondents shop online, reflecting a shift toward digital retail, likely driven by convenience and 
accessibility. Suburban areas like Plymstock and Plympton are well-represented, showing the importance of local retail hubs.

Smaller clusters such as Derriford, Saltash, and Mutley point to more community-focused shopping habits, while out-of-
town retail parks attract shoppers seeking specific stores or easier access.

Overall, the responses reveal a diverse mix of shopping behaviours, balancing city centre convenience, local loyalty, and 
digital flexibility. This suggests that retail strategies should consider both central and neighbourhood-based approaches,  
as well as the growing role of online platforms.

Answer Count Additional commentary provided 
Plymouth 139 l 	 This dominant group includes general mentions of Plymouth without specifying a shop or 

area. It reflects a strong local identity and suggests that many respondents shop broadly 
across the city.

City Centre Shopping 40 l 	 With responses referencing locations like Armada Centre, Drake Circus, Union Street, 
and the broader Plymouth city centre, it’s clear that the heart of the city remains a vital 
shopping destination. These responses reflect a preference for the convenience and variety 
offered by central retail hubs, where high street stores, department chains, and independent 
outlets converge. The city centre is not just a place to shop – it’s a social and cultural focal 
point for many residents.

Online Shopping 49 l 	 A significant number of respondents indicated that they shop online, using platforms like 
Amazon or general internet retailers. This trend highlights the growing reliance on digital 
convenience, especially for non-grocery items or when time and accessibility are factors. 

Plymstock 19 l 	 Plymstock emerged as a popular shopping area, pointing to locations such as Broadway 
and Marsh Mills. These responses suggest a blend of local and out-of-town shopping 
habits, where residents enjoy the accessibility of nearby retail parks while still supporting 
community-based stores. The area’s mix of supermarkets and high street shops makes it a 
versatile choice for everyday needs.

Local Shops and 
Independent Retail

18 l 	 Responses referenced shopping at local or independent outlets, including areas like Mutley 
Plain, Ridgeway, and charity shops. This theme reflects a strong community ethos, where 
shoppers value the personal touch, uniqueness, and ethical appeal of smaller businesses. 
These choices often go beyond convenience, representing a conscious decision to support 
local economies and sustainable retail practices.

Plympton 18 l 	 Plympton stands out as a well-supported suburb for shopping. Respondents likely frequent 
Ridgeway and other local centres, showing a preference for familiar, accessible retail 
environments. The area’s mix of supermarkets and independent shops caters well to 
residents who value proximity and a sense of community in their shopping routines..

Out-of-Town 
Shopping

21 l 	 Responses pointed to shopping destinations outside the immediate city, such as Lee Mill, 
Marsh Mills, Transit Way, Roborough, and Saltash. These locations are typically home to 
larger supermarkets and retail parks, suggesting that many shoppers are willing to travel for 
bulk purchases, better parking, or specific stores not found in the city centre. This pattern 
reflects a practical approach to shopping, often tied to weekly routines or family needs.

Mixed / General 
Responses

10 l 	 Respondents gave broad or non-specific answers, such as “a mix of supermarkets,” 
“depends on what I’m buying,” or “various places.” These responses suggest flexible 
shopping habits, where choices are driven by convenience, availability, or specific needs 
rather than loyalty to a particular store or location. It reflects a pragmatic approach to 
retail, shaped by circumstance rather than routine.

Saltash 4 l 	 Saltash represents a cross-border shopping option for those living near the Tamar. Its 
proximity to Plymouth makes it a convenient alternative, especially for those seeking 
specific stores or avoiding city centre congestion. These responses highlight the fluidity of 
regional shopping habits, where boundaries are less important than accessibility.

Mutley 2 l 	 Mutley Plain holds significance as a local high street with a mix of independent shops and 
supermarkets. It’s a place where community and commerce intersect, offering a more 
personal shopping experience. These responses suggest that for some, shopping is as much 
about connection and familiarity as it is about products.

Page 292



November 2025 37

C

Where do you spend the most time socialising or taking part in cultural activities?
Answer Count Additional commentary provided 
City Centre and 
waterfront

181 l 	 Plymouth’s city centre and waterfront areas – such as the Barbican, Hoe, and Central 
Park – remain the most popular destinations for social and cultural engagement. These 
locations offer a vibrant mix of leisure, heritage, and entertainment venues, making 
them central to the city’s social life.

Local suburbs 41 l 	 Suburban areas like Plymstock, Plympton, Elburton, Ernesettle, Kingsbridge, Mutley Plain, 
and Ridgeway are popular for socialising. These reflect a strong connection to local 
community spaces, pubs, and green areas outside the city centre.

Cultural venues 26 l 	 Churches, pubs, gyms, theatres, and arts societies are important hubs for structured 
social and cultural activities – from worship and fitness to live performances and dining.

Devon and Cornwall 
region

21 l 	 Respondents indicated that they socialise across the wider Devon and Cornwall region. 
This reflects a regional lifestyle where cultural and social engagement extends beyond 
Plymouth’s boundaries.

Nature and outdoors 19 l 	 Dartmoor, beaches, parks, and other natural settings continue to be highlighted as 
preferred places for socialising and cultural engagement. These areas offer tranquility 
and open space, appealing to those who enjoy outdoor recreation and informal 
gatherings.

Home-based socialising 17 l 	 A consistent number of people reported spending most of their social time at home. 
This reflects a preference for comfort, affordability, or necessity, with some combining 
home life with religious or family-based cultural activities

Do not socialise / barriers 10 l 	 A small but notable group expressed that they do not participate in social or cultural 
activities, often citing barriers such as time, affordability, or personal circumstances.

Out-of-town or travel 5 l 	 A few responses described travel-based socialising, including trips across the UK and 
Europe or following sports teams. These individuals engage with culture and community 
through mobility and exploration.

Page 293



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report38

C

How do you hope that Local Government Reorganisation will impact you and/or 
your community? 
The responses show that Plymouth’s city centre and waterfront are the most popular areas for social and cultural 
engagement. This highlights the importance of spaces like the Barbican, Hoe, and Central Park as vibrant hubs for 
leisure and community life. Suburban areas such as Plymstock, Plympton, and Mutley Plain also play a key role, reflecting 
strong ties to local pubs, parks, and community venues. Cultural institutions – including churches, theatres, and gyms 
– are valued by many for structured activities. A notable number of respondents engage with nature and outdoor 
spaces like Dartmoor and local beaches, showing a preference for informal, open-air socialising. Others socialise at home, 
suggesting comfort, affordability, or accessibility as key factors. Smaller groups mentioned regional travel across Devon 
and Cornwall, or cited barriers to socialising, such as time or cost. Overall, the data reflects a diverse mix of social habits, 
shaped by geography, lifestyle, and personal circumstances.

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Improved services   270 l 	 Responses focus on tangible improvements in public services and infrastructure. 

Suggestions include better transport, cleaner environments, and more cohesive 
service delivery that meets everyday needs more effectively. The large number of 
responses indicates a strong public desire for practical, visible improvements in 
how services are delivered.

Decisions that impact you will be 
made locally 

135 l 	 Responses highlight the importance of empowering local communities. People 
hope that reorganisation will bring decision-making closer to the community 
level, fostering more relevant and responsive governance that reflects local needs 
and priorities.

Clearer who is responsible for 
what service  

56 l 	 Responses reflect a strong desire for transparency and accountability in local 
governance. Respondents want clearer delineation of responsibilities and better 
oversight of decision-making processes, ensuring that those in power are held to 
account.

Other answers:
Opposition or scepticism 40 l 	 Responses capture scepticism or opposition to local government reorganisation. 

Respondents express concerns about the competence of current leadership, fear 
of negative impacts, and a general lack of confidence in proposed changes.

Improved financial 
management

27 l 	 These responses point to concerns about how public funds are managed. 
Respondents are calling for better prioritisation, reduced waste, and more 
efficient use of resources to ensure that public money delivers real value to 
communities.

Public engagement and 
communication

19 l 	 These responses emphasise the need for better communication between local 
government and residents. People want to be consulted and informed before 
decisions are made, ensuring that governance is inclusive and transparent.

Improved public voice and 
participation

4 l 	 Respondents highlighted the need for greater public involvement in decision-
making, including calls for consultation and democratic leadership selection.  
These views emphasise the importance of inclusive governance.

Efficiency and reform 2 l 	 Respondents called for more efficient governance, reduced bureaucracy, and 
coherent policy implementation. These views suggest frustration with current 
administrative processes.

Page 294



November 2025 39

C

Imagine it’s 2050 – what five words or short phrases would you use to describe the 
Plymouth you’d love to live, work or be educated in?
The responses paint a clear and aspirational vision for Plymouth’s future. Safety and green, sustainable living top the list, 
showing a strong desire for a city that is both secure and environmentally responsible. People want clean air, accessible 
green spaces, and a community where safety is built into everyday life.

Themes of community and inclusivity reflect a longing for a city that welcomes everyone, supports wellbeing, and fosters 
civic pride. Culture and heritage remain central, with calls for vibrant arts, events, and preservation of Plymouth’s unique 
identity.  Improved transport and connectivity, affordable housing, and economic opportunity are also key priorities, 
alongside better healthcare, education, and governance. Together, these responses suggest a future Plymouth that 
is resilient, inclusive, and thriving – a place where people feel proud to live, work, and learn.

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Green and 
sustainable living

122 Respondents overwhelmingly envision a greener Plymouth – one that is clean, biodiverse, and 
environmentally responsible. There is a strong desire for more trees, green spaces, and nature 
woven into the urban fabric. Sustainability is a recurring aspiration, with calls for carbon neutrality, 
clean air, and eco-conscious infrastructure. People want a city that not only looks green but lives 
green – through active travel, renewable energy, and environmental stewardship.
Examples:
l 	 “Green, clean, connected, welcoming, thriving”
l 	 “Cleaner! Much cleaner! A centre to be proud of!”
l 	 “Greenery. More accessible and frequent bus services. Local businesses.”
l 	 “Green, safe, vibrant, social care thriving, improved sustainably led infrastructure”
l 	 “Trees everywhere, affordable homes”

Safety and crime 
prevention

144 Safety is one of the most frequently mentioned priorities. Respondents want a city where people 
feel secure in their homes, streets, and public spaces. This includes visible and approachable policing, 
low crime rates, and protection for vulnerable groups. Safety is also linked to cleanliness, lighting, 
and the design of public areas. Many envision a Plymouth where safety is a shared community value, 
not just a policing issue.
Examples:
l 	 “Safe, clean, vibrant, successful, very low crime rate.”
l 	 “Safe place to live, lowest crime rate nationwide and community police approachable”
l 	 “Safe, inclusive, healthy with a road network designed to reduce illegal speeding”
l 	 “No drugs or addicts. Better connected (airport). Prosperous”
l 	 “Safe, clear, friendly, green, accessible.”

Community and 
inclusivity

108 A strong, inclusive community is at the heart of many people’s vision for Plymouth. Respondents 
want a city where everyone feels welcome, supported, and able to thrive – regardless of age, 
background, or ability. There’s a desire for intergenerational connection, civic pride, and a culture of 
mutual care. Community-led initiatives, social cohesion, and inclusive design are seen as essential to 
a thriving future.
Examples:
l 	 “Community led, vibrant, healthy population, good standard of living for all”
l 	 “Inclusive, caring, vibrant, thriving, diverse”
l 	 “Community orientated. Young people focused. Social activities”
l 	 “Vibrant multi cultural thriving community with ample opportunities”
l 	 “Everyone is valued. Everyone is cared for.”

Culture and 
heritage

94 Plymouth’s cultural identity and heritage are deeply valued. Respondents want to see the city 
celebrate its maritime history, invest in the arts, and become a destination for creativity and cultural 
experiences. There’s a strong call for more events, music, theatre, and public art, as well as the 
preservation of historic buildings and spaces. Culture is seen as a source of pride, tourism, and 
community connection.
Examples:
l 	 “Valued and recognised heritage… dockyard, 20th century buildings, Hoe”
l 	 “A dynamic arts and cultural city”
l 	 “Keep live entertainment, poetry and art and music, and look after nature.”
l 	 “Leading city for arts and culture”
l 	 “Vibrantly cultural, fair, accessible and inclusive”

Page 295



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report40

C

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Transport and 
connectivity

84 Efficient, affordable, and sustainable transport is a top priority. Respondents want better public 
transport, improved road infrastructure, and the reopening of the airport. There’s a desire for a city 
that is easy to navigate – on foot, by bike, or by bus – and well connected to the rest of the UK. 
Transport is seen as essential to economic growth, social inclusion, and environmental sustainability.
Examples:
l 	 “Transport links. Airport open”
l 	 “Excellent public transport befitting a city meaning cars are rarely needed”
l 	 “Better transport out of town. Lower parking price”
l 	 “Transport-hub connections community business destination-shopping”
l 	 “More cycle paths, much better bus services, more free busses”

Housing 
and urban 
development

78 People want a city that is clean, well-maintained, and thoughtfully developed. Affordable housing, 
revitalised neighbourhoods, and vibrant city centres are key aspirations. Respondents call for fewer 
empty shops, better public spaces, and more mixed-use developments. Maintenance of streets, 
pavements, and green areas is seen as essential to civic pride and quality of life.
Examples:
l 	 “Affordable housing for people born in the city”
l 	 “Well kept parks, roads, pavements, grass cut and trees maintained.”
l 	 “Cleaner streets free of litter, no fly tipping”
l 	 “Lively city centre with plenty of new homes and people”
l 	 “No empty shops in town centre”

Economic 
growth and 
business

66 A thriving economy is central to the vision for Plymouth. Respondents want more high-quality 
jobs, support for local businesses, and investment in innovation. Economic growth is closely tied to 
education, infrastructure, and housing. Many envision Plymouth as a place where people can build 
careers, start businesses, and enjoy financial stability.
Examples:
l 	 “Economically vibrant, scenic and a pleasure to live in”
l 	 “Open for business, culture rich, community led”
l 	 “Strong economy. Good services. Shops. Public transport. Cycling links”
l 	 “Financially stable, well equipped and well maintained”
l 	 “More good shops”

Accessibility and 
infrastructure

64 Accessibility is about more than physical access—it’s about equity, inclusion, and ease of living. 
Respondents want well-maintained infrastructure, accessible services, and inclusive design. This 
includes everything from public transport and digital access to clean streets and well-lit paths. 
Infrastructure is seen as the backbone of a fair and functional city.
Examples:
l 	 “Accessible well maintained biodiverse green spaces for all”
l 	 “Better transport systems. Make better use of the Hoe and Plymouth Sound”
l 	 “Accessible, tolerant, clean, vibrant, inclusive”
l 	 “Where everyone’s overall wellbeing needs are met (stopping littering is one of them)”
l 	 “Infrastructure actually cleaned, maintained and invested.”

Healthcare and 
Social Care

54 Health and wellbeing are seen as fundamental to a good life in Plymouth. Respondents want better 
NHS services, more support for the elderly and vulnerable, and improved mental health care. 
There’s a strong desire for a system that is accessible, responsive, and preventative—one that 
supports people to live well at every stage of life.
Examples:
l 	 “Hospitals where you don’t wait to near death before you’re attended to”
l 	 “Safe place to live. Good access to healthcare. Help for those who need it”
l 	 “Well cared for spaces… good social care”
l 	 “Excellent health services… funded police services”
l 	 “Improved health facilities”

Page 296



November 2025 41

C

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Education and 
opportunities 

47 Education is seen as a pathway to opportunity and a cornerstone of a thriving city. Respondents 
want high-quality schools, accessible lifelong learning, and strong links between education and 
employment. There’s a desire for a city where young people can succeed without needing to leave, 
and where education is inclusive and future-focused.
Examples:
l 	 “Reputation for excellent education – at all levels”
l 	 “Good schools. Low crime”
l 	 “Schools accountable to LA not run by trusts”
l 	 “Educational powerhouse, welcoming place to visit”
l 	 “Equal access to quality education across the city”

Governance 
and civic 
engagement

26 People want a council that listens, leads with integrity, and puts residents first. There’s a call for 
more transparency, better consultation, and leadership that reflects the city’s diversity and ambition. 
Respondents want to feel heard, respected, and involved in shaping Plymouth’s future.
Examples:
l 	 “Council that listens”
l 	 “More accountability by the council”
l 	 “Well managed, caring, efficient. Schools back under LA control”
l 	 “To go back to what the town looked like before the council decided to change it”

What one thing would you most like to see change about your local 
neighbourhood?
The most common concern among respondents is the cleanliness and upkeep of public spaces, with residents calling for 
cleaner streets and better waste management. This reflects a strong desire for improved civic maintenance and pride in 
local environments.

Transport and connectivity also emerged as a key theme, with calls for better public transport, new infrastructure, and 
improved access across the city and region. Safety and policing followed closely, highlighting concerns about antisocial 
behaviour and the need for more visible community protection.  Respondents also expressed a desire for more green 
spaces and better maintenance of existing ones, alongside improved access to healthcare and education, and affordable 
housing, pointing to broader issues of wellbeing and inclusion. Smaller but meaningful themes included support for local 
shops and services, activities for young people, and accessibility for disabled residents. These responses show that while 
priorities vary, there is a shared vision for neighbourhoods that are cleaner, safer, better connected, and more inclusive.

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
More affordable 
housing

30 Concerns about affordability, overcrowding, and the need for more social housing and better 
housing stock.
Sample items:
l 	 Less HMOs / multi occupancy houses
l 	 Less overcrowding, being able to park near your house
l 	 More affordable housing

Better public 
transport or 
connectivity

47 Strong interest in improving transport infrastructure, including rail, airport access, and overall 
connectivity.
Sample items:
l 	 A new railway station at Plympton
l 	 An airport and technological connectivity
l 	 Better public transport or connectivity

Improved safety 
and policing

44 Concerns about antisocial behaviour, drug control, and the need for stronger policing and safety 
measures.
Sample items:
l 	 Better control of drugs
l 	 Heavy clampdown on antisocial behaviour
l 	 Improved safety and policing

Page 297



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report42

C

Answer / Theme Count Commentary
Cleaner streets 
and better waste 
management

62 A dominant theme, with widespread concern about street cleanliness, waste management, and 
general upkeep of public spaces.
Sample items:
l 	 Better kept verges and streets
l 	 Cleaner streets and better waste management
l 	 Cleaner streets and better waste management

More green 
spaces or better 
maintenance of 
existing ones

44 A clear desire for more green spaces and better maintenance of existing ones, reflecting 
environmental and wellbeing priorities.
Sample items:
l 	 Independent cafes, shops and parks
l 	 More green spaces or better maintenance of existing ones
l 	 More green spaces or better maintenance of existing ones

More local shops, 
cafes or services

21 Interest in enhancing local retail options, including shops, cafés, and city centre experiences.
Sample items:
l 	 Better higher standard of shopping in the city centre
l 	 Better shops on Albert Road
l 	 More local shops, cafés, or services

Better access 
to healthcare or 
education

37 Calls for improved access to healthcare services, especially NHS dental care, and better 
educational opportunities.
Sample items:
l 	 Access an NHS dentist
l 	 Better access to healthcare or education
l 	 Better access to healthcare or education

More activities for 
young people or 
families

20 Desire for more recreational and social opportunities for young people and families.

Improvements 
accessibility 
for people with 
disabilities

13 Feedback highlights the need for better accessibility for disabled people and improved parking 
options.

OTHER 
Active travel 3 Support for safer cycling infrastructure and active travel options.

Sample items:
l 	 Better Active Travel provision
l 	 Improved infrastructure for active travel especially cycling
l 	 Safer cycle routes and traffic calming

Urban Planning 
and Infrastructure

3 Calls for better road planning, pothole repairs, and infrastructure investment.
Sample items:
l 	 Better planning on roads and developments
l 	 Better roads
l 	 Potholes fixed quickly

Page 298



November 2025 43

C

Rank the top three things you love most about your local neighbourhood?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top.  

In our local neighbourhood, the most cherished aspect is undoubtedly the access to green spaces and parks. With 
respondents placing it as their top choice, it’s clear that the ability to enjoy nature, unwind outdoors, and engage in 
recreational activities is a cornerstone of community life. Coming in second is the friendly and supportive community, 
reflecting the strong social bonds and neighbourly spirit that make the area feel welcoming and safe. The third most loved 
feature is the local shops and amenities, which not only provide convenience but also foster a sense of local identity and 
connection. Together, these top three elements paint a picture of a neighbourhood that values nature, community, and 
accessibility – making it a truly special place to live.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on
 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

gr
ee

n 
sp

ac
es

 
an

d 
pa

rk
s

Fr
ie

nd
ly

 a
nd

 
su

pp
or

ti
ve

 
co

m
m

un
it

y

Lo
ca

l s
ho

ps
 

an
d 

am
en

it
ie

s

Sa
fe

ty
 a

nd
 lo

w
 

cr
im

e 
le

ve
ls

G
oo

d 
pu

bl
ic

 
tr

an
sp

or
t 

lin
ks

C
le

an
 

an
d 

w
el

l-
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

sc
ho

ol
s 

an
d 

he
al

th
ca

re

Q
ui

et
 a

nd
 

pe
ac

ef
ul

 
at

m
os

ph
er

e

1  95 83 31 63 29 18 17 31
2 96 49 39 44 45 34 27 30
3 57 45 61 44 77 30 18 28
4 41 92 73 26 61 30 18 18
5 42 34 62 80 61 30 30 24
6 27 30 56 57 42 103 24 16
7 12 23 35 34 24 80 118 20
8 4 14 14 21 22 36 98 20
9 3 7 6 8 16 16 27 190
Overall 
Ranking 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

What are the things you love most about Plymouth as a city?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top.  

Plymouth’s most beloved feature is its access to the waterfront and stunning coastal views, with respondents ranking it 
as their top choice. The city’s connection to the sea clearly resonates deeply, offering both beauty and a sense of identity. 
In second place is Plymouth’s proximity to nature, including Dartmoor and nearby beaches, which highlights the value 
residents place on outdoor exploration and natural escapes. The third most appreciated aspect is the city’s green spaces 
and parks, providing peaceful retreats and recreational opportunities within the urban landscape. Together, these top three 
reflect Plymouth’s unique blend of coastal charm, natural beauty, and accessible green spaces - making it a city that truly 
celebrates its environment.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on
 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 t

he
 

w
at

er
fr

on
t 

an
d 

co
as

ta
l 

vi
ew

s

P
ro

xi
m

it
y 

to
 

na
tu

re
 (

e.
g.

 
D

ar
tm

oo
r 

be
ac

he
s)

G
re

en
 s

pa
ce

s 
an

d 
pa

rk
s

R
ic

h 
m

ar
it

im
e 

an
d 

cu
lt

ur
al

 
he

ri
ta

ge

V
ib

ra
nt

 a
rt

s 
ev

en
ts

 a
nd

 
fe

st
iv

al
s

Fr
ie

nd
ly

 a
nd

 
w

el
co

m
in

g 
co

m
m

un
it

y

A
cc

es
s 

to
 

ed
uc

at
io

n 
an

d 
un

iv
er

si
ti

es

G
oo

d 
tr

an
sp

or
t 

lin
ks

 a
nd

 
co

nn
ec

ti
vi

ty

R
an

ge
 

of
 s

ho
ps

 
re

st
au

ra
nt

s 
an

d 
ca

fé
s

1  176 60 10 15 4 16 2 4 6
2 61 136 32 14 9 16 5 8 5
3 22 39 58 82 32 24 3 13 15
4 19 27 31 75 60 28 8 21 16
5 5 13 29 42 67 72 21 21 14
6 6 8 22 21 44 62 15 72 26
7 2 7 18 16 30 36 14 73 32
8 1 0 8 7 23 18 36 37 86
9 1 1 12 10 15 17 89 23 82
Overall 
Ranking 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Page 299



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report44

C

What would you most like to see change about Plymouth as a city?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top.  

The most desired change among respondents is the creation of more inclusive and accessible public spaces, with most 
people ranking it as their top priority. This reflects a strong community interest in making Plymouth more welcoming 
and usable for everyone, regardless of age, ability, or background. In second place is a call for improved road maintenance, 
highlighting concerns around infrastructure and everyday mobility. The third most requested change is the need for more 
affordable and diverse housing options, pointing to growing pressures around cost of living and housing availability. These 
priorities suggest a collective vision for a more equitable, functional, and liveable city.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on
 

M
or

e 
in

cl
us

iv
e 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

pu
bl

ic
 s

pa
ce

s

Im
pr

ov
ed

 r
oa

d 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce

M
or

e 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

 
an

d 
di

ve
rs

e 
ho

us
in

g 
op

ti
on

s

B
et

te
r 

pu
bl

ic
 

tr
an

sp
or

t 
w

it
hi

n 
an

d 
be

yo
nd

 t
he

 c
it

y

M
or

e 
jo

b 
op

po
rt

un
it

ie
s 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

lo
ca

l b
us

in
es

se
s

Im
pr

ov
ed

 
cl

ea
nl

in
es

s 
an

d 
w

as
te

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

Sa
fe

r 
st

re
et

s 
an

d 
re

du
ce

d 
cr

im
e

Im
pr

ov
ed

 
ed

uc
at

io
n

1  6 39 53 50 28 24 32 2
2 5 35 27 52 35 39 42 5
3 10 28 38 34 45 43 36 5
4 12 20 45 36 55 43 28 5
5 5 21 26 45 42 52 30 5
6 9 11 23 34 38 46 32 7
7 14 11 12 18 20 30 49 16
8 17 9 14 13 12 9 26 86
9 13 14 11 7 9 4 17 97
10 31 81 18 5 4 5 1 47
11 173 26 28 1 7 0 2 20
Overall 
Rank

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

How can we plan for homes, jobs, and green spaces in a way that supports wellbeing?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 

The top priority for supporting wellbeing in future planning is to build more affordable and energy-efficient homes, with most 
respondents ranking it first. This reflects a strong desire for housing that is both accessible and environmentally sustainable. 
Second on the list is the need to ensure new developments have good access to green space, highlighting the importance of 
nature in everyday life and mental health. The third most valued approach is to protect and enhance existing green spaces and 
natural habitats, showing a clear commitment to preserving Plymouth’s environmental assets. These responses suggest that 
residents envision a city where housing, nature, and community wellbeing are thoughtfully integrated.

B
ui

ld
 m

or
e 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 

an
d 

en
er

gy
-e

ffi
ci

en
t 

ho
m

es

E
ns

ur
e 

ne
w

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

ts
 h

av
e 

go
od

 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

gr
ee

n 
sp

ac
e.

In
vo

lv
e 

co
m

m
un

it
ie

s 
in

 
pl

an
ni

ng
 d

ec
is

io
ns

 fr
om

 
th

e 
st

ar
t

C
re

at
e 

m
ix

ed
-u

se
 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

ds
 w

it
h 

ho
m

es
 s

ho
ps

 a
nd

 
se

rv
ic

es
 n

ea
rb

y

P
ri

or
it

is
e 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o 
pu

bl
ic

 t
ra

ns
po

rt
 a

nd
 

ac
ti

ve
 t

ra
ve

l (
w

al
ki

ng
 

cy
cl

in
g)

P
ro

te
ct

 a
nd

 e
nh

an
ce

 
ex

is
ti

ng
 g

re
en

 s
pa

ce
s 

an
d 

na
tu

ra
l h

ab
it

at
s

D
es

ig
n 

in
cl

us
iv

e 
sp

ac
es

 
th

at
 a

re
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
to

 a
ll 

ag
es

 a
nd

 a
bi

lit
ie

s

Su
pp

or
t 

lo
ca

l j
ob

 
cr

ea
ti

on
 t

hr
ou

gh
 

bu
si

ne
ss

 h
ub

s 
an

d 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 c

en
tr

es

Count  48 21 60 30 26 56 4 12
49 60 39 30 34 39 13 7
35 62 27 41 44 30 16 13
55 55 17 45 41 28 17 18
30 48 14 50 57 11 53 13
20 18 10 52 43 42 70 16
17 13 10 24 18 45 67 78
15 5 76 6 16 29 33 92

  
Ranking 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Page 300



November 2025 45

C

What services do you most value having face-to-face?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 

The most valued face-to-face service is adult social care or support for vulnerable adults, with respondents ranking it as 
their top priority. This highlights the importance of personal interaction in delivering compassionate and effective care. 
In second place is housing advice and support, reflecting the need for tailored guidance in navigating housing challenges. 
The third most valued in-person service is children’s services and family support, underscoring the significance of direct 
engagement when supporting families and young people. These results show that when it comes to sensitive or complex 
issues, residents strongly prefer the reassurance and clarity that face-to-face services provide.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on

A
du

lt
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
or

 s
up

po
rt

 fo
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 a

du
lt

s

H
ou

si
ng

 a
dv

ic
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 
fa

m
ily

 s
up

po
rt

R
ep

or
ti

ng
 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
or

 a
nt

i-s
oc

ia
l 

be
ha

vi
ou

r 
co

nc
er

ns
W

as
te

 a
nd

 
re

cy
cl

in
g 

is
su

es

B
en

efi
ts

 a
nd

 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

up
po

rt

C
ou

nc
il 

ta
x 

or
 

re
nt

 q
ue

ri
es

P
la

nn
in

g 
an

d 
bu

ild
in

g 
co

nt
ro

l 
ad

vi
ce

H
el

p 
w

it
h 

di
gi

ta
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
r 

on
lin

e 
fo

rm
s 

1  89 42 51 80 42 12 11 8 19
2 96 44 65 47 39 23 13 22 5
3 50 77 66 44 26 28 17 27 19
4 41 98 37 20 30 75 29 15 9
5 48 41 54 15 22 65 79 18 12
6 15 23 46 10 77 60 92 17 14
7 8 14 15 11 80 53 62 99 12
8 5 10 9 103 31 25 44 103 24
9 2 5 11 24 7 13 7 45 240
Ranking 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

What services do you most value having by phone? 
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 

When it comes to phone-based services, residents most value the ability to report neighbourhood or anti-social 
behaviour concerns, with respondents ranking it as their top choice. This suggests that speed, discretion, and convenience 
are key when addressing community safety issues. In second place is housing advice and support, indicating that many 
prefer the immediacy and personal connection of a phone call when navigating housing challenges. The third most valued 
service by phone is adult social care or support for vulnerable adults, showing that even outside of face-to-face settings, 
people still seek direct and empathetic communication for sensitive matters. These preferences highlight the importance 
of accessible and responsive phone services for issues that require timely and personal support.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on

H
ou

si
ng

 a
dv

ic
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t

A
du

lt
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
or

 s
up

po
rt

 fo
r 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 a

du
lt

s

W
as

te
 a

nd
 

re
cy

cl
in

g 
is

su
es

R
ep

or
ti

ng
 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
or

 a
nt

i-s
oc

ia
l 

be
ha

vi
ou

r 
co

nc
er

ns

C
ou

nc
il 

ta
x 

or
 

re
nt

 q
ue

ri
es

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 
fa

m
ily

 s
up

po
rt

B
en

efi
ts

 a
nd

 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

up
po

rt

P
la

nn
in

g 
an

d 
bu

ild
in

g 
co

nt
ro

l 
ad

vi
ce

H
el

p 
w

it
h 

di
gi

ta
l 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
r 

on
lin

e 
fo

rm
s

1 35 28 43 71 36 20 8 14 19
2 41 56 53 33 30 17 17 19 8
3 43 45 20 38 31 41 20 22 14
4 85 43 18 7 18 42 40 14 7
5 37 55 10 10 39 51 56 6 10
6 13 22 49 2 56 60 53 13 6
7 6 14 56 13 41 18 57 64 5
8 6 4 21 78 23 14 15 96 17
9 8 7 4 22 0 11 8 26 188
  
Overall 
Ranking 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Page 301



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report46

C

What would make it easier for you to use digital services confidently?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 

The most important factor in helping residents use digital services confidently is having a clear and simple website or 
app design, with respondents ranking it as their top choice. This highlights the value of intuitive, user-friendly platforms 
that reduce frustration and make navigation straightforward. In second place is access to a device, such as a smartphone, 
tablet, or computer, showing that having the right tools is essential for digital inclusion. The third most valued support 
is telephone assistance alongside online services, reflecting the need for reassurance and help when navigating digital 
systems. These responses suggest that confidence in digital services grows when they are easy to use, well-supported, and 
accessible to all.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on

C
le

ar
 a

nd
 s

im
pl

e 
w

eb
si

te
 o

r 
ap

p 
de

si
gn

A
cc

es
s 

to
 fr

ee
 o

r 
lo

w
-c

os
t 

in
te

rn
et

 
or

 d
at

a

Te
le

ph
on

e 
su

pp
or

t 
al

on
gs

id
e 

on
lin

e 
se

rv
ic

es

A
cc

es
s 

to
 a

 d
ev

ic
e 

(e
.g

. s
m

ar
tp

ho
ne

 
ta

bl
et

 c
om

pu
te

r)

St
ep

-b
y-

st
ep

 
gu

id
an

ce
 o

r 
tu

to
ri

al
s

In
-p

er
so

n 
su

pp
or

t 
or

 d
ig

it
al

 h
el

p 
hu

bs

M
or

e 
tr

us
t 

in
 h

ow
 

m
y 

da
ta

 is
 u

se
d 

an
d 

pr
ot

ec
te

d

Se
rv

ic
es

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
in

 m
ul

ti
pl

e 
la

ng
ua

ge
s 

or
 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 fo

rm
at

s

1 114 12 44 49 5 12 30 5
2 57 31 51 40 32 26 31 3
3 45 36 33 60 29 42 23 3
4 33 64 17 69 56 25 6 1
5 13 69 13 31 71 57 14 3
6 7 30 75 14 62 72 11 0
7 1 22 35 6 13 36 144 14
8 1 7 3 2 3 1 12 242
Overall 
Ranking

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

How can we make sure everyone benefits from modernised services?
People were asked to rank with the most important at the top. 

The most important factor in ensuring everyone benefits from modernised services is to keep non-digital options – like 
phone and face-to-face – available, with respondents ranking it as their top priority. This reflects a strong desire for 
inclusivity and choice, especially for those who may struggle with digital access. In second place is the need to design 
services that are easy to use for people of all ages and abilities, highlighting the importance of intuitive and accessible 
design. The third most valued approach is to provide digital skills training and support in local communities, showing a 
commitment to empowering residents to confidently engage with modern services. These responses point to a clear 
vision: digital transformation must be inclusive, accessible, and supportive of everyone’s needs.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on

K
ee

p 
no

n-
di

gi
ta

l 
op

ti
on

s 
(l

ik
e 

ph
on

e 
or

 fa
ce

-
to

-f
ac

e)
 a

va
ila

bl
e

D
es

ig
n 

se
rv

ic
es

 
th

at
 a

re
 e

as
y 

to
 

us
e 

fo
r 

pe
op

le
 

of
 a

ll 
ag

es
 a

nd
 

ab
ili

ti
es

P
ro

vi
de

 d
ig

it
al

 
sk

ill
s 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t 
in

 lo
ca

l 
co

m
m

un
it

ie
s

E
ns

ur
e 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 d
ev

ic
es

 a
nd

 
in

te
rn

et

In
vo

lv
e 

re
si

de
nt

s 
in

 d
es

ig
ni

ng
 

an
d 

te
st

in
g 

ne
w

 
di

gi
ta

l s
er

vi
ce

s

O
ffe

r 
se

rv
ic

es
 

in
 m

ul
ti

pl
e 

la
ng

ua
ge

s 
an

d 
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 
fo

rm
at

s

B
ui

ld
 t

ru
st

 
by

 b
ei

ng
 

tr
an

sp
ar

en
t 

ab
ou

t 
ho

w
 d

at
a 

is
 u

se
d

1 151 43 37 14 20 4 19
2 54 116 55 19 24 5 15
3 36 64 72 30 44 19 23
4 27 44 75 41 32 58 11
5 14 18 35 87 19 82 33
6 5 3 12 76 37 46 109
7 1 0 2 21 11 74 78
Overall 
Ranking 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Page 302



November 2025 47

C

How can we keep you better informed and involved in decisions? 
The most preferred way for residents to stay informed and involved in decision-making is through regular email updates 
or newsletters, with respondents ranking it as their top choice. This reflects a strong appetite for consistent, direct 
communication. In second place is making information available in multiple languages and formats, highlighting the need 
for inclusivity and accessibility. The third most valued method is community meetings or local forums, showing that 
many still appreciate face-to-face engagement and dialogue. These responses suggest that a mix of digital and in-person 
communication – tailored to diverse needs – is key to building trust and encouraging active participation in local decisions.

C
ou

nt
 b

y 
po

si
ti

on

R
eg

ul
ar

 e
m

ai
l 

up
da

te
s 

or
 

ne
w

sl
et

te
rs

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
in

 
m

ul
ti

pl
e 

la
ng

ua
ge

s 
an

d 
fo

rm
at

s

C
om

m
un

it
y 

m
ee

ti
ng

s 
or

 lo
ca

l 
fo

ru
m

s

So
ci

al
 m

ed
ia

 
up

da
te

s 
an

d 
en

ga
ge

m
en

t

C
le

ar
 a

nd
 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

on
 t

he
 c

ou
nc

il 
w

eb
si

te
O

nl
in

e 
su

rv
ey

s 
an

d 
fe

ed
ba

ck
 

fo
rm

s

O
pp

or
tu

ni
ti

es
 t

o 
jo

in
 c

om
m

un
it

y 
pa

ne
ls

 / 
fo

ru
m

s 
or

 
ad

vi
so

ry
 g

ro
up

s

B
et

te
r 

pr
om

ot
io

n 
of

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t 

op
po

rt
un

it
ie

s 
in

 
lo

ca
l a

re
as

1  149 2 29 42 55 12 25 36
2 65 3 83 59 49 47 21 23
3 46 3 67 65 57 49 27 36
4 47 4 88 65 28 65 25 28
5 21 1 58 65 70 86 23 26
6 12 12 17 31 63 62 139 14
7 8 139 8 13 27 22 87 46
8 2 186 0 10 1 7 3 141
Overall 
Ranking 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Page 303



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report48

C

Plymouth Big Community Conversation events 
Between July and August 2025, six community events and one youth-specific session were held across Plymouth to gather 
feedback on the proposed boundary expansion. Facilitated by Council staff trained in Trauma-Informed and Appreciative 
Inquiry methods, these events created space for meaningful conversations and active listening. Residents were invited to 
attend without signing in, and the sessions were designed to be informal, inclusive, and responsive to local concerns. The 
insights captured reflect a wide range of perspectives and have been carefully analysed to inform the development of the 
final proposal.

Question 1: What concerns or opportunities do you see in PCC’s proposal for an expanded local 
authority? 
The conversations reveal a community that is open to change but deeply cautious. While there is no strong ideological 
opposition to the idea of an expanded local authority, there is a clear demand for evidence, equity, and engagement. 
People want to understand how the proposal will tangibly improve their lives, especially in terms of infrastructure, 
services, and representation.

The urban-rural divide is a central tension – participants fear that rural needs may be overlooked in a city-led model. 
However, there is also recognition of shared challenges and interdependencies, such as healthcare, transport, and housing 
pressures that cross current boundaries.
To move forward, the proposal must demonstrate clear, mutual benefits, address concerns about identity and access, and 
ensure that local voices are not only heard but empowered. The success of the expansion hinges on trust, transparency, 
and tailored delivery that respects the diversity of the communities involved.

Common themes
Infrastructure  
and services

There is concern that existing infrastructure (roads, transport, utilities, healthcare) is already under strain 
and may not cope with additional demand. Participants questioned whether the expansion would bring 
improvements or further dilute services.

Funding and 
financial 
transparency

Questions were raised about how the expansion would be funded, how council tax revenue would be 
allocated, and whether economies of scale would truly deliver savings. There’s a desire for clarity on financial 
projections and equitable distribution of resources.

Representation  
and governance

People expressed a need for stronger local representation, especially in rural areas. The idea of town or 
parish councils for areas like Plympton was seen as a potential opportunity. Concerns were also raised 
about political shifts and the risk of rural voices being drowned out.

Identity and 
community 
cohesion

A recurring concern was the potential loss of identity for South Hams communities. There’s a strong sense 
of distinctiveness between urban Plymouth and rural South Hams, and fears that expansion could blur or 
erase these differences.

Access and 
inclusion

Digital exclusion, transport limitations, and service accessibility were highlighted, particularly for older 
residents and those in outlying parishes. People want assurance that access will improve, not worsen.

Urban vs rural 
needs

There’s a perceived mismatch between urban policy models and rural realities. Participants fear that a city-
centric approach could lead to service closures or neglect in rural areas.

Opportunities for 
integration

Some saw the expansion as a chance to better align services, improve funding models (e.g. healthcare), and 
address cross-boundary issues like Sherford’s impact on Plympton. There’s cautious optimism if benefits are 
clearly demonstrated.

Planning, housing, 
and growth

Concerns about housing developments outpacing infrastructure were common. People want assurances that 
planning will be strategic, with adequate provision for GPs, schools, and transport.

Public engagement 
and trust

Scepticism exists due to past unfulfilled promises. There’s a call for genuine engagement, especially with 
young people and digitally excluded groups, and a need to build trust through transparency and delivery.

Page 304



November 2025 49

C

Question 2: What do you love most about the city and your neighbourhood, and what would 
you most like to see change in the future – try to think long term, not just in the next couple of 
years?  
Plymouth is a city with deep emotional and cultural roots, where people feel connected to their environment, their 
neighbours, and their shared history. The city’s natural beauty, compact character, and community spirit are its greatest 
strengths and residents are keen to protect these as the city evolves.

However, there’s a clear appetite for thoughtful, long-term change. People want better transport, more vibrant cultural 
life, fairer governance, and stronger economic opportunities. They’re not resistant to growth but they want it to be 
sustainable, inclusive, and respectful of Plymouth’s identity.

The challenge for future planning is to balance ambition with authenticity: to grow without losing what makes Plymouth 
special, and to ensure that all neighbourhoods (urban and rural) feel heard, valued, and empowered in shaping the city’s 
future.

Common themes 
Natural environment 
and location

The sea, moors, coastlines, and green spaces are deeply cherished. Plymouth’s proximity to nature is 
seen as a defining asset, contributing to quality of life and identity. There’s a desire to preserve and 
enhance these features, not compromise them through overdevelopment.

Community and 
identity

A strong sense of community and neighbourhood pride came through clearly. People value knowing 
their neighbours, grassroots action, and the diversity of the city. There’s concern that expansion or 
rapid change could dilute this cohesion.

Transport and 
connectivity

Transport is both a strength and a frustration. While some areas are well connected, others suffer 
from infrequent services and poor infrastructure. Long-term aspirations include better rail links (e.g. 
to London), a second rail route, improved bus services, and even tram systems. Connectivity with 
Cornwall and Europe (via ferry) was also mentioned.

Culture, creativity and 
heritage

Plymouth’s cultural assets – theatres, universities, historic sites – are appreciated but under-promoted. 
There’s a call to celebrate the city’s maritime history more visibly and to invest in creative industries 
and venues that bring vibrancy to the city centre.

Housing and urban 
development

Concerns were raised about housing affordability, management fees, and the character of new 
developments. People want more housing in the city centre, but with thoughtful planning that respects 
existing communities and infrastructure limits.

Public services and 
amenities

Libraries, healthcare, education, and leisure services are valued, but there’s a desire for more 
consistency and investment. Issues like drainage, sewage, and access to adult social care were flagged as 
needing attention.

Economic opportunity 
and skills

There’s a sense that Plymouth hasn’t fully realised its economic potential. Calls were made for better 
job opportunities, skills development, and leveraging assets like the Freeport and waterfront to attract 
investment and tourism.

Governance and 
fairness

Frustrations around parking permits, solar panel grants, and perceived inequalities (e.g. Devonport vs 
other areas) suggest a need for more transparent and equitable decision-making. People want to see 
where money is spent and feel fairly treated.

Youth voice and future 
generations

A few comments highlighted the absence of young people’s perspectives. There’s a recognition that 
long-term planning must include their voices and address their needs – from education to housing to 
cultural life.

Page 305



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report50

C

Question 3: Which services do you need to be delivered in person or over the phone or digitally 
because they are personal or more effectively delivered that way?   
The community recognises the benefits of digital services; speed, convenience, and efficiency but is clear that digital cannot 
be the only option. People want a blended approach that respects individual needs, abilities, and preferences.

There’s a strong desire for equity in access, whether that’s through better-designed websites, more responsive phone lines, 
or the preservation of in-person services. Libraries and local offices are seen as untapped assets that could play a bigger 
role in bridging the digital divide.

Ultimately, residents want a council that is easy to reach, responsive, and inclusive. One that listens to feedback and 
designs services around the real-life experiences of its communities.

Common themes 
Digital access and 
inclusion

While many are comfortable using digital services, there’s a strong awareness of digital exclusion, 
especially among older residents and those in rural areas like South Hams. Poor internet coverage, 
lack of digital skills, and inaccessible websites were frequently mentioned. People want choice, not 
compulsion, in how they access services.

In-person services still 
matter

Libraries, local offices, and the former One Stop Shop were praised as vital community hubs. In-person 
contact is especially valued for complex, sensitive, or urgent issues (e.g. adult social care, SEND, anti-
social behaviour). There’s a desire to retain face-to-face options, particularly for those who struggle 
with digital or phone-based systems.

Telephone access and 
responsiveness

Many expressed frustration with the lack of phone numbers, long wait times, and unclear call 
prioritisation. A good telephone service is seen as essential, especially for those who can’t or don’t 
want to go online. People want clearer communication and faster response times.

Website and digital 
services

Experiences with the council website were mixed. Some found it user-friendly for tasks like reporting 
bins or renewing bus passes, while others described it as confusing, poorly designed, or inaccessible. 
There’s a call for improved usability, mobile-friendliness, and clearer navigation.

Channel flexibility and 
user choice

A recurring theme was the need for multiple access routes: digital, phone, and in-person, to suit 
different needs and preferences. People want to opt in to digital communications (e.g. letters), not be 
forced into them. Services should be designed around the user, not the system.

Libraries as community 
access points

Libraries were frequently mentioned as trusted, accessible spaces that could be better used for service 
delivery, digital support, and community engagement. Plymstock Library was singled out as an excellent 
example.

Equity and accessibility There’s concern that current systems disadvantage people with disabilities, those without internet 
access, or those unfamiliar with digital tools. Accessibility (both physical and digital) needs to be 
reviewed and improved across all services.

Page 306



November 2025 51

C

Question 4: How can the council be better to listen to residents and keep you 
informed?
Residents want a council that is visible, approachable, and proactive in its communication. They appreciate opportunities 
to engage in person and want these to be more frequent, better advertised, and inclusive of all communities.

There’s a clear call for transparency and clarity. Not just in what decisions are made, but why. People want to understand 
the rationale behind council actions and feel confident that their voices are being heard and considered.

To build trust and improve engagement, the council must embrace a multi-channel strategy that includes digital, print, 
broadcast, and face-to-face methods. It must also actively seek out diverse voices, including young people, disabled 
residents, and those who are digitally excluded. Ultimately, good communication is not just about broadcasting 
information, it’s about building relationships, closing feedback loops, and making residents feel part of the city’s journey.

Common themes 
Face-to-face 
engagement

Events like the facilitated conversations were widely praised. People value personal interaction, saying 
it’s the best way to feel heard and understood. There’s a strong call for more in-person forums, 
especially for major decisions or proposals.

Clear, accessible 
communication

Residents want plain-language explanations of decisions, especially around taxation, planning, and 
proposals like the expansion. There’s frustration with speculation and misinformation, often from third-
party sources like Plymouth Live, and a desire for the council to get ahead of the narrative.

Multi-channel 
information sharing

Suggestions included radio slots, posters, billboards, newsletters, TV interviews, and school-based 
engagement. People want a mix of digital and non-digital channels to reach different demographics, 
including those who are digitally excluded or geographically distant.

Digital inclusion and 
website usability

The council website was described as difficult to navigate, especially for finding updates or reporting 
issues. There’s a need for better design, clearer structure, and mobile-friendly features. Digital exclusion 
remains a barrier for many, especially older residents and those in rural areas.

Listening and feedback 
loops

Residents want to feel that their input leads to action or change. There’s a perception that feedback 
is sometimes ignored or dismissed. Suggestions included surveys, customer experience sharing, and 
clearer follow-up on what’s been done in response to public input.

Youth and diverse 
voices

There’s a desire to hear from young people and under-represented groups, and to ensure that 
engagement reflects Plymouth’s diverse population. Schools, community groups, and cultural 
organisations were suggested as partners.

Localised and timely 
updates

People want more notice about decisions, events, and service changes. Suggestions included apps, 
Friday email roundups, and printed newsletters like those used in Exeter. Timely updates on issues like 
roadworks, waste collection, and local projects are especially valued.

Page 307



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report52

C

Plymouth Youth Big Community Conversation event 
Young people aged 13-19 were invited to attend a facilitated conversation event to discuss the future of Plymouth. 
Attendees included members of the Plymouth Youth Parliament. 

Question 1: What do you like about your area? 

Young people in Plymouth shared a strong appreciation for the local environment, highlighting the city’s green spaces, 
seafront, and proximity to Dartmoor as key features that support wellbeing and offer opportunities for outdoor activities. 
The presence of parks and skateparks, particularly Central Park, was noted as important for recreation and socialising.

Transport was another positive theme, with several mentioning that public transport – especially buses and the train 
station – is generally reliable and well-connected, making it easier to get around the city.

There was also a clear sense of value placed on community and opportunity. Free cultural venues like The Box, 
youth groups, and organisations such as cadets were praised for providing spaces to connect, learn, and grow. These 
opportunities contribute to a feeling of belonging and safety, with some respondents noting that the area feels  
“relatively safe.”

Finally, Plymouth’s rich culture and heritage were recognised as part of what makes the city unique and engaging for young 
people.

Question 2: What would you like to see change in your local area 

Young people in Plymouth expressed a clear desire for more things to do, especially youth centres and leisure options like 
swimming pools, ice rinks, and music venues. They want spaces that are engaging, inclusive, and not just run by the council 
– places that feel genuinely youth-led and community-driven.

Transport was another key theme, with calls for more reliable and frequent bus services, especially to outer boroughs. 
Respondents highlighted issues with buses not following timetables or failing to stop, which affects their ability to travel 
independently and access opportunities.

There’s also a strong interest in improving the local environment, including more benches, bins, and better lighting, 
especially in darker months. Concerns were raised about abandoned buildings and the need for cleaner, safer public 
spaces.

Community and wellbeing featured prominently. Young people want a stronger sense of community, with more 
volunteering opportunities that are well-promoted and incentivised – such as discounts on concert tickets. They also 
called for better SEND and mental health services, and lower waiting times in emergencies, showing a need for more 
responsive and inclusive support systems.

Finally, there were suggestions for more residential homes in the city centre, greater retail and dining variety, 
and development of district centres to bring services and activities closer to where people live.

Page 308



November 2025 53

C

Question 3: What do you want Plymouth to look like in 50 years

Young people envision a future Plymouth that is better connected, more inclusive, and full of opportunity. A key theme 
is transport, with aspirations for trams, improved train links, and even air travel, making the city more accessible both 
locally and nationally. They also want greener transport options and a push for eco-friendly infrastructure.

Housing and affordability are central to their vision. Young people want more housing options, especially affordable 
homes that allow them to stay in Plymouth long-term. They also hope to see fewer empty buildings and a focus 
on building on brownfield sites to protect natural spaces.

Employment and opportunity are vital. There’s a desire for great job options, more apprenticeships, and work experience 
across diverse sectors, including law and creative industries. They also want youth services available city-wide, and part-
time jobs for 16-year-olds that can fit around school.

Community pride and wellbeing matter too. Young people imagine a city with more celebratory events, stronger 
community identity, and better access to public services, including SEND and mental health support. They’d like to 
see purple help points distributed across Plymouth for safety and assistance.

Finally, they want Plymouth to grow into a bigger, more vibrant city that attracts investment, while still preserving its green 
and blue spaces and the distinct character of its neighbourhoods.

Question 4: What would make you want to stay living here?

Young people in Plymouth shared a clear vision for what would encourage them to build their futures in the city. Better 
job opportunities and affordable housing – including rent control – were top priorities, reflecting a desire for stability and 
independence. Many also emphasised the importance of access to healthcare, especially mental health support, dentists, 
and primary services like GPs, which they feel are currently lacking.

Education and career development are also key motivators. Respondents highlighted Plymouth’s strengths, such as its 
three universities and military pathways, but called for improvements in SEND support and more opportunities for young 
people, including platforms like UK Youth Parliament.

The city’s natural beauty and open spaces were appreciated, especially in comparison to other urban areas. However, 
young people also want improved transport links to other cities, so they can live in Plymouth while accessing 
opportunities elsewhere.

Finally, safety was a recurring theme. Suggestions included more lighting, help points, and general awareness, all aimed at 
making Plymouth feel safer and more welcoming.

Page 309



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report54

CPage 310



November 2025 55

C

Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report / v1.1

Page 311



Plymouth City Council's Local Government Reorganisation Engagement Report56

C

Plymouth City Council Devolution  
and Local Government Reform Team

Plymouth City Council
Ballard House

West Hoe Road
Plymouth PL1 3BJ

Page 312


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Plymouth City Council’s Local Government Reorganisation Proposal for Devon
	251124 Local Government Reorganisation Cabinet Briefing Paper FINAL
	2025-11-13 Council and Cabinet Proposal _ V5
	Introduction
	The Current Situation in Plymouth
	Why Plymouth Needs to Expand
	Why Devon Needs Fundamental Public Service Reform
	The Base Proposal for Local Government in Devon
	The Modified Proposal for Local Government in Devon
	How the Four-Unitary Model Delivers
	Why Boundary Modifications in Devon Are Essential
	Creating the Right Solution for All Devon
	Comparing the Options
	Option One:  Four Unitaries on District Boundaries (Base Case)
	Option One: Plymouth
	Option One: Torbay
	Option One: Exeter
	Option One: Devon Coast and Countryside
	Option One: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Two: Four Unitaries (Modified Case)
	Option Two: Expanded Plymouth
	Option Two: Expanded Torbay
	Option Two: Expanded Exeter
	Option Two: Devon Coast and Countryside
	Option Two: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Three: Three Unitaries (New Devon)
	Option Three: Plymouth
	Option Three: Torbay
	Option Three: Devon County Council Area
	Option Three: Assessment Against Criteria

	Option Four: Three Unitaries (District Grouping)
	Option Four: Plymouth
	Option Four: Four District Unitary
	Option Four: Five District Unitary
	Option Four: Assessment Against Criteria

	Rejected Options
	Recommended Preferred Option
	Democracy and Community Empowerment
	Better Services Across Devon
	Devon’s Financial Resilience
	Building the Foundations for the South West Peninsula Devolution
	Stakeholder Engagement and Support
	Implementation Plan
	Managing Transition Risks
	Our Asks of Government
	Conclusion

	2025-11-14 LGR Proposal Appendix FULL COUNCIL
	Contents
	Appendix 1 - Finance
	Appendix 2 – List of Parishes
	Appendix 3- Implementation plan
	Appendix 4 - Letters of support
	Appendix 5 - List of figures and tables
	Appendix 6 - List of acronyms
	Appendix 7 - Key terms explained
	Appendix 8 - Sources
	2025-11-14_LGR_Equality_Impact_Assessment_FINAL.pdf
	EQUALITY IMPACT Assessment – Local Government Reorganisation Final proposal
	Section one: information about the proposal
	SECTION TWO: Equality Impact Assessment SCREENING TOOL
	Section THREE: Full equality impact assessment
	Section FOUR: human RIGHTS IMPLICATIONS
	Section five: our equality objectives


	Plymouth LGR engagement report 1125


